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DISTRICT

3A

6A
6B
TA

7BC

3B

4A

4B

8A
8B

9A
10

14

15A

TRIAL JUDGES OF THE GENERAL
COURT OF JUSTICE

SUPERIOR COURT DIVISION

JUDGES
First Division

JERRY R. TILLETT

J. CARLTON COLE

WAYLAND SERMONS

W. RUSSELL DUKE, JR.
CLIFTON W. EVERETT, JR.
ArMaA L. HINTON

CyY A. GRANT, SR.

QUENTIN T. SUMNER

Micron F. (Tosy) Fircy, Jr.
WALTER H. GODWIN, JR.

Second Division

BENJAMIN G. ALFORD

KENNETH F. CROW

JoHN E. NOBLES, JR.

W. DouGLAS PARSONS

CHARLES H. HENRY

W. ALLEN COBB, JR.

JAY D. HOCKENBURY

PuyLLIS M. GORHAM

PauL L. JONES

ARrNOLD O. JonEs 1T
Third Division

RoBERT H. HOBGOOD

Henry W. HiGHT, JR.

W. OsmonD SmrtH IIT

DoNALD W. STEPHENS

ABRAHAM P. JONES

HowarD E. MANNING, JR.

MicHAEL R. MORGAN

PauL C. GESSNER

PauL C. RIDGEWAY

ORLANDO F. HUDSON, JR.

ELAINE BUSHFAN

MiCHAEL O’FOGHLUDHA

JAMES E. HARDIN, JR.

ROBERT F. JOHNSON

WAYNE ABERNATHY

ADDRESS

Manteo
Hertford
Washington
Greenville
Greenville
Roanoke Rapids
Ahoskie

Rocky Mount
Wilson

Tarboro

New Bern

New Bern
Morehead City
Clinton
Jacksonville
Wrightsville Beach
Wilmington
Wilmington
Kinston
Goldsboro

Louisburg
Henderson
Semora
Raleigh
Raleigh
Raleigh
Raleigh
Wake Forest
Raleigh
Durham
Durham
Durham
Hillsborough
Burlington
Burlington



DISTRICT

15B

11A
11B
12

12B
12C
13A
13B
16A
16B

17A

17B

18

19B
19D
21

23

19A
19C
20A
20B
22A

22B

256A

256B

JUDGES

CARL R. Fox
R. ALLEN BADDOUR

Fourth Division

C. WINSTON GILCHRIST
THoMmAs H. Lock
CLAIRE HILL
GREGORY A. WEEKS
JAMES F. AMMONS, JR.
MARY ANN TALLY
DouGLAs B. SASSER
OLA M. LEwIS
RicHARD T. BROWN
RoBERT F. FLOYD, JR.
JAMES GREGORY BELL

Fifth Division

EDWIN GRAVES WILSON, JR.
RicHARD W. STONE

A. MOSES MASSEY

ANDY CROMER

LiNDsAY R. Davis, Jr.
JonN O. CraiG III

R. STUART ALBRIGHT
PATRICE A. HINNANT
JosepH E. TURNER
VANCE BRADFORD LONG
JAMES M. WEBB

JupsoN D. DERAMmUS, JR.
WIiLLIAM Z. WOoOD, JR.

L. TopD BURKE

RoNALD E. SPIVEY
EDGAR B. GREGORY

Sixth Division

W. ERWIN SPAINHOUR
ANNA MILLS WAGONER
TANYA T. WALLACE

KEvIN M. BRIDGES

W. DaviD LEE
CHRISTOPHER W. BRAGG
JOSEPH CROSSWHITE
ALEXANDER MENDALOFF III
MARK E. KrLASS

THEODORE S. ROYSTER, JR.

Seventh Division

BEVERLY T. BEAL
RoOBERT C. ERVIN
TmMoTHY S. KINCAID

viii

ADDRESS

Chapel Hill
Chapel Hill

Buies Creek
Smithfield
Fayetteville
Fayetteville
Fayetteville
Fayetteville
Hallsboro
Southport
Laurinburg
Fairmont
Lumberton

Eden

Eden

Mt. Airy
King
Greensboro
High Point
Greensboro
Greensboro
Greensboro
Asheboro

Whispering Pines

Winston-Salem
Troutman
Winston-Salem
Winston-Salem
Wilkesboro

Concord
Salisbury
Rockingham
Oakboro
Monroe
Monroe
Statesville
Statesville
Lexington
Lexington

Lenoir
Morganton
Newton



DISTRICT

26

27A

27B

24

28

29A
29B
30A
30B

JUDGES ADDRESS
NATHANIEL J. POOVEY Newton
RICHARD D. BONER Charlotte
W. ROBERT BELL Charlotte
YVONNE Mims EvANS Charlotte
Linwoobp O. Foust Charlotte
ErIc L. LEVINSON Charlotte
H. WiLLIAM CONSTANGY Charlotte
HuGH LEwIs Charlotte
JESSE B. CALDWELL III Gastonia
ROBERT T. SUMNER Gastonia
FORREST DONALD BRIDGES Shelby
JAMES W. MORGAN Shelby
Eighth Division
CHARLES PHILLIP GINN Boone
GARY GAVENUS Boone
ALAN Z. THORNBURG Asheville
MARVIN POPE Asheville
LAURA J. BRIDGES Rutherfordton
MARK E. POWELL Hendersonville
JaMEs U. DowNs Franklin
BrADLEY B. LETTS Sylva
SPECIAL JUDGES
SHARON T. BARRETT Asheville
MAaRVIN K. BLOUNT Greenville
CRAIG CROOM Raleigh
RicHARD L. DOUGHTON Sparta
JAMES L. GALE Greensboro
A. ROBINSON HASSELL Greensboro
D. Jack HOOKS, JR. Whiteville
LucY NOBLE INMAN Raleigh
JACK W. JENKINS Morehead City
JonN R. JoLry, Jr. Raleigh
SHANNON R. JOSEPH Raleigh
CALVIN MURPHY Charlotte
WiLLIAM R. PITTMAN Raleigh
GARY E. TRAWICK, JR. Burgaw
EMERGENCY JUDGES
W. DOUGLAS ALBRIGHT Greensboro
STEVE A. BALOG Burlington
MICHAEL E. BEALE Rockingham
HENRY V. BARNETTE, JR. Raleigh
STAFFORD G. BULLOCK Raleigh



DISTRICT

JUDGES

C. PRESTON CORNELIUS
B. CraiG ELLIs
ERNEST B. FULLWOOD
THOoMAS D. HAIGWOOD

CLARENCE E. HORTON, JR.

CHARLES C. Lamm, JR.
RUSSELL J. LANIER, JR.
JERRY CASH MARTIN

J. RICHARD PARKER
RoNALD L. STEPHENS
KeENNETH C. TITUS
JACK A. THOMPSON
JonN M. TysoN
GEORGE L. WAINWRIGHT
DENNIS WINNER

ADDRESS

Mooresville
Laurinburg
Wilmington
Greenville
Kannapolis
Terrell
Wallace

Mt. Airy
Manteo
Durham
Durham
Fayetteville
Fayetteville
Morehead City
Asheville

RETIRED/RECALLED JUDGES

J. B. ALLEN

ANTHONY M. BRANNON
FrANK R. BROWN
JAaMES C. Davis

LARRY G. ForD
MAaRVIN K. GRAY

ZORO J. GUICE, JR.
KNOX V. JENKINS

JOHN B. LEwIs, Jr.
ROBERT D. LEWIS
JULIUS A. ROUSSEAU, JR.
THOMAS W. SEAY
RALPH A. WALKER, JR.

Burlington
Durham
Tarboro
Concord
Salisbury
Charlotte
Hendersonville
Four Oaks
Farmville
Asheville
Wilkesboro
Spencer
Raleigh



DISTRICT

1

3A

3B

6A

6B

DISTRICT COURT DIVISION

JUDGES

C. CHRISTOPHER BEAN (Chief)
EDGAR L. BARNES

AMBER DAvis

Eura E. REID

ROBERT P. TRIVETTE
MiCHAEL A. PAUL (Chief)
REGINA ROGERS PARKER
CHRISTOPHER B. MCLENDON
DARRELL B. CAYTON, JR.
DaviD A. LEECH (Chief)
PATRICIA GWYNETT HILBURN
JOSEPH A. BLICK, JR.

G. GALEN BRADDY

CHARLES M. VINCENT
CHERYL LYNN SPENCER
PauL M. QUINN

KAREN A. ALEXANDER
PETER MACK, JR.

L. WALTER MILLS

KirBY SMITH, IT

LEONARD W. THAGARD (Chief)
PAuL A. HARDISON

WiLLIAM M. CAMERON IIT
Lous F. Foy, Jr.

SARAH COWEN SEATON
CAROL JONES WILSON
HENRY L. STEVENS IV
JAMES L. MOORE, JR.

J. H. CorPENING II (Chief)
REBECCA W. BLACKMORE
JaMESs H. Faison IIT
SANDRA CRINER

RICHARD RUSSELL DAvis
MELINDA HAYNIE CROUCH
JEFFREY EVAN NOECKER
CHAD HOGSTON

RoBIN W. ROBINSON
BrENDA G. BRANCH (Chief)
W. TURNER STEPHENSON IIT
TERESA R. FREEMAN
THOMAS R. J. NEWBERN (Chief)
WiLLiaAM ROBERT LEwIS IT
THoMmAs L. JONES

WIiLLIAM CHARLES FARRIS (Chief)
JOSEPH JOHN HARPER, JR.
JonN M. BriTT

PELL C. COOPER

WILLIAM G. STEWART

Jonn J. CovoLo

ANTHONY W. BROWN

DaviD B. BRANTLEY (Chief)

xi

ADDRESS

Edenton
Manteo
Wanchese
Elizabeth City
Kitty Hawk
Washington
Williamston
Williamston
Washington
Greenville
Greenville
Greenville
Greenville
Greenville
New Bern
Morehead City
New Bern
New Bern
New Bern
New Bern
Clinton
Jacksonville
Richlands
Pollocksville
Jacksonville
Kenansville
Kenansville
Jacksonville
Wilmington
Wilmington
Wilmington
Wilmington
Wilmington
Wilmington
Wilmington
Wilmington
Wilmington
Halifax
Halifax
Enfield
Aulander
Winton
Murfreesboro
Wilson
Tarboro
Tarboro
Tarboro
Wilson
Rocky Mount
Rocky Mount
Goldsboro



DISTRICT

9A

10

11

12

JUDGES

LoNNIE W. CARRAWAY

R. LESLIE TURNER

TimoTHY I. FINAN
ELIZABETH A. HEATH
CHARLES P. GAyLOR IIT
DaNIEL FREDERICK FINCH (Chief)
J. HENRY BANKS

JouN W. Davis

RANDOLPH BASKERVILLE

S. QUON BRIDGES

CAROLYN J. YANCEY

MagK E. GALLOWAY (Chief)
L. MICHAEL GENTRY
ROBERT BLACKWELL RADER (Chief)
JAMES R. FuLLWoOD
JENNIFER M. GREEN
Monica M. BousmanN
JENNIFER JANE KNOX
DEBRA ANN SMITH SASSER
VINSTON M. ROZIER, JR.
Lor1 G. CHRISTIAN
CHRISTINE M. WALCZYK
Eric CRAIG CHASSE

NED WILSON MANGUM
JACQUELINE L. BREWER
ANNA ELENA WORLEY
MARGARET EAGLES

KEITH O. GREGORY
MICHAEL J. DENNING

Kris D. BAILEY

ERIN M. GRABER

ALBERT A. CORBETT, JR. (Chief)
JACQUELYN L. LEE

JiMmy L. LOVE, JR.

O. HENRY WILLIS, JR.
ADDIE M. HARRIS-RAWLS
RESsON O. FAIRCLOTH 11
ROBERT W. BRYANT, JR.

R. DALE STUBBS

CHARLES PATRICK BULLOCK
PauL A. HOLCOMBE
CHARLES WINSTON GILCHRIST
CARON H. STEWART

A. ELIZABETH KEEVER (Chief)
ROBERT J. STIEHL IIT
EDWARD A. PONE

KiMBRELL KELLY TUCKER
JoHN W. DICKSON

TALMAGE BAGGETT

GEORGE J. FRANKS

Davip H. Hasty

LAURA A. DEVAN

xii

ADDRESS

Goldsboro
Kinston
Goldsboro
Kinston
Goldsboro
Oxford
Henderson
Louisburg
Warrenton
Oxford
Henderson
Roxboro
Pelham
Raleigh
Raleigh
Raleigh
Raleigh
Raleigh
Raleigh
Raleigh
Raleigh
Raleigh
Raleigh
Raleigh
Apex
Raleigh
Raleigh
Raleigh
Raleigh
Cary
Raleigh
Smithfield
Smithfield
Sanford
Lillington
Smithfield
Lillington
Smithfield
Smithfield
Lillington
Smithfield
Lillington
Smithfield
Fayetteville
Fayetteville
Fayetteville
Fayetteville
Fayetteville
Fayetteville
Fayetteville
Fayetteville
Fayetteville



DISTRICT

13

14

156A

15B

16A

16B

17A

17B

18

19A

JUDGES

Tonr S. KING

JERRY A. JoLLy (Chief)
NAPOLEON B. BAREFOOT, JR.
MARION R. WARREN
WiLLiaM F. FAIRLEY

ScotT USSERY

SHERRY D. TYLER

Marcia H. Morey (Chief)
JaMmEes T. HiLL

Nancy E. GOrRDON

WiLLIAM ANDREW MARSH II1
BriaN C. WILKS

Par Evans

DORETTA WALKER

JAMES K. ROBERSON (Chief)
BRADLEY REID ALLEN, SR.
KATHRYN W. OVERBY

DaviD THOMAS LAMBETH, JR.
JosepH M. BUCKNER (Chief)
CHARLES T. ANDERSON
BEVERLY A. SCARLETT
LUNSFORD LONG

JAMES T. BRYAN

WiLLIAM G. McILwAIN (Chief)
REGINA M. JOE

JoHN H. HORNE, JR.

J. STANLEY CARMICAL (Chief)
HERBERT L. RICHARDSON
JOHN B. CARTER, JR.

JUDITH MILSAP DANIELS
WiLLIAM J. MOORE
FRrREDRICK B. WILKINS, JR. (Chief)
STANLEY L. ALLEN

JAMES A. GROGAN

CHARLES MITCHELL NEAVES, JR. (Chief)

SPENCER GRAY KEY, JR.
ANGELA B. PUCKETT

WiLLiaMm F. SOUTHERN IIT
WENDY M. ENOCHS (Chief)
SusaN ELIZABETH BRAY

H. THOMAS JARRELL, JR.
SusaN R. BUrRCH

THERESA H. VINCENT

WiLLiam K. HUNTER

SHERRY FOWLER ALLOWAY
PoLLy D. SIZEMORE

KIMBERLY MICHELLE FLETCHER
BETTY J. BROWN

ANGELA C. FOSTER

AVERY MICHELLE CRUMP

JAN H. SAMET

ANGELA B. Fox

WiLLIAM G. HAMBY, JR. (Chief)

xiii

ADDRESS

Fayetteville
Tabor City
Supply
Exum
Southport
Whiteville
Whiteville
Durham
Durham
Durham
Durham
Durham
Durham
Durham
Graham
Graham
Graham
Graham
Hillsborough
Hillsborough
Hillsborough
Chapel Hill
Hillsborough
Wagram
Raeford
Laurinburg
Lumberton
Lumberton
Lumberton
Lumberton
Pembroke
Wentworth
Wentworth
Wentworth
Elkin

Elkin

Elkin

Elkin
Greensboro
Greensboro
High Point
High Point
Greensboro
High Point
Greensboro
Greensboro
Greensboro
Greensboro
Greensboro
Greensboro
Greensboro
Greensboro
Kannapolis



DISTRICT

19B

19C

20A

20B

21

22A

22B

23

24

25

JUDGES

DONNA G. HEDGEPETH JOHNSON

MARTIN B. MCGEE

BRENT CLONINGER
MICHAEL A. SABISTON (Chief)
JAMES P. HILL, JR.

JAYRENE RUSSELL MANESS
LEE W. GAVIN

ScoTT C. ETHERIDGE
DoNALD W. CREED, JR.
ROBERT M. WILKINS
CHARLES E. BROWN (Chief)
BETH SPENCER DIXON
WiLLiam C. KLUTTZ, JR.
KEVIN G. EDDINGER

RoY MARSHALL BICKETT, JR.
Lisa D. THACKER (Chief)
ScoTT T. BREWER

AMANDA L. WILSON
WiLLIAM TUCKER

N. Hunt GwyN (Chief)
JOSEPH J. WILLIAMS
WiLLiam F. HELMS

STEPHEN V. HIGDON
WiLLiaMm B. REINGOLD (Chief)
CHESTER C. DAvis

WIiLLIAM THOMAS GRAHAM, JR.
VICTORIA LANE ROEMER
LAURIE L. HUTCHINS

Lisa V. L. MENEFEE
LAWRENCE J. FINE

DENISE S. HARTSFIELD
GEORGE BEDSWORTH
CAMILLE D. BANKS-PAYNE
L. DALE GRAHAM (Chief)
H. THOMAS CHURCH
DEBORAH BROWN

EpwaArD L. HENDRICK IV
CHRISTINE UNDERWOOD
WAYNE L. MICHAEL (Chief)
JiMmy L. MYERS

APrIL C. WOOD

Mary F. COVINGTON
CARLTON TERRY

J. RODWELL PENRY
MircHELL L. McLEAN (Chief)
Davip V. BYRD

JEANIE REAVIS HOUSTON
MICHAEL D. DUNCAN
WiLLiAM A. LEAVELL IIT

R. GREGORY HORNE
THEODORE WRIGHT MCENTIRE
F. WARREN HUGHES
RoOBERT M. BRADY (Chief)

Xiv

ADDRESS

Concord
Concord
Mount Pleasant
Troy

Asheboro
Carthage
Asheboro
Asheboro
Southern Pines
Asheboro
Salisbury
Salisbury
Salisbury
Salisbury
Salisbury
Polkton
Monroe
Rockingham
Albemarle
Monroe
Monroe
Matthews
Monroe
Clemmons
Winston-Salem
Kernersville
Winston-Salem
Winston-Salem
Winston-Salem
Winston-Salem
Clemmons
Winston-Salem
Winston-Salem
Taylorsville
Statesville
Mooresville
Taylorsville
Olin
Lexington
Advance
Lexington
Thomasville
Advance
Lexington
Wilkesboro
Wilkesboro
Yadkinville
Wilkesboro
Bakersville
Boone

Spruce Pine
Burnsville
Lenoir



DISTRICT

26

27TA

27B

28

29A

29B

JUDGES

GREGORY R. HAYES

L. SUZANNE OWSLEY

C. THoMASs EDWARDS
BUFORD A. CHERRY
SHERRIE WILSON ELLIOTT
Awmy R. SIGMON

J. GARY DELLINGER
ROBERT A. MULLINAX, JR.
Lisa C. BELL (Chief)
RickYE MCKOY-MITCHELL
Louis A. TROSCH, JR.
REGAN A. MILLER

BECKY THORNE TIN
THOMAS MOORE, JR.
CHRISTY TOWNLEY MANN
RoNALD C. CHAPMAN
DoNNIE HOOVER

PAIGE B. MCTHENIA

JENA P. CULLER

KIMBERLY Y. BEST-STATON
CHARLOTTE BROWN-WILLIAMS
JOHN TOTTEN

ELIZABETH THORNTON TROSCH
THEOFANIS X. NIXON
KAREN EADY-WILLIAMS
DONALD CURETON, JR.
SEAN SMITH

MATT OSMAN

Tyyawpi M. HANDS

RaLPH C. GINGLES, JR. (Chief)
ANGELA G. HOYLE

JouN K. GREENLEE

JAMES A. JACKSON

THOMAS GREGORY TAYLOR
MicHAEL K. LANDS
RICHARD ABERNETHY
LARRY JAMES WILsON (Chief)
ANNA F. FOSTER

K. DEAN BLACK

ALl B. PAKsoY, JR.
MEREDITH A. SHUFORD

J. CALvIN HiLL (Chief)
REBECCA B. KNIGHT
PATRICIA KAUFMANN YOUNG
JULIE M. KEPPLE

WARD D. Scort

EpwiN D. CLONTZ

ANDREA DRAY

C. RanDpy PooL (Chief)
LAURA ANNE POWELL

J. THOMAS DAvis

ATHENA F. BROOKS (Chief)
Davip KENNEDY Fox

ADDRESS

Hickory
Hickory
Morganton
Hickory
Newton
Conover
Morganton
Newton
Charlotte
Charlotte
Charlotte
Charlotte
Charlotte
Charlotte
Charlotte
Charlotte
Charlotte
Charlotte
Charlotte
Charlotte
Charlotte
Charlotte
Charlotte
Charlotte
Charlotte
Charlotte
Charlotte
Charlotte
Charlotte
Gastonia
Belmont
Gastonia
Gastonia
Belmont
Gastonia
Gastonia
Shelby
Shelby
Denver
Shelby
Lincolnton
Asheville
Asheville
Asheville
Asheville
Asheville
Asheville
Asheville
Marion
Rutherfordton
Forest City
Fletcher
Hendersonville



DISTRICT

30

JUDGES

THOMAS M. BRITTAIN, JR.
PETER KNIGHT

RicHLYN D. HoLt (Chief)
Monica HAYES LESLIE
RicHARD K. WALKER
DoNNA FORGA

RoYy WIJEWICKRAMA
KRISTINA L. EARWOOD

ADDRESS

Mills River
Hendersonville
Waynesville
Waynesville
Hayesville
Clyde
Waynesville
Waynesville

EMERGENCY DISTRICT COURT JUDGES

THOMAS V. ALDRIDGE, JR.
KYLE D. AUSTIN

SARAH P. BAILEY
GRAFTON G. BEAMAN
SAMUEL CATHEY
SHELLY H. DESVOUGES
M. PATRICIA DEVINE

J. KEATON FONVIELLE
THoMAS G. FOSTER, JR.
EARL J. FOWLER, JR.
JANE POWELL GRAY
SAMUEL G. GRIMES
JOYCE A. HAMILTON
LAWRENCE HAMMOND, JR.
JANE V. HARPER
RoBERT E. HODGES
SHELLY S. HoLT

JAMES M. HONEYCUTT
WAYNE G. KIMBLE
DAvID Q. LABARRE
WiLLiam C. LAWTON

HaroLD PAauL McCoy, Jr.

LAWRENCE MCSWAIN
FriTZz Y. MERCER, JR.
Nancy C. PHILLIPS
DENNIS J. REDWING
ANNE B. SALISBURY

J. LARRY SENTER
JOSEPH E. SETZER, JR.
RUSSELL SHERRILL III
CATHERINE C. STEVENS
J. KENT WASHBURN

CHARLES W. WILKINSON, JR.

Ocean Isle Beach
Pineola
Rocky Mount
Elizabeth City
Charlotte

St. Augustine, FL
Hillsborough
Shelby
Pleasant Green
Asheville
Raleigh
Washington
Raleigh
Asheboro
Charlotte
Nebo
Wilmington
Lexington
Jacksonville
Durham
Raleigh
Scotland Neck
Greensboro
Summerfield
Elizabethtown
Gastonia

Cary

Raleigh
Franklinton
Raleigh
Chapel Hill
Burlington
Oxford



DISTRICT

JUDGES

ADDRESS

RETIRED/RECALLED JUDGES

CLAUDE W. ALLEN, JR.
DoNALD L. BOONE
JOYCE A. BROWN
HuGH B. CAMPBELL

T. YATES DOBSON, JR.
JAMES W. HARDISON
JANE V. HARPER
JAMES A. HARRILL, JR.
RoLAND H. HAYES

PHiLiP F. HOWERTON, JR.

LiLLIAN B. JORDAN
JAMES E. MARTIN
Epwarp H. McCORMICK
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CASES

ARGUED AND DETERMINED IN THE

COURT OF APPEALS

OF

NORTH CAROLINA
AT
RALEIGH

HUBER ENGINEERED WOODS, LLC, PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE V. CANAL INSURANCE
COMPANY, DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

No. COA09-335
(Filed 16 March 2010)

1. Insurance— automobile insurance contract—applicable law

The substantive law of Maine applied to a breach of contract
case between a North Carolina building products manufacturer
and an insurance company because the last act to make the auto-
mobile insurance contract binding occurred in Maine.

2. Insurance— automobile—duty to indemnify—summary
judgment
The trial court erred in deciding on summary judgment the
issue of defendant insurer’s duty to indemnify plaintiff because
an insurer may not litigate its duty to indemnify until the liability
of the insured has been determined, and plaintiff’s liability in this
case had not been determined when the action was filed.

3. Insurance— automobile—duty to defend—insured—policy
terms ambiguous

Plaintiff was an “insured” under the terms of an automobile
insurance policy because plaintiff was facing liability because of
“acts or omissions” of an employee of a named insured. De-
fendant’s argument that the language “acts or omissions” neces-
sarily meant “negligent acts or omissions” was overruled. The
policy did not require negligence on the part of the named in-
sured or its employees for plaintiff to be an “insured.”
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2 IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

HUBER ENGINEERED WOODS, LLC v. CANAL INS. CO.
[203 N.C. App. 1 (2010)]

4. Insurance— automobile—duty to defend—insured—policy
terms ambiguous

Defendant’s argument that the term “because of” acts or
omissions required a finding of proximate cause and limited
defendant’s duty to defend to instances of vicarious liability was
overruled. The term was, at a minimum, ambiguous and therefore
interpreted in favor of coverage. Because plaintiff’s alleged liabil-
ity could have arisen from an act or omission on the part of the
insured under the policy, it was sufficient to trigger defendant’s
duty to defend.

5. Insurance— automobile—duty to defend

The trial court did not err in declaring that defendant insur-
ance company had a duty to defendant plaintiff in a wrongful
death action brought by the estate of a deceased employee be-
cause the employee exclusion clause of the automobile insurance
policy at issue did not bar coverage under the facts of the case.

JACKSON, Judge, concurring in the result.
STEELMAN, Judge, concurring in part and dissenting in part.

Appeal by Defendant from order entered 15 December 2008 by
Judge Jesse B. Caldwell, III in Superior Court, Mecklenburg County.
Heard in the Court of Appeals 30 September 2009.

Robinson, Bradshaw & Hinson, PA., by R. Steven DeGeorge, for
Plaintiff-Appellee.

Smith Moore Leatherwood LLP, by Robert D. Moseley, Jr.,
C. Predric Marcinak III, Sidney S. Eagles, Jr., and Elizabeth
Brooks Scherer, for Defendant-Appellant.

McGEE, Judge.

Plaintiff is a North Carolina building products manufacturer and
Defendant is a South Carolina insurer of trucking operations. W.M. Jr.
Trucking, Inc. (W.M.) is a Maine trucking company. Plaintiff and W.M.
entered into a contract (the contract) in 2004. In the contract, W.M.
agreed to provide Plaintiff with trucking services. The contract
required W.M. to maintain insurance, including “[b]Jroad form com-
prehensive general liability insurance . . . for personal injury and
property damage covering liability assumed by [W.M.] under this
AGREEMENT.” W.M. obtained a commercial automobile liability pol-



IN THE COURT OF APPEALS 3

HUBER ENGINEERED WOODS, LLC v. CANAL INS. CO.
[203 N.C. App. 1 (2010)]

icy (the policy) from Defendant. According to an affidavit from
Wallace Mahan, Jr., W.M.’s president, W.M. intended for the policy to
fulfill the requirements of the contract, and “directly benefit”
Plaintiff, affording Plaintiff with “protection against . . . bodily in-
juries arising from the performance of [W.M.’s] trucking services.”

Joseph Nichols (Nichols), a truck driver employed by W.M., was
fatally injured on 17 June 2005 after falling from his truck while
attempting to secure a tarp over a load of plywood at Plaintiff’s man-
ufacturing plant in Easton, Maine. On 11 September 2006, Nichols’
estate filed a wrongful death action against Plaintiff in superior court,
Aroostook County, Maine. Plaintiff filed a complaint against
Defendant in Mecklenburg County Superior Court on 4 March 2008.
Plaintiff sought (1) compensatory damages for breach of contract and
(2) compensatory damages, punitive damages, and attorney’s fees for
“bad faith.” Plaintiff also sought an order compelling Defendant to
“defend and indemnify” Plaintiff in the Maine action.

Defendant filed a motion to dismiss Plaintiff’s action on 5 May
2008, pursuant to N.C. Gen. Stat. § 1A-1, Rule 12(b)(6). Plaintiff
amended its complaint on 28 May 2008, specifically asking for a
declaratory judgment that Defendant was obligated to defend and
indemnify Plaintiff from the claims made against Plaintiff in the
Maine action. By motion filed 9 June 2008, Defendant again moved to
dismiss Plaintiff’s amended complaint, pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6). In
an order entered 22 July 2008, the trial court denied Defendant’s
motion to dismiss.

Plaintiff moved for summary judgment on its declaratory judg-
ment action on 10 September 2008. By motion filed 15 September
2008, Defendant moved for summary judgment on the declaratory
judgment action. By order entered 15 December 2008, the trial court
denied Defendant’s motion for summary judgment, granted Plaintiff’s
motion for summary judgment, and declared that the policy “provides
defense and indemnity coverage to [Plaintiff] for the claims asserted
against [Plaintiff]” in the Maine action. Defendant appeals.

In Defendant’s two arguments on appeal, it contends that the trial
court erred in denying its motion for summary judgment, in granting
summary judgment in favor of Plaintiff, and in determining that the
policy required Defendant to both defend and indemnify Plaintiff with
respect to Nichols’ 11 September 2006 action. We agree in part.

Summary judgment is proper when “the pleadings, depositions,
answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with
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the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any
material fact and that any party is entitled to a judgment as a mat-
ter of law.” The moving party bears the burden of demonstrating
the lack of triable issues of fact. Once the movant satisfies its bur-
den of proof, the burden then shifts to the non-movant to present
specific facts showing triable issues of material fact. On appeal
from summary judgment, “we review the record in the light most
favorable to the non-moving party.”

Broughton v. McClatchy Newspapers, Inc., 161 N.C. App. 20, 26, 588
S.E.2d 20, 25-26 (2003) (internal citations omitted).

We first note that though this appeal is from an interlocutory
order, the interlocutory order affects a substantial right of Defendant
and, therefore, this appeal is properly before us. Carison v. Old
Republic Ins. Co., 160 N.C. App. 399, 401, 585 S.E.2d 497, 499 (2003)
(“An order of partial summary judgment on the issue of whether an
insurance company has a duty to defend in the underlying action
‘affects a substantial right that might be lost absent immediate
appeal.’ ” (Citation omitted)).

“Our review of the trial court’s construction of the provisions of
an insurance policy is de novo.” Smith v. Stover, 179 N.C. App. 843,
845, 635 S.E.2d 501, 502 (2006) (citation omitted).

[1] Next, we must determine the correct substantive law to apply in
this case.

[TThe general rule is that an automobile insurance contract
should be interpreted and the rights and liabilities of the parties
thereto determined in accordance with the laws of the state
where the contract was entered even if the liability of the insured
arose out of an accident in North Carolina. With insurance con-
tracts the principle of lex loct contractus mandates that the sub-
stantive law of the state where the last act to make a binding con-
tract occurred, usually delivery of the policy, controls the
interpretation of the contract.

Fortune Ins. Co. v. Owens, 351 N.C. 424, 428, 526 S.E.2d 463, 465-66
(2000); see also Szymczyk v. Signs Now Corp., 168 N.C. App. 182,
187, 606 S.E.2d 728, 733 (2005) (“[T]he interpretation of a contract is
governed by the law of the place where the contract was made[.]”);
N.C. Farm Bureauw Mut. Ins. Co. v. Holt, 154 N.C. App. 156, 163, 574
S.E.2d 6, 11 (2002) (citation omitted). Though this action was filed in
North Carolina, Plaintiff and Defendant stipulated that W.M.
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“obtained an automobile liability policy from [Defendant]. The [pol-
icy] was issued and delivered in Maine to [W.M.].” We therefore look
to Maine substantive law to interpret the policy.

[2] We first address the issue of indemnification.

An insurer may not litigate its duty to indemnify until the liability
of the insured has been determined. The duty to defend is
broader than the duty to indemnify, and an insurer may have to
defend before it is clear whether a duty to indemnify exists.

Hanover Ins. Co. v. Crocker, 688 A.2d 928, 929 n.1 (Me. 1997) (inter-
nal citations omitted); see also Maine State Academy of Hair Design
v. Commercial Union Ins. Co., 699 A.2d 1153, 1160 n.2 (Me. 1997);
State Mut. Ins. Co. v. Bragg, 589 A.2d 35, 36 (Me. 1991); American
Policyholders’ Ins. Co. v. Cumberland Cold Storage Co., 373 A.2d
247, 250-51 (Me. 1977); but see Farm Bureau Mut. Ins. Co. v. Waugh,
188 A.2d 889, 891-92 (Me. 1963). We are therefore constrained to hold
that the trial court erred in deciding the issue of indemnification by
summary judgment because the “liability of the insured” had not been
determined when this action was filed, and we vacate that portion of
the 15 December 2008 order.

[8] We must next address the issue of Defendant’s duty to defend
Plaintiff.

We determine the duty to defend by comparing the allegations in
the underlying complaint with the provisions of the insurance
policy. “If a complaint reveals a ‘potential . . . that the facts ulti-
mately proved may come within the coverage,” a duty to defend
exists.” See also Gibson v. Farm Family Mut. Ins. Co., 673 A.2d
1350, 1352 (Me. 1996) (describing the comparison test as whether
“there is any potential basis for recovery . . . regardless of the
actual facts on which the insured’s ultimate liability may be
based,” and stating that “[a]n insured is not at the mercy of the
notice pleading of the third party suing him to establish his own
insurer’s duty to defend.”). “Even a complaint which is legally
insufficient to withstand a motion to dismiss gives rise to a duty
to defend if it shows an intent to state a claim within the insur-
ance coverage.”

Maine State Academy, 699 A.2d at 1156 (internal citations omitted).

For the judicial construction of policies of insurance this Court
has adopted and soundly applied certain rational canons.
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“No rule, in the interpretation of a policy, is more fully estab-
lished, or more imperative and controlling, than that which
declares that, in all cases, it must be liberally construed in favor
of the insured, so as not to defeat, without a plain necessity, his
claim to indemnity, which, in making the insurance, it was his
object to secure. When the words are, without violence, suscep-
tible of two interpretations, that which will sustain his claim and
cover the loss must, in preference, be adopted. While courts will
extend all reasonable protection to insurers, by allowing them to
hedge themselves about by conditions intended to guard against
fraud, carelessness, want of interest, and the like, they will nev-
ertheless enforce the salutary rule of construction, that, as the
language of the condition is theirs, and it is therefore in their
power to provide for every proper case, it is to be construed most
favorably to the insured.”

“In case of ambiguity or inconsistency, it is often said that the
court will give the policy a construction most favorable to the
assured, for the reason that, as the insurer makes the policy and
selects his own language, he is presumed to have employed terms
which express his real intention.”

“A contract of insurance, like any other contract, is to be con-
strued in accordance with the intention of the parties, which is to
be ascertained from an examination of the whole instrument. All
parts and clauses must be considered together that it may be seen
if and how far one clause is explained, modified, limited, or con-
trolled by the others.”

Waugh, 188 A.2d at 891-92 (internal citations omitted); see also
Tinker v. Continental Ins. Co., 410 A.2d 550, 5563-54 (Me. 1980).

Defendant argues that Plaintiff is not an “insured” under the pol-
icy. The policy includes a section entitled “Persons Insured.” Plaintiff
argues, and Defendant disputes, that Plaintiff is an “insured” pursuant
to section (d) of the “Persons Insured” provision. The “Persons
Insured” provision states in relevant part: “Each of the following is an
insured under [the policy] to the extent set forth below:”
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(d) any other . .. organization but only with respect to . . . its lia-
bility because of acts or omissions of an insured under (a), (b)
or (c) above.

Section (c) is the provision mentioned in section (d) relevant to this
appeal. Section (c) states in relevant part:

any other person while using an owned automobile . . . with
the permission of the named insured [W.M.], provided his actual
. .. use thereof is within the scope of such permission, but with
respect to bodily injury . . . arising out of the loading or unload-
ing thereof, such other person shall be an insured only if he is:

(2) an employee of the named insured].]

Nichols was employed by W.M., and he was fatally injured while using
an “owned automobile” of W.M., with permission, and within the
scope of that permission. Nichols was therefore an “insured” under
the policy. Plaintiff argues that pursuant to section (d), it is an
“insured” because it is facing “liability because of acts or omissions
of an insured,” namely Nichols.

Defendant contends that Plaintiff is not an “insured” because sec-
tion (d) does not cover Plaintiff. Defendant argues, citing several
cases from other jurisdictions, that section (d) is a vicarious liability
clause. See, e.g., Vulcan Materials Co. v. Casualty Ins. Co., 723
F.Supp. 1263, 1265 (N.D. Ill. 1989); Garcia v. Federal Ins. Co., 969
So.2d 288 (Fla. 2007); Transportation Ins. Co. v. George E. Failing
Co., Div. of Azcon, 691 SW.2d 71 (Tex. App. 1985). While we agree
with Defendant that these opinions interpret provisions similar to the
provision at issue in this case as simple vicarious liability provisions,
none of these opinions have any precedential value in Maine. We find
no Maine cases on point, and thus must turn to the Maine laws of
insurance policy interpretation to resolve this issue.

Defendant contends, relying on cases like Vulcan, Garcia, and
Transportation Ins. Co., that the language “acts or omissions” con-
tained in section (d) necessarily means negligent “acts or omissions,”
and is thus restricted to instances where negligence on the part of the
insured has been alleged, and forms part of the basis for the underly-
ing suit. Defendant argues, in other words, that because Nichols’
action against Plaintiff does not rely on any alleged negligence of
Nichols, but solely on the alleged negligence of Plaintiff, section (d)
does not apply, and Defendant has no duty to defend.
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However, section (d) of the policy does not mention “vicarious
liability,” and does not speak in terms of “negligent acts or omis-
sions,” but simply in terms of “acts or omissions.” (Emphasis added).
Defendant “enjoyed full contractual freedom when it issued the pol-
icy. Had [Defendant] elected to [limit the coverage in the manner it
now argues] it could have effected its purpose with trifling effort.”
Waugh, 188 A.2d at 892. There is a dispute concerning the meaning of
“acts or omissions,” and this language is susceptible to two reason-
able interpretations. “Whether or not a contractual term is ambiguous
is a question of law.” Bourque v. Dairyland Ins. Co., 741 A.2d 50, 53
(Me. 1999).

A policy is ambiguous if it is reasonably susceptible of differing
interpretations. In determining whether the contract is ambigu-
ous, it is evaluated as a whole and must be construed in accor-
dance with the intention of the parties. When applying these rules
of construction, we view the language from the perspective of an
average person, untrained in either the law or insurance.

Foundation for Blood Research v. St. Paul Marine & Fire Ins. Co.,
730 A.2d 175, 180 (Me. 1999) (citations omitted). We have not found
any Maine opinion interpreting “acts or omissions” in this context. We
therefore look to other jurisdictions for guidance. As we have already
noted, Defendant cites to cases interpreting language very similar to
that included in the policy before us as constituting a simple vicari-
ous liability provision. In each of these cases, the appellate court
assumed the term “acts or omissions” referred to legal negligence.
Other courts have interpreted “acts or omissions” differently.

In Maryland Cas. Co. v. Regis Ins. Co., 1997 U.S. Dist. LEXIS
4359 (E.D. Pa. Apr. 1, 1997), the United States District Court rejected
the argument that the term “act or omission” in an insurance policy
required negligence.

The plain or ordinary meaning of “act or omission” only requires
the named insured to do or fail to do something. Negligence
would require the named insured to do [or fail to do] something
“which a reasonable [person] guided by those ordinary consider-
ations which ordinarily regulate human affairs, would do [or
would not do].”

Maryland Cas. Co. v. Regis Ins. Co., 1997 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 4359 at
13-14. The court in Maryland Cas. held that the term “act or omis-
sion” was ambiguous, and it looked with disfavor on another United
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States District Court opinion that had “added the word ‘negligent’
before acts or omissions[;]” stating it would “not read such language
into the [policy] where none exists in order to interpret the clause in
favor of the insurer.” Id. at 15, n4. In Dillon Cos. v. Royal Indem. Co.,
369 F. Supp. 2d 1277, 1288 (D. Kan. 2005) the court found “that a rea-
sonable insured could understand ‘acts or omissions’ to mean all acts
or omissions, negligent or not.” The Dillon Court concluded “that the
phrase ‘acts and omissions of [the employer]’ include[d] any act or
failure to act by [an employee,]” not just negligent acts or omissions
by the employee. Id.; see also United States Fire Ins. Co. v. Aetna
Life & Cas., 684 N.E.2d 956, 962 (11l. App. Ct. 1st Dist. 1997).

We agree with Judge Jackson in her concurring opinion that, on
its face, the term “act or omission” appears unambiguous. We do not
have to reach a holding on that issue, however. Because we are apply-
ing Maine substantive law, we decide not to make an unnecessary
holding on the definition of “act or omission.” We need only hold that
the term “act or omission” is, at a minimum, reasonably susceptible
to differing interpretations. “Act or omission” as it is utilized in the
policy is, at a minimum, ambiguous. Blood Research, 730 A.2d at 180;
see also Foremost Ins. Co. v. Levesque, 868 A.2d 244, 247 (Me. 2005).
Ambiguity will be decided in favor of coverage, unless the clear intent
of the parties to the policy dictates otherwise. Waugh, 188 A.2d at
891-92. We do not find any clear expression of intent on the part of
either Defendant or W.M., at the time the policy was executed, to
exclude Plaintiff from coverage under the policy for the action filed
against Plaintiff. However, the president of W.M. executed an affidavit
subsequent to the death of Nichols, stating that it was W.M.’s “under-
standing and intention that [the policy] provided the coverage called
for in [the contract], and that said insurance would, therefore,
directly benefit [Plaintiff.] It was [W.M.’s] understanding and inten-
tion to afford such customers protection against . . . bodily injuries
arising from the performance of [W.M.’s] trucking services.” We hold
that section (d) of the policy did not require negligence on the part of
W.M. (or Nichols), but merely that Plaintiff was subject to liability
“because of” the acts or omissions of W.M. or Nichols.

[4] Defendant argues that the term “because of” in the relevant pol-
icy provision also limits Defendant’s duty to defend to instances of
vicarious liability. Defendant contends that the term “because of”
requires a finding of proximate cause, whereas Plaintiff argues
“because of” should be defined by its commonly understood meaning.
Unfortunately, Defendant does not define “because of” in the policy.
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Courts in multiple jurisdictions have struggled to decide how lan-
guage such as “because of,” “as the result of,” “caused by,” and “aris-
ing out of” should be interpreted. Certain courts have decided some
of these terms require a finding of proximate cause, while other
courts have found that these terms merely require a finding of “but
for” causation. Vulcan, 723 F. Supp. at 1265; Garcia v. Federal Ins.
Co., 969 So. 2d 288 (Fla. 2007) (opinions interpreting policy phrases
including “because of” as referring to proximate cause or requiring
evidence supporting vicarious liability).

The words ‘arising out of’ are not words of narrow and specific
limitation but are broad, general, and comprehensive terms
affecting broad coverage. They are intended to, and do, afford
protection to the insured against liability imposed upon him for
all damages caused by acts done in connection with or arising out
of such use. They are words of much broader significance than
‘caused by.” They are ordinarily understood to mean . . . ‘incident
to,” or ‘having connection with’ the use of the automobile[.]

The parties do not, however, contemplate a general liability insur-
ance contract. There must be a causal connection between the
use and the injury. This causal connection may be shown to be an
injury which is the natural and reasonable incident or conse-
quence of the use, though not foreseen or expected, but the injury
cannot be said to arise out of the use of an automobile if it was
directly caused by some independent act or intervening cause
wholly disassociated from, independent of, and remote from the
use of the automobile.

State Capital Ins. Co. v. Nationwide Mut. Ins. Co., 318 N.C. 534, 539,
350 S.E.2d 66, 69 (1986); see also Maryland Cas., 1997 U.S. Dist.
LEXIS 4359 at 13 (holding that “as a result of” did not impose “a
greater causation requirement than the ‘but for’ causation applied by
courts in cases with clauses using ‘arising out of’”); Brewer v.
Cabarrus Plastics, Inc., 357 N.C. 149, 579 S.E.2d 249 (2003), adopt-
ing the dissent from Brewer v. Cabarrus Plastics, Inc., 146 N.C.
App. 82, 88, 551 S.E.2d 902, 906 (2001) (“In the common vernacular,
the phrases ‘but for,” ‘because of,’ and ‘on account of’ are used inter-
changeably.”) (emphasis added); Warren v. Wilmington, 43 N.C. App.
748, 750, 259 S.E.2d 786, 788 (1979) (“ ‘Arising out of’ the employment
is construed to require that the injury be incurred because of a con-
dition or risk created by the job. There must be a causal relation
between the job and the injury.”).
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In fact, one of the cases cited by Defendant, Garcia, was the
response of the Supreme Court of Florida to a certified question
posed by the Eleventh Circuit. Garcia v. Fed. Ins. Co., 473 F.3d 1131
(11th Cir. Fla. 2006). The Eleventh Circuit, after struggling to deter-
mine the meaning of both “because of” and “acts or omissions,” cer-
tified the following question to the Florida Supreme Court: “Is an
insurance policy that defines a covered person as ‘any other person
with respect to liability because of acts or omissions’ of the insured
ambiguous?” Id. at 1136. Though the Florida Supreme Court ulti-
mately held that the provision in Garcia was a vicarious liability pro-
vision under Florida law, the Eleventh Circuit clearly believed the lan-
guage was reasonably susceptible to different interpretations, thus
prompting certification of the question to the Florida Supreme Court.
We find the term “because of” to be, at a minimum, ambiguous, and
therefore interpret it in favor of coverage. Waugh, 188 A.2d at 891-92.
Viewing the language “because of” “from the perspective of an aver-
age person, untrained in either the law or insurance[,]” we afford it its
plain meaning, not the legal meaning of “proximate cause.” Blood
Research, 730 A.2d at 180.

We find United States Fire Ins., supra, instructive. United States
Fire Ins. was decided under Illinois law, which, relevant to this
appeal, is similar to Maine law. In United States Fire Ins., Gateway, a
subcontractor, obtained a general liability policy from USFI which
covered the general contractor, Perini Building (the defendant), “but
only with respect to acts or omissions of the named insured
[Gateway] in connection with the named insured’s operations at the
applicable location designated.” United States Fire Ins., 684 N.E.2d
at 958. Startz, an employee of Gateway, was injured while working for
Gateway on a project (the Argonne project) run by the defendant.
Startz brought action against the defendant based, in part, upon the
defendant’s negligence. Startz did not bring suit against his employer,
Gateway. Id. at 958-59. The Court in United States Fire Ins. held:

A comparison of the allegations in the complaint and the endorse-
ment raises the potential for coverage and, in turn, a potential
for coverage is all that is necessary to trigger USFI’s duty to de-
fend. When injured, Startz was an employee of Gateway (the
named insured), was performing tasks required of him (“in con-
nection with the named insured’s operations”), and was work-
ing at the Argonne construction project (“at the applicable lo-
cation designated”). Defendant[’s] alleged liability to Startz
potentially could have arisen from an act or omission on the part
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of Gateway, whether or not the act or omission rises to the level
of negligence. Such a possibility is sufficient to trigger the duty to
defend on the part of Gateway’s insurer (USFI) under the addi-
tional insured endorsement.

Id. at 963.

In the case before us, Nichols, working for W.M. in the course of
W.M.’s regular business, was fatally injured on the job. Nichols’ estate
sued Plaintiff, claiming Plaintiff’s negligence led to Nichols’ death.
Nichols’ estate did not sue W.M. These facts are nearly identical to
those present in United States Fire Ins. The United States Fire Ins.
Court, applying law very similar to that of Maine, found no issue with
the fact that Startz, the injured party, sued the defendant directly for
the defendant’s alleged negligence, and did not sue the named
insured, Gateway, his employer. We hold that Plaintiff’s alleged liabil-
ity to Nichols’ estate “potentially could have arisen from an act or
omission on the part of [an insured under the policy], whether or not
the act or omission [rose] to the level of negligence.” Id. This possi-
bility was “sufficient to trigger the duty to defend[.]” Id. This argu-
ment is without merit.

We disagree with the dissent’s contention that our decision relies
in any part on Plaintiff’s affirmative defense of comparative negli-
gence to Nichols’ estate’s claim against Plaintiff. As we have stated
above, we hold that no showing of negligence on the part of Nichols
was required to trigger Defendant’s duty to defend. We clearly agree
with the dissent that a “number of other courts have considered the
arguments made by [P]laintiff in the instant case and found them to
be without merit.” We have cited such cases above without reserva-
tion. It is equally clear, however, that a number of other jurisdictions
have considered the arguments made by Plaintiff and found merit
therein. It is precisely this split in authority that augments our hold-
ing regarding the ambiguities inherent in the policy. Insurance com-
panies can avoid the risks inherent in ambiguous policy language by
drafting clearer language. As the drafter of the policy before us, only
Defendant was in a position to more clearly indicate the limits of cov-
erage under the policy.

[5] Defendant contends in its second argument that the trial court
erred in finding Defendant had a duty to defend Plaintiff because the
policy included an employee exclusion clause which barred coverage
on the facts of this case. We disagree.
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The policy included the following language:

Exclusions: This insurance does not apply:

(c) to bodily injury to any employee of the insured arising out
of and in the course of his employment by the insured or to any
obligation of the insured to indemnify another because of dam-
ages arising out of such injury, but this exclusion does not apply
to any such injury arising out of and in the course of domestic
employment by the insured unless benefits therefore are in
whole or in part either payable or required to be provided under
any workmen’s compensation law[.]

We first note that the intent behind this provision appears to be
to deny coverage for the employee in instances where the injured
employee is eligible to collect workers’ compensation benefits.
Further, language used throughout the policy refers to “any insured,”
“an insured,” “the named insured,” “the designated insured,” and
“the insured.”

[W]e hold that by excluding coverage for damages intentionally
caused by “an insured person,” Allstate unambiguously excluded
coverage for damages intentionally caused by any insured person
under the policy. “An” is an indefinite article routinely used in the
sense of “any” in referring to more than one individual object.

Johnson v. Allstate Ins. Co., 687 A.2d 642, 644 (Me. 1997). However,

provisions excluding from coverage injuries . . . caused by “the
insured” refer to a definite, specific insured, who is directly
involved in the occurrence that causes the injury. Western
Casualty & Surety Co. v. Aponaug Mfg. Co., 197 F.2d 673, 674
(5th Cir. 1952) (use of “the” insured would not affect coverage of
other insureds); Arsenon v. National Auto. and Casualty Ins.
Co., 45 Cal. 2d 81, 286 P.2d 816, 818 (Cal. 1955) (use of “the”
insured in exclusion clause did not preclude recovery of other
insureds); Pawtucket Mut. Ins. Co. v. Lebrecht, 104 N.H. 465, 190
A.2d 420, 423 (N.H. 1963) (use of “the” and “an” insured in same
policy indicates an intent to cover different situations; “the”
insured refers to definite, specific insured who is seeking cover-
age); Unigard Mut. Ins. Co. v. Argonaut Ins. Co., 20 Wash. App.
261, 579 P2d 1015, 1019 (Wash. Ct. App. 1978) (coverage and
exclusion defined in terms of “the” insured create separate oblig-
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ations to several insureds). The “the insured” language in this pol-
icy differs from the “an insured” exclusion language present in
other policies. Such “an insured” language in an exclusion clause
is equated with “any insured” and means that the conduct of any
insured that is excluded from coverage bars coverage for each
insured under the policy. Such is not the case with [this] policy].]

Crocker, 688 A.2d at 931; see also Korhonen v. Allstate Ins. Co., 827
A.2d 833, 837-38 (Me. 2003). As the Supreme Judicial Court of Maine
has determined that “the insured” refers only to the person or entity
seeking coverage, we must apply that definition to the facts of this
case. Plaintiff is the entity seeking coverage; therefore, the language
referring to “the insured” in the exclusionary provision must refer to
Plaintiff, and cannot refer to W.M. Nichols was employed by W.M., not
Plaintiff. Therefore, because Nichols was not an employee of
Plaintiff, by the express language of the exclusionary provision, the
exclusionary provision does not apply on the facts before us.

We therefore affirm the trial court’s ruling that Defendant has a
duty to defend Plaintiff in the action brought against Plaintiff by
Nichols’ estate. The issue of indemnification should be addressed, if
necessary, after the issue of Plaintiff’s liability to Nichols’ estate has
been finally determined.

Affirmed in part, vacated in part.
Judge JACKSON concurs in the result with a separate opinion.

Judge STEELMAN concurs in part and dissents in part with a
separate opinion.

JACKSON, Judge, concurring in the result.

I concur in the result reached by the majority; however, I write
separately to express my concern with respect to the precedential
effect of the majority’s holding that “the term ‘act or omission’ is . . .
reasonably susceptible to differing interpretations|,]” and is therefore
“ambiguous.” The phrase “act or omission” is commonplace in legal
practice and legal writing, and to hold that the phrase, standing alone,
is ambiguous may have regrettable consequences.

Black’s Law Dictionary defines “act” as “[sJomething done or per-
formed” or “[t]he process of doing or performing; an occurrence that
results from a person’s will being exerted on the external world[.]”
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Black’s Law Dictionary 27 (9th ed. 2009). Black’s Law Dictionary
defines “omission” as “[a] failure to do something” or “[t]he act of
leaving something out.” Black’s Law Dictionary 1197 (9th ed. 2009).

Other jurisdictions previously have interpreted provisions in
other insurance contracts similar to the provision at issue here.
See, e.g., Dillon Cos. Inc. v. Royal Indem. Co., 369 F. Supp. 2d 1277,
1287-88 (D. Kan. 2005); Vulcan Materials Co. v. Casualty Ins. Co.,
723 F. Supp. 1263, 1265 (N.D. Ill. 1989); Maryland Cas. Co. v. Regis
Ins. Co., 1997 WL 164268, 1997 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 4359 (E.D. Pa. Apr. 1,
1997); Garcia v. Federal Ins. Co., 969 So. 2d 288 (Fla. 2007); Transp.
Ins. Co. v. George E. Failing Co., 691 SW. 2d 71 (Tex. App. 1985).
However, the fact that the underlying causes of action in those cases
sounded in negligence does not render the term “act or omission”
ambiguous by virtue of its being susceptible to differing interpreta-
tions, even though the phrase, standing alone, is broad enough to
include causes of action other than negligence.

To the contrary, I believe that the phrase is clear and unambigu-
ous. Maryland Cas. Co. correctly explained that

[t]he plain or ordinary meaning of “act or omission” only requires
the named insured to do or fail to do something. Negligence
would require the named insured to do [or fail to do] something
“which a reasonable [person] guided by those ordinary consider-
ations which ordinarily regulate human affairs, would do [or
would not do].”

Maryland Cas. Co., 1997 WL 164268, at *5, 1997 U.S. Dist. LEXIS
4359, at *13-14 (citation omitted). The phrase “act or omission,” is
plain, but it is also broad and inclusive, and it therefore is applicable
in various contexts—whether in a suit for negligence or for some
other tort. The foregoing quotation from Maryland Cas. Co. simply
illustrates that court’s analysis of the “plain and ordinary meaning of
‘act or omission’” with respect to the law of negligence, but the
phrase is still clear and unambiguous, although it may be applied in
other contexts.

I do not mean to imply that this Court should read any missing
modifiers (e.g., “negligent” act or omission; “intentional” act or omis-
sion) into an insurance policy. Rather, it is incumbent upon defend-
ant, as the drafter of the insurance policy, to limit the scope of policy
coverage if, and as, it desires to do so with obvious due regard for
established public policy and constraints on unconscionability. As
the majority explains, “Defendant ‘enjoyed full contractual freedom
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when it issued the policy. Had [Defendant] elected to [limit the cov-
erage in the manner it now argues,] it could have effected its purpose
with trifling effort.” ” See Farm Bureau Mut. Ins. Co. v. Waugh, 188
A.2d 889, 892 (Me. 1963) (citation omitted). Here, however, defendant
failed to modify “act or omission,” and the plain meaning of the
phrase is apparent, albeit broad.

Accordingly, I perceive a precedential danger in holding, without
qualification, that the phrase “act or omission” is ambiguous, and I do
not believe the phrase, standing alone, is ambiguous. However,
because the plain meaning of the unmodified phrase “act or omis-
sion” contained within the policy already extends coverage to plain-
tiff without resorting to rules of construction attendant to a pur-
ported ambiguity, I join in the result reached in the majority as limited
by this concurrence.

STEELMAN, Judge, concurring in part and dissenting in part.

I concur in the majority’s conclusion that a substantial right is
affected and that defendant’s appeal of the trial court’s interlocutory
order is properly before this Court. I also concur in the majority’s
determination that the construction of the insurance policy is gov-
erned by Maine law.

It should be noted at the outset that this action is between Huber
and Canal. W.M. Jr. Trucking, Inc. (W.M.) is not a party to this action.
There is nothing in the record that suggests that Canal was aware of
the Transportation Contract between Huber and W.M., and its terms
are irrelevant to the issues presented in this case.

Is Huber an “Insured” Under the Canal Policy?

Nichols was a driver for W.M. and died as a result of injuries
received while picking up a load of plywood at Huber’s Easton, Maine
plant. W.M. had procured a liability insurance policy from Canal,
which insured the vehicle being operated by Nichols. The Canal pol-
icy defines an “insured” as follows:

III. PERSONS INSURED: Each of the following is an insured
under this insurance to the extent set forth below:

(a) the named insured;

(b) any partner or executive officer thereof, but with respect to
a temporary substitute automobile only while such automo-
bile is being used in the business of the named insured,;
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(c) any other person while using an owned automobile or a tem-
porary substitute automobile with the permission of the
named insured, provided his actual operation of (if he is not
operating) his other actual use thereof is within the scope of
such permission, but with respect to bodily injury or property
damage arising out of the loading or unloading thereof, such
other person shall be insured only if he is:

(1) alessee or borrower of the automobile, or

(2) an employee of the named insured or of such lessee or
borrower;

(d) any other person or organization but only with respect to his
or its liability because of acts or omissions of an insured
under (a), (b) or (c) above.

Nichols’ estate filed suit against Huber in the Superior Court of
Aroostook County, Maine seeking damages for wrongful death based
upon the negligence of Huber. Huber asserted as a defense the negli-
gence of Nichols under Maine’s comparative negligence statute. Me.
Rev. Stat. Ann. Tit. 14, § 156. Based upon this assertion of the negli-
gence of Nichols contributing to his injuries, Huber makes the cre-
ative argument that it is an insured under the Canal policy.

The majority has gone to great lengths to find ambiguities in the
Canal policy and hold that Huber is an “insured.” There are no ambi-
guities in the Canal policy, and the concept that the Canal policy pro-
vides any liability coverage to Huber is patently absurd.

Huber’s argument is that Nichols is an “insured” under section
ITI(c) of the policy as set forth above. Huber then argues that it is also
an insured under section III(d) because it is facing liability because of
“acts or omissions of an insured,” i.e. Nichols. Huber does not face
liability because of any acts of Nichols, but rather by virtue of allega-
tions of its own negligence by the representatives of Nichols’ estate.
The majority distorts an affirmative defense, Maine Rules of Civil
Procedure, Rule 8, which may or may not reduce the liability of Huber
into a basis for finding coverage under an insurance policy.

The purpose of liability insurance is not to indemnify third parties
who may injure or damage the policy holder or their agents and
employees. Instead, “[l]iability insurance is a contract of indemnity
for the benefit of the insured and those in privity with the insured, or
those to whom the statute, upon the grounds of public policy, extends
the indemnity against liability.” 43 Am. Jur. 2d Insurance § 4 (2009).
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... literalism should not be pushed to the length of frustrating, in
whole or in part, the general intention the contract evidences;
nor, on the other hand, should words be made to mean what they
do not really say. A contract should be so construed as to give it
only such effect as was intended when it was made. Astute and
subtle distinctions should not be attempted, to take a plain case
from the operation of material bounds.

Johnson v. American Automobile Ins. Co., 161 A. 496, 498 (Me. 1932)
(citing Mack v. Rochester German Ins. Co., 13 N.E. 343 (N.Y. 1887),
and Lyman & others v. State Mutual Fire Insurance Company, 96
Mass. (14 Allen) 329 (1867)); see also Poisson v. Travelers Ins. Co.,
31 A.2d 233, 235 (Me. 1943).

While I understand that this case involves the construction of a
Maine insurance policy by a North Carolina Court, and will likely
never be considered outside of the context of the present case, 1
believe that the ramifications of the majority’s decision are signifi-
cant. Under an insurance policy containing the same or similar lan-
guage, a defendant in a lawsuit arising out of an automobile accident
asserting contributory negligence on the part of the plaintiff could
demand a defense, and possibly coverage from a plaintiff’s insurance
carrier. This is fundamentally inconsistent with the purpose of a party
procuring liability insurance.

A number of other courts have considered the arguments made
by plaintiff in the instant case and found them to be without merit.
Canal Ins. Co. v. Earnshaw, 629 F. Supp. 114, 120 (D. Kan. 1985),
Vulcan Materials Co. v. Casualty Ins. Co., 723 F. Supp. 1263, 1264-65
(N.D. IIL. 1989), Koch Asphalt Co. v. Farmers Ins. Group, 867 F.2d
1164, 1166 (8th Cir. 1989), Transport Ins. Co., Inc. v. Post Express
Co., Inc., 1993 U.S. Dist. Lexis 5706 (N.D. I1l. 1993).

I would reverse the ruling of the trial court.

Applicability of Exclusion for Injury to Employee

I would also hold that the exclusion contained in section I(c) of
the policy is applicable and bars any coverage to Huber.

The applicable provision states:
This insurance does not apply:

(c) to bodily injury to any employee of the insured arising out of
and in the course of his employment by the insured or to any
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obligation of the insured to indemnify another because of dam-
ages arising out of such injury;

The named insured under the policy was W.M. Nichols was an
employee of W.M. Nichols was injured in the course of his employ-
ment with W.M. The exclusion is clear, is applicable to the facts of
this case, and bars any coverage to Huber.

Conclusion

I would reverse the ruling of the trial court that Canal’s policy
“provides defense and indemnity coverage to Huber for the claims
asserted against Huber” in the Maine action filed by Nichols’ estate.
This matter should be remanded to the Superior Court of
Mecklenburg County for entry of judgment dismissing this action,
with prejudice.

BOWLES AUTOMOTIVE, INC., PLAINTIFF V. NORTH CAROLINA DIVISION OF MOTOR
VEHICLES, DEFENDANT

No. COA08-1411
(Filed 16 March 2010)

1. Appeal and Error— preservation of issues—notice of
appeal from judgment rather than summary judgment
denial

Defendant waived appellate review of an argument concern-
ing the denial of summary judgment where it gave notice of
appeal from the judgment in favor of plaintiff but not from the
order denying its motion for summary judgment.

2. Appeal and Error— preservation of issues—motions
for directed verdict denied—no motion on issue appealed
from

An argument about the denial of defendant’s motion for
directed verdict was dismissed where defendant did not make a
motion for directed verdict on the only issue that remained after
the trial court granted defendant’s motions for directed verdicts
on other issues.
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3. Appeal and Error— preservation of issues—issues con-
ceded or not raised at trial

Defendant did not preserve for appellate review questions of
whether he was entitled to directed verdict on his quantum
meruit claim or whether N.C.G.S. § 20-108(j) operates as a waiver
of sovereign immunity. The quantum meruit issue was conceded
and defendant did not argue waiver of sovereign immunity under
this statute at trial.

4. Motor Vehicles— storage fee for recovered stolen motor-
cycles—not excessive

The trial court did not abuse its discretion by denying defen-
dant’s motion to set aside or remit the jury verdict on the argu-
ment that an award was excessive in an action for storage fees for
stolen motorcycles and parts seized by the State. Although the
State argued that it should be liable for storage costs only up to
the filing date for the dispositional actions, the motorcycles and
parts remained in storage far beyond that date and there was no
evidence of a difference in storage or benefit to defendant before
and after that date.

5. Motor Vehicles— storage of recovered stolen motor-
cycles—fee—not limited to value of vehicle
Plaintiff’s recovery for storing stolen motorcycles and
parts seized by the State was not limited by N.C.G.S. § 20-108(j)
to the value of the parts and vehicles. The Legislature intended
that a private garage recover reasonable compensation for
services related to seizure under N.C.G.S. § 20-108 as a separate
remedy from lienor rights. There is nothing in the statute or leg-
islative history to indicate that the qualification of compensa-
tion as reasonable should tie the storage charge to the value of
the vehicle.

Appeal by Defendant from order entered 23 June 2008 by Judge
Theodore S. Royster, Jr. in Iredell County District Court. Heard in the
Court of Appeals 8 June 2009.

Ott Cone & Redpath, PA., by Melanie M. Hamilton, for
Plaintiff.

Attorney General Roy Cooper, by Special Deputy Attorney
General Neil Dalton and Assistant Attorney General John W.
Congleton, for the State.
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STEPHENS, Judge.
1. Procedural History and Factual Background
A. The Division's Eleven Actions

The litigation surrounding this case began in May 2004 when, pur-
suant to N.C. Gen. Stat. § 20-108 (2009),! the North Carolina Division
of Motor Vehicles (“Defendant” or “the Division”) filed eleven “dispo-
sitional civil actions” in the District Court of Iredell County? to deter-
mine the ownership and proper disposition of stolen motorcycles and
parts, which had been seized by the Division during the investigation
of a motorcycle theft ring and were being held in storage by Bowles
Automotive, Inc. (“Plaintiff” or “Bowles”). Plaintiff filed counter-
claims in each of the eleven actions, seeking to enforce its storage
lien under N.C. Gen. Stat. § 44A. In March 2006, Bowles amended its
counterclaims, asserting a claim for breach of contract against the
Division for failure to pay towing and storage fees to Plaintiff.

On 6 March 2007, Bowles filed a motion in district court for sum-
mary judgment on the Division’s eleven actions. Judge April Wood
denied Bowles’ motion in an order entered 13 July 2007 finding that
“neither party [was] entitled to judgment as a matter of law.”

B. Background of Plaintiff’s Separate Claim

On 9 May 2006, Plaintiff filed a separate lawsuit for breach of con-
tract against Defendant, and it is this action which forms the basis for
Defendant’s appeal. The procedural history of Plaintiff’s lawsuit is
confusing at best, and it has taken an exorbitant amount of this
Court’s energy to decipher the record on appeal and to determine
how this matter was resolved at the trial court level. The caption on
Plaintiff’s original complaint, “IN THE GENERAL COURT OF JUS-
TICE SUPERIOR COURT DIVISION]I,]” indicates that Plaintiff filed its
action in superior court.3 On 26 June 2006, by a pleading entitled

1. N.C. Gen. Stat. § 20-108 governs procedures relating to stolen vehicles.
Subparagraph (j) provides that “[a]n officer taking into custody a motor vehicle or
component part under the provisions of this section is authorized to obtain necessary
removal and storage services, but shall incur no personal liability for such services.
The person or company so employed shall be entitled to reasonable compensation as
a claimant under (e), and shall not be deemed an unlawful possessor under (a).”

2. The file numbers on the Division’s eleven actions brought in district court are
04 CVD 923, 925, 926, 927, 928, 929, 930, 931, 932, 933, and 934.

3. That Plaintiff would have chosen to file its separate action in superior court,
rather than district court, would have been logical, given that Plaintiff sought
$483,565.00, plus interest, in damages. See N.C. Gen. Stat. § 7A-243 (2009) (“Except as
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“Motion to Strike, Motions to Dismiss and Answer” bearing the court
file number “06 CRS 1249” and indicating that the document was filed
in the “Superior Court Division,” Defendant responded to Plaintiff’s
complaint and filed motions to dismiss Plaintiff’s lawsuit on the
grounds: (1) of sovereign immunity; (2) that Plaintiff failed to state a
claim upon which relief can be granted; (3) that Plaintiff never
entered into a legally enforceable contract with the State; (4) that the
statute of limitations had expired; and (5) under the doctrine of
laches on the grounds of undue prejudice and unreasonable delay.
Subsequent court documents contained in the record on appeal, how-
ever, reveal that Plaintiff’s action was eventually disposed of in dis-
trict court, although no order transferring the matter from superior
court to district court appears in the record.

Despite the amount of damages sought by Plaintiff, it is clear that
Plaintiff’s original action could have been brought in either the dis-
trict court or the superior court division of the General Court of
Justice. “[O]riginal general jurisdiction of all justiciable matters of a
civil nature cognizable in the General Court of Justice is vested in the
aggregate in the superior court division and the district court division
as the trial divisions of the General Court of Justice.” N.C. Gen. Stat.
§ TA-240 (2007).

For the efficient administration of justice in respect of civil mat-
ters as to which the trial divisions have concurrent original juris-
diction, the respective divisions are constituted proper or
improper for the trial and determination of specific actions and
proceedings in accordance with the allocations provided in this
Article. But no judgment rendered by any court of the trial divi-
sions in any civil action or proceeding as to which the trial divi-
sions have concurrent original jurisdiction is void or voidable for
the sole reason that it was rendered by the court of a trial division
which by such allocation is improper for the trial and determina-
tion of the civil action or proceeding.

N.C. Gen. Stat. § 7TA-242 (2007). “It is, therefore, evident that except
for areas specifically placing jurisdiction elsewhere (such as claims
under the Workers’ Compensation Act) the trial courts of North
Carolina have subject matter jurisdiction over all justiciable matters
of a civil nature.” Harris v. Pembaur, 84 N.C. App. 666, 668, 353
S.E.2d 673, 675 (1987) (internal quotation marks omitted).

otherwise provided in this Article, . . . the superior court division is the proper division
for the trial of all civil actions in which the amount in controversy exceeds ten thou-
sand dollars ($10,000).”).
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However, the superior court and the district court are two differ-
ent divisions of the General Court of Justice, and one division cannot
obtain jurisdiction over a matter that originates in the other division
without a resolution of some kind in the original division. Thus, for
the district court to obtain jurisdiction over a superior court case, the
matter would have to be transferred either by written motion of one
of the parties or by the judge’s own motion. N.C. Gen. Stat. §§ 7TA-258,
-259 (2007). Accordingly, because no order appears in the record on
appeal to establish that Plaintiff’s action had been transferred from
the superior court division to the district court division, this Court’s
initial impression was that the district court had not obtained author-
ity to dispose of this matter. See Obo v. Steven B., — N.C.
App. —, —, 687 S.E.2d 496, 500 (2009) (“[S]ubject matter jurisdic-
tion may not be waived, and this Court has not only the power, but
the duty to address the trial court’s subject matter jurisdiction on its
own motion or ex mero motu.”).

Reluctant to dismiss the appeal and further prolong a matter
which has been ongoing for more than eight years, this Court eventu-
ally, after several requests, obtained the court file from the Iredell
County district court to determine how an action apparently origi-
nating in superior court came to be resolved in district court without
an order to transfer. A careful review of documents in the district
court file which were not made a part of the record on appeal
revealed that Plaintiff’s action was originally filed in district court
and not in superior court as the caption on Plaintiff’s complaint
and the Division’s answer thereto indicate. It appears that several of
the pleadings in this case were erroneously captioned for the su-
perior court division, although this matter remained in the district
court at all times. Thus, through extensive efforts of this Court, we
ascertained that Plaintiff’s case originated and was therefore prop-
erly disposed of in district court, despite the contrary indication of
the record on appeal.4 Having established that Plaintiff brought its
breach of contract claim in district court, we now address the issues
raised on this appeal regarding the disposition of this matter at the
trial court level.

4. We admonish counsel for both parties to more carefully scrutinize preparation
of the record on appeal so as not to waste this Court’s energy and time. “Under North
Carolina Rules of Appellate Procedure 7, 9, and 11, the burden is placed upon the
appellant to commence settlement of the record on appeal[.]” State v. Berryman, 360
N.C. 209, 216, 624 S.E.2d 350, 356 (2006); see also State v. Alston, 307 N.C. 321, 341, 298
S.E.2d 631, 644-45 (1983) (“It is the appellant’s duty and responsibility to see that the
record is in proper form and complete.”).
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C. Disposition of Plaintiff’s Claim

In its complaint, Plaintiff alleged that at a 2 March 2006 hearing
on the Division’s motions to dismiss Bowles’ counterclaims in the
eleven dispositional matters,® Assistant Attorney General Jeff
Edwards opined that Plaintiff’s claim for payment could only be
brought as a separate lawsuit outside of N.C. Gen. Stat. § 20-108.
Thus, Plaintiff believed that a separate action for breach of contract
was necessary to preserve Plaintiff’s rights, and Plaintiff accordingly
filed the current breach of contract action against the Division.

On 31 December 2007, the Division filed a motion for summary
judgment on Plaintiff’s breach of contract claim. Iredell County
District Court Judge Jimmy Myers entered an order on 5 February
2008 denying the Division’s motion for summary judgment. On 19 May
2008, the matter came on for trial by a jury in Iredell County District
Court, Judge Royster presiding. The evidence presented at trial
tended to show the following:

In October 2000, Division Inspector Dan Lowrance (“Lowrance”)
contacted Thomas Bowles, Jr. (“Tommy”) regarding Plaintiff’s ability
to assist the Division with towing and storage of motorcycles and
component parts seized in the course of the Division’s investigation.
Tommy informed Lowrance that his company was capable of pro-
viding the requested services, and over the next several days,
Plaintiff towed and began storage of twelve motorcycles and vari-
ous motorcycle frames and parts. The motorcycles and parts were
housed in a storage facility on Plaintiff’s premises while their origins
were investigated.

Within the first two weeks that the motorcycles and parts were
being stored by Bowles, Tommy asked Lowrance how to complete the
ten-day reports, which are used in these cases to establish a storage
lien on the stored property. Lowrance instructed Tommy not to sub-
mit the ten-day reports in this instance because the volume of reports
associated with this particular investigation would overwhelm the
DMV in Raleigh.

In December 2000, about 30 days after most of the motorcycles
had been placed in storage, Tommy asked the Division how he was
going to be paid for Bowles’ services. Through Lowrance, the Divi-
sion informed Tommy that they did not know how Bowles would be

5. The Division’s motions to dismiss Plaintiff’s counterclaims in the dispositional
matters are not contained in the record on appeal nor is a transcript of the hearing on
those motions before this Court.
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paid or how long the motorcycles would need to be stored because
the theft case was pending in federal court. Over the next year,
Tommy repeatedly contacted Lowrance and Inspector Scott Dayvault
(“Dayvault”) from the Division, attempting to obtain information and
instructions as to the status and disposition of the motorcycles and
parts in Plaintiff’s storage facility. Tommy also inquired as to payment
for the towing and storage and was informed by Lowrance that
Lowrance was uncertain how Bowles would be paid.

The investigation and prosecution of the criminal matter regard-
ing the stolen motorcycles and parts eventually spanned three and a
half years, and involved the Division, the Federal Bureau of Investi-
gation (“F.B.I.”), and the United States Attorney’s office. During the
investigation and prosecution, Dayvault was told by the F.B.1. and the
United States Attorney’s office not to release the motorcycles.
Dayvault relayed this information to Tommy, and Bowles thus con-
tinued to store the vehicles for Defendant.

In early 2003, at the end of the Division’s involvement with the
prosecution of the motorcycle thefts, Dayvault told Bowles that the
criminal matter remained in federal court and that, in the future,
Bowles should contact the Attorney General’s office for instructions
regarding the motorcycles. Tommy contacted Assistant Attorney
General Tracy Curtner (“Curtner”) and inquired about payment for
his storage services. Tommy testified that after approximately 25 to
30 conversations with Curtner, it became clear to him that payment
would not be arranged. Tommy expressed to Curtner that he would
like to bring the Division, Plaintiff, and the Attorney General’s office
before a judge to resolve the matter. Curtner informed Tommy that he
could not sue the DMV, and that he would have to wait for the DMV
to sue Bowles. Bowles would then be able to assert a counterclaim
and pursue a lien remedy. On Curtner’s recommendation, Bowles
retained counsel and waited to be sued by the Division. The Division
eventually filed the aforementioned eleven dispositional actions
against Bowles on 8 May 2004, and the subsequent events as detailed
above ensued.

At the close of Plaintiff’s evidence, Defendant made a motion for
directed verdict, which Judge Royster denied. Before the case was
submitted to the jury, Defendant renewed its motion for directed ver-
dict. Judge Royster partially granted the motion, finding there was

6. Although Judge Royster used the term “summary judgment” in granting De-
fendant’s motion for directed verdict as to the contract claim, it is apparent that he
intended to rule on Defendant’s motion for directed verdict. “The standard of review
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no contract between the parties, and particularly, there was no con-
tract for storage of the motorcycles at a specific rate of $15.00 per
vehicle per day.” However, Judge Royster left the issue of what con-
stitutes reasonable compensation for the storage of the vehicles
under N.C. Gen. Stat. § 20-108(j) for the jury to decide.

Judge Royster instructed the jury on the following issues: (1)
whether Defendant did store the motorcycles and parts with Plaintiff,
(2) whether Plaintiff stored the motorcycles and parts under such cir-
cumstances that Defendant should be required to pay for those serv-
ices, and (3) to what amount of reasonable compensation, if any, was
Plaintiff entitled. The jury found that Plaintiff did store the motorcy-
cles and parts for Defendant under circumstances requiring
Defendant to pay for such services, and that Plaintiff was entitled to
$575,725.00 in compensation. Defendant made a motion to remit or
set aside the jury award and a motion for judgment notwithstanding
the verdict, both of which were denied. On 23 June 2008, Judge
Royster entered judgment upon the jury’s verdict.

On 16 July 2008, Defendant filed its notice of appeal to this Court
“from the Judgment in favor of the plaintiff[.]”

II. Discussion
A. Defendant’s Motion for Summary Judgment

[1] Defendant first assigns error to the trial court’s denial of its mo-
tion for summary judgment. However, Defendant has waived appel-
late review of this argument. Defendant gave notice of appeal to this
Court “from the Judgment in favor of the plaintiff, entered on or
about June 23rd, 2008[.]” Defendant failed to give notice of appeal
from the order of the trial court entered 5 February 2008 denying its
motion for summary judgment, and thus failed to comply with N.C. R.
App. P. 3(d) (“The notice of appeal . . . shall designate the judgment
or order from which appeal is taken and the court to which appeal is
taken[.]”). Accordingly, Defendant’s appeal from the trial court’s
denial of its motion for summary judgment is not properly before us.
Defendant’s argument is dismissed.

for a directed verdict is essentially the same as that for summary judgment.” Nelson v.
Novant Health Triad Region, L.L.C., 159 N.C. App. 440, 442, 583 S.E.2d 415, 417 (2003).
Thus, the trial court’s lapsus linguae did not constitute prejudicial error.

7. Judge Royster ruled: “I will grant the partial directed verdict . . . that there was-
n’t an agreement by the defendant to pay fifteen dollars a day. I'm also . . . going to grant
partial [directed verdict] as to the contract claim.”
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B. Defendant’s Motions for Directed Verdict

[2] Defendant next argues the trial court erred in denying its motion
for directed verdict at the close of Plaintiff’s evidence, and in partially
denying its renewed motion for directed verdict at the close of all the
evidence. Our Supreme Court has set forth the appropriate standard
of review as follows:

The standard of review of directed verdict is whether the evi-
dence, taken in the light most favorable to the non-moving party,
is sufficient as a matter of law to be submitted to the jury. When
determining the correctness of the denial for directed verdict or
judgment notwithstanding the verdict, the question is whether
there is sufficient evidence to sustain a jury verdict in the non-
moving party’s favor, or to present a question for the jury. Where
the motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict is a motion
that judgment be entered in accordance with the movant’s earlier
motion for directed verdict, this Court has required the use of the
same standard of sufficiency of evidence in reviewing both
motions. N.C.G.S. § 1A-1, Rule 50(a), (b) (1990).

Davis v. Dennis Lilly Co., 330 N.C. 314, 322-23, 411 S.E.2d 133, 138
(1991) (internal citations omitted).

At the close of Plaintiff’s evidence, Defendant made a motion for
directed verdict, arguing that no contract existed between the par-
ties, and that Plaintiff’s case is barred by the statute of limitations and
sovereign immunity. At the close of all evidence, Defendant renewed
its “motion for a directed verdict on the issue of the contract, whether
or not there was a contract here.” Defendant argued that there was no
meeting of the minds and that there was no agreement for storage at
a rate of $15.00 per day. Defendant also renewed its defenses under
the statute of limitations and sovereign immunity.

In discussing Defendant’s motion for directed verdict, Judge
Royster opined that while there was insufficient evidence to submit
the issue of the existence of a contract under a common law contract
theory to the jury, there was evidence that “there was a contract for
storage [under N.C. Gen. Stat. § 20-108(j)], and [Plaintiff’s] damages
are going to be decided as what’s reasonable, as required by 20-108
subparagraph (j).” Defense counsel further explained Defendant’s
motion for a directed verdict as follows:

What I—what I think or what I'm urging, I guess, is that the
motion that there is a contract be denied [sic], but that doesn’t
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mean the state doesn’t still owe money on—under 21-108 [sic],
but it’s something other than a—one—108 that is something other
than a contract. That it is something that is mandated by the leg-
islature, but it’s not a contract.

Agreeing that “this is a statutorily created procedure[,]” the trial court
granted Defendant’s motion for partial directed verdict, stating

I will grant the partial directed verdict— . . . the fact that that
issue will not be submitted to the jury, that there wasn’t an
agreement by the defendant to pay fifteen dollars a day. I'm also
... going to grant partial summary judgment [sic] as to the con-
tract claim. And—but as to an action under 20-108 subpara-
graph (j), 'm going to let this proceed to the jury on that issue
about what's a reasonable compensation for the storage of
these vehicles.

On appeal, Defendant argues the trial court erred in denying its
motions for directed verdict. As set out above, however, the trial
court granted the motions Defendant made for directed verdict.
Defendant did not move for a directed verdict on the issue of what
compensation Plaintiff was entitled to under Section 20-108(j). After
the trial court granted Defendant’s motions for directed verdict on
the issues of the existence of a contract and an agreement for a spe-
cific storage cost of $15.00 per day per motorcycle, the only issue that
remained for the jury was what compensation, if any, Plaintiff was
entitled to under N.C. Gen. Stat. § 20-108(j). As Defendant did not
make a motion for a directed verdict on this issue, no appeal lies
therefrom. Accordingly, Defendant’s argument is dismissed.

1. Defense of Sovereign Immunity

[8] Defendant also argues that it was entitled to a directed verdict
because Bowles’ claim for recovery in quantum meruit was barred
by sovereign immunity. Defendant’s argument is unnecessary, how-
ever, as Bowles conceded this issue at trial. In response to Defend-
ant’s motion for directed verdict at the close of all evidence,
Plaintiff’s counsel explained as follows: “We’ve talked about sover-
eign immunity. To the extent that there is a contract, sovereign immu-
nity does not apply. We do agree, as indicated, that sovereign immu-
nity would apply to a quantum wmeruit theory, and we are not
advancing that as a theory.” Thus, the issue of whether Plaintiff was
entitled to a recovery under a theory of quantum wmeruit is not
before us.
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Defendant argues further, however, that it was entitled to a
directed verdict because N.C. Gen. Stat. § 20-108(j) does not operate
as a waiver of sovereign immunity, and thus, that Plaintiff’s recovery
under section 20-108(j) is barred by sovereign immunity. Defendant
has also waived appellate review of this issue. At trial, Defendant did
not argue that Plaintiff’s claim under N.C. Gen. Stat. § 20-108(j) was
barred by sovereign immunity. In fact, Defendant acknowledged that
the State may owe Plaintiff “money” under section 20-108(j).
Specifically, defense counsel argued:

[Wlhat I'm urging, I guess, is that the motion that there is a
contract be denied [sic], but that doesn’t mean the state doesn’t
still owe money on—under 21-108 [sic], but it’s something other
than a—one—108 that is something other than a contract. That
lit is something that is mandated by the legislature, but it’s not
a contract.

Furthermore, on appeal, Defendant addresses the defense of
sovereign immunity only as it applies to the denial of Defendant’s
motion for summary judgment, which we held above was not prop-
erly before us. Accordingly, Defendant has not preserved this argu-
ment for our review.8

C. Defendant’'s Motion to Set Aside or Remit Jury Verdict

[4] By its final argument, Defendant assigns error to the trial judge’s
denial of its motion to set aside or remit the jury verdict. Defend-
ant argues the jury award of $575,725.00 was excessive and was
not “reasonable compensation” as contemplated under N.C. Gen.
Stat. § 20-108(j). We disagree.

“[A]ln appellate court’s review of a trial judge’s discretionary rul-
ing either granting or denying a motion to set aside a verdict and
order a new trial is strictly limited to the determination of whether
the record affirmatively demonstrates a manifest abuse of discretion
by the judge.” Worthington v. Bynum, 305 N.C. 478, 482, 290 S.E.2d
599, 602 (1982). When reviewing a jury’s award, the appellate courts
will not interfere with the judge’s discretion unless “the amount

8. In its brief on appeal, Defendant also states that Plaintiff’s claim is barred by
the statute of limitations. Defendant raised this defense in its answer and, at trial,
defense counsel stated that he “would also like to continue to assert . . . everything
in the pleadings, including sovereign immunity and also statute of limitations.”
However, Defendant has not argued the defense of the statute of limitations on ap-
peal. Accordingly, Defendant has likewise waived review of this argument. N.C. R. App.
P. 28(b)(6).
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awarded is clearly or grossly excessive.” Hulin v. W. Union Tel. Co.,
185 N.C. 470, 472, 117 S.E. 588, 590 (1923).

1. Duration of Storage

In arguing that the jury award was grossly excessive, Defendant
contends it should be liable only for storage costs up to the filing date
for the dispositional actions. In support of this contention, Defendant
quotes Thompson-Arthur Paving Co. v. Lincoln Battleground
Assocs., 95 N.C. App. 270, 382 S.E.2d 817 (1989), for the proposition
that damages are limited to the “reasonable value of materials and
services accepted by and that benefit the defendant.” Id. at 281, 382
S.E.2d at 823. Remarkably, Defendant argues its benefit terminated at
the filing date of the dispositional actions.

However, the facts reveal that the motorcycles and parts
remained in storage at Plaintiff’s facility far beyond the filing date of
the dispositional actions. Because there exists no evidence or expla-
nation as to the difference in the manner of storage or benefit to
Defendant before and after the filing date of the Division’s disposi-
tional actions, we conclude that the storage costs accrued to
Defendant beyond the filing date of such actions.

111. Plaintiff’s Recovery Under N.C. Gen. Stat. § 20-108(7)

[6] Defendant next argues that section 20-108(j), and specifically the
language entitling a storage company to “reasonable compensation as
a claimant under (e),” limits Plaintiff’s recovery to the value of the
parts and vehicles stored in Plaintiff’s facility.

N.C. Gen. Stat. § 20-108(j) provides that

[a]n officer taking into custody a motor vehicle or component
part under the provisions of this section is authorized to obtain
necessary removal and storage services, but shall incur no per-
sonal liability for such services. The person or company so
employed shall be entitled to reasonable compensation as a
claimant under (e), and shall not be deemed an unlawful posses-
sor under (a).

N.C. Gen. Stat. § 20-108(e) provides that

[n]Jothing in this section shall preclude the Division of Motor
Vehicles from returning a seized motor vehicle or component part
to the owner following presentation of satisfactory evidence of
ownership, and, if determined necessary, requiring the owner to
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obtain an assignment of an identification number for the motor
vehicle or component part from the Division of Motor Vehicles.

With no case law presented to support or undermine the Divi-
sion’s contention, we turn to the history of the statute to inform our
interpretation of the statutory language. Before its amendment in
1983, section 20-108 read as follows:

Any person who knowingly buys, receives, disposes of, sells,
offers for sale, conceals, or has in his possession any motor ve-
hicle, or engine or transmission removed from a motor vehicle,
from which the manufacturer’s serial or engine number or other
distinguishing number or identification mark or number placed
thereon under assignment from the Division has been removed,
defaced, covered, altered, or destroyed for the purpose of con-
cealing or misrepresenting the identity of said motor vehicle or
engine is guilty of a misdemeanor, and upon conviction shall be
punished by a fine of not more than one thousand dollars ($1,000)
or imprisonment, or both, in the discretion of the court.

N.C. Gen. Stat. § 20-108 (1978).

The committee notes discussing section 20-108 show that, prior
to the amendment, the Division was storing abandoned vehicles with
private garages at a charge to the State. 16 March 1983 Minutes of the
House Comm. on Highway Safety. Because the Division was not sell-
ing the abandoned vehicles due to the lack of authority to do so, the
costs of vehicle storage before 1983 were obviously unrelated to the
sale value of the vehicle. While the purpose of the amendment was to
curb the Division’s storage costs by allowing the sale of abandoned
vehicles to avoid payment of storage costs in perpetuity, nothing in
the statute’s history suggests that the storage costs incurred before
sale would be limited to the proceeds from the public sale of the
abandoned vehicles. See id. In fact, committee members stated that
the revenue from the sale of such vehicles would go to the “public
school fund of the State.” 30 March 1983 Minutes of the House
Comm. on Highway Safety. We conclude that the history and pur-
pose of section 20-108 does not support Defendant’s contention that
storage fees must be limited to the value of the stored property.

Further, a logical reading of “reasonable compensation as a
claimant under (e)” does not lead this Court to the conclusion that
section 20-108(j) caps Plaintiff’s recovery at the value of the motor-
cycles and parts. Although the language “as a claimant under (e)”
raises the inference that the garage owners could claim for their fees
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at the disposition hearings, this Court is unwilling, for the following
reasons, to stretch that inference into a statutory interpretation
whereby Plaintiff’s entitlement to reasonable compensation is limited
to the value of the vehicles and components stored. There is no men-
tion of “claimants” in section 20-108(e), and it appears that subsec-
tion (e) does not reasonably relate to subsection (j).9 All other refer-
ences to “claimants” in section 20-108 involve “claimants to the
property whose interest or title is in the registration records in the
Division of Motor Vehicles.” N.C. Gen. Stat. § 20-108(c), (d), (f). In
other words, claimants are those persons who can establish an own-
ership interest in the seized property. It seems obvious that garage
owners who are storing seized property for the seizing entity do not
qualify as “claimants” under the statutory definition.

Under the statute, claimants are entitled to notice that the prop-
erty is in custody, notice of a post-seizure hearing, and a post-seizure
hearing. Id. The fact that these claimants have a right to be heard
before the vehicle is disposed of cannot be understood to limit a
garage’s storage fees to the value of the vehicle. We find the most log-
ical interpretation of “reasonable compensation as a claimant under
(e)” to be that when a towing and storage company has performed a
service for the Division, that company has a claim to payment of the
reasonable value of that service and has a right to be notified before
the Division disposes of the vehicle in the event the company opts to
accept title of the vehicle as payment for its service.

Defendant also argues that granting “claimant status” to garages
employed by the Division limits recovery of storage fees because sec-
tion 20-108 requires these garages to claim their fees through a lien
remedy, which exists only up to the value of the property stored. See
N.C. Gen. Stat. §§ 44A-2, 44A-4 (2007). Section 44A-2(d) grants a pri-
vate garage authority to assert a possessory lien on stored property
as follows:

9. Because subsection (j) references a “claimant under (e),” and because subsec-
tion (e) does not contain the term “claimant,” we question whether the reference to (e)
is a misprint. The 1983 amendment to N.C. Gen. Stat. § 20-108 was introduced to the
General Assembly as House Bill 122. 1983 N.C. Sess. Laws ch. 592. The first draft of
H.B. 122 had neither a subsection (j), nor any language from current subsection (j). Id.
In the first draft, subsection (e) referred to notice of post-seizure hearing. Id. Between
30 March and 1 June 1983, H.B. 122 was redrafted into a committee substitute sub-
stantially similar to the current statute. 16, 30 March, 1 June 1983 Minutes of the House
Comm. on Highway Safety. However, with no notes or minutes from which to ascer-
tain exactly when (j) was added and precisely to what language or provision “as a
claimant under (e)” was meant to refer, we have no instruction from the legislative his-
tory as to the meaning of that phrase.
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Any person who repairs, services, tows, or stores motor vehicles
in the ordinary course of the person’s business pursuant to an
express or implied contract with an owner or legal possessor of
the motor vehicle, except for a motor vehicle seized pursuant to
G.S. 20-28.3,[10] has a lien upon the motor vehicle for reasonable
charges for such repairs, servicing, towing, storing, or for the
rental of one or more substitute vehicles provided during the
repair, servicing, or storage. This lien shall have priority over per-
fected and unperfected security interests.

The North Carolina General Statutes contain numerous specific
cross-references to Chapter 44A, including several such references in
Chapter 20. See, e.g., N.C. Gen. Stat. § 20-219.3(c) (2007) (“the regis-
tered owner of such vehicle shall become liable for the reasonable
removal and storage charges and the vehicle subject to the storage
lien created by G.S. 44A-1 et seq.”); see also N.C. Gen. Stat. §§ 20-28.4,
-52, -161, -219.10 (2007). Furthermore, Chapter 44A was in existence
when section 20-108(j) was drafted. See N.C. Gen. Stat. § 44A-1, et
seq. (1976); see also 1983 N.C. Sess. Laws ch. 592.

“In ascertaining the intent of the legislature, the presumption is
that it acted with full knowledge of prior and existing laws.” Williams
v. Alexander County Bd. of Educ., 128 N.C. App. 599, 603, 495 S.E.2d
406, 408 (1998). Further, “[o]ne of the long-standing rules of [statu-
tory] interpretation and construction in this state is expressio unius
est exclusio alterius, the expression of one thing is the exclusion of
another.” Mangum v. Raleigh Bd. of Adjustment, —— N.C.
App. —, —, 674 S.E.2d 742, 747 (2009). Applying such principle
here, because the language of section 20-108(j) specifically refer-
ences only section 20-108(e), that language cannot be construed as a
reference to another statute not specifically mentioned, especially
when the drafters were presumed to have been aware of that other
statute. See Mangum, — N.C. App. at ——, 674 S.E.2d at 747; see also
Hunt v. N.C. Reinsurance Facility, 302 N.C. 274, 290, 275 S.E.2d 399,
407 (1981) (statute supplying one procedure for accomplishing an
objective necessarily excludes any other procedure).

We therefore conclude that the Legislature did not intend for
the person or company that stores a motor vehicle under N.C. Gen.
Stat. § 20-108(j) to recover reasonable compensation for its serv-
ices by way of lienor rights under N.C. Gen. Stat. § 44A-2(d). Ac-

10. N.C. Gen. Stat. § 20-28.3 (2007) provides for the seizure of a motor vehicle that
is driven by a person who is charged with an offense involving impaired driving.
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cordingly, we find that section 20-108(j) created a new remedy, sepa-
rate from the Chapter 44A lien remedy, which entitles a private
garage to reasonable compensation for services related to seizure
under section 20-108.

This conclusion is further supported by the difference in the
fundamental nature of the possessory interest under section 20-108
and under Chapter 44A. That is, under the lien statutes, the
garage/possessor is holding the vehicle against the rightful owner as
security for payment for services, whereas under the seizure statute,
the garage/possessor is storing the vehicle at the request of the
Division in exchange for payment for the requested storage. N.C.
Gen. Stat. §§ 20-108, 44A-1, et seq. While Plaintiff may have enforced
his lien on the property against Defendant when Defendant defaulted
on its obligation to pay storage charges, we decline to hold that
Plaintiff’s sole method of recovery is through enforcement of its pos-
sessory lien. See N.C. Gen. Stat. § 44A-4(a) (“when property is placed
in storage pursuant to an express contract of storage, . . . the lienor
may bring an action to collect storage charges and enforce his lien at
any time within 120 days following default on the obligation to pay
storage charges”). Accordingly, we hold that the language in section
20-108(j) does not limit Plaintiff’s recovery for unpaid storage costs
to the value of the vehicles and parts stored.

Likewise, there is nothing in the statute or legislative history to
indicate that the qualification of compensation as “reasonable”
should tie the storage charge to the value of the vehicle. The legisla-
tive history is bare of any meaning associated with this term. With no
legislative guidance for the reasonableness requirement, we decline
to limit Plaintiff’s right to an adequate recovery by overturning the
jury’s factual determination of damages and then labeling the trial
judge’s decision, made in his sound discretion, a substantial miscar-
riage of justice. In this case, we conclude that the judge correctly left
for the jury the factual determination of reasonable compensation.
We further conclude that the trial judge’s decision not to set aside the
jury verdict did not amount to an abuse of his discretion.

In affirming the trial judge’s decision not to overturn the jury’s
verdict, we find enlightening the following discussion by our
Supreme Court in Smith v. State, 289 N.C. 303, 222 S.E.2d 412 (1976),
regarding the impact of its decision to allow the State to be held liable
for breach of contract:

We do not apprehend that this decision will result in any un-
seemly conflict between the legislative and judicial branches of
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the government. Nor do we anticipate that it will have a signifi-
cant impact upon the State treasury or substantially affect official
conduct. Past performance convinces us that when the State has
entered into a contract, the officials who made it intended that
the State would keep its part of the bargain. It has been the pol-
icy of this State to meet its valid obligations, and we foresee no
change in that policy. The purpose of this decision is to imple-
ment the policy and to provide a remedy in exceptional situations
where one may be required.

The State is liable only upon contracts authorized by law. When it
enters into a contract it does so voluntarily and authorizes its lia-
bility. Furthermore, the State may, with a fair degree of accuracy,
estimate the extent of its liability for a breach of contract. On the
other hand, the State never authorizes a tort, and the extent of
tort liability for wrongful death and personal injuries is never pre-
dictable. With no limits on liability jury verdicts could conceiv-
ably impose an unanticipated strain upon the State’s budget.

Id. at 321-22, 222 S.E.2d at 424.

While the verdict herein could conceivably impose a strain upon
this State’s already tightened budget, we can hardly find this verdict
to be an unanticipated one. In 2000, the Division and its officers
entered into this agreement with Plaintiff voluntarily and as autho-
rized by the General Assembly. While there was no specific agree-
ment as to the price term of the contract, the State was put on notice
by Plaintiff as to the cost of storage at its facility. At all times during
this affair, State officials and officers were aware that hefty storage
costs were mounting, yet did nothing to lessen the future burden on
the State. That the officers did not know how the obligation would be
fulfilled is of no moment. Of even less significance is the fact that the
Division often hired businesses who performed the requested serv-
ices at no cost to the State. Such testimony falls grimly short of evi-
dencing a waiver of storage costs by Plaintiff. The evidence tends to
show that the Division was accruing costs between October 2000 and
May 2008 and, rather than removing the parts and vehicles from
Plaintiff’s storage facility, the Division, instead, apparently hoped it
would simply be able to avoid its obligations in the end.

In its complaint, Bowles contends that in June 2004, when
Bowles’ eleven counterclaims in the Division’s dispositional actions
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were filed, the lien remedy Bowles was seeking could have been sat-
isfied by the $50,000.00 estimated auction value for the motorcycles
and parts in storage, at no cost to the Division. By contrast, Bowles
alleges that the estimated storage fees as of June 2004 were already
in excess of $300,000.00. Bowles contends that following the Divi-
sion’s motions to dismiss Bowles’ eleven counterclaims, filed 27 June
2004, the Division made no effort to retrieve the motorcycles from
Bowles or to otherwise mitigate storage costs that continued to ac-
crue daily. As of 6 January 2006, Bowles estimated the total storage
costs at $483,565.00, as well as additional payments for services ren-
dered after that date based on a rate of $15.00 per day per motor-
cycle or part. Despite these allegations, the Division left the motor-
cycles and parts in storage with Plaintiff.11

At trial, Tommy testified that Bowles’ standard towing rate in
2000 was $50.00 per vehicle. Tommy also testified that Bowles’ typi-
cal fee for outside storage was $15.00 per part per day, and that
Tommy had expressed to Lowrance that he would agree to that same
rate for inside storage. Additionally, Wes Edmiston, the president of
a vehicle towing and storage company in Troutman, North Carolina,
testified on behalf of Bowles that in 2000 his company charged
$100.00 for towing a vehicle and $15.00 per part per day for storage.
Although Dayvault testified that he was not aware of Bowles’ daily
rate for storage, Dayvault admitted that as early as February 2001, he
was aware that storage fees were accumulating rapidly.

While this Court is reluctant to render a decision which results in
the people of North Carolina covering Plaintiff’s more than half-

11. In a letter dated 24 October 2007, the Division offered to take possession of
the motorcycles and parts, stating that such action “would not affect any liens [Bowles]
has on the motorcycles.” Prior to that date, the Division made no attempt to limit the
costs that were accruing. When the Division finally attempted to mitigate the costs of
storage, Bowles refused to relinquish possession of the motorcycles and parts unless
its rights were “adequately protected.” Bowles proposed that the Division pay the
amount of the lien into court as a bond per N.C. Gen. Stat. § 44A-4(a) (“The owner or
person with whom the lienor dealt may at any time following the maturity of the oblig-
ation bring an action in any court of competent jurisdiction as by law provided. . . . The
clerk may at any time disburse to the lienor that portion of the cash bond, which the
plaintiff says in his complaint is not in dispute, upon application of the lienor. The mag-
istrate or judge shall direct appropriate disbursement of the disputed or undisbursed
portion of the bond in the judgment of the court.”). Bowles invited the Division to pro-
pose any other method it knew of that would protect Bowles’ rights if the motorcycles
and parts were released to the Division. As far as the record before this Court reflects,
the Division never responded to Bowles’ request. The Division’s actions are puzzling at
best, as an astounding portion of the costs that accrued while the motorcycles and
parts remained in storage could have been avoided.
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million-dollar storage bill,12 this Court is bound by the uncontro-
verted evidence that agents of this State ran up an eight-year tab at
Plaintiff’s expense and then, after a de minimus effort at best to mit-
igate costs, attempted to shirk its financial obligations.

Based on N.C. Gen. Stat. § 20-108(j) and the circumstances of this
case, we hold that the trial judge did not abuse his discretion in deny-
ing Defendant’s motion to set aside the jury verdict. Accordingly, the
order of the trial court is

AFFIRMED.

CHIEF JUDGE MARTIN and JUDGE HUNTER, JR. concur.

BOBBY L. CAMPBELL, PLaNTIFF v. DUKE UNIVERSITY HEALTH SYSTEM, INC., CRIT-
ICAL HEALTH SYSTEMS OF NORTH CAROLINA, P.C., CRITICAL HEALTH SYS-
TEMS, INC., SOUTHEASTERN ORTHOPEDICS SPORTS MEDICINE AND
SHOULDER CENTER, P.A., DONALD A. EDMONDSON, M.D., CYNTHIA
KAEGER, CRNA, AND KEVIN P. SPEER, M.D., DEFENDANTS

No. COA09-581
(Filed 16 March 2010)

Medical Malpractice— Rule 9(j)—statement not supported by
facts—summary judgment

The trial court did not err by granting summary judgment for
defendants in a medical malpractice case where plaintiff’s com-
plaint facially complied with Rule 9(j), but discovery subse-
quently established that the expert statement was not supported
by the facts.

Appeal by plaintiff from order entered 12 January 2009 by Judge
Howard E. Manning, Jr., in Wake County Superior Court. Heard in the
Court of Appeals 28 October 2009.

12. We note that the jury’s verdict is far less than it would have been if the jury
had applied the $15.00 per part per day rate to the 25 motorcycles and parts that were
in Bowles’ possession at the time of trial. Applying the $15.00 rate for the storage of 25
motorcycles and parts over a period of seven and a half years equates to a storage fee
of $1,026,375.00. This sum excludes the towing costs which were incurred and is nev-
ertheless almost double the jury’s award of $575,725.00.
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The Law Office of James M. Johnson, by James M. Johnson; and
Brenton D. Adams, for plaintiff appellant.

McGuire Woods, LLP, by Mark E. Anderson, Claire A. Modlin
and Monica E. Webb, for Critical Health Systems of North
Carolina, P.C., Critical Health Systems, Inc., and Donald A.
Edmondson, M.D., defendant appellees.

Crawford & Crawford, LLP, by Renee B. Crawford and Robert
0. Crawford, III, for Southeastern Orthopedics and Kevin P.
Speer, M.D., defendant-appellees.

HUNTER, JR., Robert N., Judge.

Bobby Campbell (“plaintiff”) appeals from the trial court’s order
granting summary judgment in favor of Critical Health Systems of
North Carolina, Inc., Critical Health Systems, Inc., Southeastern
Orthopedics Sports Medicine and Shoulder Centers, P.A., Donald A.
Edmondson, M.D., and Kevin P. Speer, M.D. (“defendants:). After
review, we hold, notwithstanding that plaintiff’s complaint facially
complied with Rule 9(j) by including a statement that a medical
expert qualified under Rule 702 would testify that defendants’ actions
did not comply with the standard of care where discovery subse-
quently established that the statement was not supported by
the facts, dismissal is appropriate. Accordingly, we affirm the trial
court’s order.

I. FACTUAL BACKGROUND

On 25 November 2003, plaintiff suffered an injury to his right
shoulder while working as a plumber at Cape Fear Valley Hospital in
Fayetteville, North Carolina. An MRI showed that plaintiff sustained
a large rotator tear as a result of his shoulder injury. On 16 December
2003, Dr. Bradley Broussard initially examined and diagnosed plain-
tiff with a combination of joint degenerative disease and rotator cuff
tear to the right shoulder. Dr. Broussard injected plaintiff’s right
shoulder with pain medication, but informed plaintiff that he would
need to undergo surgery.

On 14 January 2004, defendant, Dr. Kevin P. Speer, an orthopedic
surgeon employed by codefendant, Southeastern Orthopedics Sports
Medicine and Shoulder Center, P.A., examined plaintiff’s right shoul-
der and concluded that he should undergo surgery. Dr. Speer per-
formed a right shoulder arthroscopy and right open rotator cuff
repair at Duke Raleigh Hospital on 9 February 2004. Defendant, Dr.
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Donald A. Edmondson, an anesthesiologist employed by codefend-
ant, Critical Health Systems of North Carolina, P.C., served as the
attending anesthesiologist during the surgical procedure. During the
procedure, Dr. Edmondson and Dr. Speer were admittedly respon-
sible for positioning, padding, and monitoring plaintiff’s left arm.

At the beginning of the surgery, Dr. Edmondson and Dr. Speer
placed plaintiff in the “beach chair” position. This position is the
standard position used for many shoulder surgeries. In this position,
the patient is placed in a semi-reclining, semi-sitting position with the
patient’s arms resting at either side and padded with various pads and
foams to keep the patient in the position safely. There is no docu-
mentary evidence in Dr. Edmondson’s records or any other record of
whether or not plaintiff was properly padded and monitored during
the procedure.

Plaintiff contends that he began to feel severe pain and numbness
in his left arm, elbow, and fingers approximately one hour after
surgery. During plaintiff’s first follow up visit on 19 February 2004,
after the initial 9 February 2004 surgery, Dr. Speer noted that plaintiff
was doing well. Plaintiff first reported his painful condition to Dr.
Speer on 1 April 2004, during a second follow-up visit. At that time,
Dr. Speer noted that plaintiff was suffering from continued ulnar neu-
ropathy! at his left elbow. An EMG confirmed the left elbow ulnar
neuropathy and Dr. Speer performed subcutaneous nerve transfer on
plaintiff’s left elbow on 21 July 2004. Plaintiff continued to see Dr.
Speer on a monthly basis after his surgery until he was discharged to
a long term pain management clinic.

In his sworn affidavit, plaintiff avers that he did not experience
pain or medical problems with his left arm prior to the 9 February
2004 surgery and that his ulnar nerve neuropathy was not pre-
existing. After the 21 July 2004 surgery and to the present date, plain-
tiff contends that he experiences pain in his left arm on a daily basis
and that his arm is permanently damaged.

On 8 February 2007, plaintiff filed a professional negligence claim
alleging that his left arm was permanently damaged and injured due
to defendants’ failure to comply with the applicable standard of care
when padding, positioning, and monitoring his left arm, wrist, and
hand during the 9 February 2004 surgery to his right shoulder. Plain-

1. Ulnar neuropathy is an inflammation of the ulnar nerve, a major nerve that
supplies movement and sensation to the arm and hand. Damage can cause numbness,
tingling, or pain into the arm and hand on the side of the little finger.
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tiff’s theory of the case is that the ulnar neuropathy in his left arm was
caused by defendants’ failure to properly monitor his arm during the
operation. Because his injury was not pre-existing and he began to
experience pain in his left arm one hour after the surgery, he con-
tends that his arm became mis-positioned during the procedure
resulting in his injury. Plaintiff does not rely on the doctrine of res
psa loquitur.

On 2 November 2007, plaintiff named Dr. Jeffrey Cocozzo, an
anesthesiologist practicing in Fort Lauderdale, Florida, as his expert
witness who would testify pursuant to the heightened pleading re-
quirements of N.C. R. Civ. P. 9(j) that defendants breached the appli-
cable standard of care and proximately caused plaintiff’s injuries.
Defendants answered and denied the alleged negligence and injuries.
A consent discovery order was entered by the trial court on 17
January 2008, pursuant to which plaintiff designated Dr. Cocozzo and
defendant Speer as the intended expert witnesses for trial. On 10
December 2008, Dr. Cocozzo was deposed and gave the following
sworn testimony regarding defendants’ alleged negligence:

Q. . . . Do you believe that because Mr. Campbell sustained a
nerve injury whose symptoms you believe first appeared post-
operatively, do you believe because he sustained a nerve
injury, negligence must have occurred?

A. Well, it’s basically what he did say, right. He—he states that he
did not have any nerve injury before and did end up having
nerve injury during—during the surgery. So therefore that
would be—that would be negligence, yes.

Q. You're presuming that there was negligence based on the fact
that there is an injury in this case; is that correct?

A. Yes.

Q. And you can’t point to any specific incident that happened
during the surgery that would have caused this injury, it’s just
based on your presumption of negligence because there was
an injury at the end of the surgery; is that correct?

A. Right, right.

Q. And if Mr. Campbell did, in fact, have a pre-existing condition,
then that doesn’t mean there was anything that happened dur-
ing the surgery that caused his injury; is that correct?
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A. Right. If he had something that was a pre-condition and he
already had an injury, then obviously he already had an injury.

Q. Okay. And tell me, what is the basis of your opinion that
improper positioning and/or padding resulted in damage to
Mr. Campbell’s ulnar nerve?

A. Well, basically he—from—from what I know so far talking to
him and looking at the records, his—I don’t have any reason
to believe that—that he didn’t have a normal functioning
before the surgery.

He went in for surgery that—where you can get a com-
plication of having—from malpositioning of an ulnar nerve
injury and within a day or so after the surgery he seemed to
have—started having complaints of ulnar nerve injury.

Dr. Speer and Dr. Edmondson both contend that plaintiff was
properly padded, positioned, and monitored during surgery solely
because it is their custom to do so during shoulder surgery. How-
ever, Dr. Edmondson admitted that he had no independent recollec-
tion of plaintiff’s surgery or what he did or did not do during plain-
tiff’s surgery.

On 22 December 2008, defendants Dr. Speer and Southeastern
Orthopedics Sports Medicine and Shoulder Center, P.A., filed motions
for summary judgment on the basis that the affidavit and testimony of
Dr. Cocozzo show that “(1) there is no evidence from a qualified
expert that Dr. Speer’s care was not in accordance with the appli-
cable standards of care and (2) that no act or omission of Dr. Speer
was a proximate cause of the plaintiff’s alleged injury.” Subsequently,
on 23 December 2008, defendants Critical Health Systems of North
Carolina, P.C., Critical Health Systems, Inc., and Donald A.
Edmondson, M.D., filed a motion for summary judgment based on a
contention that there is no genuine issue of material fact with regard
to “whether any actions or inactions of [the] [d]efendants were the
proximate cause of [p]laintiff’s alleged injury.” The trial court granted
both the 22 and 23 December 2008 motions for summary judgment
and cited to Kenyon v. Gehrig, 183 N.C. App. 455, 459, 645 S.E.2d 125,
128 (2007), disc. review denied, 362 N.C. 176, 658 S.E.2d 272 (2008),
as the basis for the decision (holding that where “plaintiff’s expert
witnesses based their opinions only on the fact of the injury itself;
their assignation of negligence on defendants’ part constituted mere
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speculation” and is insufficient to withstand a motion for summary
judgment). Plaintiff appeals.

II. STANDARD OF REVIEW

Summary judgment is properly granted when “the pleadings,
depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file,
together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue
as to any material fact and that any party is entitled to a judgment as
a matter of law.” N.C. Gen. Stat. § 1A-1, Rule 56(c) (2007). When
reviewing a trial court’s grant of a motion for summary judgment, the
standard of review is whether a genuine issue of material fact exists
and whether the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of
law. Smith v. Harris, 181 N.C. App. 585, 587, 640 S.E.2d 436, 438
(2007). “An appeal from an order granting summary judgment raises
only the issues of whether, on the face of the record, there is any
genuine issue of material fact, and whether the prevailing party is
entitled to judgment as a matter of law.” Smith-Price v. Charter
Behavioral Health Sys., 164 N.C. App. 349, 353, 595 S.E.2d 778,
782 (2004). We review a trial court’s ruling on summary judgment
de novo. In re Will of Jones, 362 N.C. 569, 573, 669 S.E.2d 572,
576 (2008).

III. ANALYSIS
N.C. R. Civ. P. 9(j) provides, in pertinent part:

Any complaint alleging medical malpractice by a health care
provider as defined in G.S. 90-21.11 in failing to comply with
the applicable standard of care under G.S. 90-21.12 shall be dis-
missed unless:

(1) The pleading specifically asserts that the medical care
has been reviewed by a person who is reasonably
expected to qualify as an expert witness under Rule
702 of the Rules of Evidence and who is willing to testify
that the medical care did not comply with the applicable
standard of care;

(2) The pleading specifically asserts that the medical care
has been reviewed by a person that the complainant will
seek to have qualified as an expert witness by motion
under Rule 702(e) of the Rules of Evidence and who is
willing to testify that the medical care did not comply
with the applicable standard of care, and the motion is
filed with the complaint; or
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(3) The pleading alleges facts establishing negligence under
the existing common-law doctrine of res ipsa loquitur.

N.C. Gen. Stat. § 1A-1, Rule 9(j) (2007). In Barringer v. Forsyth
County Wake Forest University Baptist Medical Center, our Court
set forth the following principles for reviewing a party’s compliance
with Rule 9(j) in medical malpractice actions:

Rule 9(j) unambiguously requires a trial court to dismiss a
complaint if the complaint’s allegations do not facially comply
with the rule’s heightened pleading requirements. Additionally,
this Court has determined “that even when a complaint facially
complies with Rule 9(j) by including a statement pursuant to Rule
9(j), if discovery subsequently establishes that the statement is
not supported by the facts, then dismissal is likewise appropri-
ate.” In considering whether a plaintiff’s Rule 9(j) statement is
supported by the facts, “[‘]a court must consider the facts rele-
vant to Rule 9(j) and apply the law to them.” ” In such a case, this
Court does not “inquire as to whether there was any question of
material fact,” nor do we “view the evidence in the light most
favorable” to the plaintiff. Rather, “ ‘our review of Rule 9(j) com-
pliance is de novo, because such compliance clearly presents a
question of law. . . .””

—— N.C. App. —, ——, 677 S.E.2d 465, 477 (2009) (citations omitted).

In the present case, plaintiff contends that there are sufficient
facts to raise genuine issues of fact as to the following: (1) defend-
ants’ negligence while caring for plaintiff; (2) whether plaintiff suf-
fered from a pre-existing ulnar nerve neuropathy; and (3) whether
plaintiff’s left arm was padded and positioned in accordance with the
standard of care for rotator cuff surgery. Plaintiff’s evidence included
the affidavit from, and expert testimony of, Dr. Cocozzo; however, his
testimony failed to specifically assert that defendants’ actions were
the proximate cause of the injuries to plaintiff’s left arm, wrist, and
hand. Moreover, plaintiff, in his reply brief, specifically argues direct
evidence medical malpractice negligence and rejects any application
of the doctrine of res ipsa loquitur.

Plaintiff likely rejects the application of res ipsa loquitur
because our Courts are reluctant to apply the doctrine in medical
malpractice cases, and further, plaintiff does not meet the first prong
to invoke the doctrine, as Dr. Cocozzo admitted that ulnar neuro-
pathy can be a complication of shoulder surgery. See Kenyon, 183
N.C. App. at 460, 645 S.E.2d at 128-29 (stating that res ipsa loquitur
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allows the fact finder to draw an inference of negligence from the cir-
cumstances surrounding the injury when

(1) “the injury is of a type that does not ordinarily occur in the
absence of some negligent act or omission,” (2) “direct proof of
the cause of [the] injury is not available,” and (3) “the instrumen-
tality involved in the accident is under the defendant’s control.”

[Moreover], [t]o allow the jury to infer negligence merely from an
unfavorable response to treatment would be tantamount to
imposing strict liability on health care providers.

Id. (citations omitted).

In order to survive a summary judgment motion in a direct evi-
dence medical malpractice case, plaintiff is required to forecast evi-
dence demonstrating the existence of a prima facie case of negli-
gence, one element of which is causation. The evidence of causation
in a medical negligence case “must be probable, not merely a remote
possibility.” White v. Hunsinger, 88 N.C. App. 382, 387, 363 S.E.2d
203, 206 (1988) (citation omitted). Courts rely on expert testimony to
show medical causation because “the exact nature and probable gen-
esis of a particular type of injury involves complicated medical ques-
tions far removed from the ordinary experience and knowledge of
laymen[.]” Click v. Pilot Freight Carriers, 300 N.C. 164, 167, 265
S.E.2d 389, 391 (1980). With regard to this issue, our Supreme Court
in Young v. Hickory Bus. Furn., 3563 N.C. 227, 230, 538 S.E.2d 912, 915
(2000), further explains that

when such expert opinion testimony is based merely upon spec-
ulation and conjecture, it can be of no more value than that of a
layman’s opinion. As such, it is not sufficiently reliable to qualify
as competent evidence on issues of medical causation. Indeed,
this Court has specifically held that “an expert is not competent
to testify as to a causal relation which rests upon mere specula-
tion or possibility.”

(citation omitted). Moreover, in Schaffner v. Cumberland County
Hosp. System, our Court held that “ordinarily negligence must be
proved and cannot be inferred from the fact of an injury[.]” 77 N.C.
App. 689, 691, 336 S.E.2d 116, 118 (1985).

As plaintiff argues direct negligence, we only find it necessary to
address whether plaintiff’s facts raise a genuine issue of fact as to
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whether defendants proximately caused plaintiff’s injuries by breach-
ing the standard of care while padding and positioning plaintiff dur-
ing surgery. Here, Dr. Cocozzo’s testimony constitutes mere specula-
tion as to the proximate cause of plaintiff’s injuries. For instance, as
provided above, during the deposition Dr. Cocozzo testified that he is
unable to point to any specific incident or action of any defendant
during plaintiff’s 9 February 2004 surgery that would have caused
plaintiff’s injuries. Furthermore, Dr. Cocozzo admits that he presumes
defendants were negligent because plaintiff sustained an injury.

Although plaintiff alleged in his complaint that defendants were
negligent in padding, positioning, and monitoring his left arm during
the 9 February 2004 surgery of his right shoulder, plaintiff’s expert
does not connect any action or inaction of defendants to the injuries
sustained. In fact, the only evidence plaintiff is able to provide in sup-
port of his negligence claim is the fact of his injury, and unfortunately,
his injury is not the sort that would allow an average juror to deter-
mine negligence in the absence of expert testimony. Accordingly, as
plaintiff is unable to present a forecast of evidence showing the exis-
tence of a genuine issue of material fact, we must affirm the trial
court’s order of summary judgment as to all defendants.

Affirmed.

Judges ELMORE and STEELMAN concur.

LAWRENCE A. WILSON, III anp LEIGH M. WILSON, PLAINTIFFs v. LAWRENCE A.
WILSON, SR., INDIVIDUALLY AND IN HIS CAPACITY AS TRUSTEE OF THE LAWRENCE ALLAN
WILSON, JR. TRUST FOR THE BENEFIT OF LAWRENCE ALLAN WILSON, IIT AND THE LAWRENCE
ALLAN WILSON, JR., TRUST FOR THE BENEFIT OF LEIGH MEREDITH WILSON, AND
LAWRENCE A. WILSON, JR., DEFENDANTS

No. COA09-325
(Filed 16 March 2010)

1. Appeal and Error— interlocutory order—ineffective initial
appeal—subsequent final judgment

Plaintiffs’ appeal of a protective order as well as an order for
summary judgment was properly before the Court of Appeals.
Although the initial appeal from the protective order was not
immediately appealable, the order granting defendants sum-
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mary judgment was a final judgment. Thereafter, plaintiffs could
timely appeal.

2. Trusts— accounting—information reasonably necessary to
enforce rights

The trial court erred by granting a protective order in favor of
defendants that effectively denied plaintiffs’ request for an ac-
counting of the pertinent trusts even though a provision of the
trust instrument purportedly excused the trustee from providing
an accounting. N.C.G.S. § 36C-8-813 does not override the duty of
the trustee to act in good faith, nor can it obstruct the power of
the court to take such action as may be necessary in the interests
of justice. The trial court’s grant of summary judgment and award
of costs to defendants was reversed.

Judge ELMORE dissenting.

Appeal by Plaintiffs from orders entered 25 August 2008 by Judge
Phyllis M. Gorham and 13 January 2009 by Judge Jay D. Hockenbury
in Superior Court, New Hanover County. Heard in the Court of
Appeals 29 September 2009.

Ward and Smith, PA., by John M. Martin, for plaintiffs-
appellants.

Shipman & Wright, L.L.P., by Gary K. Shipman and Catherine
H. Lesica, for defendants-appellees.

WYNN, Judge.

“[TThe beneficiary is always entitled to such information as is rea-
sonably necessary to enable him to enforce his rights under the trust
or to prevent or redress a breach of trust.”! In the present case, the
trial court held that Defendant-settlor Lawrence A. Wilson, Jr. could,
by a provision in the trust instrument, deny Plaintiffs-beneficiaries
information necessary to prevent or redress a breach of trust.
Because this result is contrary to law, we reverse the trial court’s
grant of a protective order and summary judgment to Defendants.

Defendant Lawrence A. Wilson, Jr. in 1992 created two irrevoc-
able trusts, one for each of his two children. He made Defendant
Lawrence A. Wilson, Sr. the trustee for both of the trusts, and
included in both instruments the provision at issue in this case:

1. Taylor v. Nationsbank Corp., 125 N.C. App. 515, 521, 481 S.E.2d 358, 362 (1997)
(quoting Restatement (Second) of Trusts § 173 cmt. ¢ (1959)).
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The Trustee shall not be required by any law, rule or regulation
to prepare or file for approval any inventory, appraisal or regu-
lar or periodic accounts or reports with any court or beneficiary,
but he may from time to time present his accounts to an adult
beneficiary or a parent or guardian of a minor or incompetent
beneficiary.

On 28 September 2007, the beneficiaries (“Plaintiffs”) filed suit,
alleging a breach of fiduciary duty. Plaintiffs requested, among other
things, that the trustee be required “to provide a full, complete, and
accurate accounting of the Trusts from December 31, 1992 through
the date on which the Order is entered.” In support of their claims,
Plaintiffs alleged that Defendant Trustee Wilson, Sr. had allowed
Defendant Settlor Wilson, Jr. to take control of the assets of the
Trusts, and that Defendant Settlor Wilson, Jr. subsequently invested
the assets in his personal business ventures which were highly spec-
ulative and resulted in a substantial depreciation of assets. Plaintiffs
further alleged that Defendant Trustee breached his statutory duty by
failing to distribute income to Plaintiffs as required by the terms of
the Trust Instruments.

Defendants filed an answer on 30 October 2007 pointing to the
provision of the trust instruments that purportedly excused the
trustee from providing an accounting.? In response to requests for
discovery regarding the trust, Defendants replied consistently that
the request:

stands as an attempt to obtain information in the nature of inven-
tories, appraisals, reports or accounts which, pursuant to the pro-
visions of the Trust Instrument are not required to be provided
“any court or any beneficiary” and that the beneficiary may not
seek through litigation or discovery to obtain that to which
he/she is not otherwise entitled pursuant to the provisions of the
Trust Instrument.

Defendants filed a motion for a protective order on 14 March 2008
“on the grounds that by reason of the provisions of the Trust Instru-
ment, the discovery sought herein may not be had.” The motion
requested a ruling on Defendants’ prior motion for declaratory judg-

2. The pleading was styled “Answer, Affirmative Defenses, Third Party Complaint
and Motion.” The Third Party Complaint was dismissed 25 July 2008 and is not at issue
here. Defendants amended their responsive pleading on 7 November 2007 to include a
counterclaim requesting declaratory judgment on the issue of Defendants’ obligations
under the Trust.
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ment to determine the beneficiaries’ right to demand an accounting.
Plaintiffs’ counsel filed an affidavit stating that Plaintiffs were totally
unable to oppose Defendants’ motion “[a]s a result of the refusal of
the Defendants to fully and completely answer and respond to the
Plaintiffs’ discovery.” A hearing was held 7 April 2008 on Defendants’
motion. The trial court subsequently issued an order granting De-
fendants’ motion for a protective order and partial declaratory judg-
ment. The trial court included in its findings of fact that:

13. Under the North Carolina Uniform Trust Code (“NCTC”), no
aspect of a Trustee’s duty to inform beneficiaries is mandatory.
(See, N.C. Gen. Stat. § 36C-1-105). The legislative commentary to
N.C. Gen. Stat. § 36C-8-813 supports the conclusion that a settlor,
in this case Defendant Settlor Wilson, Jr., may override, or negate,
the requirement of disclosure to the Beneficiary Plaintiffs in this
matter by drafting a provision in the Trust Instrument providing
that such disclosures are not required. Id.

14. The Defendant Settlor Wilson, Jr. has done precisely this.

15. By reason of the operation of Article 2.10 of the Wilson Trust
Instrument, and considered in view of N.C. Gen. Stat. § 36C-1-105,
Plaintiffs are not entitled to have Defendants provide them with
the information they seek in discovery or give an accounting or
make reports with any Court or to the Plaintiffs/Beneficiaries.

The trial court included in its conclusions of law that:

2. The disclosure and trust accounting provisions in N.C. Gen.
Stat. § 36C-8-813 apply to all trustees unless the same are
negated, or over-ridden by the express provisions of the trust
instrument themselves. See, N.C. Gen. Stat. § 36C-1-105 et seq.

4. By reason of the operation of the Trust Instrument, and con-
sidered in view of N.C. Gen. Stat. § 36C-1-105, the Plaintiffs are
not entitled to have the Defendants give an accounting or make
reports with any Court or to the Plaintiffs/Beneficiaries, and are
accordingly, not required to provide the information sought by
the Plaintiffs in discovery.

5. The Wilson Trust Instrument eliminates the requirement that
Trustee Defendant Wilson, Sr., provide trust accounting informa-
tion of the nature and type requested by Plaintiffs, as Article 2.10
of the Wilson Trust Instrument does not require such disclosure.
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Plaintiffs filed notice to appeal the order to this Court on 18
September 2008, but no record was filed and the appeal was never
docketed. On 22 October 2008 Defendants filed a motion for summary
judgment. That motion stated “Plaintiffs have admitted that they can-
not support the allegations contained in their Second and Third
Claims for Relief without the accounting sought in their First Claim
for Relief.” The trial court granted Defendants’ motion for summary
judgment on 12 January 2009.

Plaintiffs now appeal the trial court’s orders on Defendants’
motion for a protective order and partial declaratory judgment, and
summary judgment and the award of costs to Defendants.

L

[1] As an initial matter, we must determine the extent to which this
Court may consider Plaintiffs’ appeal. Defendants argue that this
Court may not hear Plaintiffs’ appeal regarding the protective order
and partial declaratory judgment as Plaintiffs’ first appeal of that
order was (1) interlocutory and (2) Plaintiffs failed to perfect that
appeal. Neither of these bases supports Defendants’ position.

Both parties agree that Plaintiffs’ appeal of the protective order
was interlocutory when it was first filed. See Veazey v. Durham, 231
N.C. 357, 362, 57 S.E.2d 377, 381 (1950) (“An interlocutory order is
one made during the pendency of an action, which does not dispose
of the case, but leaves it for further action by the trial court in order
to settle and determine the entire controversy.”). Interlocutory orders
are generally not immediately appealable to this Court. Hudson-Cole
Dev. Corp. v. Beemner, 132 N.C. App. 341, 344, 511 S.E.2d 309, 311
(1999). An exception to this rule exists, however, where the chal-
lenged order affects a substantial right that would be lost without
immediate review. Embler v. Embler, 143 N.C. App. 162, 165, 545
S.E.2d 259, 261 (2001).

Defendants argue—and we agree—that the appeal sought from
the protective order did not affect a substantial right. See Dworsky v.
Insurance Co., 49 N.C. App. 446, 447, 271 S.E.2d 522, 523 (1980) (“It
has been held that orders denying or allowing discovery are not
appealable since they are interlocutory and do not affect a substan-
tial right”). The appeal was therefore not immediately appealable
when Plaintiffs first filed notice of appeal.

It does not follow, however, that it must be dismissed now.
Indeed, a party’s “rights . . . are fully and adequately protected by an
exception to the order which may then be assigned as error on ap-
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peal should final judgment in the case ultimately go against it.”
Waters v. Personnel, Inc., 294 N.C. 200, 208, 240 S.E.2d 338, 344
(1978). The order granting Defendants summary judgment is a final
judgment. Thus Plaintiffs’ present appeal of the protective order is
not interlocutory.

Defendants also argue that this Court may not hear Plaintiffs’
appeal of the protective order because Plaintiffs failed to file the
record and docket the case when the appeal was initially taken. This
argument misconstrues our precedent.

McGinnis v. McGinnis, 44 N.C. App. 381, 261 S.E.2d 491 (1980),
and Woods v. Shelton, 93 N.C. App. 649, 379 S.E.2d 45 (1989), estab-
lished the rule that a party’s “failure to timely perfect [an] appeal con-
stitutes an abandonment of the appeal.” Woods, 93 N.C. App. at 652,
379 S.E.2d at 47. The operative word here is timely. As we have rec-
ognized above, Plaintiffs could timely file appeal of the protective
order only after a final judgment had been rendered. Plaintiffs’
aborted attempt to file an interlocutory appeal does not estop them
from filing an appeal at the appropriate time.

Defendants acknowledge that the order for summary judgment
was a final judgment and properly appealed. The validity of the prior
protective order is involved in that judgment, as this Court could not
meaningfully review the order for summary judgment without also
reviewing the grounds upon which it is based. Consequently, Plain-
tiffs’ appeal of the protective order as well as the order for summary
judgment is properly before this Court.

II.

[2] Plaintiffs argue that the trial court erred in granting Defendants’
protective order and partial declaratory judgment and in granting
Defendants’ motion for summary judgment. Summary judgment is
proper when a party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. N.C.
Gen. Stat. § 1A-1, Rule 56(c) (2009); Integon Indem. Corp. wv.
Universal Underwriters Ins. Co., 131 N.C. App. 267, 270, 507 S.E.2d
66, 68 (1998). “[O]n review of a declaratory judgment action, we
apply the standards used when reviewing a trial court’s determination
of a motion for summary judgment.” Hejl v. Hood, Hargett &
Associates, Inc.,— N.C. App. —, ——, 674 S.E.2d 425, 427-28 (2009).
“We review a trial court’s order for summary judgment de novo to
determine . . . whether either party is ‘entitled to judgment as a mat-
ter of law.” Robins v. Town of Hillsborough, 361 N.C. 193, 196, 639
S.E.2d 421, 423 (2007) (quoting N.C. Gen. Stat. § 1A-1, Rule 56(c)).
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The basic issue here is whether the trial court erred in its
interpretation of the North Carolina Uniform Trust Code (“N.C.
Trust Code”). The N.C. Trust Code “applies to any express trust,
private or charitable, with additions to the trust, wherever and
however created.” N.C. Gen. Stat. § 36C-1-102 (2009). Section
36C-1-105 provides:

(b) The terms of a trust prevail over any provision of this Chap-
ter except:

(2) The duty of a trustee to act in good faith and in accordance
with the terms and purposes of the trust and the interests of the
beneficiaries.

(9) The power of the court to take any action and exercise any
jurisdiction as may be necessary in the interests of justice.

N.C. Gen. Stat. § 36C-1-105 (2009). The N.C. Trust Code thus recog-
nizes that a trustee has a mandatory duty to act in good faith and that
the terms of the trust cannot prevail over the power of the court to
act in the interests of justice. The N.C. Trust Code also recognizes
that a trustee generally has a duty to account for the trust property to
the beneficiaries. Section 36C-8-813 provides:

a) The trustee is under a duty to do all of the following:

(1) Provide reasonably complete and accurate information as to
the nature and amount of the trust property, at reasonable inter-
vals, to any qualified beneficiary who is a distributee or permis-
sible distributee of trust income or principal.

(2) In response to a reasonable request of any qualified
beneficiary:

a. Provide a copy of the trust instrument.

b. Provide reasonably complete and accurate information as to
the nature and amount of the trust property.

c. Allow reasonable inspections of the subject matter of the trust
and the accounts and other documents relating to the trust.

N.C. Gen. Stat. § 36C-8-813 (2009).3

3. “Qualified beneficiary” is defined at N.C. Gen. Stat. § 36C-1-103(15).
Defendants do not argue on appeal that Plaintiffs are not qualified beneficiaries.
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The North Carolina Commentary on this statute explains that
“[t]his section departs significantly from the Uniform Trust Code.”
N.C. Gen. Stat. § 36C-8-813 North Carolina Commentary (2009). The
commentary goes on to state that the drafters omitted those portions
of the Uniform Trust Code that would require the trustee to keep
qualified beneficiaries reasonably informed about the trust adminis-
tration. The drafters instead inserted the rule from section 173 of
the Restatement (Second) of Trusts (1959) requiring the trustees to
give beneficiaries certain information upon request and to permit the
beneficiaries to inspect trust documents. This is not, however, listed
as a mandatory rule that prevails over the terms of the trust instru-
ment. See N.C. Gen. Stat. § 36C-1-105. The commentary concludes
from this that:

The settlor is free to override the provisions of subsections (a)
and (b) regarding the information to be furnished to the benefi-
ciaries by directing the trustee not to provide a beneficiary with
any of the information otherwise required. This approach is con-
sistent with the statement in the Taylor decision [Taylor wv.
Nationsbank Corp., 125 N.C. App. 515, 481 S.E.2d 358 (1997)]
where the court said that “trust beneficiaries are entitled to view
the trust instrument from which their interest is derived” so long
as that right is not waived by the settlor through “an explicit pro-
vision in the trust instrument to the contrary”. The mandatory
rules in Section 105(b)(8) and (9) of the Uniform Trust Code
would have prevented a settlor from overriding the provisions of
Section 813(a) and (b)(2) and (3) of the Uniform Trust Code. The
drafters omitted these mandatory rules and decided not to apply
any such rule to the provisions of subsections (a) and (b) of this
section. See the North Carolina Comment to G.S. 36C-1-105.

N.C. Gen. Stat. § 36C-8-813 North Carolina Commentary (2009). The
North Carolina Comment to section 36-1-105 elaborates on the
drafter’s decision:

Whether and to what extent the settlor by the terms of the trust
could prevent a beneficiary from receiving trust information was
one of the more debatable issues of the Uniform Trust Code. The
drafters concluded that in North Carolina the settlor should have
the right to override any duty to furnish information imposed by
G.S. 36C-8-813(a) and (b). Accordingly, the drafters decided not
to impose a mandatory rule with respect to these provisions. This
is consistent with the statement in Taylor v. NationsBank, 125
N.C. App. 515, 521, 481 S.E.2d 358, 362 (1997) where the court



IN THE COURT OF APPEALS 53

WILSON v. WILSON
[203 N.C. App. 45 (2010)]

said that “trust beneficiaries are entitled to view the trust instru-
ment from which their interest is derived” so long as that right is
not waived by the settlor through “an explicit provision in the
trust to the contrary.”

N.C. Gen. Stat. § 36-1-105 North Carolina Commentary (2009).

In ruling on Defendants’ request for a protective order, the trial
court found that “[t]he legislative commentary to N.C. Gen. Stat.
§ 36C-8-813 supports the conclusion that a settlor . . . may override,
or negate, the requirement of disclosure to the Beneficiary . . . by
drafting a provision in the Trust Instrument providing that such dis-
closures are not required.” In ruling on Defendants’ motion for sum-
mary judgment, another trial court relied on this legal conclusion.
The validity of this conclusion with regard to Plaintiffs’ request for
discovery is now at issue.

The N.C. Trust Code commentary cites Taylor v. NationsBank as
supporting the assertion that the settlor is free to override the provi-
sions of § 36C-8-813 regarding a trustee’s duty to provide trust infor-
mation to the beneficiary. See N.C. Gen. Stat. § 36C-8-813 North
Carolina Commentary (2009). It is true that Taylor held “that absent
an explicit provision in the trust to the contrary, plaintiffs as trust
beneficiaries are entitled to view the trust instrument from which
their interest is derived.” Taylor, 125 N.C. App. at 521, 481 S.E.2d at
362. But this holding by its terms applies only to the beneficiaries’
entitlement to view the trust instrument.

Taylor reached this result by applying the rule in comment ¢ of
section 173 of the Restatement (Second) of Trusts: “the beneficiary is
always entitled to such information as is reasonably necessary to
enable him to enforce his rights under the trust or to prevent or
redress a breach of trust.” Id. The Taylor Court held that the infor-
mation plaintiffs sought, namely documents relating to the trust
instrument including prior revoked drafts of the trust, was not
reasonably necessary to enforce the plaintiffs rights. Id. Such is
not the case here.

Applying the same rule to the present circumstances, we con-
clude that the information sought by Plaintiffs is reasonably neces-
sary to enable them to enforce their rights under the trust. N.C. Gen.
Stat. § 36C-8-813 does not override the duty of the trustee to act in
good faith, nor can it obstruct the power of the court to take such
action as may be necessary in the interests of justice. N.C. Gen. Stat.
§ 36C-1-105(b)(2), (9) (2009). Such action would clearly encompass
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the power of the court to compel discovery where necessary to
enforce the beneficiary’s rights under the trust or to prevent or
redress a breach of trust, any contrary provision in the trust in-
strument notwithstanding. See Wachovia Bank v. Willis, 118 N.C.
App. 144, 147, 454 S.E.2d 293, 295 (1995) (“It is a fundamental rule
that, when interpreting wills and trust instruments, courts must give
effect to the intent of the testator or settlor, so long as such intent
does mot conflict with the demands of law and public policy.”)
(emphasis added).

This result, required by the rule in Taylor, is consistent with how
other jurisdictions have approached this question. “Any notion of a
trust without accountability is a contradiction in terms.”
Guardianship and Conservatorship of Sim, 403 N.W.2d 721, 736
(Neb. 1987), appeal dismissed, Sim v. Comiskey, 484 U.S. 940, 98
L. Ed. 2d 351 (1987). As the Oregon Supreme Court stated:

If a fiduciary can be rendered free from the duty of informing
the beneficiary concerning matters of which he is entitled to
know, and if he can also be made immune from liability resulting
from his breach of the trust, equity has been rendered impotent.
The present instance would be a humiliating example of the help-
lessness into which courts could be cast if a provision, placed in
a trust instrument through a settlor’s mistaken confidence in a
trustee, could relieve the latter of a duty to account. Such a pro-
vision would be virtually a license to the trustee to convert the
fund to his own use and thereby terminate the trust.

... We are, however, prepared to adopt the point of view of
the Restatement that a trust instrument may lawfully relieve a
trustee from the necessity of keeping formal accounts. When
such a provision is found in a trust instrument, a beneficiary can
not expect to receive reports concerning the trust estate. But
even when such a provision is made a part of the trust instru-
ment, the trustee will, nevertheless, be required in a suit for an
accounting to show that he faithfully performed his duty and
will be liable to whatever remedies may be appropriate if he
was unfaithful to his trust.

Wood v. Honeyman, 169 P.2d 131, 164-66 (Or. 1946) (emphasis added).

In this case, we hold that the trial court erred by relying on the
commentary to our statutes, which is not binding. See State v. Rupe,
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109 N.C. App. 601, 613-14, 428 S.E.2d 480, 488 (1993). Applying the
rule in Taylor, we hold that the information sought by Plaintiffs was
reasonably necessary to enforce their rights under the trust, and
therefore could not legally be withheld, notwithstanding the terms of
the trust instrument. Any other conclusion renders the trust unen-
forceable by those it was meant to benefit. We therefore reverse the
trial court’s grant of summary judgment and award of costs to
Defendants. See Tate Terrace Realty Investors, Inc. v. Currituck
County, 127 N.C. App. 212, 224, 488 S.E.2d 845, 852, disc. review
denied, 347 N.C. 409, 496 S.E.2d 394 (1997) (reversing the taxing of
costs to respondents where costs were imposed in consequence of
the trial court’s erroneous decision on the merits).

Reversed.
Judge CALABRIA concurs
Judge ELMORE dissents in a separate opinion.

ELMORE, Judge, dissenting.

Although I agree with the majority that principles of equity sup-
port the transparency of dealings by a trustee with the funds
entrusted to him, I also believe that North Carolina law permits pri-
vate parties to create trust instruments such as those at issue here. I
also believe that plaintiffs never perfected their appeal as to the pro-
tective order in this case, thus depriving this Court of jurisdiction
over that matter. As such, I respectfully dissent.

In 1992, Lawrence A. Wilson, Jr. (defendant Wilson, Jr.), estab-
lished two irrevocable trusts for each of his two children, Lawrence
A. Wilson, III, and Leigh M. Wilson (plaintiffs). The trust instruments
creating the two trusts were identical; each named as trustee
Lawrence A. Wilson, Sr. (defendant Wilson, Sr.), and each contained
the following clause:

The Trustee shall not be required by any law, rule or regulation
to prepare or file for approval any inventory, appraisal or regu-
lar or periodic accounts or reports with any court or beneficiary,
but he may from time to time present his accounts to an adult
beneficiary or a parent or guardian of a minor or incompetent
beneficiary.
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In March 2007, plaintiffs’ attorney contacted defendant Wilson,
Sr., to request an accounting of the trust. To that date, no distribution
of trust income had been made to plaintiffs. In July 2007, defendant
Wilson, Sr., provided a breakdown that, per plaintiffs, showed that
many of the assets in the trust had been liquidated and transferred or
invested in companies owned by defendant Wilson, Sr.

On 28 September 2007, plaintiffs initiated this suit, alleging
breach of fiduciary duty by defendant Wilson, Sr., and requesting,
among other things, a full and complete accounting of the trust assets
and investments. On 7 November 2007, defendants filed complaints
containing counterclaims and a motion for declaratory judgment
regarding their obligations to provide responses to discovery in light
of the provisions of the trust instruments. After several rounds of
interrogatories and requests for production of documents, on 14
March 2008, defendants filed a motion for a protective order on the
grounds that the trust instrument negated their obligations to provide
such information. On 25 August 2008, the trial court entered an order
granting defendants’ motions for a protective order and for partial
declaratory judgment; specifically, in that order, the trial court held
that plaintiffs need not provide requested information to defendants
based on the terms of the trust instrument. Plaintiffs filed notice of
appeal regarding this order on 18 September 2008.

On 22 October 2008, defendants filed a motion for summary judg-
ment. That motion was granted by the trial court by an order entered
13 January 2009. Plaintiffs filed notice of appeal regarding this order
on 26 January 2009.

Thus, two orders are at issue here: First is the order granting the
motion for partial declaratory judgment and a protective order,
entered on 25 August 2008; second is the summary judgment order,
entered on 26 January 2009.

As to the first, as mentioned, plaintiffs entered notice of appeal
on 18 September 2008; however, at no time did they file a record for
that case with this Court. This omission constitutes a failure to per-
fect their appeal on this order, and, as such, this Court should not
hear arguments on that order. N.C. R. App. Proc. 11, 12 (2009);
see McGinnis v. McGinnis, 44 N.C. App. 381, 386-87, 261 S.E.2d 491,
494-95 (1980); Woods v. Shelton, 93 N.C. App. 649, 652-53, 379 S.E.2d
45, 46-47 (1989).

The majority states that McGinnis and Woods do not prevent this
Court from hearing arguments on the protective order because no
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issue of timeliness exists regarding plaintiffs’ filing of their appeal.
My concern, however, is not with the timeliness of their filing; rather,
it is with their failure to perfect the appeal at all, regardless of timing.
While it is true that “[p]laintiffs’ aborted attempt to file an interlocu-
tory appeal does not estop them from filing an appeal at the appro-
priate time[,]” this does not negate the fact that plaintiffs initiated an
appeal on that order, then never filed a record in support of it. This
Court should not now allow plaintiffs to state that the record before
us in this case, related to the appeal of a separate order, is also in sup-
port of a separate former appeal. Nor does the fact that that order is
closely related to the summary judgment properly before us bestow
upon us the authority to consider the validity of that former order.

Plaintiffs did perfect their appeal as to the second order. As to it,
plaintiffs argue that the trial court erred in granting summary judg-
ment to defendants because two genuine issues of material fact
existed—namely, the alleged breach of fiduciary duty by defendant
Wilson, Sr.,, and the distribution by defendant Wilson, Sr., of the
income of the trusts.

In its order granting summary judgment to defendants, the trial
court cited the following sources that informed its ruling: the 25
August 2008 order by the Honorable Phyllis Gorham; from defend-
ants, discovery responses from plaintiffs and a memorandum of law
in support of the motion; from plaintiffs, an affidavit from John M.
Martin; and arguments from both defendants and plaintiffs.

The 25 August 2008 order is the order mentioned above ruling on
defendants’ motion for protective order and partial declaratory judg-
ment. In that order, the court noted the following language (quoted
above) from the trust instruments at issue:

The Trustee shall not be required by any law, rule or regulation
to prepare or file for approval any inventory, appraisal or regu-
lar or periodic accounts or reports with any court or beneficiary,
but he may from time to time present his accounts to an adult
beneficiary or a parent or guardian of a minor or incompe-
tent beneficiary.

It also made the following findings of fact:

11. Pursuant to Article 2.10[ of the Trust Instruments], the
Trustee is not required to disclose the information sought by
Plaintiffs in discovery.

%k sk ok
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13. Under the North Carolina Uniform Trust Code (“NCTC”), no
aspect of a Trustee’s duty to inform beneficiaries is mandatory.
(See, N.C. Gen. Stat. § 36C-1-105). The legislative commentary to
N.C. Gen. Stat. § 36C-8-813 supports the conclusion that a settlor,
in this case Defendant Settlor Wilson, Jr., may override, or negate,
the requirement of disclosure to the Beneficiary Plaintiffs in this
matter by drafting a provision in the Trust Instrument providing
that such disclosures are not required. Id.

14. The Defendant Settlor Wilson, Jr.[,] has done precisely this.

15. By reason of the operation of Article 2.10 of the Wilson Trust
Instrument, and considered in view of N.C. Gen. Stat. § 36C-1-105,
Plaintiffs are not entitled to have Defendants provide them with
the information they seek in discovery or give an accounting or
make reports with any Court or to the Plaintiffs/Beneficiaries.

The court then made conclusions of law including the following:

5. The Wilson Trust Instrument eliminates the requirement that
Trustee Defendant Wilson, Sr., provide trust accounting informa-
tion of the nature and type requested by Plaintiffs, as Article 2.10
of the Wilson Trust Instrument does not require such disclosure.

6. The Wilson Trust Instrument eliminates the requirement that
Trustee Defendant Wilson, Sr., provide trust accounting informa-
tion of the nature and type referenced repetitively by Plaintiffs in
the Complaint.

The affidavit by John M. Martin, plaintiffs’ attorney, that the trial
court references describes the necessity of discovery for developing
the facts of their case:

12. Having access to the information and documents regarding
the investment history of the assets comprising the Children’s
Trust, currently in the exclusive possession and control of
Defendants, is essential to Plaintiffs’ ability to develop the facts
respecting and, in turn, their theory of the case regarding their
claim for relief for breach of fiduciary duty. In turn, being in pos-
session of information and documents responsive to and inform-
ing Plaintiffs’ breach of fiduciary duty claim will further develop
their claim seeking the removal of Wilson, Sr.[,] as Trustee of the
Children’s Trust. Without this discovery, Plaintiffs cannot develop
the facts necessary to establish that a genuine issue of material
fact exists regarding their claims for breach of fiduciary duty and
seeking removal of Wilson, Sr.[,] as Trustee.
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13. As a result of the refusal of the Defendants to fully and com-
pletely answer and respond to the Plaintiffs’ discovery, Plaintiffs
are not in a position and are totally unable to oppose the
Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss, Motion for Partial Summary
Judgment, and Motion for Declaratory Judgment.

In sum, then, according to the 25 August 2008 order of the trial
court as well as the affidavit of the plaintiffs’ own attorney, plaintiffs
cannot produce evidence to support their contentions unless defend-
ants comply with their discovery requests. Because such compliance
is a duty specifically removed from defendants as trustees, then, we
must agree with the trial court that there is no genuine issue of a
material fact, and, as a matter of law, summary judgment should be
granted to defendants.

The majority relies heavily on Taylor v. Nationsbank Corp., 125
N.C. App. 515, 481 S.E.2d 358 (1997), for its conclusion that trust
beneficiaries are entitled to whatever documents are necessary to
enforce their rights under the trust. Taylor in fact concerns only
the disclosure of the terms of a trust agreement. Id. at 521, 481 S.E.2d
at 362. The holding of that case is stated clearly by the Court: “We
hold that absent an explicit provision in the trust to the contrary,
plaintiffs as trust beneficiaries are entitled to view the trust instru-
ment from which their interest is derived.” Id. I do not consider that
this holding reverses all other aspects of the North Carolina Trust
Code, particularly its clear authorization for parties to construct their
own terms. See N.C. Gen. Stat. § 36C-1-105 (2009) (stating “[t]he
terms of a trust prevail over any provision of this Chapter except” for
a handful of exceptions).

Plaintiffs’ arguments to this Court—with which the majority
agrees—rely on the law regarding fiduciary obligations of a trustee,
particularly that “[w]hen a fiduciary relationship exists between par-
ties to a transaction, equity raises a presumption of fraud when the
superior party obtains a possible benefit.” Watts v. Cumberland
County Hosp. Sys., 317 N.C. 110, 116, 343 S.E.2d 879, 884 (citation
omitted), rev’d on other grounds, 317 N.C. 321, 345 S.E.2d 201 (1986).
While this is true of a claim for breach of fiduciary duty, this does not
negate the fact that such a claim in this case can only be supported
by information that the trust instruments themselves state need not
be produced. Thus, I believe that this Court must affirm the trial
court’s grant of defendants’ motion for summary judgment.
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STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA v. DWIGHT ANTHONY CLODFELTER AND
JAMES KEVIN JESSUP, DEFENDANTS

No. COA09-356
(Filed 16 March 2010)

Confessions and Incriminating Statements— references to
defendant altered—Bruton violation—harmless error

The trial court did not err by admitting into evidence a con-
fession made by a co-defendant where all references in the state-
ment to the objecting defendant were altered pursuant to
N.C.G.S. § 15A-927(c)(1), and even if a “Bruton violation”
occurred, the error was harmless.

. Criminal Law— jury instructions—referring to co-

defendants as defendants—not plain error

The trial court did not commit plain error by referring to the
co-defendants as “defendants” throughout the jury instructions
because, given the evidence at trial, defendant cannot show that
the error had a probable impact on the jury’s finding defend-
ant guilty.

. Homicide— first-degree murder—jury instructions—

duress and second-degree murder—no error

The trial court did not err in a first-degree murder trial by not
instructing the jury on the defense of duress or the lesser-
included offense of second-degree murder. Defendant was found
guilty of first-degree murder on the basis of premeditation and
deliberation, and duress is not a defense to first-degree murder
under these theories. Moreover, the State pursued only a theory
of first-degree murder and defendant was not entitled to an
instruction on second-degree murder merely because the jury
might not have believed all of the State’s evidence.

. Constitutional Law— ineffective assistance of counsel—no

request to record opening and closing statements

Defendant’s argument that he did not receive effective assis-
tance of counsel in a first-degree murder trial because his coun-
sel did not request that the court reporter record counsels’ open-
ing and closing statements was overruled. The statute does not
require that opening and closing statements be recorded in a non-
capital trial and defendant did not suggest how the omission prej-
udiced his case.
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5. Confessions and Incriminating Statements— pre-trial
motion to suppress—not properly preserved—not plain
error

Defendant’s argument that the trial court erred by denying his
motion to suppress a written statement given to police was not
properly preserved for appeal where defendant failed to object to
the reading of this statement aloud during his trial testimony, or
to the statement being introduced into evidence. Reviewed under
a plain error standard, defendant failed to show that, had the
statement not been admitted, there was a reasonable possibility
of a different result.

6. Confessions and Incriminating Statements— pre-trial
motion to suppress—interrogation not by agent of police
The trial court did not err by denying defendant’s motion to
suppress a written statement given to police because defendant’s
mother did not act as an agent of the police by asking her son to
tell the truth about his involvement in the murder at issue.

7. Confessions and Incriminating Statements— pre-trial
motion to suppress

The trial court did not err by denying defendant’s motion to

suppress a written statement given to police since defendant’s

statement was not involuntary because defendant did not request

a lawyer and his offer to continue speaking with police officers

the following day showed that he was willing to talk with officers.

8. Confessions and Incriminating Statements— pre-trial mo-

tion to suppress—not properly preserved—not plain error

Defendant’s argument that the trial court erred by granting

the State’s motion for joinder and by not redacting a statement

given to police by a co-defendant was overruled. Defendant failed

to properly preserve for appeal the issue of the introduction into

evidence of his statement. Reviewed under a plain error standard,

defendant failed to show that, had the statement not been admit-
ted, there was a reasonable possibility of a different result.

Appeal by defendants from judgment entered 15 September 2008
by Judge L. Todd Burke in Forsyth County Superior Court. Heard in
the Court of Appeals 29 September 2009.
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Mark Montgomery for defendant Clodfelter; M. Alexander
Charns for defendant Jessup.

Attorney General Roy Cooper, by Assistant Attorney Generals
Charles E. Reece and LaToya B. Powell, for the State.

ELMORE, Judge.

Dwight Anthony Clodfelter (defendant Clodfelter) and James
Kevin Jessup (defendant Jessup) appeal from their convictions for
first degree murder, robbery with a dangerous weapon, and two
counts of larceny of a firearm. Both were sentenced to a term of life
imprisonment without the possibility of parole.

On 27 September 2005, Kimberly Alan Tuttle was murdered in
his home when three men broke into his home to steal firearms he
kept there. The three men were eventually identified as defendant
Clodfelter, defendant Jessup, and Marcus Bowen. Details of the
incident, particularly which of the men shot the victim, were the
subject of much dispute at trial. Defendants gave conflicting state-
ments to the police investigating the incident; those statements are
outlined below.

I

Defendant Jessup’s Statement

During his testimony, SBI Special Agent Scott Williams read both
the Miranda waiver signed by defendant Jessup and defendant
Jessup’s signed statement to the police made immediately thereafter.
That statement narrated the events of 27 September 2005 as follows!:

That morning, a man named Marcus called defendant Jessup and
said he was coming to pick him up; Marcus and defendant Clodfelter
then picked Jessup up. Defendant Clodfelter gave Marcus directions
to a house in Kernersville that apparently belonged to a female friend
of defendant Clodfelter. On the first pass, they missed the house and
had to turn around and go back, but noted two cars in the driveway;
when they returned, only a truck was in the driveway. The men
parked the car; defendant Jessup stayed in the car while Marcus and
defendant Clodfelter went up to the house. After ringing the doorbell
and getting no answer, Marcus and defendant Clodfelter went around

1. While reading the statement, Special Agent Williams substituted the phrase
“one or other persons” for defendant Clodfelter’s name per the trial court’s earlier rul-
ing on that point. For ease of understanding, we have reverted to defendant Clodfelter’s
name here.
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the back of the house out of defendant Jessup’s sight; they returned
several minutes later and motioned for defendant Jessup to join them.

The men walked into the house through the door from the garage,
passing a small room on the right into which defendant Clodfelter had
gone. Marcus told defendant Jessup to go upstairs, which he did; not
seeing anyone there, defendant Jessup returned downstairs to join
the others. At that point he entered the small room to find a man lying
on the floor and defendant Clodfelter “stuffing guns into his pants”;
defendant Clodfelter then told defendant Jessup to “start loading all
these guns up.” As defendant Jessup helped Marcus transfer the guns
from the gun shelf out to the car, defendant Clodfelter told him “to
help him get these guns or end up like” the man on the floor. Marcus
and defendant Jessup then went upstairs and took a PlayStation con-
sole, which defendant Jessup took to the car; a few minutes later
Marcus and defendant Clodfelter came out of the house with a num-
ber of additional items, which they added to the trunk. As they drove
back to Winston-Salem, defendant Clodfelter and Marcus began argu-
ing about “why [defendant Clodfelter] had to shoot the man.” De-
fendant Clodfelter told Marcus “it was done now so no more talking
about this to anybody ever.” Defendant Clodfelter told defendant
Jessup “not to ever speak about this again or we will get you.”

Defendant Clodfelter’s Statement

During his testimony, SBI Special Agent Danny Mayes read both
the Miranda waiver signed by defendant Clodfelter and defend-
ant Clodfelter’s signed statement to the police made immediately
thereafter. That statement narrated the events of 27 September 2005
as follows?:

Defendant Clodfelter had planned to rob the house of a former
high school classmate where he knew shotguns were kept. He sug-
gested the plan to Marcus, who was interested; Marcus suggested
including defendant Jessup, whose full name defendant Clodfelter did
not know, but whom he described as “a light-skinned black male with
short hair[,] . . . about 6'1" or 6'2",” weighing around 200 pounds. After
picking defendant Jessup up in a car, the three men drove to where
defendant Clodfelter thought the house was. They pulled into the
driveway and saw someone at the house, so they returned to the car
and drove to a nearby street to wait.

2. While reading the statement, Special Agent Mayes substituted the phrase
“one or more other persons” for defendant Jessup’s name per the trial court’s earlier
ruling on that point. For ease of understanding, we have reverted to defendant Jessup’s
name here.
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After smoking a cigarette, they got back in the car and returned
to the house, where they discovered that a car that had been parked
in the driveway on their first pass was now gone. Marcus pulled into
the driveway and parked. Marcus and defendant Clodfelter went to
the back of the house and up some stairs to a deck; the men con-
sidered breaking in that door, but then entered the house through
the door in the garage. At some point in this time defendant Jessup
joined them.

They discovered a man on the phone in an interior room, then
explored the upper floors of the house, “trying to be quiet so the man
did not know we were there.” Not seeing any guns, defendant
Clodfelter began “grabbing other stuff[,]” including an Xbox; de-
fendant Jessup took those items to the car. The men then went down-
stairs, at which point defendant Jessup stated, referring to the small
room near the garage where they had seen a man on the phone: “This
is the only room we have not been in. . . . This has got to be where the
guns are.” Defendant Jessup then tried the doorknob, which was
locked; he then kicked the door open and all three men entered the
room. The man inside grabbed a gun from the gun safe and fired, at
which point Marcus and defendant Clodfelter ran from the room;
meanwhile, defendant Jessup began “tussling” with the man.
Defendant Clodfelter “grabbed five or six shotguns from the safe” and
took them to the car.

Defendant Clodfelter then returned to the room with the gun
safe, where he found defendant Jessup and Marcus “wrestling”
with the man on the floor for his gun. Defendant Clodfelter took five
or six “long guns” and took them to the car, where he put them in the
trunk. When he returned to the room, the three men were still
wrestling on the floor; the man said that if they let him up, he would
not shoot. During this time defendant Jessup was “beating [the vic-
tim] in the head with his hands.” Marcus told defendant Clodfelter,
referring to the victim: “Shoot him. Either he is going to shoot me, or
I'm going to shoot him.” Defendant Clodfelter took a revolver from
the gun safe and shot the victim in the head from five to six feet away.
Marcus and defendant Jessup had been pinning the man down until
then; when defendant Clodfelter shot the victim, Marcus jumped up
and asked whether any of the three of them had left fingerprints
in the house. The three men took the gun used to shoot the victim
and the remaining guns in the room and left the house. Marcus then
drove them away.
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IL.

Defendant Jessup’s Arguments

A. Redacted Confession without a Limiting Instruction

[1] Defendant Jessup first argues that the trial court erred by admit-
ting his confession without either severing the trial or giving a limit-
ing instruction to the jury. We disagree.

On 26 August 2008, defendant Clodfelter made a motion to sup-
press his statement (described above). On 28 August 2008, the State
made a motion for joinder of the trials of defendants Clodfelter and
Jessup. Defendant Jessup filed an objection to the motion as well as
a motion for severance, arguing that the State intended to introduce
defendant Clodfelter’s statement (described above), which would
incriminate defendant Jessup. At a hearing on 8 September 2008, the
trial court allowed joinder and held that defendant Clodfelter’s state-
ment could be admitted so long as it was “sanitized” with regard to
any identification of defendant Jessup.

This ruling was made pursuant to N.C. Gen. Stat. § 15A-927(c)(1),
which states:

When a defendant objects to joinder of charges against two or
more defendants for trial because an out-of-court statement of a
codefendant makes reference to him but is not admissible against
him, the court must require the prosecutor to select one of the
following courses:

a. A joint trial at which the statement is not admitted into
evidence; or

b. A joint trial at which the statement is admitted into evi-
dence only after all references to the moving defendant have
been effectively deleted so that the statement will not preju-
dice him; or

c. A separate trial of the objecting defendant.

N.C. Gen. Stat. § 15A-927(c)(1) (2009). When none of the three solu-
tions is properly implemented, the error is termed a “Bruton viola-
tion” pursuant to the Supreme Court’s holding in Bruton v. United
States, 391 U.S. 123, 20 L. Ed. 2d 476 (1968). That violation has been
articulated by our state Supreme Court as follows: “in joint trials of
defendants it is necessary to exclude extrajudicial confessions unless
all portions which implicate defendants other than the declarant can
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be deleted without prejudice either to the State or the declarant.”
State v. Fox, 274 N.C. 277, 291, 163 S.E.2d 492, 502 (1968).

At trial, Special Agent Mayes read defendant Clodfelter’s state-
ment into the record and altered all references to defendant Jessup
from his name to the phrase “one or more other persons.” Defend-
ant Jessup argues that this alteration was not sufficient, and that thus
the trial court’s admission of it was in error. He further argues that it
was an error that could have been cured by either severance or limit-
ing jury instructions, and the absence of both also constitutes error.
We disagree.

This Court has specifically held that “[a] Bruton violation
does not automatically require reversal of an otherwise valid convic-
tion[,]” and that this Court may apply a harmless error analysis in
such situations. State v. Hayes, 314 N.C. 460, 469-70, 334 S.E.2d 741,
747 (1985), reversed in part on other grounds, 323 N.C. 306, 372
S.E.2d 704 (1988). The situation in Hayes was quite similar to the
case at hand:

In their confessions, each defendant admitted having participated
in the planning of the burglary and to being present at the [vic-
tims’] home at the time of burglary. The only discrepancies
among the confessions revolved around the issue of who actually
assaulted the [victims]. However, it is well established that where
two or more persons join together to commit a crime, each of
them, if actually or constructively present, is guilty of the partic-
ular crime and any other crime committed by the other or others
in furtherance of or as a natural consequence of the common pur-
pose. The assaults on the [victims] and the subsequent death of
[one victim] as a result of the beating inflicted upon him were
clearly in furtherance of or a natural consequence of the burglary
committed by all three defendants. The question of which of the
defendants actually committed the assaults was irrelevant to
the jury verdicts finding each of the defendants guilty of all of the
crimes charged. The interlocking confessions combined with the
fact that certain items taken from the [victims’ home] were found
in the possession of some of the defendants provided over-
whelming evidence of each defendant’s guilt as to each charge
and any Bruton error which may have occurred was harmless
beyond a reasonable doubt.

Id. at 470, 334 S.E.2d at 747 (citations omitted). Here, each defend-
ant’s statement implicated his co-defendant; the statements agreed on
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every key point of the crime except the specific impetus for defend-
ant Clodfelter’s shooting of the victim. As such, even assuming
arguendo that a Bruton violation occurred, we cannot see that a dif-
ferent result would likely have been reached had it not occurred; as
such, defendant Jessup is not entitled to a new trial on this basis.
N.C.G.S. § 15A-1443(a) (2009); see Hayes at 470, 334 S.E.2d at 747.
Because we find any error to be harmless, we overrule defendant
Jessup’s further arguments that an error occurred that needed reme-
dying by a limiting instruction to the jury. We also note that “a trial
court’s ruling on the consolidation or severance of cases is discre-
tionary and will not be disturbed absent a showing of abuse of dis-
cretion”; defendant Jessup has not shown that the trial court’s ruling
was “so arbitrary that it could not have been the result of a reasoned
decision[,]” and as such we also overrule this argument. Hayes at 471,
334 S.E.2d at 747.

[2] Finally, defendant Jessup argues that the trial court’s reference to
co-defendants Jessup and Clodfelter throughout the jury instructions
as “defendants” lumped their guilt or innocence of the charges
together impermissibly. Defendant Jessup did not object at trial, mak-
ing our review of this argument pursuant to the plain error standard
of review. N.C. R. App. Proc. 10(b)(4) (2008). Reversing a jury verdict
based on plain error is appropriate when “it can be fairly said the
instructional mistake had a probable impact on the jury’s finding that
the defendant was guilty.” State v. Black, 308 N.C. 736, 740-41, 303
S.E.2d 804, 806-07 (1983) (quotations and citations omitted). Again,
given the evidence presented at trial, defendant Jessup cannot show
that such an impact was made by the trial court’s misspeaking during
the instructions to the jury. As such, this argument is overruled.

B. Instructions on Duress & Second Degree Murder

[3] Next, defendant Jessup argues that the trial court erred by not
instructing the jury on the defense of duress and by not submitting
the lesser-included offense of second degree murder to the jury. We
disagree.

At trial, defendant Jessup’s attorney had the following colloquy
with the court regarding an instruction on duress:

[DEFENDANT JESSUP’S ATTORNEY]: Your Honor, the only
thing that comes to mind, and I do not have a specific instruction,
there was testimony from Special Agent Williams regarding Mr.
Jessup’s statement that he was threatened by Mr. Clodfelter to
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act, or he would end up like Mr. Tuttle. I don’t know if there’s an
instruction regarding threat or coercion actions.

k sk ok

THE COURT: Um-hum. And the purpose of that would be for?

[DEFENDANT JESSUP’S ATTORNEY]: I'm just bringing it to the
Court’s attention. I—I haven’t researched that.

THE COURT: I don’t think there would be an instruction appro-
priate for that.

At best, these statements by defendant Jessup’s attorney constitute a
vague allusion to a request for a duress requirement. As such, we do
not consider that a request was properly made for the instruction and
thus review for plain error. N.C. R. App. Proc. 10(b)(4) (2008).

First, we note again that defendant Jessup was convicted of first
degree murder; specifically, the jury returned verdicts of guilty of first
degree murder on the basis of both premeditation and deliberation
and under the felony murder rule. Duress is not a defense to first
degree murder. State v. Cheek, 351 N.C. 48, 61, 520 S.E.2d 545, 553
(1999). As defendant Jessup correctly states, it is a defense to certain
felonies, and had the jury found that defendant Jessup committed
that underlying felony under duress, he could not therefore be guilty
of felony murder. However, even were that the case, as defendant
Jessup was also found guilty on the basis of premeditation and delib-
eration, he would still be guilty of first degree murder. As such, this
argument is overruled.

As to defendant Jessup’s arguments regarding inclusion of the
lesser included offense of second degree murder, we note that

a trial court must submit a lesser included offense instruction if
the evidence would permit a jury rationally to find defendant
guilty of the lesser included offense and acquit him of the greater.
However, if the State tries the case on an “all or nothing basis,”
seeking a conviction only on the greater offense, then the trial
court needs to present an instruction on the lesser included
offense only when the defendant presents evidence thereof or
when the State’s evidence is conflicting.

State v. Woody, 124 N.C. App. 296, 307, 477 S.E.2d 462, 467 (1996)
(quotations and citations omitted). The question, then, is whether
either defendant Jessup presented evidence of second degree murder
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or the State’s evidence was conflicting. As the State notes, the only
evidence to which defendant Jessup points in support of this con-
tention is the conflict between his own statement to police and his
co-defendant Clodfelter’s statement to the police. As our Supreme
Court noted when considering the same question—submitting sec-
ond degree murder where the State pursued only a theory of first
degree murder—“A defendant is not entitled to an instruction on a
lesser included offense merely because the jury could possibly
believe some of the State’s evidence but not all of it.” State wv.
Annadale, 329 N.C. 557, 568, 406 S.E.2d 837, 844 (1991). As such, this
argument is overruled.

C. Ineffective Assistance of Counsel

[4] Finally, defendant Jessup argues that he received ineffective
assistance of counsel based solely on the fact that his trial counsel
did not request that the court reporter record the attorneys’ opening
and closing statements.

The standard for determining whether a defendant received inef-
fective assistance of counsel is as follows:

First, the defendant must show that counsel’s performance
was deficient. This requires showing that counsel made errors so
serious that counsel was not functioning as the “counsel” guaran-
teed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment. Second, the de-
fendant must show that the deficient performance prejudiced
the defense. This requires showing that counsel’s errors were so
serious as to deprive the defendant of a fair trial, a trial whose
result is reliable.

State v. Braswell, 312 N.C. 553, 562, 324 S.E.2d 241, 248 (1985) (quot-
ing Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674, 693
(1984)) (emphasis removed).

As to the first requirement—a severe error by trial counsel—per
statute, opening and closing statements need not be recorded in a
noncapital trial. N.C. Gen. Stat. § 15A-1241(a)(2) (2007). This Court
has repeatedly applied this statute to uphold cases in which these
statements and more were omitted from the record. See, e.g., State v.
Verrier, 173 N.C. App. 123, 129-30, 617 S.E.2d 675, 679-80 (2005)
(upholding conviction where jury selection, bench conferences, and
the attorneys’ opening and closing arguments were not recorded, and
the defendant made no motion that they be recorded); State v. Price,
170 N.C. App. 57, 67, 611 S.E.2d 891, 898 (2005) (upholding convic-
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tions where jury selection, jury instructions, bench conferences, and
arguments of counsel were not recorded, and the defendant was not
able to show prejudice from the omission).

As to the second requirement—the showing of prejudice—de-
fendant Jessup does not suggest how the omission of the opening and
closing statements prejudiced his case, except that various errors
might have been made therein upon which an argument might be
made on appeal. As we stated in State v. Thomas,

a defendant cannot establish ineffective assistance of counsel for
failure to request recordation of the jury selection and bench con-
ferences where no specific allegations of error were made and no
attempts were made to reconstruct the transcript. Moreover, this
Court has held that a defendant cannot establish prejudice as a
result of defense counsel’s failure to request recordation of those
items specifically exempted from the recording statute.

187 N.C. App. 140, 147, 651 S.E.2d 924, 928 (2007). As such, this ar-
gument is overruled.

Defendant Clodfelter’s Arguments

A. Motion to Suppress

First, defendant Clodfelter argues that the trial court erred in
denying his motion to suppress the above statement elicited by the
police. We disagree.

In essence, defendant Clodfelter makes three separate arguments
based on three sets of circumstances: first, the timing of the Miranda
warnings given to him; second, the role of his mother, Angela
Clodfelter, in obtaining the statement; and, third, his alleged requests
for a lawyer and to leave the station.

1. Timing of Miranda Warnings

[6] As to the first, defendant Clodfelter argues that, because his writ-
ten statement was made after he signed a Miranda waiver, but his
oral statement giving the same information was made before he
signed the waiver, the waiver was ineffective, and thus a new trial is
necessary. We disagree.

The facts regarding the timing of events at the police station is in
dispute, but generally both sides agree that the following sequence of
events took place: defendant Clodfelter was interviewed by Detective
Walls for some period of time; Ms. Clodfelter then joined them in the
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interview room and encouraged defendant Clodfelter to talk to
Detective Walls and Special Agent Mayes; defendant Clodfelter made
incriminating statements; defendant Clodfelter then signed a
Miranda form waiving his rights; and then defendant Clodfelter gave
the formal statement above, which was written down by Special
Agent Mayes.

Defendant Clodfelter argues that, because the written statement
was essentially a memorialization of the oral statement he gave with-
out having waived his rights, the written statement should not have
been admitted as evidence, as it was tainted by the pre-Miranda
statement. See, e.g., Missouri v. Seibert, 542 U.S. 600, 616-17, 159
L. Ed. 2d 643, 657-58 (2004) (holding that, where a second interroga-
tion post-Miranda attempted to recreate a first interrogation pre-
Miranda, statement from the latter was inadmissible). However,
while defendant Clodfelter made a motion in limine to suppress the
statement, he did not object to Special Agent Mayes reading his state-
ment aloud during his testimony, nor to the statement being intro-
duced into evidence. Defendant Clodfelter therefore did not properly
preserve this issue for appeal, and we review the argument for plain
error. See State v. Golphin, 352 N.C. 364, 405, 533 S.E.2d 168, 198
(2000). As such, defendant Clodfelter must show “there is a reason-
able possibility that, had the error in question not been committed, a
different result would have been reached at the trial[.]” N.C. Gen.
Stat. § 15A-1443(a) (2009). This he cannot do. Disregarding defendant
Clodfelter’s statement, at trial Marcus Bowen testified that defendant
Clodfelter planned and orchestrated the robbery and shot the victim.
Defendant Jessup’s statement gave the same information. Thus,
defendant Clodfelter cannot show that, had the statement not been
admitted, there is a reasonable possibility of a different result, and so
this argument is overruled.

2. Role of Ms. Clodfelter

[6] Defendant Clodfelter’s second argument centers on his mother’s
participation in eliciting his statement at the police station. There is
some dispute as to the exact events and their timing, but according to
Ms. Clodfelter’s testimony, she and defendant Clodfelter were met at
on the lawn of their house by police officers, including Kernersville
Police Detective Joe Walls, whom Ms. Clodfelter knew as the coach
of her daughter’s soccer team. Detective Walls told Ms. Clodfelter
that the reason the officers were there “ha[d] to do with Marcus
Bowen.” Defendant Clodfelter then said to her “We should call a law-
yer, Mom. You should call a lawyer.” After escorting Ms. Clodfelter
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and her two younger children inside the house to use the bathroom,
she and Detective Walls came back out to the lawn, where Detective
Walls told “us to come to the police department and talk to him.” Ms.
Clodfelter then told defendant Clodfelter “if he didn’t have anything
to hide, and he hadn’t done anything wrong, then [she] felt like we
should go to the police department and talk to them.” Ms. Clodfelter
was allowed to drive defendant Clodfelter to the police station in her
own car, escorted by the officers in their unmarked cars.

Once at the station, Detective Walls asked defendant Clodfelter
to come speak with him alone, telling Ms. Clodfelter he would re-
turn to fetch her in ten minutes. Ms. Clodfelter waited for about two
hours in a small room she described as a break room; a function was
being held in the station for the public, so people were filtering in
and out throughout that time. At one point two officers came in, one
of whom, Officer Watson, Ms. Clodfelter recognized as a School
Resource Officer; she mentioned to them that she was there with her
son, but did not know where he was or why they had been brought
in. Officer Watson was exiting the room when the other officer told
her that defendant Clodfelter had been brought in on a murder in-
vestigation. Ms. Clodfelter “realized that [she] was getting ready to
throw up|[,]” and Officer Watson escorted her to the bathroom, where
she was sick.

When she exited the bathroom, Detective Walls had returned. Ms.
Clodfelter was told that defendant Clodfelter had been brought in
because of “something to do with the murder in Kernersville.” Ms.
Clodfelter named the victim, whose name she remembered both
because murder is a rare thing in Kernersville and because, when it
happened, defendant Clodfelter commented on a news story on the
murder to her. At that point, Detective Walls hugged her and told her
she could help defendant Clodfelter and “we need for you to talk to
him for us[.]” She and Detective Walls then went into the room with
defendant Clodfelter.

Ms. Clodfelter sat next to Special Agent Mayes, while Detective
Walls sat next to defendant Clodfelter. Per her testimony, Ms.
Clodfelter then had the following exchange with her son:

And I just said, “Okay. If you were there—I don’t know what hap-
pened, but you've got to tell the truth because this man is gone.
He’s never coming back. His family has lost somebody. If you
know who killed him, you've got to tell.” And he had sat there for
a minute. And he started to cry, and we talked for maybe five min-
utes. And he busted out crying and he said, “It was me.”
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The officers then began asking defendant Clodfelter for details on the
crime; Ms. Clodfelter testified that they presented a picture to de-
fendant Clodfelter and asked him about specific wounds on the vic-
tim’s head. Defendant Clodfelter then said “that he would explain to
them what happened.” Defendant Clodfelter told the officers the sub-
stance of the statement described above, starting with how they
planned on going to a certain house. Detective Walls offered de-
fendant Clodfelter a break and snack; upon their return, he read
defendant Clodfelter his Miranda rights and had defendant
Clodfelter sign a waiver.

At some point, defendant Clodfelter said he would like to come
back to the station and talk about it the next day. Detective Walls
stated that they planned to go to the district attorney that night, and
“it’s only going to get worse[.]” Defendant Clodfelter then wrote out
his statement by hand and signed it.

Defendant Clodfelter attempts to paint his mother in part as an
inquisitorial agent of the police, who attempted to solicit a statement
where they themselves could not. In support of this argument, de-
fendant Clodfelter relies on case law holding that

unwarned statements made by defendants to private individuals
unconnected with law enforcement, if made freely and voluntar-
ily, are admissible at trial. However, when an accused’s state-
ments stem from custodial interrogation by one who in effect is
acting as an agent of law enforcement, such statements are in-
admissible unless the accused received a Miranda warning prior
to questioning.

State v. Morrell, 108 N.C. App. 465, 470, 424 S.E.2d 147, 150-51 (1993)
(citations omitted). However, the cases on which defendant
Clodfelter relies for this argument involve statements made to indi-
viduals who were actual government employees: a social worker in
the case of Morrell, id. at 469, 424 S.E.2d at 150, and a sanitation
worker in the case of State v. Hauser, 115 N.C. App. 431, 436-37, 445
S.E.2d 73, 77-78 (1994). Further, in both cases, the individuals were
either encouraged or actively recruited to act as agents of the police
to obtain incriminating information. Id. Such is not the case here. Ms.
Clodfelter herself testified that all the officers asked her to do, and all
she in fact did do, was ask her son to tell the truth about his involve-
ment in the crime. Such actions do not rise to the level of Ms.
Clodfelter acting as an agent of the police.
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3. Requests for Lawyer and to Leave

[7] Finally, defendant Clodfelter argues that police ignored his
repeated requests for a lawyer and to leave the police station and
return the next day, making his statement to the police involuntary
and thus inadmissible.

As to his requests for a lawyer, as can be seen from his moth-
er’'s testimony set out above, defendant Clodfelter made those
requests to his mother, not to any police officer. Indeed, even de-
fendant Clodfelter himself does not argue that he made such a state-
ment to any officer; in his arguments to this Court, he states only that
it is “reasonable” to assume that the officers heard defendant
Clodfelter’s statement to his mother. We are unwilling to make such
a factual inference.

As to his request to leave, his mother stated that the request was
in fact an offer to come back the next day to continue their discus-
sion. Per N.C. Gen. Stat. § 7B-2101(c), “If the juvenile indicates in any
manner and at any stage of questioning pursuant to this section that
the juvenile does not wish to be questioned further, the officer shall
cease questioning.” N.C. Gen. Stat. § 7B-2101(c) (2009). We agree with
the State that, if anything, defendant Clodfelter’s offer to continue
speaking with the officers the next day was an indication not that he
did not wish to be questioned further, but rather that he was perfectly
willing to talk with the officers. As such, we overrule this argument.

B. Joinder and Redaction of Statement

[8] Next, defendant Clodfelter argues that the trial court erred by
granting the State’s motion for joinder and by not redacting defendant
Jessup’s statement elicited by police. We disagree.

Normally, “[t]he question of whether defendants should be tried
jointly or separately is within the sound discretion of the trial judge,
and the trial judge’s ruling will not be disturbed on appeal absent a
showing that joinder has deprived a defendant of a fair trial.” State v.
FEvans, 346 N.C. 221, 232, 485 S.E.2d 271, 277 (1997). However, while
defendant Jessup made repeated objections to the introduction of
defendant Clodfelter’s statement as read into the record by Special
Agent Mayes, defendant Clodfelter himself never made such an objec-
tion. As such, this error was not properly preserved regarding the
introduction of the statement, and we review defendant Clodfelter’s
arguments on this point for plain error. N.C. R. App. Proc. 10(b)(4)
(2008). Again, therefore, defendant Clodfelter must show that “there
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is a reasonable possibility that, had the error in question not been
committed, a different result would have been reached at the trial[.]”
N.C. Gen. Stat. § 15A-1443(a) (2009). As noted above, even without
defendant Jessup’s statement, the jury heard from Marcus Bowen that
defendant Clodfelter planned and orchestrated the robbery and shot
the victim. As such, we overrule this assignment of error.

I1I.

We hold that defendant Clodfelter received a trial free from
error and that any error in defendant Jessup’s trial was not prejudi-
cial error.

No error.

Judges WYNN and CALABRIA concur.

DAVID E. COMBS, PraINTIFF V. CITY ELECTRIC SUPPLY COMPANY, FORMERLY D/B/A
COUNTY ELECTRIC SUPPLY CO., LTD., POINTSETTIA LTD., SEBEK LTD.,
TIANA LTD., THOLU LTD., KIELEY LTD., KIEBER LTD., ANDREW GREEN &
EXPERTA TRUSTEES JERSEY LIMITED, anD DARREN SMITH, DEFENDANTS

No. COA09-108
(Filed 16 March 2010)

1. Employer and Employee— wrongful discharge—reporting
misconduct to management—evidence sufficient

The trial court erred by granting defendants’ motion for di-
rected verdict on a claim for the wrongful discharge of an at-will
employee where the claim was based upon a retaliatory termina-
tion after plaintiff reported to management that the company was
withholding negative account balance statements from cus-
tomers, transferring the monies to a separate account, and con-
tinuing to invoice customers in violation of N.C.G.S. § 14-100
(obtaining property by false pretenses).

2. Employer and Employee— tortious interference with con-
tract—termination—wrongful purpose—evidence sufficient
The trial court erred by granting defendants’ motion for

directed verdict on a claim for tortious interference with a con-
tract by defendant Smith where plaintiff reported misconduct
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within the company to Smith and was later terminated. Plaintiff
forecasted more than a scintilla of evidence that he was termi-
nated for a wrongful purpose.

3. Appeal and Error— preservation of issues—argument not
raised

Plaintiff was deemed to have abandoned an argument on ap-
peal that a corporation ratified the acts of a supervisor in a
wrongful termination suit. Plaintiff did not raise the issue in his
brief, cite authority, or point to evidence in the record.

4. Unfair Trade Practices— employment dispute—not an un-
fair or deceptive trade practice

The trial court did not err by granting defendants’ motion for
a directed verdict on plaintiff’s claim for unfair and deceptive
trade practices after an alleged retaliatory firing. The case in-
volved a simple employment dispute and did not fall within the
purview of N.C.G.S. § 75-1.1.

Appeal by plaintiff from judgment entered 20 June 2008 by Judge
Franklin F. Lanier in Forsyth County Superior Court. Heard in the
Court of Appeals 19 August 2009.

Kennedy, Kennedy, Kennedy and Kennedy, L.L.P, by Harvey L.
Kennedy and Harold L. Kennedy, 111, for plaintiff-appellant.

James N. Jorgensen, PA., by James N. Jorgensen, for
defendant-appellees.

STEELMAN, Judge.

Viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to plaintiff, more
than a “scintilla of evidence” was presented tending to show City
Electric had obtained money by false pretenses from its customers.
Plaintiff’s claim for wrongful discharge based upon the reporting of
such conduct fell within the public policy exception to the at-will
employment doctrine. Plaintiff’s evidence pertaining to his tortious
interference with a contract claim tends to show that his employment
was terminated by his supervisor based upon a wrongful purpose.
The trial court improperly granted defendant’s motion for directed
verdict as to defendant Smith. Because plaintiff failed to make any
argument on appeal as to whether sufficient evidence was presented
at trial to establish that City Electric ratified Smith’s alleged tortious
conduct, this issue is deemed abandoned. Where there is a general
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employee/employer relationship and no evidence of any conduct
between plaintiff and City Electric, which would “affect commerce,”
the Unfair and Deceptive Trade Practices Act is not applicable.

I. Factual and Procedural Background

From August 2001 until 21 July 2003, David E. Combs (plaintiff)
was employed as an accounts receivable manager at City Electric
Supply Company (City Electric) in Greensboro, North Carolina.
Plaintiff was hired as an at-will employee. Plaintiff oversaw the com-
pany’s Raleigh Division financial operations and his job duties
included allocating the monies received by City Electric to its various
customer accounts. Plaintiff also was responsible for preparing a
monthly bank reconciliation report with his supervisor. In October
2002, plaintiff was also assigned to submit a monthly payment of
North Carolina Sales Tax to the Department of Revenue.

In January 2003, plaintiff’s immediate supervisor advised him not
to mail month-end statements to customers who had a negative
account balancel. Plaintiff disagreed with this policy and scheduled a
meeting with Darren Smith (Smith), the head supervisor of City
Electric’s Greensboro office, to discuss this practice. Plaintiff met
with Smith on 3 February 2003 and asserted that City Electric was
stealing money from its customers. After this meeting, plaintiff
believed that he started to be treated differently as an employee and
that Smith was “trying to get rid of [him].”

On 28 May 2003, plaintiff received a written job performance
review by Smith and received an unsatisfactory rating based upon
the following:

—Lack of attention to detail—allocation errors left month after
month until the credit manager resolves them.

—Not able to reconcile bank reconciliation with out [sic] the
Credit Manager’s help. Bank Rec. has only once been reconciled
in the time frame allotted. Little or no over-time has been spent to
meet this deadline. (Time frame allotted is 3-4 days from receipt
of Bank Statement).

1. Plaintiff testified that a negative account balance could be attained by “a pay-
ment [that] came in before the invoice has hit the system for someone’s account. It
could be double payments. It could be any number of things. Somebody could have
returned merchandise and was due a credit on their account because the merchandise
was returned.”
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—A new rate of pay was offered for over-seeing the payroll
department and no acceptance was given to the work when it
was presented.

—~Unallocated cash is left in large quantities at the end of every
month—unallocated cash is the sole responsibility of the AR
Manager.

—Incorrect cash sheets have been faxed to every Branch and
Group manager, resulting in branch complaints and a general
undermining of the accounts departments ability. This error has
happened on more than one occasion.

—Discussing your salary with another member of staff excluding
the payroll department and myself. Salary is highly confidential
and should never be discussed with anybody except the payroll
department or myself.

As a result of the unsatisfactory job performance rating, plaintiff’s
salary was reduced $2,000.00 and he was informed that “[a] drastic
improvement must be shown in executing [his] position and duties
within a three-month period, or further disciplinarily [sic] action
[would] be taken at that time.”

On 21 July 2003, plaintiff’s employment with City Electric was ter-
minated. During plaintiff’s exit interview, Smith informed plaintiff
that his termination was based upon his inability to prepare a
monthly bank reconciliation report in a timely manner and his failure
to submit the sales tax report correctly to the Department of Reve-
nue. On 30 May 2006, plaintiff filed a complaint against defendants
alleging wrongful discharge, tortious interference with his contrac-
tual rights, and unfair and deceptive trade practices.2 Plaintiff al-
leged that his employment was terminated in retaliation for reporting
that “Defendant [was] stealing from its customers’ accounts” to City
Electric’s management. Plaintiff prayed for actual, punitive, and
treble damages. Defendants filed an answer that denied the material
allegations of plaintiff’s complaint and asserted thirteen separate
defenses. Defendants’ answer also contained a motion to dismiss pur-
suant to Rule 12(b)(6) of the Rules of Civil Procedure. On 21 March
2008, defendants’ moved for summary judgment. This motion was

2. Yolanda Pritchett, who was also an employee of City Electric from 26 Decem-
ber 2001 to 20 February 2004, was a named plaintiff in the original complaint. Pritchett
alleged that she had also been discharged in retaliation for reporting illegal conduct
occurring at City Electric. Pritchett voluntarily dismissed her claims against defend-
ants with prejudice on 5 May 2008. Pritchett testified as a witness for plaintiff at trial.
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denied, and the trial commenced on 21 April 2008. At the conclusion
of plaintiff’s evidence, defendants moved for a directed verdict on all
of plaintiff’s claims. The trial court granted this motion and entered
judgment in favor of defendants. Plaintiff appeals.

II. Standard of Review

We review a trial court’s order granting a motion for directed ver-
dict de novo. Howlett v. CSB, LLC, 164 N.C. App. 715, 718, 596 S.E.2d
899, 902, disc. review denied, 359 N.C. 68, 604 S.E.2d 313 (2004). A
motion for directed verdict “tests the legal sufficiency of the evidence
to take the case to the jury and support a verdict for the plaintiff.”
Manganello v. Permastone, Inc., 291 N.C. 666, 670, 231 S.E.2d 678,
680 (1977) (citation omitted). “The party moving for . . . a directed
verdict, bears a heavy burden under North Carolina law.” Taylor v.
Walker, 320 N.C. 729, 733, 360 S.E.2d 796, 799 (1987). A directed ver-
dict is not properly allowed “unless it appears, as a matter of law, that
a recovery cannot be had by the plaintiff upon any view of the facts
which the evidence reasonably tends to establish.” Manganello, 291
N.C. at 670, 231 S.E.2d at 680 (quotation and citation omitted). We
view the evidence in the light most favorable to the nonmovant, and
give the nonmovant the benefit of every reasonable inference arising
from the evidence. Crist v. Crist, 145 N.C. App. 418, 422, 550 S.E.2d
260, 264 (2001). “If there is more than a scintilla of evidence support-
ing each element of the nonmovant’s case, the motion for directed
verdict should be denied.” Snead v. Holloman, 101 N.C. App. 462, 464,
400 S.E.2d 91, 92 (1991) (citation omitted). We do not weigh the evi-
dence or assess credibility, but take the plaintiff’s evidence as true,
resolving any doubt in their favor. Jones v. Robbins, 190 N.C. App.
405, 408, 660 S.E.2d 118, 120, disc. review denied, 362 N.C. 472, 666
S.E.2d 120 (2008).

III. Wrongful Discharge—Public Policy Exception

[1] In his first argument, plaintiff contends the trial court erred by
granting defendants’ motion for a directed verdict as to his claim for
wrongful discharge. We agree.

It is undisputed that City Electric hired plaintiff as an employee-
at-will. “As a general rule, an employee-at-will has no claim for relief
for wrongful discharge. Either party to an employment-at-will con-
tract can terminate the contract at will for no reason at all, or for an
arbitrary or irrational reason.” Tompkins v. Allen, 107 N.C. App. 620,
622, 421 S.E.2d 176, 178 (1992) (citations omitted), disc. review
dented, 333 N.C. 348, 426 S.E.2d 713 (1993). However, our Supreme
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Court created a public policy exception to this rule in Coman v.
Thomas Manufacturing Co., 325 N.C. 172, 381 S.E.2d 445 (1989):

[W]hile there may be a right to terminate a contract at will for no
reason, or for an arbitrary or irrational reason, there can be no
right to terminate such a contract for an unlawful reason or pur-
pose that contravenes public policy. A different interpretation
would encourage and sanction lawlessness, which law by its very
nature is designed to discourage and prevent.

Id. at 175, 381 S.E.2d at 447 (quoting Sides v. Duke University, 74
N.C. App. 331, 342, 328 S.E.2d 818, 826 (1985)). While there is no spe-
cific list that enumerates what actions fall within this exception,
“wrongful discharge claims have been recognized in North Carolina
where the employee was discharged (1) for refusing to violate the law
at the employer’s request, (2) for engaging in a legally protected activ-
ity, or (3) based on some activity by the employer contrary to law or
public policy.” Ridenhour v. IBM Corp., 132 N.C. App. 563, 568-69,
512 S.E.2d 774, 778 (internal citations omitted), disc. review denied,
350 N.C. 595, 537 S.E.2d 481 (1999). These narrow exceptions to the
at-will employment doctrine “have been grounded in considerations
of public policy designed either to prohibit status-based discrimina-
tion or to insure the integrity of the judicial process or the enforce-
ment of the law.” Kurtzman v. Applied Analytical Industries, Inc.,
347 N.C. 329, 333-34, 493 S.E.2d 420, 423 (1997) (emphasis added).

Plaintiff argues that he was discharged in retaliation for reporting
to its management that City Electric had engaged in illegal and fraud-
ulent activity by “stealing from its customers’ accounts” and cited
N.C. Gen. Stat. §§ 14-72 (larceny) and 14-100 (obtaining property by
false pretenses) as criminal statutes that City Electric violated. We
must therefore determine whether plaintiff presented a “scintilla of
evidence” supporting his claim that City Electric’s conduct violated
N.C. Gen. Stat. §§ 14-72 or 14-100 to surmount defendant’s motion for
directed verdict as to his wrongful discharge claim under the public
policy exception.

Because this Court is reviewing a ruling on a motion for a
directed verdict, we view the evidence in the light most favorable to
plaintiff and take all of his evidence to be true. In support of plain-
tiff’s claim that City Electric was violating N.C. Gen. Stat. §§ 14-72
and 14-100, he offered a compilation of various City Electric docu-
ments into the evidence as plaintiff’s exhibit 15. Plaintiff’s exhibit 15
contains 212 pages of documents. Plaintiff’s testimony largely fo-
cused upon three customer accounts from the time period of January
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through March 2003 as evidence that City Electric was “stealing” from
its customers.

The first account belonged to Entertainment and Sports Arena
located in Raleigh. In a monthly statement dated 25 January 2003, it
showed that Entertainment and Sports Arena had a negative account
balance of $-2,585.18 as of 15 April 2002. Since that time, Entertain-
ment and Sports Arena was invoiced in amounts of $94.70, $34.78,
$385.20, and $587.43. However, City Electric's “Customer Profile”
shows payments had been submitted for those invoices on 30 January
2003, 17 February 2003, and 20 February 2003, leaving the negative
account balance undisturbed. There is an entry in the profile on 14
February 2003 labeled “DSC TKN” in the amount of $2,585.19.
Plaintiff testified that on that date, City Electric made a $0.01 adjust-
ment to the negative balance, and removed it from Entertainment and
Sports Arena’s account. In next month’s statement, dated 25 February
2003, the $-2,585.18 negative balance was not reflected or applied to
the balance due of $318.86.

Plaintiff also introduced into the evidence Defendants’ Re-
sponses To Plaintiff’s Second Request For Admissions. This docu-
ment shows plaintiff submitted the following request to defendants:
“14. Admit that City Electric Supply Co. previously known as County
Electric Supply never reimbursed Entertainment Sports Arena for the
amount of $2585.19.” Defendants responded: “Admitted that
Entertainment Sports Arena never requested and City Electric Sup-
ply Company, Inc. never paid the sum of $2,585.19 to Entertainment
Sports Arena.”

The second account belonged to Turnage Corporation located in
Morehead City. In the statement dated 25 January 2003, it showed
that Turnage Corporation had a negative account balance of
$-1,360.45 as of 2 August 2002. Turnage Corporation was invoiced
twenty-three times after 2 August; however, its customer profile
shows payments were made for each invoice prior to 25 February
2003. On 14 February 2003, City Electric made a $0.01 adjustment to
the negative account balance, and removed it from Turnage
Corporation’s account.

Subsequent statements on 25 February and 25 March 2003 did not
show a $-1,360.45 balance and did not apply it to the amounts due
those months. Further, in response to plaintiff’s request for admis-
sions, defendants admitted: “that Turnage Corporation never re-
quested and City Electric Supply Company, Inc. never paid the sum of
$1,360.46 to Turnage Corporation.”



82 IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

COMBS v. CITY ELEC. SUPPLY CO.
[203 N.C. App. 75 (2010)]

The third account plaintiff focused upon was Wilbur's BBQ &
Restaurant, Inc. located in Goldsboro. Wilbur’s 25 January statement
showed it had obtained a negative account balance in the amount of
$-218.95. Plaintiff testified that he had found no statements for this
customer for the month of February 2003 and City Electric’s cus-
tomer profile shows no invoice or payment activity from 7 January
until 26 February 2003. The customer profile showed that on 14
February 2003 City Electric made an entry labeled “DSC TKN,”
adjusted the negative balance by $0.01, and removed it from Wilbur’s
account. A subsequent statement dated 25 March 2003 did not show
a balance of $-218.95. As was the case with Entertainment and
Sports Arena and Turnage Corporation, defendant admitted that
“Wilbur’s BBQ & Restaurant never requested and City Electric
Supply Company, Inc. never paid the sum of $218.96 to Wilbur’s
BBQ & Restaurant.”

There are also two documents in the record, i.e. the cash dis-
count allocation log and cash receipt register, that show the monies
paid by each of these customers that resulted in the negative balances
were transferred from the customer’s account to a City Electric ac-
count referenced as a “4020 account.” Defendants do not dispute that
this transfer occurred. At trial and on appeal, defendants also very
candidly admit that they did not send statements to customers with
negative balances. Defendants argue that the complained of conduct
did not constitute obtaining property by false pretenses or larceny
under the General Statutes. We disagree.

The elements of the crime of obtaining property by false pre-
tenses are: “(1) a false representation of a subsisting fact or a
future fulfillment or event, (2) which is calculated and intended to
deceive, (3) which does in fact deceive, and (4) by which one person
obtains or attempts to obtain value from another.” State v. Parker,
354 N.C. 268, 284, 553 S.E.2d 885, 897 (2001) (quotation omitted), cert.
denied, 535 U.S. 1114, 153 L. Ed. 2d 162 (2002); see also N.C. Gen.
Stat. § 14-100 (2007). The false pretense need not come through
spoken words, but instead may be by act or conduct. Id. How-
ever, “[tlhere must be a causal relationship between the repre-
sentation alleged to have been made and the obtaining of the money
or property.” State v. Davis, 48 N.C. App. 526, 531, 269 S.E.2d 291,
294-95 (1980).

The preceding evidence establishes that City Electric deliberately
withheld these customers’ negative account balance statements in
January 2003. Defendant testified that he was told that the reason for
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this practice was “that it wasn’t in the interest of the company,”
and that “[e]thics doesn’t [sic] apply in our business transactions.”
City Electric then sent out statements in February and March, which
indicated that each one of these customers owed a balance on
their account. At that time, the money previously paid that resulted in
the negative balance had been transferred from their customer
account into City Electric’s “4020 account,” and the negative bal-
ance was not shown on their subsequent February and March state-
ments. As a result of this false misrepresentation, both Turnage
Corporation and Wilbur's BBQ & Restaurant paid each invoice that
was submitted to them in these statements for a total of $4,170.83 and
$358.56, respectively.

Defendants’ contention that there was never a representation
that the negative account balance was not available to be applied to
outstanding invoices at the customer’s request is disingenuous based
upon City Electric’s active concealment of the negative balance. We
hold that taken in the light most favorable to the plaintiff and taking
his evidence as true, the evidence presented at trial tended to show
that City Electric violated N.C. Gen. Stat. § 14-100 by purposely with-
holding negative balance statements, transferring these monies to a
separate account, and sending out subsequent statements that did not
show the negative balance, which induced the customers to pay the
amounts for each of the invoices listed therein. Because plaintiff’s
wrongful discharge claim is based upon being terminated in retalia-
tion for reporting this conduct, his claim falls within the very narrow
public policy exception to the at-will employment doctrine. The trial
court erred by granting defendants’ motion for directed verdict as to
this claim. Plaintiff’s claim for wrongful discharge is remanded to the
trial court for a new trial.

IV. Tortious Interference with a Contract

[2] In his second argument, plaintiff contends that the trial court
erred by granting defendants’ motion for directed verdict as to his
claim of tortious interference with a contract as to defendant Smith.
We agree.

To establish a claim of tortious interference with a contract, a
plaintiff must show:

(1) avalid contract between the plaintiff and a third person which
confers upon the plaintiff a contractual right against a third per-
son; (2) defendant knows of the contract; (3) the defendant inten-
tionally induces the third person not to perform the contract; (4)
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and in doing so acts without justification; (5) resulting in actual
damage to the plaintiff.

Embree Construction Group v. Rafcor, Inc., 330 N.C. 487, 498, 411
S.E.2d 916, 924 (1992) (quotation omitted). This cause of action has
been found to be applicable to an employment contract that was
terminable at will. See, e.g., Smith v. Ford Motor Co., 289 N.C. 71,
85, 221 S.E.2d 282, 291 (1976); Childress v. Abeles, 240 N.C. 667,
678, 84 S.E.2d 176, 184 (1964); Lenzer v. Flaherty, 106 N.C. App. 496,
512, 418 S.E.2d 276, 286, disc. review, denied, 332 N.C. 345, 421
S.E.2d 348 (1992).

The only element defendants challenged at trial and on appeal is
whether Smith was justified in terminating plaintiff’s employment.
For claims of tortious interference with a contract, North Carolina
makes a distinction between defendants who are “outsiders” and
“non-outsiders” to the contract. An outsider is

one who was not a party to the terminated contract and who had
no legitimate business interest of his own in the subject matter
thereof. Conversely, one who is a non-outsider is one who,
though not a party to the terminated contract, had a legitimate
business interest of his own in the subject matter.

Smith, 289 N.C. at 87, 221 S.E.2d 292. “ ‘[N]on-outsiders’ often enjoy
qualified immunity from liability for inducing their corporation or
other entity to breach its contract with an employee. . . . The qualified
privilege of a non-outsider is lost if exercised for motives other than
reasonable, good faith attempts to protect the non-outsider’s inter-
ests in the contract interfered with.” Lenzer, 106 N.C. App. at 513, 418
S.E.2d at 286 (citations omitted).

Smith, as the head supervisor of City Electric’s Greensboro
office, had a legitimate business interest in the subject matter of
the contract and is considered a “non-outsider.” See id. Defendants
argue that plaintiff is precluded from bringing this cause of action
against Smith as a matter of law based upon this qualified privilege
and contend that “the evidence shows that [plaintiff] was terminated
for poor performance; not because he allegedly reported ‘stealing’ to
City Electric.”

In the light most favorable to plaintiff, the evidence at trial tended
to show that on 27 January 2003 plaintiff’s immediate supervisor, Tom
Cherchuck, told plaintiff not to send out negative account balance
statements. Plaintiff stated that he knew of several accounts that had
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a “large negative balance” and that these customers were entitled to
be informed of this balance. On 3 February 2003, plaintiff met with
Smith and requested that City Electric credit these customers’
accounts or refund this money. Smith responded “that it wasn’t in the
interest of the company and if the customer didn't have a good
enough accounting office to catch problems, its their fault,” and
that “[e]thics doesn’t [sic] apply in our business transactions.”
Plaintiff then asserted that City Electric was stealing money from its
customers. Smith “became short with [plaintiff] and got busy with
his work . . . and ignored [plaintiff], right in the middle of [the] meet-
ing.” Plaintiff stated that Smith did not want to discuss these mat-
ters further. Plaintiff testified that the work environment at City
Electric immediately changed within days after this meeting.
Someone started going through plaintiff’s desk on a routine basis.
Plaintiff was informed by other employees that he was being
watched by Smith and that he was on his “hit list.” Plaintiff testified
that he believed Smith was “trying to get rid of [him]” in retaliation
for challenging City Electric’s practice of not sending out negative
account balance statements and asserting that City Electric was
stealing from its customers.

Plaintiff also testified that the written job performance review
“was a complete lie” and that none of the unsatisfactory points con-
tained therein had any factual basis. Plaintiff testified that he had
never received any complaints about his work performance until
after the 3 February 2003 meeting with Smith.

Plaintiff’s testimony was buttressed by two witnesses: Yolanda
Pritchett (Pritchett) and Joyce Robin Shown (Shown), employees of
City Electric at the time plaintiff was employed. Pritchett testified
that plaintiff was “a very professional employee, very timely, trust-
worthy, and well-liked.” Pritchett noticed that in approximately
February 2003, other employees stopped inviting plaintiff to eat lunch
with them and that Smith “began to watch him from down the hall.”
Pritchett also testified that she had observed Smith looking through
plaintiff’s desk and his paperwork. Pritchett was told by another
employee that plaintiff was on the managers’ “hit list.” Shown’s testi-
mony mirrored Pritchett’s testimony in that she stated plaintiff was
professional and hard-working, and that she had also been told that
plaintiff was on the managers’ “hit list.” Neither Pritchett nor Shown
articulated the reason plaintiff was on this alleged “hit list.”

Plaintiff has forecasted “more than a scintilla of evidence” in sup-
port of his allegation that he was terminated for a wrongful purpose,
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which would defeat a non-outsider’s qualified privilege to interfere
with his contract. See Barker v. Kimberly-Clark Corp., 136 N.C. App.
455, 463, 524 S.E.2d 821, 826-27 (2000) (reversing summary judgment
and holding the plaintiff’s evidence was sufficient to defeat a non-out-
sider’s qualified privilege on the basis that her managers: (1) “out of
personal hostility and ill-will toward the [p]laintiff, schemed to come
up with false and defamatory accusations against the [p]laintiff with
the intent to bring about the termination of her employment[;]” (2)
one defendant had a “hit list” with names of employees he intended
to “get rid of” and the plaintiff’s name was on the list; and (3) when
the plaintiff confronted the defendant he admitted his desire to ter-
minate her employment). Because the other elements of tortious
interference with a contract were not challenged, we do not address
them. The trial court erred by granting defendants’ motion for
directed verdict as to this cause of action. We reverse the trial court’s
order and remand for a new trial on plaintiff’s tortious interference
with a contract claim against Smith.

[3] Plaintiff alleged in his complaint and argued before the trial
court that City Electric was liable for Smith’s tortious conduct based
upon the doctrine of ratification. However, plaintiff failed to raise
this issue in his appellate brief, cite any authority supporting this
theory, or point to any evidence in the record that would establish
that City Electric had ratified Smith’s conduct. Because plaintiff
failed to make this argument on appeal, it is deemed abandoned.
N.C.R. App. P. 28(b)(6).

V. Unfair and Deceptive Trade Practices

[4] In his third argument, plaintiff contends that the trial court
erred by granting defendants’ motion for directed verdict as to his
claim of unfair and deceptive trade practices pursuant to N.C. Gen.
Stat. § 75-1.1. We disagree.

In order to establish a prima facie claim under N.C. Gen. Stat.
§ 75-1.1, a plaintiff must be able to show: “(1) defendant committed
an unfair or deceptive act or practice, (2) the action in question was
in or affecting commerce, and (3) the act proximately caused in-
jury to the plaintiff.” Dalton v. Camp, 353 N.C. 647, 656, 548 S.E.2d
704, 711 (2001) (citation omitted). North Carolina appellate courts
have consistently held that the Unfair and Deceptive Trade Practices
Act does not apply to general employer/employee relationships. See
id. at 656, 548 S.E.2d at 710; Schlieper v. Johnson, 195 N.C.
App. 257, 268, 672 S.E.2d 548, 555 (2009); Kinesis Adver., Inc. v. Hill,
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187 N.C. App. 1, 21, 652 S.E.2d 284, 289 (2007), disc. review denied,
362 N.C. 177, 658 S.E.2d 485 (2008); Buie v. Daniel International
Corp., 56 N.C. App. 445, 448, 289 S.E.2d 118, 119-20, disc. review
denied, 305 N.C. 759, 292 S.E.2d 574 (1982).

Plaintiff cites Sarah Lee Corp. v. Carter, 351 N.C. 27, 519 S.E.2d
308 (1999) and Walker v. Sloan, 137 N.C. App. 387, 529 S.E.2d 236
(2000) in support of the proposition that N.C. Gen. Stat. § 75-1.1 is
applicable to the facts of this case. In both Sarah Lee Corp. and
Walker, the Court focused upon conduct that constituted activity
“affecting commerce” that occurred between the employer and
employee and held that N.C. Gen. Stat. § 75-1.1 was applicable to
those cases. Sarah Lee Corp., 3561 N.C. at 33, 519 S.E.2d at 312;
Walker, 137 N.C. App. at 396, 529 S.E.2d at 243. In the instant case,
there was no evidence presented before the trial court of any conduct
that would constitute activity “affecting commerce” between plaintiff
and City Electric. Plaintiff only asserts that he was fired in retaliation
for “blowing the whistle” on City Electric’s practice of not sending
out negative balance statements at the end of each month. Thus, the
analyses and holdings in Sarah Lee Corp. and Walker are inapplica-
ble. This case involves a simple employment dispute and does not fall
within the purview of N.C. Gen. Stat. § 75-1.1. Schlieper, supra. This
contention is without merit.

VI. Conclusion

Because plaintiff presented more than a “scintilla of evidence”
that City Electric had obtained money by false pretenses from its cus-
tomers, his claim for wrongful discharge based upon the reporting of
this conduct fell within the public policy exception to the at-will
employment doctrine. The trial court improperly granted defendants’
motion for directed verdict as to this claim. This claim is remanded
for a new trial.

Because plaintiff presented sufficient evidence that his employ-
ment was terminated by Smith based upon some wrongful purpose,
the trial court erred by granting defendants’ motion for directed
verdict on plaintiff’s tortious interference with a contract claim as
to Smith. Plaintiff failed to argue on appeal that City Electric rati-
fied Smith’s alleged tortious conduct, and this issue is deemed aban-
doned. Plaintiff’s claim against Smith, individually, is remanded for
a new trial.

The Unfair and Deceptive Trade Practices Act is not applicable to
a simple employment dispute between an employer and employee.
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The trial court properly granted defendants’ motion for directed ver-
dict as to plaintiff’s unfair and deceptive trade practices claim.

AFFIRMED IN PART; REVERSED IN PART; and REMANDED.

Judges HUNTER, Robert C. and GEER concur.

CASIMER C. MARZEC anp NYECO, INC., PLAINTIFFS V. FRANKLIN L. NYE, JR., AND
NYECO, INC., DEFENDANTS

No. COA08-1451
(Filed 16 March 2010)

1. Corporations— derivative claim—shareholder—fiduciary
duty

Plaintiffs’ complaint alleging breach of fiduciary duty and
conversion of corporate property sufficiently alleged that plain-
tiff Marzec was a shareholder of Nyeco, Inc. and, therefore, that
defendant Nye, as majority shareholder, owed a fiduciary duty
to plaintiff.

2. Statutes of Limitation and Repose— breach of fiduciary
duty and conversion of corporate property—continuing
wrong doctrine

The trial court erred in determining that plaintiffs’ complaint
alleging breach of fiduciary duty and conversion of corporate
property established that the claims were barred by the three-
year statute of limitations. Plaintiff Marzec’s claims based on de-
fendant Nye’s failure to pay plaintiff’s salary and to provide an
accounting were timely under the continuing wrong doctrine. The
complaint did not contain allegations establishing that the statute
of limitations had run on plaintiff’s claims based on defendant’s
obtaining a personal loan in the company’s name, payment of the
loan from corporate funds, or usurping a corporate opportunity.
Plaintiff’s claim based on defendant’s failure to produce corpo-
rate records was time-barred.

3. Corporations— judicial dissolution

The trial court erred in not ruling on plaintiff Marzec’s
request for judicial dissolution of Nyeco, Inc. pursuant to
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N.C.G.S. § 55-14-30(2) as plaintiff’s complaint alleged at least two
statutory grounds for dissolution.

Appeal by plaintiffs from order entered 6 August 2008 by Judge
Jay D. Hockenbury in New Hanover County Superior Court. Heard in
the Court of Appeals 7 May 2009.

Dillow, McEachern & Associates, PA., by Mary Margaret
McFEachern, for plaintiffs-appellants.

Shipman & Wright, LLP, by Gary K. Shipman, William G.
Wright, and Matthew W. Buckmiller, for defendants-appellees.

GEER, Judge.

Plaintiff Casimer C. Marzec, on behalf of himself and derivatively
on behalf of Nyeco, Inc., appeals from the trial court’s order dismiss-
ing his action against defendants Franklin L. Nye, Jr. and Nyeco, Inc.
pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) of the Rules of Civil Procedure. We dis-
agree with the trial court’s determination that the allegations of the
complaint establish that plaintiffs’ claims are barred by the statute
of limitations and, therefore, we reverse. Further, we hold that the
trial court erred in not addressing Marzec’s request for judicial dis-
solution of Nyeco.

Facts

The complaint filed in this action alleges the following facts. Nye
incorporated Nyeco, a closely held corporation, in North Carolina on
21 February 2002. Nyeco was in the business of providing floor main-
tenance and cleaning services for commercial accounts and distrib-
uting certain floor-cleaning and maintenance products.

On 24 March 2002, Nye and Marzec entered into the follow-
ing agreement:

I, Frank L. Nye, agree to sell 25% of ownership in NYECO
[Ilnc. to Casimer Marzec in exchange for $50,000.00. I further
agree to offer an option to buy additional shares in NYECO [I]nc.
for a period of five years beginning at the time of this signed
agreement. Future share prices will be determined when [the]
option is exercised. They will be based on net revenues for the
preceding 12 months. Net revenues times (3.5) shall be used to
figure value of shares of NYECO [I]nc. at any future date. Total



90 IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

MARZEC v. NYE
[203 N.C. App. 88 (2010)]

additional shares available shall not exceed 20% of ownership in
NYECO [I]nc.

The two men also entered into the following capital agreement:

I, Frank Nye, agree to pledge share purchase capital as
follows. $20,000 shall remain in company as a loan for on going
[sic] operating needs. $10,000 shall be placed in the bank and
used as collateral for a line of credit. The remaining $20,000
shall be used to retire debt associated with NYECO [I]nc. prior to
this agreement.

On 15 May 2002, Marzec and Nye conducted an annual share-
holders meeting at which they elected Nye president and treasurer
and Marzec vice president and secretary. The two men agreed that
each would receive $4,000.00 a month as compensation for their roles
in the company. The Nyeco business plan provided that Nye would
handle sales and service calls, while Marzec would be responsible for
the bookkeeping and other administrative matters.

The company’s primary product, “Multi-Clean,” was a new kind
of floor coating that would maintain a high-gloss finish for longer
periods of time than traditional floor coatings, thereby reducing the
frequency of floor maintenance. In the summer of 2002, however, the
Multi-Clean floor coating system was discovered to be defective, and
Nyeco stopped selling the product.

According to the complaint, in September 2002, Nye unilaterally
stopped making monthly payments to Marzec, although he continued
to make monthly payments to himself. In March 2003, Nye obtained a
personal loan in Nyeco’s name and subsequently made payments on
that loan using Nyeco funds. The complaint further alleges that in
November 2003, Nye took a job with a competitor of Nyeco.

On 23 April 2004, Marzec sent Nye a letter requesting copies of
Nyeco’s corporate tax returns for fiscal years 2002 and 2003, a copy
of Nyeco’s corporate minute book, Marzec’s share certificates, and
$60,850.00 in back salary. The letter accused Nye of shutting Marzec
out of the business beginning on 1 April 2004 and requested that Nye
repurchase Marzec’s shares for the sum of $47,541.00. Nye did not
respond to the letter. In addition to the letter, Marzec made other
unsuccessful attempts himself and through his attorney to resolve
the dispute with Nye.

From 2005 through 2007, Marzec lived in Nevada. Although he
received no actual income from Nyeco, Marzec was sent a Schedule
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K-1 for the year 2006, stating that he had realized $20,000.00 in
income from Nyeco. He also received a K-1 for the year 2007 stating
that he had realized $5,000.00 in income from Nyeco for that year. As
a result, Marzec had to pay $1,500.00 in taxes on income he never
received.

On 4 June 2008, after Marzec returned to live in Wilmington,
North Carolina, Marzec filed a complaint on behalf of himself and a
shareholder derivative action on behalf of Nyeco against Nye and
Nyeco. Marzec alleged claims for (1) fraudulent misrepresentation,
(2) breach of fiduciary obligations, (3) conversion of corporate prop-
erty, (4) breach of contract, and (5) default on a loan. In a final claim
for relief, Marzec sought a decree of judicial dissolution. On 21 July
2008, Nye filed an answer and a motion to dismiss Marzec’s claims
pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) of the Rules of Civil Procedure.

Following a hearing on 5 August 2008, the trial court entered
an order on 6 August 2008 stating that defendants had moved “for a
dismissal pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) on the ground that . . . the perti-
nent statutes of limitations on the Plaintiffs’ claims had expired and
that the Plaintiffs’ complaint did not state a claim for a default of a
loan . . ..” The court noted that plaintiffs had voluntarily dismissed
the claim for default of a loan and then allowed the motion to dismiss
on the remaining claims based on the statute of limitations. Marzec
timely appealed to this Court.

I

Marzec’s first contention on appeal is that the trial court erred in
dismissing his claims for breach of fiduciary duty and conversion of
corporate property.l When reviewing an appeal from a motion to dis-
miss, “ ‘[t]he question for the court is whether, as a matter of law, the
allegations of the complaint, treated as true, are sufficient to state a
claim upon which relief may be granted under some legal theory,
whether properly labeled or not.” ” Leary v. N.C. Forest Prods., Inc.,
157 N.C. App. 396, 400, 580 S.E.2d 1, 4 (quoting Grant Constr. Co. .
McRae, 146 N.C. App. 370, 373, 5563 S.E.2d 89, 91 (2001)), aff’d per
curiam, 357 N.C. 5667, 597 S.E.2d 673 (2003). “Documents attached as
exhibits to the complaint and incorporated therein by reference are
properly considered when ruling on a 12(b)(6) motion.” Woolard v.
Davenport, 166 N.C. App. 129, 133-34, 601 S.E.2d 319, 322 (2004).

1. Although Marzec also asserted claims for breach of contract and fraudulent
misrepresentation, he did not assign error to the trial court’s dismissal of those claims,
and we, therefore, do not address them on appeal.
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[1] Nye initially argues that Marzec’s claims for breach of fiduciary
duty and conversion of corporate property must fail because the com-
plaint does not sufficiently allege that Marzec was a shareholder in
Nyeco. We disagree. The complaint specifically alleges that Marzec is
a 25% shareholder of Nyeco. Further, it alleges that on 24 March
2002, Nye and Marzec entered into an agreement in which Nye
promised to convey to Marzec a 25% stock interest in Nyeco in
exchange for $50,000.00. It also alleges that “Marzec and Nye con-
ducted an annual shareholders’ meeting wherein Nye was elected
President and Treasurer, and Marzec was elected Vice President and
Secretary.” In addition, attached to Marzec’s complaint are the min-
utes from the annual shareholders meeting, which stated that “[t]he
company is presently owned by Mr. Franklin Nye and Mr. Casimer
Marzec” and that “[t]he company stock consists of 100,000 shares
of which there are 75,000 shares owned by Mr. Nye and 25,000 owned
by Mr. Marzec.”

Reading these allegations and the exhibits in the light most favor-
able to plaintiffs, Kaleel Builders, Inc. v. Ashby, 161 N.C. App. 34, 37,
587 S.E.2d 470, 473 (2003), disc. review dented, 358 N.C. 235, 595
S.E.2d 152 (2004), we hold that plaintiff sufficiently alleged that
Marzec was a shareholder in Nyeco and, therefore, that Nye, as the
majority shareholder, owed a fiduciary duty to Marzec. See Farndale
Co. v. Gibellini, 176 N.C. App. 60, 67, 628 S.E.2d 15, 19 (2006) (“ ‘In
North Carolina, it is well established that a controlling shareholder
owes a fiduciary duty to minority shareholders.” ” (quoting Freese v.
Smith, 110 N.C. App. 28, 37, 428 S.E.2d 841, 847 (1993))).

Nye counters that under Corp. Comm’n of N.C. v. Harris, 197
N.C. 202, 203, 148 S.E. 174, 175 (1929), in order to be a shareholder, a
party must show “not only that the stock ha[s] been issued, but that
it ha[s] been actually or constructively accepted by the [party].” Nye
argues that the demand letter shows Marzec was not a shareholder in
Nyeco because, in the letter, Marzec asked Nye to give him the cer-
tificates for his shares. Nye contends that this request indicates that
Marzec had not yet accepted the stock.

In Powell Bros. v. McMullan Lumber Co., 1563 N.C. 52, 55, 68 S.E.
926, 927 (1910) (internal quotation marks omitted), however, our
Supreme Court recognized that “certificates are not necessary to
membership in a corporation,” explaining that “[i]t is the act of sub-
scribing, or the registry of the stockholder’s name upon the stock
book of the company, opposite the number of shares for which he has
subscribed, which gives him his title thereto, and that the certificate
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neither constitutes his title nor is necessary to it, but only a memor-
ial of it.” See also Meisenheimer v. Alexander, 162 N.C. 227, 235, 78
S.E. 161, 164 (1913) (observing that stock certificate “is not the stock
itself, but constitutes only prima facie evidence of the ownership of
that number of shares”); Weaver Power Co. v. Elk Mountain Mill Co.,
154 N.C. 76, 78, 69 S.E. 747, 748 (1910) (“Stock is capital, and a stock
certificate but evidences that the holder has ventured his means as a
part of the capital.”). Although these cases are dated, this is still the
law in North Carolina. Thus, the fact that the share certificates were
never given to Marzec does not require a conclusion that Marzec is
not a shareholder.

[2] Turning to the basis for the trial court’s order—that Marzec’s
claims are barred by the statute of limitations—it is well established
that “ ‘when some fact disclosed in the complaint necessarily defeats
the plaintiff’s claim,’ ” then a trial court should dismiss the complaint
under Rule 12(b)(6). Carlisle v. Keith, 169 N.C. App. 674, 681, 614
S.E.2d 542, 547 (2005) (quoting Hooper v. Liberty Mut. Ins. Co., 84
N.C. App. 549, 551, 3563 S.E.2d 248, 250 (1987)). Consequently, “[a]
motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6) is an appropriate method of
determining whether the statutes of limitation bar plaintiff’s claims if
the bar is disclosed in the complaint.” Id.

The parties agree that a three-year statute of limitations applies
to both the claim for breach of fiduciary duty and the claim for con-
version. See Toomer v. Branch Banking & Trust Co., 171 N.C. App.
58, 66, 614 S.E.2d 328, 335 (“Allegations of breach of fiduciary duty
that do not rise to the level of constructive fraud are governed by the
three-year statute of limitations applicable to contract actions con-
tained in N.C. Gen. Stat. § 1-562(1) (2003).”), disc. review denied, 360
N.C. 78, 623 S.E.2d 263 (2005); N.C. Gen. Stat. § 1-562(4) (2009) (pro-
viding three years to bring a suit “[flor taking, detaining, convert-
ing or injuring any goods or chattels, including action for their spe-
cific recovery”).2

Marzec alleges that Nye breached his fiduciary duty to Marzec by
(1) ceasing to make monthly salary payments to Marzec and refusing
to pay Marzec back pay, (2) refusing to comply with Marzec’s request

2. We note that claims for breach of fiduciary duty that rise to the level of con-
structive fraud are subject to a 10-year statute of limitations. See Babb v. Graham, 190
N.C. App. 463, 480, 660 S.E.2d 626, 637 (2008), disc. review denied, 363 N.C. 257, 676
S.E.2d 900 (2009). Since Marzec does not specifically argue constructive fraud, nothing
in this opinion should be deemed to address whether Marzec’s complaint sufficiently
alleged a claim for constructive fraud or whether that claim would be barred by the
statute of limitations.
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for an accounting, (3) refusing to produce the company’s business
records, (4) taking out a personal loan in the company’s name and
making payments on that loan with company funds, and (5) usurping
a corporate opportunity. Generally, a claim for breach of fiduciary
duty accrues when the right to bring the claim arises. Babb, 190 N.C.
App. at 481, 660 S.E.2d at 637.

With respect to the allegations relating to the payment of
Marzec’s salary and back pay and the request for an accounting, Nye
contends that any claim accrued on 23 April 2004 when Marzec sent
his demand letter to Nye requesting an accounting and back pay.
Under this view, the statute of limitations would have run by the time
the complaint was filed on 4 June 2008. Marzec argues, however, that
his claim is timely under the continuing wrong doctrine.

“Our Supreme Court has recognized the continuing wrong doc-
trine as an exception to the general rule that a claim accrues when
the right to maintain a suit arises.” Id. Under the continuing wrong
doctrine, the statute of limitations does not start running “ ‘until the
violative act ceases.”” Id. (quoting Williams v. Blue Cross Blue
Shield of N.C., 357 N.C. 170, 179, 581 S.E.2d 415, 423 (2003)). For
the continuing wrong doctrine to apply, the plaintiff must show “ ‘[a]
continuing violation’” by the defendant that “‘is occasioned by
continual unlawful acts, not by continual ill effects from an origi-
nal violation.”” Id. (quoting Williams, 357 N.C. at 179, 581 S.E.2d
at 423). According to Marzec, Nye’s refusal to pay him his salary
and back pay and to provide him with an accounting amounted to a
continuing violation.

In Babb, 190 N.C. App. at 480-81, 660 S.E.2d at 637-38, this Court
applied the continuing wrong doctrine to the plaintiffs’ claim for
breach of fiduciary duty. The beneficiaries of a trust sued the trustee
for breach of fiduciary duty, alleging that the trustee had refused to
make required distributions under the trust. This Court held: “In the
present case, [the beneficiaries] alleged, and [the trustee] testified,
that [the trustee] continuously refused to make distributions under
the trusts until he was removed as trustee on 3 June 2004. Therefore,
[the trustee’s] wrongful conduct, the refusal to make distributions,
continued until he was removed as trustee on 3 June 2004.” Id. at 481,
660 S.E.2d at 637. Accordingly, the Court concluded that the breach
of fiduciary duty claims were not barred. Id.

In a case from New York, Butler v. Gibbons, 173 App. Div. 2d 352,
353, 569 N.Y.S.2d 722, 723 (1st Dept. 1991), the plaintiff alleged that
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the defendant had failed to pay the plaintiff his share of the rents on
property the parties jointly owned. The court held that the trial court
improperly concluded that the plaintiff’s claims for breach of fidu-
ciary duty were barred by the six-year statute of limitations because
“Plaintiff’s allegations clearly make out a continuing wrong, i.e.,
Gibbons’ repeated and continuing failure to account and turn over

proceeds earned from renting the properties . . ..” Id. The court rea-
soned that “a new cause of action accrued each time defendant col-
lected the rents and kept them to himself. . . . Plaintiff’s action was

therefore timely as to any such proceeds which were retained by
defendant during the six years preceding the commencement of the
action.” Id. We find Butler persuasive authority with respect to the
salary claims in this case.

Here, as in Babb and Butler, a cause of action for breach of fidu-
ciary duty for failure to pay Marzec’s salary accrued each time Nye
failed to pay Marzec his monthly salary. Marzec’s claim is, therefore,
timely as to the failure to pay Marzec’s salary and failure to provide
an accounting during the three years preceding the filing of this
action. See Faulkenbury v. Teachers’ & State Employees’ Ret. Sys. of
N.C., 345 N.C. 683, 695, 483 S.E.2d 422, 429-30 (1997) (holding, under
continuing wrong doctrine, that plaintiffs were “allow[ed] . . . to pur-
sue claims for underpayments for three years before they com-
menced actions”); Sadov Realty Corp. v. Shipur H’Shechuna Corp.,
202 App. Div. 2d 178, 179, 608 N.Y.S.2d 204, 204 (1st Dept.) (“The trial
court also properly held that defendant’s receipt and retention of
rental proceeds was a continuing wrong that made the action for an
accounting timely for up to six years prior to the commencement of
the action . . ..”), appeal dismissed, 84 N.Y.2d 923, 621 N.Y.S.2d 521,
645 N.E.2d 1221 (1994).

With respect, however, to Marzec’s theory that a breach of fidu-
ciary duty occurred based on Nye’s failure to produce corporate
records, Marzec has not demonstrated the existence of a continuing
wrong. Marzec made one request for the records on 23 April 2004. He
has not demonstrated how the ongoing failure to respond to this
request constituted continual unlawful acts as opposed to continual
ill effects from the original failure to produce the records. See
Williams, 357 N.C. at 179, 581 S.E.2d at 423.

Likewise, Marzec has failed to cite any authority, and we have
found none, suggesting that the continuing wrong doctrine should
apply to Marzec’s allegations that Nye took out a personal loan in
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Nyeco’s name and converted corporate funds to make payments on
that loan and that Nye usurped a corporate opportunity by taking a
job with a competitor of Nyeco in November 2003. With respect to
these breach of fiduciary duty allegations, however, our refusal to
apply the continuing wrong doctrine does not necessarily mean that
this aspect of Marzec’s breach of fiduciary duty claim is barred by the
statute of limitations.

With respect to the personal loan, in Brown v. King, 166 N.C.
App. 267, 269, 601 S.E.2d 296, 297 (2004), this Court held that a plain-
tiff’s claim for breach of fiduciary duty based on the defendant’s
obtaining a loan in the plaintiff’s name accrued when the plaintiff dis-
covered what the defendant had done. In this case, the complaint
alleges that Nye took out the personal loan in March 2003, but does
not allege when Marzec discovered this fact. The complaint does not,
therefore, contain allegations establishing that this aspect of the fidu-
ciary duty claim is barred by the statute of limitations.

As for the conversion of corporate funds, the statute of limita-
tions for conversion generally begins running at the time a defendant
asserts dominion over the property. See White v. Consolidated
Planning, Inc., 166 N.C. App. 283, 311, 603 S.E.2d 147, 165-66 (2004)
(holding that plaintiff’s claim for conversion of funds was barred by
statute of limitations because “[t]he conversion occurred when
Robert White exercised unlawful dominion over the funds—in other
words, when Robert White withdrew the funds from the annuities
without plaintiff’s permission”), disc. review denied, 359 N.C. 286,
610 S.E.2d 717 (2005). See also First Investors Corp. v. Citizens
Bank, Inc., 757 F. Supp. 687, 690-91 (W.D.N.C. 1991) (observing that
“[t]he general rule thus appears to be that conversion actions accrue
upon the conversion itself rather than upon its discovery” and con-
cluding that “the Plaintiffs’ cause of action for each alleged conver-
sion accrued at the time of that particular conversion”), aff’d per
curiam, 956 F.2d 263 (4th Cir. 1992). Since the complaint in this case
does not allege when Nye made the payments on the loan (the act
exercising dominion over the funds), we again cannot determine from
the allegations of the complaint that the conversion claim is barred
by the statute of limitations. See Benson v. Barefoot, 148 N.C. App.
394, 396, 559 S.E.2d 244, 246 (2002) (holding that as neither complaint
nor answer gave date on which alleged conversions took place, judg-
ment on pleadings was improper).

Finally, this Court held in Lowder v. All Star Mills, Inc., 75 N.C.
App. 233, 235, 330 S.E.2d 649, 651, disc. review denied, 314 N.C. 541,
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335 S.E.2d 19 (1985), that the statute of limitations for a breach of
fiduciary duty based on usurping a corporate opportunity does not
begin to run until the plaintiff becomes aware that the defendant
usurped a corporate opportunity. Thus, Marzec’s claim alleging a
breach of fiduciary duty through usurping a corporate opportunity
started running when Marzec discovered, or should have discovered,
that Nye was working for a competitor.

Nye contends this date was 23 April 2004, when Marzec sent the
letter to Nye demanding an accounting, records, his share certifi-
cates, and back pay. The 23 April 2004 letter does not, however, say
anything about Nye’s going to work for a competitor or in any way
indicate that Marzec had discovered this fact. In the absence of any
allegation in the complaint as to when Marzec discovered or should
have discovered that Nye was working for a competitor, there is no
basis for dismissing this aspect of Marzec’s breach of fiduciary duty
claim. See Benson, 148 N.C. App. at 396-97, 559 S.E.2d at 246.

In sum, under the continuing wrong doctrine, the trial court erred
in dismissing Marzec’s claim for breach of fiduciary duty based on the
failure to pay his salary and for an accounting for the three years pre-
ceding the filing of Marzec’s complaint. Further, the complaint does
not contain allegations establishing that the statute of limitations has
run as to the breach of fiduciary duty claims based on Nye’s obtain-
ing a personal loan in the company’s name, payment of the loan from
corporate funds, and usurping a corporate opportunity. The trial
court did not err, however, in concluding that the statute of limita-
tions had run to the extent the breach of fiduciary duty claim is based
on the failure to produce corporate records.

II

[8] Marzec also argues that the trial court should have ruled on his
application to dissolve the corporation. Pursuant to N.C. Gen. Stat.
§ 55-14-30(2) (2009), a shareholder may seek to have a corporation
dissolved by the superior court

if it is established that (i) the directors or those in control of the
corporation are deadlocked in the management of the corporate
affairs, the shareholders are unable to break the deadlock, and
irreparable injury to the corporation is threatened or being suf-
fered, or the business and affairs of the corporation can no longer
be conducted to the advantage of the shareholders generally,
because of the deadlock; (ii) liquidation is reasonably necessary
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for the protection of the rights or interests of the complaining
shareholder; (iii) the shareholders are deadlocked in voting
power and have failed, for a period that includes at least two con-
secutive annual meeting dates, to elect successors to directors
whose terms have expired; (iv) the corporate assets are being
misapplied or wasted; or (v) a written agreement, whether
embodied in the articles of incorporation or separate therefrom,
entitles the complaining shareholder to liquidation or dissolution
of the corporation at will or upon the occurrence of some event
which has subsequently occurred, and all present shareholders,
and all subscribers and transferees of shares, either are parties to
such agreement or became a shareholder, subscriber or trans-
feree with actual notice thereof].]

If grounds exist under N.C. Gen. Stat. § 55-14-30(2) for dissolution,
“the decision to dissolve the corporation is within the trial court’s
sound discretion.” Royals v. Piedmont Elec. Repair Co., 137 N.C.
App. 700, 704, 529 S.E.2d 515, 518, disc. review denied, 352 N.C. 357,
544 S.E.2d 548 (2000).

In his complaint, Marzec alleged that Nye and Marzec were “un-
able to agree upon the proper and reasonable management of Nyeco’s
affairs” and that “[a]s a result, it [was] not reasonably practicable to
carry on the business of Nyeco in conformity with its governing doc-
uments, agreements between the shareholders, and applicable law.”
The complaint further alleged that “corporate assets [were] being
misapplied and wasted by Nye, that Nye ha[d] through other actions
and inactions breached his duties to Marzec, that Nye refuse[d] to
communicate with Marzec and that judicial dissolution [was] reason-
ably necessary in order to protect Marzec’s rights and interests.”

These allegations are sufficient to allege the existence of at
least two statutory grounds for dissolution. See N.C. Gen. Stat.
§ 55-14-30(2)(i) & (iv). Even though a decision regarding Marzec’s
request for dissolution lay within the trial court’s discretion, the trial
court nonetheless was required to rule one way or the other on that
request for dissolution. See Poore v. Swan Quarter Farms, Inc., 119
N.C. App. 546, 550-51, 459 S.E.2d 52, 54-55 (1995) (agreeing with
plaintiffs that trial court erred in failing to conduct evidentiary hear-
ing to resolve plaintiffs’ request for judicial dissolution and remand-
ing for such a determination). The trial court, therefore, erred in
granting the motion to dismiss on statute of limitations grounds with-
out ruling on Marzec’s request for judicial dissolution.
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Reversed and remanded.

Judges BRYANT and STEPHENS concur.

CARY CREEK LIMITED PARTNERSHIP, PLAINTIFF v. TOWN OF CARY,
NORTH CAROLINA, DEFENDANT

No. COA09-799
(Filed 16 March 2010)

1. Declaratory Judgments— subject matter jurisdiction—
ongoing certiorari proceeding
The superior court had subject matter jurisdiction over plain-
tiff’s declaratory judgment claim concerning the validity of a
riparian buffer ordinance and claiming inverse condemnation.
The fact that plaintiff’s certiorari proceeding was on-going did
not deprive the superior court of subject matter jurisdiction.

2. Jurisdiction— subject matter jurisdiction—controversy
not ripe—inverse condemnation
The superior court lacked subject matter jurisdiction over
plaintiff’s action seeking compensation under a theory of inverse
condemnation. Neither of the prerequisite events had occurred at
the time plaintiff filed its claim, there had been no taking, and
there was no concrete controversy ripe for adjudication.

3. Zoning— riparian buffer ordinance—inverse condemnation

The superior court did not err by granting summary judgment
in favor of defendant on plaintiff’'s declaratory judgment claim
concerning the validity of a riparian buffer ordinance and claim-
ing inverse condemnation, and by concluding that the local laws
challenged in this action were not in conflict with or preempted
by general State law.

Judge JACKSON concurring in a separate opinion.

Appeal by plaintiff from orders entered 14 January 2009 and
cross-appeal by defendant from order entered 14 November 2008 by
Judge James C. Spencer, Jr., in Wake County Superior Court. Heard in
the Court of Appeals 18 November 2009.
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Robertson, Medlin & Blocker, PL.L.C., by John F. Bloss, and
Smith Moore Leatherwood, L.L.P., by Marc C. Tucker, for
plaintiff-appellant.

Womble Carlyle Sandridge & Rice, PL.L.C., by John C. Cooke
and Michael T. Henry, for defendant-appellee.

Julia F. Youngman for Catawba Riverkeeper Foundation, Inc.,
Haw River Assembly, North Carolina Conservation Network,
Southern Environmental Law Center and WakeUP Wake
County, amici curiae.

Gregory F. Schwitzgebel, III, for North Carolina League of
Municipalities and North Carolina Association of County
Commissioners, amici curiae.

BRYANT, Judge.

On 29 May 2007, plaintiff Cary Creek Limited Partnership (“Cary
Creek”) sought a declaratory judgment that ordinances enacted by
defendant Town of Cary (“the Town”) which require preservation of
riparian buffers are invalid and unenforceable or, in the alternative,
that the Town must compensate Cary Creek under principles of
inverse condemnation. The Town moved to dismiss pursuant to Rules
12(b)(1) and 12(b)(6), which motion the trial court subsequently
denied by order entered 14 November 2008. On 27 October 2008, Cary
Creek moved for partial summary judgment, and on 26 November
2008, the Town moved for summary judgment as well. On 14 January
2009, following a hearing, the trial court entered orders granting sum-
mary judgment in favor of the Town and denying summary judgment
to Cary Creek on both the declaratory judgment and inverse condem-
nation claims. Cary Creek appeals. As discussed below, we affirm in
part, reverse in part, and vacate in part.

Facts

Cary Creek owns a tract of approximately 108 acres (“the site”)
near the intersection of Highway 55 and Alston Avenue in the Town of
Cary which it plans to develop as a mixed commercial and residential
center. The site is within the Cape Fear River Basin and is traversed
by both a perennial stream and two intermittent streams which flow
only during wet periods.

The Town has enacted a series of ordinances known collectively
as the Land Development Ordinance which includes a subchapter of
stormwater management ordinances. These stormwater management
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ordinances were designed for the “protection of riparian buffers, con-
trol of nitrogen export from development, control of peak stormwa-
ter runoff, and the use of best management practices.” Stormwater
management ordinance section 7.3.2, entitled “Protecting Riparian
Buffers,” required one-hundred-foot riparian buffers on either side of
“[a]ll perennial and intermittent streams” indicated on USGS maps
and fifty-foot buffers adjacent to other surface waters indicated by
the Soil Survey of Wake or Chatham County.! Stormwater manage-
ment ordinance section 7.3.7 permits parties to seek a variance from
the riparian buffer requirement from the Cary Town Council (“the
Council”). The Council denied Cary Creek’s request for such a vari-
ance on 26 April 2007.

Cary Creek raises two arguments on appeal, contending the trial
court erred in granting summary judgment to the Town on Cary
Creek’s (I) declaratory judgment and (II) inverse condemnation
claims. The Town cross-appeals on two issues, arguing that the trial
court erred in its 14 November 2008 order denying the Town’s motion
to dismiss Cary Creek’s (III) declaratory judgment and (IV) inverse
condemnation claims for lack of subject matter jurisdiction. Because
the Town'’s cross-appeal implicates the threshold issue of subject mat-
ter jurisdiction, we address those arguments first. We affirm both the
trial court’s denial of the Town’s motion to dismiss and its grant of
summary judgment to the Town on Cary Creek’s declaratory judg-
ment action. We reverse the trial court’s denial of the Town’s motion
to dismiss the inverse condemnation claim and vacate the grant of
summary judgment to the Town on this claim.

11

[1] The Town first contends that the superior court lacked subject
matter jurisdiction over Cary Creek’s declaratory judgment claim. As
discussed below, we disagree.

“A suit to determine the validity of a zoning ordinance is a proper
case for a declaratory judgment.” Laurel Valley Watch, Inc. v. Mt.
Enters. of Wolf Ridge, LLC, — N.C. App. —, —, 665 S.E.2d 561,
565 (2008) (citations omitted). In a pair of unpublished opinions, we
have previously approved a plaintiff challenging the validity of the
Town’s riparian buffer ordinance and claiming inverse condemnation
via a declaratory judgment action while also pursuing a separate cer-

1. The Town has since revised its ordinances, but the parties have stipulated
that Cary Creek’s development is subject to the previous ordinance scheme as dis-
cussed herein.
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tiorari proceeding to challenge the Town’s denial of his request for a
variance under the ordinance. See ARH Int’l Co. v. Cary, 170 N.C.
App. 436, 613 S.E.2d 753 (2005) (unpublished); Hashemi v. Town of
Cary, 173 N.C. App. 447, 618 S.E.2d 875 (2005) (unpublished). Indeed,
because the standard of review and role of the superior court is dif-
ferent in certiorari proceedings, where it sits as an appellate court,
than in declaratory judgment actions, where it sits as a trial court,
such actions must be brought separately. See Batch v. Town of
Chapel Hill, 326 N.C. 1, 11, 387 S.E.2d 655, 661-62, cert. denied, 496
U.S. 931, 110 L. Ed. 2d 651 (1990). The fact that Cary Creek’s certio-
rari proceeding is on-going does not deprive the superior court of
subject matter jurisdiction in this declaratory judgment action. The
Town’s cross-assignment of error on this point is overruled.

v, II

[2] The Town also argues that the superior court lacked subject
matter jurisdiction over Cary Creek’s action seeking compensation
under a theory of inverse condemnation because the matter is un-
ripe. We agree.

Cary Creek’s inverse condemnation claim is based on the theory
that if the riparian buffer ordinance is upheld as valid and enforce-
able in the instant case and if Cary Creek does not prevail in its cer-
tiorari proceeding, a taking will have occurred. Because neither of
these prerequisite events had occurred at the time Cary Creek filed
its claim, there had been no taking and there was no concrete con-
troversy ripe for adjudication. See Messer v. Town of Chapel Hill, 125
N.C. App. 57, 61, 479 S.E.2d 221, 223, vacated as moot, 346 N.C. 259,
485 S.E.2d 269 (1997) (stating that “land-use challenges are not ripe
for review until there has been a final decision about what uses of the
property will be permitted”). We reverse the trial court’s order deny-
ing the Town’s motion to dismiss as to this claim. Further, because
Cary Creek’s inverse condemnation claim was not ripe and should
have been dismissed, we also vacate the trial court’s grant of sum-
mary judgment to the Town on this claim.

1

[8] Cary Creek argues that the Court erred in granting summary
judgment to the Town on Cary Creek’s declaratory judgment claim.
We disagree.

In a declaratory judgment action to determine the validity of a
zoning ordinance, “summary judgment is properly granted where the
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pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on
file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine
issue as to any material fact and that any party is entitled to a judg-
ment as a matter of law.” Laurel Valley Watch, Inc., — N.C. App.
at ——, 665 S.E.2d at 565 (internal quotation marks and citations omit-
ted). “[A]n appellate court reviews the trial court’s decision de nowvo,
with the evidence to be viewed in the light most favorable to the non-
movant.” Granville Farms, Inc. v. County of Granville, 170 N.C.
App. 109, 111, 612 S.E.2d 156, 158 (2005).

Cary Creek moved for partial summary judgment on its declara-
tory judgment claim, arguing that the State’s regulation of riparian
buffers preempted any attempt by the Town to implement more strin-
gent regulations. The trial court did not explain the basis for its grant
of summary judgment as to Cary Creek’s declaratory judgment and
inverse condemnation claims in the order entered 14 January 2009
titled “Summary Judgment in Favor of the Town on Counts I and II”.
However, in its order granting partial summary judgment in favor of
the Town in response to Cary Creek’s motion, also entered 14 January
2009, the trial court states that “the local laws challenged in this
action are not in conflict with or preempted by general State law”.

In Granville Farms, Inc., we also considered whether an “ordi-
nance was preempted because it purports to regulate a field for
which a state or federal statute clearly shows a legislative intent to
provide a complete and integrated regulatory scheme to the exclu-
sion of local regulation.” Id. That case concerned the land application
of biosolids and we noted that the relevant “statute, coupled with the
permit requirements set forth in the applicable regulations, are so
comprehensive in scope that they were intended to comprise a
‘complete and integrated regulatory scheme’ on a statewide basis,
thus leaving no room for further local regulation.” Id. at 116, 612
S.E.2d at 161.

In contrast, the State’s watershed management system both pro-
vides minimal protections which local governments must enforce,
and explicitly permits local ordinances which are more protective
than those minimal state-wide standards. North Carolina General
Statute section 143-214.5, titled “Water supply watershed protection”,
contains a policy statement which provides, in pertinent part:

This section provides for a cooperative program of water supply
watershed management and protection to be administered by
local governments consistent with minimum statewide man-
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agement requirements established by the [Environmental
Management] Commission. If a local government fails to adopt a
water supply watershed protection program or does not ade-
quately carry out its responsibility to enforce the minimum water
supply watershed management requirements of its approved pro-
gram, the Commission shall administer and enforce the minimum
statewide requirements.

N.C. Gen. Stat. § 143-214.5(a) (2007) (emphasis added). This statute
further specifies that local governments, such as the Town, may
implement more restrictive local ordinances:

(d) Mandatory Local Programs.—The Department shall assist lo-
cal governments to develop water supply watershed protection
programs that comply with this section. Local government com-
pliance programs shall include an implementing local ordinance
and shall provide for maintenance, inspection, and enforcement
procedures. As part of its assistance to local governments, the
Commission shall approve and make available a model local
water supply watershed management and protection ordinance.
The model management and protection ordinance adopted by the
Commission shall, at a minimum, include as options (i) control-
ling development density, (ii) providing for performance-based
alternatives to development density controls that are based on
sound engineering principles, and (iii) a combination of both (i)
and (ii). Local governments shall administer and enforce the min-
imum management requirements. Every local government that
has within its jurisdiction all or a portion of a water supply water-
shed shall submit a local water supply watershed management
and protection ordinance to the Commission for approval. Local
governments may adopt such ordinances pursuant to their gen-
eral police power, power to regulate the subdivision of land,
zoning power, or any combination of such powers. In adopting
a local ordinance that imposes water supply watershed man-
agement requirements that are more stringent than those
adopted by the Commission, a county must comply with the
notice provisions of G.S. 153A-343 and a municipality must
comply with the notice provisions of G.S. 160A-384. This sec-
tion shall not be construed to affect the validity of any local
ordinance adopted for the protection of water supply water-
sheds prior to completion of the review of the ordinance by the
Commission or prior to the assumption by the Commission of
responsibility for a local water supply watershed protection
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program. Local governments may create or designate agencies to
administer and enforce such programs. The Commission shall
approve a local program only if it determines that the require-
ments of the program equal or exceed the minimum statewide
water supply watershed management requirements adopted pur-
suant to this section.

N.C.G.S. § 143-214.5(d). Thus, the relevant statute specifically con-
templates that local governments, such as the Town, will enact their
own watershed protection ordinances and may enact more stringent
provisions than the minimum requirements established by the
Environmental Management Commission (“EMC”). Further, despite
contentions by Cary Creek that the Town had not received ap-
proval from the EMC for its riparian buffer ordinances, N.C.G.S.
§ 143-214.5(d) specifies that its approval requirements “shall not be
construed to affect the validity of any local ordinance adopted for the
protection of water supply watersheds prior to completion of the
review of the ordinance by the Commission.” Id.

In addition, in 2000, the Town sought an interbasin transfer cer-
tificate (“IBT”) to permit it to discharge drinking water obtained from
Jordan Lake into the Neuse River Basin. The EMC issued an IBT to
the Town in 2001, which required the Town to adopt ordinances cre-
ating riparian buffers “similar to or more protective than the Neuse
River buffer rule.” This IBT mandate, along with the language of
N.C.G.S. §§ 143-214.5 and 143-214.23(a), indicates that watershed pro-
tection is not a “field for which a state or federal statute clearly shows
a legislative intent to provide a complete and integrated regulatory
scheme to the exclusion of local regulation.” Granville Farms, Inc.,
170 N.C. App. at 111, 612 S.E.2d at 158. Rather, the statutes anticipate
that local governments will enact ordinances more restrictive than
those minimal standards established by our statutes. Thus, the trial
court did not err in granting summary judgment to the Town and con-
cluding that “the local laws challenged in this action are not in con-
flict with or preempted by general State law.”

Cary Creek’s brief relies largely on our unpublished opinion in
Hashemi, supra. However, Cary Creek fails to note that Hashemi
was unpublished in its brief to this Court and did not serve this Court
with a copy of the opinion as required. N.C.R. App. P. 30(e)(3). Where
a party cites an unpublished opinion but fails to comply with the
requirement that it “serve[] a copy thereof on all other parties in the
case and on the court,” we may decline to consider the unpublished
case. State ex rel. Utils. Comm™n v. Town of Kill Devil Hills,—— N.C.
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App. —, —n.1, 670 S.E.2d 341, 346 n.1 (2009) (quoting N.C.R. App.
P. 30(e)(3)). Moreover, “[aln unpublished decision of the North
Carolina Court of Appeals is not controlling legal authority.” N.C.R.
App. P. 30(e)(3).

In any event, Cary Creek’s reliance on Hashemi is misplaced.
That unpublished opinion required this Court to review the trial
court’s grant of a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss, a ruling based
solely on the pleadings. The only issue we addressed in Hashem?i
was whether the plaintiff had stated a claim. Here, in contrast, we
review a grant of summary judgment based on an extensive record,
running to eight volumes, and including the EMC/IBT requirement not
present in Hashemi. Further, in Hashemi, we did not consider
N.C.G.S. § 143-214.5. Instead, we relied solely on N.C. Gen. Stat.
§ 143-214.23(a), titled “Riparian Buffer Protection Program:
Delegation of riparian buffer protection requirements to local gov-
ernments,” which provides, in pertinent part, that “units of local gov-
ernment may adopt ordinances and regulations necessary to establish
and enforce the State’s riparian buffer protection requirements.”
N.C.G.S. § 143-214.23(a) (2007). On the record of the present case,
wherein the trial court considered extensive evidence about N.C.G.S.
§ 143-214.5 in connection with the requirement from the EMC that the
Town adopt ordinances creating riparian buffers “similar to or more
protective than the Neuse River buffer rule,” we reach a different out-
come. Any discussion in Hashemi which may appear to hold that the
Town’s riparian buffer ordinances were preempted by State law was
dictum as that issue was not before this Court.

The concurring opinion states that “the Town’s ordinance is in-
valid” for failure to comply with requirements of the enabling statute,
N.C. Gen. Stat. § 160A-387. While acknowledging that Cary Creek
failed to make this argument at trial or on appeal, the concurrence
nonetheless creates an argument not supported by the record in this
case and contrary to our case law and Rules of Appellate Procedure.
See Viar v. N.C. DOT, 359 N.C. 400, 402, 610 S.E.2d 360, 361, reh’ing
denied, 359 N.C. 643, 617 S.E.2d 662 (2005) (per curiam); N.C.R. App.
P. 10(a) (“Except as otherwise provided herein, the scope of review
on appeal is confined to a consideration of those assignments of error
set out in the record on appeal in accordance with this Rule. . . .”);
N.C. R. App. P. 10(c)(1) (“Each assignment of error shall so far as
practicable, be confined to a single issue of law; and shall state
plainly, concisely and without argumentation the legal basis upon
which error is assigned.”)
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We have held that “[i]t is not the duty of this Court to supplement
an appellant’s brief with legal authority or arguments not contained
therein.” Goodson v. P.H. Glatfelter Co., 171 N.C. App. 596, 606, 615
S.E.2d 350, 358, disc. review denied, 360 N.C. 63, 623 S.E.2d 582
(2005). When the appellate courts construct an appeal on behalf of an
appellant, the “appellee is left without notice of the basis upon which
an appellate court might rule.” Viar, 359 N.C. at 402, 610 S.E.2d at 361.
The concurrence is correct that the record does not contain any infor-
mation about the existence of a map as part of the zoning ordinance.
However, the absence of a map in the record does not support state-
ments in the concurrence that the ordinance is invalid because it
“does not include an accompanying zoning map, which is controlled
and maintained by the Town itself.” Since Cary Creek never raised
this issue in the trial court or on appeal, the Town had no notice that
it should include such a map, if it exists, in its pleadings or in the
record on appeal. Further, as noted in Footnote 1, supra, “[t]he Town
has since revised its ordinances, but the parties have stipulated that
Cary Creek’s development is subject to the previous ordinance
scheme as discussed herein.” Thus, the ordinance in the form consid-
ered here no longer exists.

Affirmed in part, reversed in part and vacated in part.
Judge HUNTER, Robert C., concurs.
Judge JACKSON concurs by separate opinion.

JACKSON, Judge, concurring in a separate opinion.

I agree with the majority that we are bound to affirm the trial
court’s grant of summary judgment based upon the arguments pre-
sented to us. However, I write separately to note that the Town’s ordi-
nance is not in compliance with this Court’s precedent that clearly
requires a zoning ordinance to include an independent map con-
trolled by the municipality.

This Court previously has explained that

[a] suit to determine the validity of a zoning ordinance is a proper
case for a declaratory judgment. In such an action, summary
judgment is properly granted where the pleadings, depositions,
answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with
the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any
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material fact and that any party is entitled to a judgment as a
matter of law.

Laurel Valley Watch, Inc., 192 N.C. App. at 396, 665 S.E.2d at 565
(citations and internal quotation marks omitted). “A municipality has
no inherent power to zone its territory and possesses only such
power to zone as is delegated to it by the enabling statutes.” Nash-
Rocky Mount Bd. of Educ. v. Rocky Mount Bd. of Adjustment, 169
N.C. App. 587, 589, 610 S.E.2d 255, 258 (2005) (quoting Heaton v. City
of Charlotte, 277 N.C. 506, 513, 178 S.E.2d 352, 356 (1971)).
Accordingly, a municipality’s power to zone “ ‘is subject to the limita-
tions of the enabling act.”” Id. (quoting Allred v. Raleigh, 277 N.C.
530, 540, 178 S.E.2d 432, 437-38 (1971)).

Here, the “enabling act” is North Carolina General Statutes, sec-
tion 160A-387, which provides, in relevant part, that in order to exer-
cise its zoning authority, a city

shall create or designate a planning board under the provisions of
this Article or of a special act of the General Assembly. The plan-
ning board shall prepare or shall review and comment upon a pro-
posed zoning ordinance, including both the full text of such ordi-
nance and maps showing proposed district boundaries.

N.C. Gen. Stat. § 160A-387 (2005) (emphasis added). This statute,
therefore, requires both the written ordinance and an accompany-
ing map:

“[A] zoning ordinance must contain a map as well as detailed tex-
tual instructions. First, the text of the ordinance describes what
land uses are permitted in each district, what development stan-
dards have to be met in that district, and the like. . . . Second, a
map places the land in the jurisdiction into various zoning dis-
tricts. This map is an official part of the zoning ordinance.”

Town of Green Level v. Alamance County, 184 N.C. App. 665, 670, 646
S.E.2d 851, 855 (2007) (quoting David W. Owens, Introduction to
Zoning 23-24 (2d ed. 2001)).

In a case that addressed the parallel statute for counties, we
held that “U.S.G.S. [United States Geological Survey] maps could not
supply the required map” because “the U.S.G.S. maps were not part of
the . . . ordinance, and in fact, were not maintained or controlled by
the [municipality].” Id. at 672, 646 S.E.2d at 856. Additional statutes
that refer to a city’s zoning power acknowledge “the zoning map” as
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an integral piece of a zoning ordinance—a piece adopted, controlled,
and amended by the city in the same manner as its other legislative
enactments. See, e.g., N.C. Gen. Stat. § 160A-364 (2005); N.C. Gen.
Stat. § 160A-384 (2005).

Here, the Town’s ordinance requires a riparian buffer for “all
perennial and intermittent streams . . . as indicated on the most
recent version of the 1:20,000 scale (7.5 minutes) quadrangle topo-
graphic maps prepared by the United States Geological Survey
(USGS) . ...” The record neither includes nor suggests the existence
of a zoning map created by the Town as part of the challenged ordi-
nance. Instead, the ordinance relies upon a moving target: “the most
recent version” of a map prepared by an entity over which it exerts
no control.

Furthermore, the ordinance’s reference to a map outside its con-
trol significantly reduces the Town’s responsibility to provide notice
and an opportunity to be heard to those affected by its legislative
decisions. Effectively, the ordinance, its requirements, and its prohi-
bitions change any time the U.S.G.S. map changes, but the Town does
not give its residents notice of such change or any opportunity to
respond, because the wording of its ordinance has remained
unchanged. Again, these issues were not raised on appeal, but I
believe that the problems associated with an indefinite ordinance
warrant attention and discussion.

Based upon the explicit holding of Green Level and the mandates
of the North Carolina General Statutes, the Town’s ordinance is
invalid because it does not include an accompanying zoning map,
which is controlled and maintained by the Town itself. Nonetheless,
it is not the province of this Court to construct arguments for the par-
ties. Hyatt v. Town of Lake Lure, 191 N.C. App. 386, 389, 663 S.E.2d
320, 322 (2008) (“It is not the role of this Court to create an avenue of
appeal not properly asserted in plaintiff’s brief.”) (citing Jeffreys v.
Raleigh Oaks Joint Venture, 115 N.C. App. 377, 380, 444 S.E.2d 252,
254 (1994)). Accordingly, I am bound to affirm the trial court’s grant
of summary judgment to the Town.
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STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA v. MARIO RODRIQUESO WILSON, DEFENDANT

No. COA09-438
(Filed 16 March 2010)

Constitutional Law— effective assistance of counsel—no rea-
sonable probability of different outcome

Even assuming arguendo that the performance of defend-
ant’s trial counsel was deficient, defendant has not demon-
strated that there was a reasonable probability that the result of
the trial would have been different but for his trial counsel’s
actions given the overwhelming evidence supporting defendant’s
guilt as to the two charged offenses of attempted robbery with a
dangerous weapon and assault with a deadly weapon inflicting
serious injury.

Appeal by defendant from judgments entered 5 November 2008
by Judge Calvin E. Murphy in Superior Court, Mecklenburg County.
Heard in the Court of Appeals 30 September 2009.

Attorney General Roy A. Cooper, III, by Assistant Attorney
General Kimberley A. D’Arruda, for the State.

Parish, Cooke & Condlin, by James R. Parish, for defendant-
appellant.

STROUD, Judge.

Mario Rodriqueso Wilson (“defendant”) was convicted of at-
tempted robbery with a dangerous weapon and assault with a deadly
weapon inflicting serious injury. Defendant appeals, arguing that he
did not receive effective assistance of counsel. For the following rea-
sons, we find no prejudicial error.

I. Background

The State’s evidence tended to show that on 31 December 2006
around 8:00 or 8:30 p.m., brothers Joseph Patrick Driver (“Joseph”)
and James Andrew Driver (“James”) drove to a check cashing place
on Central Avenue in Charlotte, North Carolina to pick up $200 wired
from Western Union for their roommate Randie Greenhough. The
wired money was put in Joseph’s name. Joseph parked his car in a
parking lot adjacent to the check cashing place and went in, while
James waited in the car. As Joseph walked back to the car, defendant
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confronted him with a gun, pointed it at his chest, and demanded
money. Joseph reached his car and yelled for help. James got out of
the car, and defendant pointed the gun back and forth between
Joseph and James. Joseph grabbed defendant’s arm and a struggle
ensued. Joseph pushed defendant’s arm up, but defendant turned his
wrist and shot Joseph twice. One shot entered his chest, with the bul-
let lodging in his pelvis; the other bullet shattered his femur. James
then joined in the struggle and defendant, Joseph, and James fell to
the ground. In an attempt to disarm defendant, James bit defendant’s
finger. Defendant let go of the gun, and James grabbed the gun and hit
defendant in the face with it. Defendant then tried to get the gun back
from James but was unsuccessful and ran away. When Charlotte-
Mecklenburg police officers arrived at the scene, they found a cell
phone and a handgun lying on the ground in the parking lot.

As a result of his wounds, Joseph was unconscious for seven
days and hospitalized for a total of thirty-two days. He had several
surgeries, including chest surgery to insert lung tubes, exploratory
surgery in his stomach, a tracheotomy, and surgery to repair his leg
by insertion of a rod from his knee to his hip. Joseph admitted to try-
ing marijuana, cocaine and heroin, but he was not using or looking to
buy any drugs on 31 December 2006.

Thomas Ledford, a detective with Charlotte-Mecklenburg Police
Department’s armed robbery unit, testified that he obtained a court
order to get the subscriber records of the cell phone found at the
crime scene and determined that its registered owner was Calvin
Robinson of Shelby, North Carolina. Calvin Robinson told Detective
Ledford that his son, Orlando Robinson had the phone. Following his
conversation with Calvin Robinson, Detective Ledford then obtained
a photo of defendant from the Cleveland County Sheriff’s Office,
showed that photo of defendant to Calvin Robinson, made a photo-
graphic lineup containing defendant’s picture, and showed it to
James. James identified defendant as the man who shot his brother.
At trial, James admitted that he had a drug addiction to heroin and
that he had been using heroin the morning of 31 December 2006.
Detective Ledford interviewed defendant after his arrest, and defen-
dant never indicated that on 31 December 2006 defendant had
planned to sell drugs to Joseph or that he had met Joseph at a conve-
nience store prior to the confrontation. Instead, defendant stated that
he planned to rob Joseph.

Defendant, testifying in his own defense, stated that on 31 De-
cember 2006 he rode with Steven Bess and Orlando Robinson to
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Charlotte from Shelby to sell some powder cocaine to a girl that Mr.
Bess knew. They were to meet her at a convenience store in
Charlotte. Defendant met with the girl at the convenience store, but
she refused to buy the drugs. While he was in the convenience store,
defendant first saw Joseph Driver. Defendant testified that he
stepped out of the store and Joseph approached defendant and asked
if defendant had any drugs to sell. Defendant agreed to sell Joseph
some drugs but Joseph said that he did not have any money on him
and asked defendant to meet him at the check cashing place down the
street so he could get some money. Mr. Bess drove to “a seafood
restaurant” next to the check cashing place on Central Avenue to
meet Joseph. Mr. Bess gave defendant a gun, and defendant had
Mr. Robinson’s cell phone. Defendant stated he met Joseph behind
the seafood restaurant by a dumpster. Defendant testified that he
had the drugs in his hand and showed the drugs to Joseph, but Joseph
did not appear to have any money in his hand. Defendant then stated
that Joseph grabbed at the drugs and a struggle ensued. Defendant
went for his gun, which was tucked into the front of his pants, and
defendant and Joseph fell to the ground. Defendant stated that
Joseph was on top of him and the gun fired, but defendant did not
know if he or Joseph had pulled the trigger. Defendant stated that the
drugs and cell phone dropped to the ground. Another male came to
Joseph’s aid and was able to take the gun away from defendant and
hit defendant with it. Defendant then got up and ran. Defendant went
back to the convenience store and eventually found Mr. Bess and Mr.
Robinson, and they returned to Shelby. Defendant stated that it was
not his intention to rob Joseph but “to sell the drugs and go on about
my business.”

On 13 October 2008, defendant was indicted for attempted rob-
bery with a dangerous weapon and assault with a deadly weapon with
intent to kill inflicting serious injury. Defendant was tried on these
charges at the 3 November 2008 Criminal Session of Superior Court,
Mecklenburg County. On 5 November 2008, the jury found defendant
guilty of attempted robbery with a dangerous weapon and assault
with a deadly weapon inflicting serious injury. The trial court then
sentenced defendant to 51 to 71 months imprisonment for the at-
tempted robbery with a dangerous weapon and a consecutive term of
20 to 33 months for the assault with a deadly weapon inflicting seri-
ous injury. Defendant was also ordered to pay court costs, a fine of
$100 and restitution to Joseph Driver in the amount of $750.
Defendant gave oral notice of appeal at trial.
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II. Ineffective Assistance of Counsel

Defendant contends that because of his trial counsel’s conduct,
he was denied effective assistance of counsel.

To successfully assert an ineffective assistance of counsel claim,
defendant must satisfy a two-prong test. First, he must show that
counsel’s performance fell below an objective standard of rea-
sonableness. Second, once defendant satisfies the first prong, he
must show that the error committed was so serious that a rea-
sonable probability exists that the trial result would have been
different absent the error.

State v. Martin, —— N.C. App. —, ——, 671 S.E.2d 53, 56 (2009) (quot-
ing State v. Blakeney, 3562 N.C. 287, 307-08, 531 S.E.2d 799, 814-15
(2000) (citations omitted), cert. denied, 531 U.S. 1117, 148 L. Ed. 2d
780 (2001)).

Our Supreme Court has held that, “if a reviewing court can deter-
mine at the outset that there is no reasonable probability that in the
absence of counsel’s alleged errors the result of the proceeding
would have been different, then the court need not determine
whether counsel’s performance was actually deficient.” State v.
Braswell, 312 N.C. 553, 563, 324 S.E.2d 241, 249 (1985). “[T]o establish
prejudice, a ‘defendant must show that there is a reasonable proba-
bility that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of
the proceeding would have been different. A reasonable probability
is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the out-
come.”” State v. Poindexter, 359 N.C. 287, 291, 608 S.E.2d 761, 764
(2005) (quoting Wiggins v. Smith, 539 U.S. 510, 534, 156 L. Ed. 2d
471, 493 (2003))

“In general, claims of ineffective assistance of counsel should be
considered through motions for appropriate relief and not on direct
appeal.” State v. Stroud, 147 N.C. App. 549, 553, 557 S.E.2d 544,
547 (2001), cert. denied, 356 N.C. 623, 575 S.E.2d 758 (2002).
However, ineffective assistance of counsel “claims brought on direct
review will be decided on the merits when the cold record reveals
that no further investigation is required, i.e., claims that may be devel-
oped and argued without such ancillary procedures as the appoint-
ment of investigators or an evidentiary hearing.” State v. Fair, 354
N.C. 131, 166, 557 S.E.2d 500, 524 (2001), cert. denied, 535 U.S. 1114,
153 L. Ed. 2d 162 (2002). “Accordingly, should the reviewing court
determine that [ineffective assistance of counsel] claims have been
prematurely asserted on direct appeal, it shall dismiss those claims
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without prejudice to the defendant’s right to reassert them during a
subsequent [motion for appropriate relief] proceeding.” Id. at 167,
557 S.E.2d at 525.

Defendant presents three instances of conduct by his trial coun-
sel that he argues denied him his right to effective assistance of coun-
sel: (1) on cross-examination of Detective Angela Caroway, defend-
ant’s trial counsel brought out the fact to the jury that defendant
turned himself in for unrelated robbery charges and was in custody
on those charges when Detective Caroway arrived to interview de-
fendant in Shelby when these facts could not have been brought out
before the jury by the State; (2) defendant’s trial counsel failed to
impeach State’s witness Randie Greenhough with her prior convic-
tions of assault, disorderly conduct or attempted robbery; and (3)
defendant’s trial counsel was unable to introduce defense exhibit 6,
which is a medical record of Joseph which noted a “polysubstance
abuse history[,]” due to defense counsel’s lack of preparation, con-
sisting of not having any witness available through whom the medical
record could be introduced without a stipulation by the State. As
these three instances may be determined from the record alone,
we will decide them on the merits. See Fair, 3564 N.C. at 166, 557
S.E.2d at 524.

Defendant was convicted of one count of assault with a deadly
weapon inflicting serious injury pursuant to N.C. Gen. Stat. § 14-32(b)
and one count of attempted robbery with a dangerous weapon pur-
suant to N.C. Gen. Stat. § 14-87. “The elements of a charge under G.S.
§ 14-32(b) are (1) an assault (2) with a deadly weapon (3) inflicting
serious injury (4) not resulting in death.” State v. Woods, 126 N.C.
App. 581, 592, 486 S.E.2d 255, 261 (1997) (citation and quotation
marks omitted). The elements of attempted robbery with a dangerous
weapon are “(1) the unlawful attempted taking of personal property
from another, (2) the possession, use or threatened use of ‘firearms
or other dangerous weapon, implement or means,’ and (3) danger or
threat to the life of the victim.” State v. Torbit, 77 N.C. App. 816, 817,
336 S.E.2d 122, 123 (1985) (citation omitted), appeal dismissed and
cert. denied, 316 N.C. 201, 341 S.E.2d 573 (1986).

Even assuming arguendo that the performance of defendant’s
trial counsel was deficient for the above reasons, defendant has not
demonstrated that there is a “reasonable probability” that the result
of the trial would have been different but for his trial counsel’s
actions. Poindexter, 359 N.C. at 291, 608 S.E.2d at 764. There was
overwhelming evidence before the jury to support defendant’s guilt as
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to the two charged offenses. The victim, Joseph Driver testified that
he drove to the check cashing store to pick up money wired to his
roommate. While returning to his car, Joseph was approached by a
man who pointed a gun to his chest and demanded money. At trial,
Joseph identified defendant as the man who approached him with a
gun. Joseph testified that defendant “had the gun so close to me that
at the time I was really fearing for my life[.]” Confirming Joseph’s tes-
timony, James Driver testified that he heard defendant say to Joseph,
“you’re gonna give me the money.” Both Joseph and James testified
that: when Joseph grabbed defendant’s arm, a struggle ensued with
defendant; James came to Joseph’s assistance; and during that strug-
gle defendant turned his wrist and shot Joseph twice with the gun.
The transcript of a recorded Charlotte-Mecklenburg Police Depart-
ment interview with Joseph on or about 26 January 2007 also con-
firms that Joseph was approached by a black male with a gun in the
parking lot adjacent to the check cashing place, that the man
demanded money, and that Joseph was shot during that confronta-
tion. James also identified defendant in a police photo line-up and at
trial as the man who demanded money from Joseph, pointed a gun at
him, and shot him.

More importantly, in defendant’s own statement to police on or
about 9 April 2007, defendant said that he intended to rob Joseph
Driver on 31 December 2006. Defendant’s statement to police also
supports Joseph’s and James’s trial testimony regarding this con-
frontation: defendant approached a man going to his car in the park-
ing lot beside the check cashing store in an attempt to rob him; de-
fendant drew his semi-automatic handgun; another man came to the
first man’s aid; a struggle ensued; defendant started shooting; one of
the men got control of the gun and began hitting defendant with it;
and defendant then ran away. Defendant did not tell the police that
his intention was to sell drugs to Joseph or that defendant had met
Joseph at a convenience store prior to their confrontation.

In addition to the evidence regarding the details of the commis-
sion of the robbery and the shooting as noted above, Joseph admitted
in his testimony that he had used marijuana, cocaine, and heroin.
Although a medical report mentioning Joseph’s “polysubstance
abuse” could have tended to support defendant’s claim that he was
trying to sell drugs to Joseph and not to rob him, Joseph did not deny
that he had used illegal drugs, although he denied that he was seek-
ing to buy drugs on 31 December 2006. It is highly unlikely that the
admission of the medical report would have made any difference in
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the outcome of the case. Likewise, Randie Greenhough’s testimony
did not provide any additional evidence of defendant’s guilt but sim-
ply corroborated Joseph and James Driver’s story regarding the rea-
son they went to the check cashing store. Defense counsel did seek
to impeach Ms. Greenhough’s credibility by questioning her about the
prescription drugs she was taking at the time she testified, as well as
on 31 December 2006, and regarding her prior cocaine use. It is
doubtful that further impeachment of Ms. Greenhough regarding her
prior convictions would have made any difference in the outcome of
the case.

In light of all the evidence presented as to defendant’s guilt, we
conclude that even if defendant’s arrest for unrelated charges had not
been disclosed, Ms. Greenhough had been cross examined about her
prior convictions, and Joseph’s medical record showing “polysub-
stance abuse” had been introduced into evidence, it is not probable
that the jury would have reached a different result as to any of de-
fendant’s charges. See Poindexter, 359 N.C. at 291, 608 S.E.2d at 764.

III. Conclusion

As, there is no “reasonable probability” that in the absence of
defendant’s trial counsel’s alleged errors “the trial result would have
been different[,]” Martin, — N.C. App. at —, 671 S.E.2d at 56, we
find no prejudicial error.

NO PREJUDICIAL ERROR.

Judges GEER and ERVIN concur.

THE STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN
SERVICES, DIVISION OF MEDICAL ASSISTANCE, PrLAINTIFF v. EMILY
ARMSTRONG, BY AND THROUGH HER GUARDIAN AD LITEM, STEPHANIE GIBBS,
SANDRA ARMSTRONG anp WILLIAM ARMSTRONG, INDIVIDUALLY, DEFENDANTS

No. COA09-639
(Filed 16 March 2010)

Abatement— prior pending action—federal lawsuit

The trial court erred by denying defendants’ motion to abate
this state lawsuit based upon a prior pending action in a federal
lawsuit. Both lawsuits involve substantial identity as to the par-
ties, subject matter, issues, and remedies sought.
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Appeal by defendants from order entered 20 January 2009 by
Judge James W. Morgan in Superior Court, Catawba County. Heard in
the Court of Appeals 29 October 2009.

Attorney General Roy A. Cooper, I11, by Special Deputy Attorney
General Belinda A. Smith, for plaintiff-appellee.

Kirby & Holt, L.L.P, by C. Mark Holt and William B.
Bystrynski and Sigmon, Clark, Mackie, Hutton, Hanvey &
Ferrell, PA., by Jeffrey T. Mackie, for defendant-appellants.

STROUD, Judge.

Emily, Sandra, and William Armstrong (collectively “the
Armstrongs”) filed a motion to abate this lawsuit filed against them
by the State of North Carolina Department of Health and Human
Services, Division of Medical Assistance because of a prior pending
federal court case arising out of the same subject matter. The trial
court denied the Armstrongs’ motion, and they appealed. For the fol-
lowing reasons, we reverse.

I. Background

On or about 21 February 2003 the Armstrongs filed a complaint
seeking damages for medical malpractice against James Barnes,
M.D., Newton Women’s Care, P.A., Catawba Memorial Hospital, Inc.,
and Catawba Valley Medical Center, Inc. (collectively “2003 defend-
ants”). The Armstrongs alleged that Emily was injured during her
birth by the 2003 defendants’ negligence, causing her serious perma-
nent injuries, including cerebral palsy and severe disabilities requir-
ing daily skilled nursing care and several forms of therapy.

On 14 November 2006, the Armstrongs and the 2003 defendants
settled the medical malpractice case. As part of the settlement order
(“2006 Settlement Order”), the trial court ordered

[d]efendants James Barnes, M.D. and Newton Women'’s Care, P.A.,
and their insurer, are authorized and directed to pay into the
Catawba County Clerk of Court’s office the sum set out in the
Settlement Schedule as the maximum potential amount of the
Medicaid lien, as provided by N.C. Gen. Stat. § 108A-57, to be held
in an interest-bearing account until such time as the actual
amount of the lien owed by Emily Armstrong to the North
Carolina Division of Medical Assistance is conclusively judicially
determined. The funds can only be ordered to pay the lien or
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distributed to the Emily M. Armstrong Irrevocable Special
Needs Trust.

A. Federal Lawsuit

On or about 22 March 2007, Emily Armstrong filed a lawsuit
against Carmen Odom in her official capacity as Secretary of
the North Carolina Department of Health and Human Services
(“DHHS”) in federal court (“federal lawsuit”). Emily Armstrong
requested, inter alia:

1. A judgment declaring that Defendant DHHS does not have
a lien on the proceeds from the minor Plaintiff’s personal injury
action now held in the Catawba County Clerk’s office.

2. A judgment declaring that G.S. § 108A-57 and § 108A-59 are
unconstitutional under the Supremacy Clause of the United
States Constitution to the extent that these statutes allow
Defendant DHHS to impose a lien on compensation for damages
other than medical expenses in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1396a, 42
U.S.C. § 1396k, and 42 U.S.C. § 1396p.

3. A judgment enjoining Defendant DHHS from imposing a
lien on the proceeds from the minor Plaintiff’s personal injury
action and from enforcing G.S. § 108A-57 and § 108A-59 in a man-
ner that violates federal law;

4. An order that the Clerk of Court of Catawba County pay
the entire sum held out of the proceeds of Emily Armstrong’s
settlement to The Emily M. Armstrong Irrevocable Special
Needs Trust.

On or about 6 July 2009, Emily’s federal complaint was amended to
add Sandra and William Armstrong as parties. The amended com-
plaint also substituted Lanier Cansler for Carmen Odom, in his offi-
cial capacity as Secretary of DHHS.

B. Current Pending State Lawsuit

On or about 24 September 2007, the State of North Carolina
Department of Health and Human Services, Division of Medical
Assistance (“DHHS”) filed a complaint against James Barnes, M.D.,
Newton Women’s Care, P.A., Catawba Memorial Hospital, Inc.,
Catawba Valley Medical Center, Inc., Emily, Sandra, and William
Armstrong (collectively “2007 defendants”) requesting that the trial
court order disbursement of the funds being held by the Catawba
Clerk of Court pursuant to the 2006 Settlement Order. DHHS alleged:
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1. The Honorable Thomas Kincaid sitting for the Superior
Court of Catawba County approved a settlement secured on
behalf of Emily Armstrong, a minor, and her parents through their
lawsuit for medical malpractice and negligence; the order was
entered under seal in case number 03 CVS 525. Judge Kincaid,
pursuant to his authority granted the Superior Courts of North
Carolina under G.S. § 1-5608, placed the full amount of the Division
of Medical Assistance’s lien for medical payments in escrow with
the Clerk of Court of Catawba County for future disbursement.

2. Under N.C.G.S. § 108A-57 . . . the State’s mandated statu-
tory recovery of medical expenses from the settlement received
by Emily Armstrong and Mr. and Mrs. Armstrong is one-third the
gross amount of the settlement, i.e., the full amount placed in
escrow by Judge Kincaid.

3. Emily Armstrong received $1,903,004.37 in medical pay-
ments by the State of North Carolina for medical care related to
the settlement she and her parents received.

4. Under N.C.G.S. § 108A-57, the State is capped at recover-
ing one-third the gross amount of settlement.

5. The funds held in escrow by the Clerk of Court are the last
remaining funds to be disbursed from the settlement.

Eventually all of the 2007 defendants were dismissed with preju-
dice from DHHS’s state lawsuit except for the Armstrongs. The
Armstrongs filed an answer, asserting as defenses failure to state a
claim pursuant to North Carolina Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6)
and a “prior pending action” as “Emily Armstrong . . . filed a
Complaint in the United States District Court for the Western District
of North Carolina, seeking a declaratory judgment that the State of
North Carolina improperly and unconstitutionally attempted to
impose a lien on funds[.]”

On or about 18 September 2008, DHHS filed a motion for sum-
mary judgment. On 2 January 2009, the Armstrongs filed a motion to
dismiss or abate DHHS’s action due to the prior pending action in fed-
eral court. The Armstrongs alleged:

1. This claim arises out of an assertion by the State of
North Carolina that it has a lien for one-third of the proceeds of a
tort recovery received by Emily Armstrong, a 8-year-old girl suf-
fering from cerebral palsy who lives with her parents in
Alexander County.
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2. Emily Armstrong, through her guardian ad litem, filed an
underlying tort complaint in state court, stating that she suffered
cerebral palsy as a result of injuries she suffered at her birth
caused by the negligence of the doctor who delivered her and the
hospital personnel. As a result of those injuries, Emily cannot sit,
crawl, walk or talk. Emily receives skilled nursing care that is
paid for by the Medicaid program.

3. As part of Emily’s settlement of the tort claim, Defendant
DHHS was notified of the hearing for approval of the minor’s
settlement. On November 13, 2006, a hearing was held and
the settlement was approved. The DHHS attorneys did not attend
the hearing.

4. At that hearing, Judge Timothy S. Kincaid determined the
maximum amount that DHHS could seek to recover as its lien and
ordered that amount paid into the Catawba County Clerk of
Court’s office.

5. Judge Kincaid further ordered the dismissal of the under-
lying tort claim, once the defendants in that claim had fulfilled
their obligations, and that underlying claim was dismissed with
prejudice December 12, 2006.

5. (sic) On March 22, 2007, Emily Armstrong filed a claim in
U.S. District Court, Western District of North Carolina, under 42
U.S.C. § 1983, seeking declaratory and injunctive relief and claim-
ing that the State of North Carolina is violating 42 U.S.C. § 1396p,
the federal Medicaid anti-lien statute, and is in violation of the
Supremacy Clause and the Equal Protection Clause of the
Constitution of the United States by insisting it is entitled to one-
third of Emily Armstrong’s settlement. In their lawsuit, plaintiffs
sought to have the federal court determine the proper amount of
the funds held in the Catawba County Clerk of Court’s office that
should be allocated to Medicaid’s lien.

6. On September 24, 2007, more than six months after Emily
Armstrong filed suit in U.S. District Court, the State of North
Carolina filed the instant suit against Emily Armstrong, asking
this court to award it all of the money held in the Catawba County
Clerk’s office.

7. The case filed in March, 2007, in the U.S. District Court
in the Western District of North Carolina involves a substan-
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tial identity of parties, interests, and relief demanded with the
instant case.

On 28 January 2008, the trial court denied the Armstrongs’ motion to
dismiss or abate and scheduled a hearing for DHHS’s motion for sum-
mary judgment. The Armstrongs appealed.

II. Abatement

Our courts have previously determined that an order denying a
motion for abatement due to a prior pending action is immediately
appealable. See Atkins v. Nash, 61 N.C. App. 488, 489, 300 S.E.2d 880,
881 (1983). The Armstrongs argue that the trial court erred in denying
their motion to abate this state lawsuit based upon a prior pending
action, the federal lawsuit. “When a prior action is pending between
the same parties, affecting the same subject matter in a court within
the state or the federal court having like jurisdiction, the subsequent
action is wholly unnecessary and therefore, in the interest of judicial
economy, should be subject to a plea in abatement.” State ex rel.
Onslow County v. Mercer, 128 N.C. App. 371, 375, 496 S.E.2d 585, 587
(1998) (citations omitted). “Under North Carolina law, to prevail in a
plea in abatement, a defendant must show that the parties, subject
matter, issues and relief sought are the same in both the present and
prior actions.” Mercer at 372, 496 S.E.2d at 586 (citation omitted). “In
determining whether the parties and causes are the same for the pur-
pose of abatement by reason of the pendency of the prior actions, the
ordinary test is this: Do the two actions present a substantial identity
as to parties, subject matter, issues involved and relief demanded.”
Mercer at 375, 496 S.E.2d at 588 (citations and quotation marks omit-
ted). We will therefore address each of these factors.

The parties to the federal lawsuit are the Armstrongs and Lanier
Cansler in his official capacity as secretary of DHHS. In this state
lawsuit, after the other defendants who no longer have any interest in
the case were dismissed, the parties are now the Armstrongs and
DHHS. Thus, the parties in both the federal lawsuit and this action
are the same.

The Armstrongs argue as to the subject matter of the two actions
that “[t]he federal court claim seeks money [in the Catawba County
Clerk’s office] on behalf of Emily Armstrong, and the state court
claim seeks that money on behalf of DHHS.” We agree with the
Armstrongs’ argument that the subject matter of both lawsuits is the
funds held by the Catawba County Clerk’s office based upon the 2006
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Settlement Order and DHHS’s lien asserted pursuant to N.C. Gen.
Stat. § 108A-57.

The issues which must be determined in the federal lawsuit and
in this state action are also substantially the same. The Armstrongs’
federal lawsuit challenges the validity of the lien, while DHHS'’s state
lawsuit seeks to recover the funds it alleges are subject to the lien. In
each case, the trial court must ultimately determine the issues raised
by the Armstrongs challenged to DHHS’s lien pursuant to N.C. Gen.
Stat. § 108A-57. Depending upon the resolution of those issues, the
trial court will order that the funds being held by the Clerk of Court
of Catawba County be distributed either to the Emily M. Armstrong
Irrevocable Special Needs Trust or to DHHS. Therefore, the issues are
also substantially similar.

Finally, all parties are seeking essentially the same remedy, as
both DHHS and the Armstrongs seek to have the lien funds released.
DHHS’s brief points out numerous “differences” between the federal
lawsuit and the state lawsuit. We are unpersuaded. In Clark v. Craven
Reg’l Med. Auth., 326 N.C. 15, 387 S.E.2d 168 (1990), the parties, sub-
ject matter, issues, and remedies requested were not identical. The
main legal contentions, however, were the same, and the North
Carolina Supreme Court therefore ultimately determined that

while these remedies are procedurally distinct, as applied in
these cases the intended result would be the same. In both cases,
plaintiffs have sought an equitable remedy which would have the
effect of compelling defendant to obtain a building permit and
pay fees to plaintiff City of New Bern rather than to the County of
Craven. Under these circumstances, we find that the remedies
requested by plaintiffs, while technically distinct from one an-
other, are substantially similar in the result sought. Furthermore,
we note that where an action is pending between the parties, a
plaintiff cannot bring another action involving the same subject
matter and the same defendant even where the first suit
demanded remedies clearly distinct from the second. In examin-
ing this question as long ago as 1936 in a case where the plaintiff
sought damages in the first suit and injunctive relief in a second
suit against the same defendant on the same grounds, this Court
concluded this is not only taking two bites at the cherry, but
biting in two places at the same time. In summary, we find the
parties, subject matter, issues involved and relief requested are
sufficiently similar to warrant issuance of the order of abatement
in this case.
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Clark at 22-23, 387 S.E.2d at 172-73 (citation and quotation marks
omitted). “In summary, we [too] find the parties, subject matter,
issues involved and relief requested are sufficiently similar to warrant
issuance of the order of abatement in this case.” Id. at 23, 387 S.E.2d
at 173.

III. Conclusion

As the federal lawsuit and this state lawsuit involve substantial
identity as to the parties, subject matter, issues, and remedies sought,
the trial court erred in denying the Armstrong’s motion to abate and
for this reason we reverse.

REVERSED.

Judges STEPHENS and BEASLEY concur.

STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA v. SANDY DELANDORE GRAVES

No. COA09-595
(Filed 16 March 2010)

1. Motor Vehicles— felony speeding to elude arrest—driving
while license revoked—motion to dismiss—sufficiency of
evidence

Although the trial court did not err by denying defendant’s
motion to dismiss the charge of felony speeding to elude arrest, it
erred by denying his motion to dismiss the crime of driving while
license revoked based on insufficient evidence as conceded by
the State in its brief.

2. Criminal Law— deviation from pattern jury instruction—
reasonable doubt

The trial court did not err or commit plain error by deviating
from the pattern jury instructions’ definition of reasonable doubt.
The trial court’s instruction was substantially correct and omis-
sion of the word “fully” did not constitute plain error.

3. Motor Vehicles— felony speeding to elude arrest—pattern
jury instruction

The trial court did not err or commit plain error by using the
pattern jury instruction for felony speeding to elude arrest even
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though defendant contended it contained a lower standard of
knowledge than that required by the statute. The instruction
merely allowed the jury to find either actual knowledge or
implied knowledge that the officer in question was a law enforce-
ment officer.

Appeal by defendant from judgments entered 7 January 2009 by
Judge James W. Webb in Rockingham County Superior Court. Heard
in the Court of Appeals 30 November 2009.

Attorney General Roy Cooper, by Assistant Attorney General
Kathryne E. Hathcock, for the State.

Cheshire, Parker, Schneider, Bryan & Vitale, by John Keating
Wiles, for defendant.

ELMORE, Judge.

A jury found Sandy Delandore Graves (defendant) guilty of the
following crimes: felony speeding to elude arrest, driving while
license revoked, reckless driving to endanger, and level two driving
while impaired. Following these convictions, defendant pled guilty to
being a habitual felon. The trial court sentenced defendant to 133 to
145 months’ imprisonment for felony speeding to elude arrest, 120
days’ imprisonment for driving while license revoked and reckless
driving to endanger, and twelve months’ imprisonment for driving
while impaired. Defendant now appeals. After careful consideration,
we vacate defendant’s conviction for driving while license revoked.
As to his other convictions, we find no error.

Around midnight on the evening of 24 July 2007, Detective David
Lamberth of the Eden Police Department responded to a radio com-
munications call for “a domestic in process in or around a dark blue
vehicle at the Patrick Street/Washington Street area of Eden.” When
Detective Lamberth arrived, he saw a dark blue car on Washington
Street. Detective Lamberth turned around to pursue the car, but
defendant, who was driving it, also turned around and drove in the
opposite direction down Washington Street. As Detective Lamberth
followed the blue car, he observed it speed up and ultimately achieve
a speed of sixty-five to seventy miles per hour. He saw the blue car
run three stop signs. Detective Lamberth activated his lights and
sirens after seeing defendant run the first of those stop signs. The
blue car eventually crossed over a yard, spun out, and hit a fire
hydrant and Detective Lamberth’s cruiser. Defendant then continued
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driving at approximately fifty-five miles per hour in a twenty-five mile
per hour zone, ran through a fourth stop sign, and veered across the
road into a residential yard. Defendant then stepped out of the car,
and Detective Lamberth restrained him.

The State indicted defendant for felony speeding to elude arrest,
driving while license revoked, reckless driving to endanger, driving
while impaired, and being a habitual felon. A jury convicted defend-
ant of the first four charges, and defendant pled guilty to being a
habitual felon. He now appeals.

[1] Defendant first argues that the trial court erred by denying his
motions to dismiss the charges of felony speeding to elude arrest, dri-
ving while license revoked, and being a habitual felon.

Our review of the trial court’s denial of a motion to dismiss is well
understood. [W]here the sufficiency of the evidence . . . is chal-
lenged, we consider the evidence in the light most favorable to
the State, with all favorable inferences. We disregard defendant’s
evidence except to the extent it favors or clarifies the State’s
case. When a defendant moves for dismissal, the trial court must
determine only whether there is substantial evidence of each
essential element of the offense charged and of the defendant
being the perpetrator of the offense. Substantial evidence is that
evidence which a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to
support a conclusion.

State v. Hinkle, 189 N.C. App. 762, 766, 659 S.E.2d 34, 36-37 (2008)
(quotations and citation omitted; alteration in original).

Accordingly, we begin with the elements of felony speeding to
elude arrest, set out in N.C. Gen. Stat. § 20-141.5, which provides, in
relevant part:

(a) It shall be unlawful for any person to operate a motor vehicle
on a street, highway, or public vehicular area while fleeing or
attempting to elude a law enforcement officer who is in the
lawful performance of his duties. Except as provided in subsec-
tion (b) of this section, violation of this section shall be a Class
1 misdemeanor.

(b) If two or more of the following aggravating factors are
present at the time the violation occurs, violation of this section
shall be a Class H felony.
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(1) Speeding in excess of 15 miles per hour over the legal
speed limit.

koK

(3) Reckless driving as proscribed by G.S. 20-140.

(4) Negligent driving leading to an accident causing . . .
[p]roperty damage in excess of one thousand dollars ($ 1,000)[.]

(5) Driving when the person’s drivers license is revoked.

N.C. Gen. Stat. § 20-141.5(a)-(b) (2009). Although there are eight
aggravating factors that elevate speeding to elude arrest from a mis-
demeanor to a felony, the State only argued the four factors listed
above. The jury had only to find that two of those four factors were
present in order to convict defendant of the crime. Defendant does
not challenge the sufficiency of the State’s evidence as to factors (1),
(3), and (4); it challenges only the sufficiency of factor (5). The State
concedes that it did not present sufficient evidence to either show
that defendant was driving with a revoked license for purposes of sat-
isfying the speeding to elude arrest statute or to maintain a convic-
tion for driving with license revoked.

The issue before us, then, is whether the State’s failure to present
sufficient evidence in support of one of four alleged aggravating
factors requires us to vacate the conviction, even though the State
presented sufficient evidence in support of the other three aggravat-
ing factors. In 2006, we answered this very question in the negative,
albeit in an unpublished case. State v. Owens, 178 N.C. App. 742, 632
S.E.2d 600, 2006 N.C. App. Lexis 1648 at *6 (2006). In Owens, the
defendant argued that the State did not present sufficient evidence of
reckless driving, and, thus, the court should have dismissed the
felony speeding to elude charge. Id. at *5. However, the defendant did
not challenge the sufficiency of the State’s evidence with respect to
speeding or reckless driving. Id. We explained:

Since defendant, in this case, has made no argument indicating
that the State did not prove factors (1) and (3), and since the
State was required to prove only two factors, we hold that the
trial court did not err in denying his motion to dismiss for insuf-
ficiency of the evidence.

Id. at *6 (citation omitted). “Although many of the enumerated aggra-
vating factors are in fact separate crimes under various provisions of
our General Statutes, they are not separate offenses . . ., but are
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merely alternate ways of enhancing the punishment for speeding to
elude arrest from a misdemeanor to a Class H felony.” State v.
Funchess, 141 N.C. App. 302, 309, 540 S.E.2d 435, 439 (2000); see also
State v. Moore, 315 N.C. 738, 743, 340 S.E.2d 401, 404 (1986)
(“Although the indictment may allege more than one purpose for the
kidnapping, the State has to prove only one of the alleged purposes in
order to sustain a conviction of kidnapping.”) (citations omitted).
Accordingly, the State need not present sufficient evidence to support
every alternative way of enhancing the punishment in order to sur-
vive a motion to dismiss for insufficiency of the evidence; it need only
present sufficient evidence of at least two alternatives.l

Because the State did not present sufficient evidence that defend-
ant committed the crime of driving with license revoked, as conceded
by the State in its brief, we vacate that conviction. However, we hold
that the trial court did not err by denying defendant’s motion to dis-
miss the charge of felony speeding to elude.

Defendant next makes two plain error arguments regarding jury
instructions. As to both arguments, we find no error, plain or other-
wise. “In criminal cases, a question which was not preserved by
objection noted at trial . . . may be made the basis of an assignment
of error where the judicial action questioned is specifically and dis-
tinctly contended to amount to plain error.” N.C.R. App. P. 10(c)(4)
(2008). “Plain error is error ‘so fundamental as to amount to a mis-
carriage of justice or which probably resulted in the jury reaching a
different verdict than it otherwise would have reached.”” State wv.
Leyva, 181 N.C. App. 491, 499, 640 S.E.2d 394, 399 (2007) (quoting
State v. Bagley, 321 N.C. 201, 213, 362 S.E.2d 244, 251 (1987)).

[2] Defendant argues that it was plain error for the trial court to devi-
ate from the pattern jury instructions’ definition of “reasonable

1. Defendant also argues that the trial court erred by submitting the driving while
license revoked aggravating factor to the jury because “it is impossible to tell which
two of the four alleged aggravating factors the jury found.” Here, defendant makes a
good point. See State v. Moore, 315 N.C. 738, 749, 340 S.E.2d 401, 408 (1986) (“It is gen-
erally prejudicial error for the trial judge to permit a jury to convict upon a theory not
supported by the evidence. The jury did not indicate which of the three purposes that
it was allowed to consider formed the basis for its verdict. Although two of the pur-
poses which the jury was allowed to consider were supported by the evidence, we can-
not say that the verdict was not based upon the purpose erroneously submitted.”) (cita-
tion omitted). However, defendant submits this argument as a rationale for holding
that the trial court erred by denying his motion to dismiss. Defendant did not object
to the jury instructions and did not assign error to them. Improper jury instructions are
simply not part of this Court’s criteria for reviewing a motion to dismiss and must
therefore have been separately preserved and argued.
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doubt,” which states, “Proof beyond a reasonable doubt is proof that
fully satisfies or entirely convinces you of the defendant’s guilt.”
(Emphasis added.) Here, while instructing the jury, the trial court
omitted the word “fully” from its definition of reasonable doubt.

Absent a specific request, the trial court is not required to define
reasonable doubt, but if the trial court undertakes to do so, the
definition must be substantially correct. Where there is a specific
request for a reasonable doubt instruction, the law does not
require the trial court to use the exact language of the requested
instruction. However, if the request is a correct statement of the
law and is supported by the evidence, the trial court must give the
instruction in substance.

State v. Miller, 344 N.C. 658, 671, 477 S.E.2d 915, 923 (1996) (cita-
tions omitted). Here, the trial court’s instruction was substantially
correct. The trial court’s omission of the word “fully” did not consti-
tute plain error.

[8] Defendant argues that it was plain error for the trial court to use
the pattern jury instructions for felony speeding to elude because
they contain a lower standard of knowledge than that required by the
statute. The relevant portion of the trial court’s instruction follows:

For you to find the Defendant guilty of this offense the State must
prove four things beyond a reasonable doubt. . . . Third, that the
Defendant was fleeing a law enforcement officer who was in the
lawful performance of his duties. An Eden, North Carolina police
officer is a law enforcement officer with authority to enforce the
motor vehicle laws. A person flees arrest or apprehension by a
law enforcement officer when he knows or has reasonable
grounds to know that an officer is a law enforcement officer, is
aware that the officer is attempting to arrest or apprehend him
and acts with the purpose of getting away in order to avoid arrest
or apprehension by the officer.

(Emphasis added.) Defendant argues that it is improper to allow a
jury to find knowledge based upon a defendant having “reasonable
grounds to know” that an officer is a police officer. “[W]e agree that
a defendant accused of violating N.C. Gen. Stat. § 20-141.5 must actu-
ally intend to operate a motor vehicle in order to elude law enforce-
ment officers[.]” State v. Woodard, 146 N.C. App. 75, 80, 552 S.E.2d
650, 654 (2001). However, “a defendant’s ‘guilty knowledge’ [can] be
either actual or implied from circumstances[.]” State v. Parker, 316
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N.C. 295, 303, 341 S.E.2d 555, 560 (1986) (citations omitted). Our
Supreme Court has held that a defendant’s reasonable belief of some-
thing equates to his implied guilty knowledge of that thing. Id. at 304,
341 S.E.2d at 560. Thus, the instruction in question merely allows a
jury to find either actual knowledge or implied knowledge that the
officer in question is a law enforcement officer and was not error.

For the foregoing reasons, we vacate defendant’s conviction for
driving while license revoked. However, we find that defendant oth-
erwise received a trial free from error. Because defendant’s convic-
tions for driving while license revoked and reckless driving to endan-
ger were consolidated for sentencing, we remand to the trial court
for resentencing consistent with this opinion.

Vacated in part; no error in part.

Chief Judge MARTIN and Judge GEER concur.

JOHN D. MUTER, PLAINTIFF V. LYNN M. MUTER, DEFENDANT

No. COA09-974
(Filed 16 March 2010)

Civil Procedure— stay of proceedings—denial not an abuse of
discretion
The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying defend-
ant’s motion to stay domestic proceedings in North Carolina
pending the resolution of an Ohio action because the trial court
considered the factors enumerated in Lawyers Mut. Liab. Ins.
Co. v. Nexsen Pruet Jacobs & Pollard, 112 N.C. App. 353. De-
fendant’s argument that various findings and conclusions in the
trial court’s order were not supported was not a proper issue for
consideration on appeal and defendant made no argument that
the trial court acted in a patently arbitrary manner.

Appeal by defendant from order entered 16 February 2009 by
Judge Albert A. Corbett, Jr., in Johnston County District Court. Heard
in the Court of Appeals 27 January 2010.
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Poyner Spruill L.L.P., by George K. Freeman, Jr., and
Andrew H. Erteschik, for plaintiff-appellee.

Armstrong & Armstrong, PA., by Marcia H. Armstrong and
L. Lamar Armstrong, Jr., and Ledolaw, by Michele A. Ledo, for
defendant-appellant.

BRYANT, Judge.

In October 2007, defendant Lynn M. Muter filed a complaint seek-
ing divorce and a determination of spousal support, property distrib-
ution, child custody and child support in the State of Ohio. After the
Ohio court entered a temporary order on spousal support, child cus-
tody and child support, plaintiff John D. Muter moved to stay and set
aside the support order. Before the Ohio court decided these motions,
plaintiff filed a complaint for divorce and a determination of spousal
support and property distribution in Johnston County, North
Carolina, on 11 February 2008. On 17 March 2008, plaintiff moved to
sever in order to have the absolute divorce claim heard immediately
and moved for summary judgment on the absolute divorce claim on
the basis of defendant’s failure to timely file a responsive pleading.
On 24 March 2008, defendant moved to dismiss for lack of personal
and subject matter jurisdiction and moved to continue any determi-
nation of plaintiff’s motions. On 4 April 2008, defendant moved to stay
the Johnston County action pending resolution of the action pending
in Ohio. On 7 April 2008, the trial court granted plaintiff’s motion to
sever and on 19 May 2008, granted plaintiff an absolute divorce. On 16
February 2009, the trial court denied defendant’s motion to stay. From
this order, defendant appeals. On 16 March 2009, defendant filed peti-
tions for writs of supersedeas and certiorari. This court allowed the
petitions 8 April 2009. As discussed below, we affirm.

Facts

The parties married in the State of Ohio in 1983 and had two chil-
dren. In May or June 1998, the parties and their children moved to
North Carolina, but defendant and the children returned to Ohio in
November of that year. After defendant filed for divorce in Ohio in
October 2007, plaintiff did not object to that state’s jurisdiction and
engaged in the litigation, including seeking a vocational assessment
for defendant. On 26 December 2007, the Ohio court entered an order
that plaintiff pay defendant more than $16,000 per month in spousal
and child support. On 3 January 2008, plaintiff moved to set aside the
order and to stay its implementation. On 11 February 2008, plaintiff
filed the instant action in the Johnston County District Court. On 27
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February 2008, the Ohio court denied plaintiff’s motion to stay.
Following the proceedings described supra, including the grant of an
absolute divorce by the Johnston County District Court on 19 May
2008, plaintiff moved for dismissal of the entire Ohio action on the
basis of the absolute divorce granted in this State. The Ohio court dis-
missed the entire action, but the Ohio Court of Appeals reversed on
23 December 2008, on grounds that the North Carolina divorce decree
did not address the remaining claims between the parties.

Defendant made five assignments of error which she brings for-
ward in five overlapping and contingent arguments in her brief to
this Court: denominated findings of fact 31-34 and 39-40 are actually
conclusions of law and are not supported by findings of fact; con-
clusions of law 6-12 are not supported by the findings; the relief
granted is unsupported by facts and conclusions; and the trial court
abused its discretion by abandoning consideration of the relevant
factors and in not considering the practical effects of the prior ac-
tion in Ohio. However, as discussed below, given the applicable
standard of review, we address defendant’s contentions as a single
argument: that the trial court abused its discretion in denying her
motion to stay. For the reasons discussed herein, we find no abuse of
discretion and affirm.

Analysis

As noted above, defendant argues that the trial court abused its
discretion in denying her motion to stay because various findings and
conclusions contained in the order are not supported and because the
court did not consider the factors relevant to deciding whether to
grant a stay. We disagree.

Defendant sought a stay under N.C. Gen. Stat. § 1-75.12, which
provides, in pertinent part:

(a) When Stay May be Granted.—If, in any action pending in any
court of this State, the judge shall find that it would work sub-
stantial injustice for the action to be tried in a court of this State,
the judge on motion of any party may enter an order to stay fur-
ther proceedings in the action in this State. A moving party under
this subsection must stipulate his consent to suit in another juris-
diction found by the judge to provide a convenient, reasonable
and fair place of trial.

N.C.G.S. § 1-75.12 (2009). The essential question for the trial court is
whether allowing the matter to continue in North Carolina would
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work a “substantial injustice” on the moving party. Motor Inn
Management, Inc. v. Irvin-Fuller Dev. Co., Inc., 46 N.C. App. 707,
711, 266 S.E.2d 368, 370, appeal dismissed and disc. review denied,
301 N.C. 93, 273 S.E.2d 299 (1980). In making this determination,

the trial court may consider the following factors: (1) the nature
of the case, (2) the convenience of the witnesses, (3) the avail-
ability of compulsory process to produce witnesses, (4) the rela-
tive ease of access to sources of proof, (5) the applicable law, (6)
the burden of litigating matters not of local concern, (7) the desir-
ability of litigating matters of local concern in local courts, (8)
convenience and access to another forum, (9) choice of forum by
plaintiff, and (10) all other practical considerations.

Lawyers Mut. Liab. Ins. Co. v. Nexsen Pruet Jacobs & Pollard, 112
N.C. App. 353, 356, 435 S.E.2d 571, 573 (1993) (citing Motor Inn
Management, Inc., 46 N.C. App. at 713, 266 S.E.2d at 371).

Our Courts have set forth our standard of review in such cases:

When evaluating the propriety of a trial court’s stay order the
appropriate standard of review is abuse of discretion. Home
Indem. Co. v. Hoechst-Celanese Corp., 99 N.C. App. 322, 325, 393
S.E.2d 118, 120 (1990), appeal dismissed and cert. denied, 327
N.C. 428, 396 S.E.2d 611 (1990). A trial court may be reversed for
abuse of discretion only if the trial court made “a patently arbi-
trary decision, manifestly unsupported by reason.” Buford v.
General Motors Corp., 339 N.C. 396, 406, 451 S.E.2d 293, 298
(1994). Rather, appellate review is limited to “insur[ing] that the
decision could, in light of the factual context in which it was
made, be the product of reason.” Little v. Penn Ventilator Co.,
317 N.C. 206, 218, 345 S.E.2d 204, 212 (1986).

Home Indem. Co. v. Hoechst Celanese Corp., 128 N.C. App. 113,
117-18, 493 S.E.2d 806, 809-10 (1997).

The intended operation of the [abuse of discretion] test may be
seen in light of the purpose of the reviewing court. Because the
reviewing court does not in the first instance make the judgment,
the purpose of the reviewing court is not to substitute its judg-
ment in place of the decision maker.

Little, 317 N.C. at 218, 345 S.E.2d at 212. In considering whether to
grant a stay under section 1-75.12, the trial court need not consider
every factor and will only be found to have abused its discretion
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when it “abandons any consideration of these factors.” Lawyers
Mut. Liab. Ins. Co., 112 N.C. App. at 357, 435 S.E.2d at 573-74. In addi-
tion, this Court has held that “it is not necessary that the trial court
find that all factors positively support a stay[.]” Id. at 3567, 435 S.E.2d
at 574.

Defendant argues that the trial court abandoned consideration of
the relevant factors. Our careful review of the order reveals that the
trial court, rather than “abandon[ing] any consideration of” the fac-
tors suggested in Lawyers Mutual, actually made specific findings
and conclusions on each of the suggested factors. For example, the
order states:

The Court finds the following as to The Factors and Other
Practical Considerations regarding the Motion to Stay pursuant
to N.C.G.S. §1-75.12:

31. Nature of the Case: This action involves the application for
equitable distribution and spousal support, as pleaded by both
parties.

32. Applicable Law: North Carolina law applies as to all aspects
of this action.

33. Convenience of Witnesses: Those who may testify as to the
date of separation and the assets which may be subject to equi-
table distribution will be predominantly from North Carolina.

34. Process to Compel Witness Attendance: North Carolina law
is well suited [sic] to compel attendance of in-state witnesses,
and to obtain the testimony of out-of-state witnesses.

35. Ease of Access to Sources of Proof: Because almost all of the
assets, both personal and real property, which may be subject to
equitable distribution are located in North Carolina, North
Carolina offers the easiest access to sources of proof.

The order goes on the include findings 36-40 on the “Burden of
Litigating Matters Not of Local Concern,” “Desirability of Litigating
Matters of Local Concern,” “Choice of Forum by Plaintiff,”
“Convenience of Access to Another Forum,” and six “Other Practical
Considerations.” The order tracks the factors and language suggested
in Lawyers Mutual.

Defendant also argues that various findings and conclusions in
the order are not supported. As discussed in detail above, this is not
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the question we consider on appeal from the trial court’s denial of a
section 1-75.12 motion to stay. We do not re-weigh the evidence
before the trial court or endeavor to make our own determination of
whether a stay should have been granted. Instead, mindful “not to
substitute [our] judgment in place of the [trial court’s]” Little, 317
N.C. at 218, 345 S.E.2d at 212, we consider only whether the trial
court’s denial was “a patently arbitrary decision, manifestly unsup-
ported by reason.” Buford, 339 N.C. at 406, 451 S.E.2d at 298.
Defendant makes no argument that the trial court acted in a patently
arbitrary manner, but rather argues that the trial court should have
resolved the factors differently. Here, as previously stated, the trial
court considered each of the relevant factors and made a reasoned
finding or conclusion as to each.

We find it useful to reiterate that defendant bore the burden
of persuading the trial court that allowing the North Carolina ac-
tion to proceed would “work a substantial injustice” on her. N.C.G.S.
§ 1-75.12. Defendant failed to carry this burden. Before the trial court,
defendant did not present any evidence or make any argument
addressing the relevant factors. In fact, after plaintiff’s counsel had
presented his arguments as to each of the factors, defendant’s coun-
sel advised the trial court that she did not wish to be heard on the fac-
tors. The trial court was not required to decide the most convenient
or ideal venue for resolving this matter but only to determine whether
defendant proved that proceeding in North Carolina would work a
substantial injustice on her. Here, we conclude that the trial court did
not abuse its discretion in determining that it would not.

Affirmed.

Judges ELMORE and STROUD concur.
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BROCK AND SCOTT HOLDINGS, INC., PLAINTIFF v. BENNIE STONE, DEFENDANT

No. COA09-1270
(Filed 16 March 2010)

1. Creditors and Debtors— modification of designation of
exempt property—failure to show change of circumstances

Plaintiff failed to show a change of circumstances authorizing
modification of the designation of a debtor’s exempt property
even though plaintiff contended that the value was improperly
estimated by defendant debtor. By failing to object in a timely
manner, plaintiff effectively assented to the clerk’s designation of
exempt property. Furthermore, plaintiff did not appeal the clerk’s
designation of exempt property.

2. Creditors and Debtors— valuation—findings of fact—fair
market value
The trial court did not abuse its discretion by allegedly failing
to make the proper findings of fact regarding the fair market
value of defendant debtor’s property. The trial court was not
required to make findings of fact beyond those necessary to
resolve the material question raised in this case.

Appeal by Plaintiff from order entered 1 July 2009 by Judge Addie
H. Rawls in District Court, Harnett County. Heard in the Court of
Appeals 22 February 2010.

Richard P. Cook, for Plaintiff-Appellant.

Legal Aid of North Carolina, Inc., by Celia Pistolis, Kenneth
Love, and Jennifer Simmons, for Defendant-Appellee.

WYNN, Judge.

A debtor’s exemption “may be modified upon a change of cir-
cumstances, by motion in the original exemption proceeding, made
by the debtor or anyone interested.” N.C. Gen. Stat. § 1C-1603(g)
(2009). Because Plaintiff offered no evidence of a change in circum-
stances, we affirm the trial court’s denial of Plaintiff’'s Motion to
Modify Designation of Exempt Property.

On 12 July 2007, Plaintiff Brock and Scott Holdings, Inc. filed to
recover the outstanding balance owed on the credit card of De-
fendant Bennie Stone, as well as interest and attorney’s fees as
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allowed in the cardholder agreement. Defendant was served with
the complaint and a summons on 16 July 2007. Defendant failed to
appear in the matter or answer the complaint. Plaintiff filed a motion
for entry of default and default judgment on 27 August 2007.
The motion was granted and judgment entered in favor of Plaintiff
on 27 August 2007.

On 29 October 2007, Plaintiff served Defendant with a Notice of
Right to Have Exemptions Designated. Defendant filed a Motion to
Claim Exempt Property on 15 November 2007. Plaintiff, though
properly served with the motion, did not object thereto. On 21
November 2007, the Harnett County Clerk of Superior Court en-
tered an order designating the property listed in Defendant’s ex-
emption schedule as exempt from execution. Plaintiff neither moved
to set aside nor appealed from the clerk’s order which designated
these exemptions.

The clerk’s order incorporated by reference the exemption sched-
ule filed by Defendant. In the exemption schedule, Defendant listed
the estimated value of his residence as $20,000. Defendant also iden-
tified senior liens encumbering the residence which totaled
$21,843.89. Because the exemption schedule indicated there was no
equity in the residence, Plaintiff did not seek an order to sell De-
fendant’s property to satisfy its judgment against Defendant.

On 7 January 2009, Plaintiff filed a motion to modify the exemp-
tions of Defendant’s real property, claiming a change in circum-
stances. Specifically, Plaintiff claimed that the real property had a fair
market value substantially higher than that which Defendant claimed
in the exemption schedule. Plaintiff offered evidence that the tax
value of the residence, as identified by the Harnett County Tax
Assessor in 2009, was $66,360. In response, Defendant presented evi-
dence that the County assessed the same value to Defendant’s real
property in 2007, when the exemption schedule was filed.1

The trial court denied Plaintiff’s motion, noting that “[t]he
very evidence the Plaintiff relies upon existed and could have been
presented to the Harnett county clerk when she determined the prop-
erty value.” Accordingly, the trial court concluded that there had not
been a change in circumstances and, as such, Plaintiff was not enti-
tled to modify Defendant’s exemptions. Plaintiff appeals, arguing that

1. See Clay v. Monroe, 189 N.C. App. 482, 487, 658 S.E.2d 532, 536 (2008) (per-
mitting the ad valorem tax value assessed by a county to serve as evidence of the value
of real property).
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the trial court abused its discretion by failing to I) modify the exemp-
tion or II) make the necessary findings of fact.

L

[1] A debtor’s exemption “may be modified upon a change of cir-
cumstances, by motion in the original exemption proceeding, made
by the debtor or anyone interested.” N.C. Gen. Stat. § 1C-1603(g)
(2009). “[T]he use of [the word] ‘may’ generally connotes permissive
or discretionary action and does not mandate or compel a particular
act.” Campbell v. Church, 298 N.C. 476, 483, 259 S.E.2d 558, 563
(1979). “[A] discretionary order of the trial court is conclusive on
appeal absent a showing of abuse of discretion.” Privette v. Privette,
30 N.C. App. 41, 44, 226 S.E.2d 188, 190 (1976). Thus, we review the
order of the trial court for an abuse of discretion.

To understand the backdrop against which the trial court ex-
ercised its discretion, we begin with a brief outline of the relevant
statutory procedure utilized to set aside exempt property. After
judgment, and prior to the issuance of a writ of execution or posses-
sion, the judgment creditor must serve notice on the judgment debtor
advising him of his statutory rights to certain exemptions from the
judgment. N.C. Gen. Stat. § 1C-1603(a)(4) (2009). Once served, the
judgment debtor can “either file a motion to designate his exemp-
tions with a schedule of assets or may request . . . a hearing before the
clerk to claim exemptions.” N.C. Gen. Stat. § 1C-1603(e)(1) (2009).
When, as in this matter, the judgment creditor “designates his exemp-
tions by filing a motion and schedule of assets,” he must serve a copy
of the motion and schedule on the judgment creditor. N.C. Gen. Stat.
§ 1C-1603(e)(3) (2009). “The judgment creditor has 10 days from the
date served with a motion and schedule of assets . . . to file an objec-
tion to the judgment debtor’s schedule of exemptions.” N.C. Gen.
Stat. § 1C-1603(e)(5) (2009). “If the judgment creditor files no objec-
tion to the schedule filed by the judgment debtor or claimed at the
requested hearing, the clerk shall enter an order designating the prop-
erty allowed by law and scheduled by the judgment debtor as exempt
property.” N.C. Gen. Stat. § 1C-1603(e)(6) (2009).

The record in this case indicates that the procedures laid out
above were followed without deviation. At no point did Plaintiff
object to the Defendant’s motion designating exemptions, so the
clerk entered an order exempting all property allowed by law and
scheduled by Defendant. The matter before this Court arose when
Plaintiff, more than a year later, filed a motion to modify the exemp-
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tion order. As grounds for modification, Plaintiff alleged a change in
circumstances. In light of the reports from the Harnett County Tax
Assessor indicating that the value of the home had not changed since
the clerk’s initial designation of exemption, the district court judge
denied Plaintiff’s motion to modify.

Plaintiff contends on appeal that the trial court erred by denying
this motion because Defendant’s real property has a value ($66,360)
substantially exceeding that which was designated on the schedule of
assets ($20,000). However, Plaintiff presented no evidence indicating
a change in value, instead essentially arguing that the value was
improperly estimated by Defendant upon filing the exemption sched-
ule with the clerk. Notably, statutory provisions exist whereby a judg-
ment creditor, upon objection to the exemption schedule, is entitled
to a hearing before a district court judge for the purpose of valuing
the property and designating appropriate exemptions. See N.C. Gen.
Stat. § 1C-1603(e)(7)-(9) (2009). By failing to object in a timely man-
ner, Plaintiff effectively assented to the clerk’s designation of exempt
property. Furthermore, Plaintiff did not appeal the clerk’s designation
of exempt property, which also would have afforded an additional
opportunity for review by the district court judge. See N.C. Gen. Stat.
§ 1C-1603(e)(12) (2009) (“Appeal from a designation of exempt prop-
erty by the clerk is to the district court judge. A party has 10 days
from the date of entry of an order to appeal.”). Thus, Plaintiff fails to
show how there has been a “change of circumstances” authorizing
the district court judge to modify the designation of exempt property.
Accordingly, Plaintiff’s argument is without merit.

II.

[2] Plaintiff also argues that the district court abused its discretion
by failing to make the proper findings of fact regarding the fair mar-
ket value of Defendant’s property. This argument confuses the task of
the district court judge hearing a motion to modify a debtor’s exemp-
tion. In such a proceeding, the role of the trial court is to decide
whether a change of circumstances exists which justifies modifica-
tion.2 As the moving party, it was incumbent upon Plaintiff to offer
evidence establishing the existence of such a change. Yet, the only

2. This is in contrast to a proceeding instituted in response to a judgment credi-
tor’s objection to a proposed exemption schedule. See N.C. Gen. Stat. § 1C-1603(e)(7)
(2009). Upon such an objection by a judgment creditor, the district court is statutorily
required to “determine the value of the property” and may “appoint a qualified person
to examine the property and report its value.” N.C. Gen. Stat. § 1C-1603(e)(8) (2009).
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evidence offered to persuade the court was a tax assessment which,
upon further review, identified the value of the subject property to be
the same as it was when the clerk initially designated the property
exempt. The trial court found as fact that the “motion to modify has
not been supported by new evidence from which a change in value
could be found.” Cf. N.C. Gen. Stat. § 1C-1603(g) (2009) (“A substan-
tial change in value may constitute changed circumstances.”). The
trial court is not required to make findings of fact beyond those nec-
essary to resolve the material question raised in this case. See
Witherow v. Witherow, 99 N.C. App. 61, 66, 392 S.E.2d 627, 631
(1990), aff’d, 328 N.C. 324, 401 S.E.2d 362 (1991). To require the trial
court in this instance to make findings regarding the past and present
values of Defendant’s property would have the untenable conse-
quence of shifting the burden of production to the trial court. Instead,
we find that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in this case;
accordingly, Plaintiff’s argument is without merit.

Nonetheless, Plaintiff further contends that affirming the trial
court in this case will have the unintended consequence of encourag-
ing the misrepresentation of property values by judgment debtors.
However, as noted above, if a judgment creditor objects to the
debtor’s valuation, statutory relief is granted in the form of a hearing
before a district court judge in which the valuation of the property
can be thoroughly conducted. Furthermore, any designation of
exempt property, whether by the clerk or the district court, is appeal-
able. In light of these legislatively created opportunities to challenge
the property values represented by judgment debtors, we find no
merit to Plaintiff’s argument.

Affirmed.

Chief Judge MARTIN and Judge STEPHENS concur.
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IN THE MATTER OF: A.S.

No. COA09-1386
(Filed 16 March 2010)

1. Child Abuse and Neglect— fitness and availability to care
for child—sufficiency of findings of fact

Although the trial court properly concluded in a child neglect
case that the paternal grandmother was not fit and available to
care for the minor child, the order failed to contain findings as to
the fitness of respondent father to parent the child. The order was
reversed and remanded for a new hearing.

2. Child Abuse and Neglect— reunification—reasonable efforts
The trial court erred in a child neglect case by failing to
ensure that petitioner DSS used reasonable efforts to reunify the
child with either parent. There was no evidence to support the
finding that further efforts to reunify would be futile.

3. Child Abuse and Neglect— cessation of reunification
efforts—sufficiency of findings of fact

The trial court erred in a child neglect case by ceasing reuni-
fication efforts without making the appropriate findings required
by N.C.G.S. § 7B-507.

Appeal by Respondents from order entered 17 July 2009 by Judge
J. Stanley Carmical in Robeson County District Court. Heard in the
Court of Appeals 22 February 2010.

No brief filed for Robeson County Department of Social
Services, Petitioner-Appellee.

Richard E. Jester, for Respondent-Appellant Father.

Appellate Defender Staples Hughes, by Assistant Appellate
Defender Annick Lenoir Peek, Respondent-Appellant Mother.

Pamela Newell Williams, for Guardian ad Litem.

BEASLEY, Judge.

Respondents are the parents of four children, the youngest of
which is A.S.! (hereinafter referred to as Adam), the subject of the

1. Adam is used to protect the identity of the juvenile.
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present appeal. On 18 June 2007 the Robeson County Department of
Social Services (hereinafter referred to as Petitioner) filed a juvenile
petition alleging that Adam was a neglected juvenile. On 24 August
2007 the court filed an order adjudicating Adam as a neglected
juvenile. This Court affirmed the adjudication of Adam and remanded
the disposition portion of the order for further findings of fact. In
re A.S., 190 N.C. App. 679, 661 S.E.2d 313 (2008), aff’d per curiam,
363 N.C. 254, 675 S.E.2d 361 (2009). On 1 July 2009 the court held a
hearing for the purpose of reviewing with the parties a proposed
order it had drafted in response to this Court’s mandate. After re-
ceiving input from the parties, the court made some changes and on
17 July 2009 it filed an “Order on Disposition” which continued
custody of Adam with Petitioner and changed the permanent plan
from reunification to guardianship with a court-approved caretaker.
Respondents appealed.

[1] Respondent mother argues that the trial court erred in granting
custody of Adam to Petitioner when both Respondent father and
paternal grandmother were fit and available to care for him.
Respondent father further argues that the trial court erred by award-
ing custody to anyone other than Respondent father in the absence of
evidence or findings of fact and conclusions of law declaring
Respondent father to be an unfit parent.

As a condition for receiving federal funding of foster care and
adoption assistance, a state is required, inter alia, to have a plan for
foster care which “provides that the State shall consider giving
preference to an adult relative over a non-related caregiver when
determining a placement for a child, provided that the relative care-
giver meets all relevant State child protection standards.” 42 U.S.C.
§ 671(a)(19) (2009). Consistent with this mandate, our statutes con-
tain several provisions which direct a juvenile court to consider
placement with a relative as a first priority. An example of one
provision is contained in N.C. Gen. Stat. § 7B-505 (2009), which pro-
vides that in entering a custody order or other order for place-
ment outside the home, the court “shall first consider whether a rela-
tive of the juvenile is willing and able to provide proper care and
supervision of the juvenile in a safe home.” If such relative is
available, then “the court shall order placement of the juvenile with
the relative unless the court finds that placement with the rela-
tive would be contrary to the best interests of the juvenile.” N.C.
Gen. Stat. § 7B-505 (3) (2009). Failure to make specific findings of
fact explaining the placement with the relative is not in the juvenile’s
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best interest will result in remand. In re L.L. 172 N.C. App. 689, 704,
616 S.E.2d 392, 401 (2005).

By its fifth finding of fact in the instant order the trial court
found:

That [Adam] does not have any other relatives available for place-
ment at this time that are known to the Robeson County De-
partment of Social Services or that would be able to provide
proper care and supervision of [Adam] in a safe home; that dur-
ing the proceedings involving [Adam’s] siblings evidence was
presented to the court regarding a grandparent of the children
who resides in Robeson County; that the court notes however
that the undersigned determined that the grandparent was not an
appropriate placement for the siblings due to evidence that the
grandparent would not adequately supervise the children from
the risk posed by the parents; that court finds that the same rea-
soning should be applied to consideration of that grandparent in
[Adam’s] case.

The foregoing finding is the only such finding the court made regard-
ing the fitness of the paternal grandparent to be a custodial parent. As
noted within the finding, the court relied heavily upon its finding in
proceedings involving Adam’s siblings that the paternal grandparent
is not an appropriate placement.

We take judicial notice of our records, including appeals that
have involved Adam’s siblings and the same trial judge. In the most
recent appeal we held that the evidence failed to support a finding
that neither Respondent father nor the paternal grandmother will be
unable to prevent Mother from having unauthorized or unsupervised
contact with the children. In re IN.B., T.N.B, D.N.B., 2009 N.C. App.
LEXIS 1672 (No. COA09-742, filed 20 October 2009, unpublished). In
the instant order the court expressly relied upon this disavowed find-
ing in making its above-quoted fifth finding of fact.

We also held in our 20 October 2009 opinion that the court erred
in granting guardianship of the siblings to a non-relative without find-
ing that Respondent father has acted inconsistently with his consti-
tutional right to parent his children or that he is unfit to parent his
children. We noted that the testimony of Petitioner’s social worker
showed that Respondent father “had not shown any behavior or
any type of conduct inconsistent with fully complying with every
request petitioner had made of him.” Id. slip opinion at p. 13. The
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social worker testified that Respondent mother had moved out of the
home at Respondent father’s request “when it became clear that her
presence in his home was an impediment to the return of the juve-
niles to his care.” Id. slip opinion at p. 12. We also stated that the
court’s finding “that it is ‘highly likely’ that respondent-father failed to
protect the juvenile from abuse or neglect on other occasions is
entirely unsupported by any evidence in the record.” Id. slip opinion
at pp. 13-14. We conclude that the present order shares the same defi-
ciency in its failure to contain findings as to the fitness of Respondent
father to parent the children.

[2] Respondent mother next contends that the trial court erred by
failing to ensure that Petitioner used reasonable efforts in reunifying
the child with either parent. For the purposes of the Juvenile Code,
“[r]easonable efforts” are defined as:

The diligent use of preventive or reunification services by a
department of social services when a juvenile’s remaining at
home or returning home is consistent with achieving a safe, per-
manent home for the juvenile within a reasonable period of time.
If a court of competent jurisdiction determines that the juvenile
is not to be returned home, then reasonable efforts means the
diligent and timely use of permanency planning services by a
department of social services to develop and implement a perma-
nent plan for the juvenile.

N.C. Gen. Stat. § 7B-101(18) (2009). In our opinion filed 20 October
2009, we held that Petitioner had not used reasonable efforts in
attempting to reunify Adam’s siblings with their parents. In re . N.B.,
slip opinion at pp. 13-14. The present record is void of any effects
Petitioner has made to attempt to reunify Adam with his parents
other than continued insufficient efforts Petitioner has made to re-
unify his siblings with the parents. The record does contain a family
assessment of strengths and needs prepared on 23 July 2007 which
indicates that Respondent mother’s greatest strengths are good cop-
ing skills, good parenting skills, access to a strong support network,
and utilization of community resources. In contrast, the report shows
that Respondent mother’s only negative factor was her lack of
employment. The court noted the foregoing strengths in finding of
fact number eleven. Nevertheless, despite finding that Respondent
mother has these strengths, it found that further efforts to reunify
Adam with his parents would be futile. We can find no evidence to
support the finding that further efforts to reunify would be futile.
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[8] Respondent mother also contends that the trial court erred in
ceasing reunification efforts without making the appropriate findings
required by N.C. Gen. Stat. § 7B-507 (2009). This statute requires a
court to make one of four findings before placing a child in the cus-
tody of a county department of social services, including a finding
that “reasonable efforts to eliminate the need for placement of the
juvenile shall not be required or shall cease if the court” finds that
“[s]uch efforts clearly would be futile or would be inconsistent with
the juvenile’s health, safety, and need for a safe, permanent home
within a reasonable period of time[.]” N.C. Gen. Stat. § 7B-507(b)(1)
(2009). Although the court made a finding of fact that reunification
with either of the parents would be futile and inconsistent with
Adam’s health and safety and his need for a safe and permanent
home, we hold, for reasons stated above, that this finding is not sup-
ported by the evidence.

For the errors committed, we reverse the trial court’s order and
remand this matter for a new hearing.

Reversed and remanded.

Judges WYNN and HUNTER JR. concur.

WALLACE FARM, INC., PLAINTIFF V. CITY OF CHARLOTTE anp CURT WALTON,
DEFENDANTS

No. COA09-939
(Filed 16 March 2010)

Public Records— request—trial preparation materials—not
subject to inspection
The trial court did not abuse its discretion by denying plain-
tiff the opportunity to inspect certain records it had requested
from the City of Charlotte under the Public Records Act because
the documents contained mental impressions, conclusions, opin-
ions, or legal theories of City attorneys or other agents of the City
that had been prepared in reasonable anticipation of litigation.
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Appeal by plaintiff from memorandum and order entered 6
January 2009 by Judge Richard D. Boner in Mecklenburg County
Superior Court. Heard in the Court of Appeals 26 January 2010.

The Odom Firm, PLLC, by T. LaFontine Odom, Sr., Thomas L.
Odom, Jr., and David W. Murray, for plaintiff-appellant.

City of Charlotte, Office of the City of Attorney, by Senior
Assistant City Attorney S. Mujeeb Shah-Khan, for defendant-
appellees.

BRYANT, Judge.

Plaintiff Wallace Farm, Inc., appeals from a memorandum and
order entered after the Mecklenburg Superior Court conducted an in
camera review of public records provided by the City of Charlotte
and ordered that 225 documents were trial preparation materials and
not subject to inspection by plaintiff. For the reasons stated herein,
we affirm.

On 30 September 2008, Charlotte zoning inspectors, by authority
of an administrative warrant, searched Wallace Farm following com-
plaints of odor emanating from the farm’s composting facility and
allegations that Wallace Farm had grown beyond the parameters set
by the 1999 zoning regulations.

On 15 October 2008, plaintiff mailed to the Office of the Charlotte
City Manager a request to examine all public records from the last ten
years—1998 through 2008—that referred to plaintiff’s property,
including but not limited to complaints against and subsequent inves-
tigation of plaintiff’s composting facility, meetings between city,
state, and federal personnel regarding neighborhood development,
and zoning code enforcement. Lacking a response, plaintiff sent a fol-
low-up request to review the documents on 27 October. On 31
October, the Charlotte City Attorney’s Office sent notice to plaintiff
that City Manager Curt Walton relayed the public records request to
the City Attorney’s Office and the City Attorney’s Office would com-
ply with the request pursuant to the obligations of N.C. Gen. Stat.
§ 132-1 et seq. On 3 November 2008, plaintiff filed a complaint against
the City of Charlotte and City Manager Curt Walton (defendants) to
compel production of the requested public records. A hearing was set
for 18 December 2008.

Defendants provided plaintiff with 8,241 pages of public docu-
ments on 24 November 2008; 10,183 pages of documents on 4 Decem-
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ber 2008; and on 11 December 2008, approximately 3,000 pages for a
total of 21,424 pages. However, defendants withheld approximately
500 pages on grounds that the City reasonably anticipated litigation
and the materials “withheld from review contain mental impressions,
conclusions, opinions, or legal theories of individuals in the City
Attorney’s Office concerning the potential litigation . . . .” On 6
January 2009, after reviewing the withheld pages in camera in order
to decide whether they should be provided to plaintiff, the trial court
entered a memorandum and order in which it ruled that the 500 pages
comprising 225 documents were trial preparation materials and
therefore not public records subject to inspection by plaintiff.
Plaintiff appeals.

On appeal, plaintiff argues that the trial court erred by failing to
allow plaintiff to inspect the public records because the records were
not trial preparation materials and failing to allow the inspection
operated in opposition to the North Carolina Public Records Act.
We disagree.

We review the trial court’s ruling for abuse of discretion. See
Maxwell v. Michael P. Doyle, Inc., 164 N.C. App. 319, 329, 595 S.E.2d
759, 765 (2004) (“A trial court’s determination regarding relevance for
purposes of discovery may be reversed only upon a showing of an
abuse of discretion.”).

Our Public Records Act, codified in Chapter 132 of our General
Statutes “provides for liberal access to public records.” Virmani v.
Presbyterian Health Servs. Corp., 350 N.C. 449, 462, 515 S.E.2d
675, 685 (1999) (citation omitted). “The public records and public
information compiled by the agencies of North Carolina government
or its subdivisions are the property of the people. Therefore, it is
the policy of this State that the people may obtain copies of their
public records . . . unless otherwise specifically provided by law.”
N.C. Gen. Stat. § 132-1(b) (2007). “Exceptions and exemptions to
the Public Records Act must be construed narrowly.” Carter-
Hubbard Publ’g Co. v. WRMC Hosp. Operating Corp., 178 N.C. App.
621, 624, 633 S.E.2d 682, 684 (2006) (citation omitted). Under our
General Statutes, section 132-1.9, “a custodian may deny access to a
public record that is also trial preparation material.” N.C. Gen. Stat.
§ 132-1.9(b) (2007).

Under our Rules of Civil Procedure “[a] court may not permit
disclosure of the mental impressions, conclusions, opinions, or legal
theories of an attorney or other representative of a party concerning
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the litigation in which the material is sought or work product of the
attorney or attorneys of record in the particular action.” N.C. R. Civ.
P. 26(b)(3) (2007).

[TThe party asserting work product privilege bears the burden of
showing (1) that the material consists of documents or tangible
things, (2) which were prepared in anticipation of litigation or for
trial, and (3) by or for another party or its representatives which
may include an attorney, consultant, surety, indemnitor, insurer
or agent.

Evans v. United Servs. Auto. Ass'n, 142 N.C. App. 18, 29, 541 S.E.2d
782, 789 (2001) (citations and internal quotations omitted).

Although not a privilege, the exception is a qualified immunity
and extends to all materials prepared in anticipation of litigation
or for trial by or for another party or by or for that other party’s
consultant, surety, indemnitor, insurer, or agent. The protection is
allowed not only for materials prepared after the other party has
secured an attorney, but those prepared under circumstances in
which a reasonable person might anticipate a possibility of litiga-
tion. Materials prepared in the ordinary course of business are
not protected, nor does the protection extend to facts known by
any party.

Boyce & Isley, PLLC v. Cooper,—— N.C. App. —, 673 S.E.2d 694, 702
(2009) (citations, quotations, and emphasis omitted).

Here, in the 15 December 2008 letter from defendants to plaintiff,
defendants contend the documents withheld “were prepared in an-
ticipation of a legal proceeding yet to commence.” Specifically, de-
fendants “contend that if it takes any action against [Wallace Farm],
be it via the City beginning enforcement proceedings for possible
Zoning Ordinance violations, or the odor study results being submit-
ted to any party, litigation is reasonably anticipated to follow.” At the
18 December 2008 hearing to compel production of public records,
defendants argued that the materials withheld “all related to the
City’s research and the City’s taking a look at legal strategies related
to possible zoning enforcement, not with respect to any of the claims
that the plaintiff suggest they might pursue against the City with
respect to the September 30, 2008 administrative inspection.” Upon
review, including in camera review of the withheld documents, we
agree with the trial court’s ruling and hold the challenged documents
contain mental impressions, conclusions, opinions, or legal theories
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of city attorneys or other agents of the City in reasonable anticipation
of litigation. Therefore, we hold that the trial court did not abuse its
discretion in concluding the public records exception under N.C.
Gen. Stat. § 132-1.9 applies. Accordingly, we overrule plaintiff’s
assignment of error.

Affirmed.

Judges JACKSON and HUNTER, Jr., Robert N. concur.
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STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA v. GENE WAYNE HAYMOND

No. COA09-1030
(Filed 6 April 2010)

1. Criminal Law— motion to suppress—search warrant—suf-
ficient probable cause

The trial court did not err in denying defendant’s motion to
suppress evidence seized pursuant to a search warrant because,
even considering allegedly material facts which defendant con-
tended were intentionally omitted from the application for the
warrant, the application was sufficient to establish probable
cause to believe the stolen items listed would be found in de-
fendant’s home.

2. Criminal Law— motion to suppress—search warrant—
items not listed—plain view doctrine
The trial court did not err in denying defendant’s motion to
suppress certain items obtained during a search of his residence
that were not listed on the search warrant because the police
were given consent by the owner of the residence to search some
of the items to determine if they were stolen and the remaining
items were admissible under the plain view doctrine.

3. Criminal Law— defendant’s right to testify—not impermis-
sibly chilled

The trial court did not impermissibly chill defendant’s right to
testify in his own defense. The trial court’s instruction that state-
ments made by defendant at a hearing concerning a plea agree-
ment could be used against him at trial if he testified was not
erroneous as the statements were not made during a hearing on a
motion to suppress and were not made during the course of plea
negotiations. Furthermore, the trial court did not err in conclud-
ing that defendant’s statements were confessions that could be
used against him at trial.

4. Criminal Law— motion to dismiss—sufficiency of the evi-
dence—breaking or entering

The trial court erred by denying defendant’s motion to dis-
miss three charges of breaking or entering as the State failed to
offer sufficient evidence that defendant either broke or entered
the three residences. The trial court did not err in denying de-
fendant’s motion to dismiss a fourth charge of breaking or enter-
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ing as the State presented sufficient evidence that defendant
entered the fourth residence.

5. Sentencing— reasonable inference—impermissibly based
on defendant’s insistence on jury trial

It could be reasonably inferred from the trial court’s state-
ments that it impermissibly sentenced defendant based, at least
in part, on defendant’s decision to refuse the State’s plea offer.
Defendant was entitled to a new sentencing hearing.

Appeal by defendant from judgments signed 13 August 2008 by
Judge Henry E. Frye, Jr. in Wilkes County Superior Court. Heard in
the Court of Appeals 11 January 2010.

Roy Cooper, Attorney General, by Gerald K. Robbins, Special
Deputy Attorney General, for the State.

Staples Hughes, Appellate Defender, by Charlesena Elliott
Walker, Assistant Appellate Defender, for defendant-appellant.

MARTIN, Chief Judge.

Defendant was charged in true bills of indictment returned by the
Wilkes County Grand Jury with the following offenses:

07 CRS 881 Count I. Felonious Breaking or Entering of a build-
ing occupied by William Pelon in violation of
N.C.G.S. § 14-54(a).

Count II. Felonious Larceny of William Pelon’s
property pursuant to the breaking or entering in
violation of N.C.G.S. § 14-72(b)(2).

08 CRS 1474 Felonious Possession of stolen property belong to
William Pelon in violation of N.C.G.S. § 14-71.1

07 CRS 886  Count I. Felonious breaking or entering of a build-
ing occupied by Jeffrey Ritch in violation of
N.C.G.S. § 14-54(a).

Count II. Felonious Larceny of Jeffrey Ritch’s
property pursuant to the breaking or entering in
violation of N.C.G.S. § 14-72(b)(2).

08 CRS 1470 Felonious Possession of stolen property belonging
to Jeffrey Ritch in violation of N.C.G.S. § 14-71.1.
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07 CRS 50460 Count I. Felonious breaking or entering of a build-
ing occupied by Sherry Gambill in violation of
N.C.G.S. § 14-54(a).

Count II. Felonious Larceny of Sherry Gambill’s
property pursuant to the breaking or entering in
violation of N.C.G.S. § 14-72(b)(2).

08 CRS 1472 Felonious Possession of stolen property belonging
to Sherry Gambill in violation of N.C.G.S. § 14-71.1.

07 CRS 50466 Count I. Felonious breaking or entering of a build-
ing occupied by Lowe Fur and Herb, Inc. in viola-
tion of N.C.G.S. § 14-54(a).

Count II. Felonious Larceny pursuant to the break-
ing or entering of personal property belong to
Lowe Fur and Herb, Inc., Arthur Lowe, and Arthur
Lowe, Jr. in violation of N.C.G.S. § 14-72(b)(2).

Count III. Felonious safecracking in violation of
N.C.G.S. § 14-89.1.

08 CRS 1475 Felonious Possession of stolen property belonging
to Lowe Fur and Herb, Inc. in violation of N.C.G.S.
§ 14-71.1.

08 CRS 1471 Felonious Possession of stolen property belonging
to Robert Mittet in violation of N.C.G.S. § 14-71.1.

08 CRS 1473 Felonious Possession of a Firearm by a Felon in
violation of N.C.G.S. § 14-415.1.

08 CRS 108  Attaining the status of an Habitual Felon in viola-
tion of N.C.G.S. § 14-7.1.

Defendant appeared, with counsel, before the trial court at a
hearing on 7 January 2008, at which time the State offered defendant
a plea arrangement. Defendant requested to address the court, but
before allowing him to do so, the trial court advised defendant that
any statement made by him could be used against him. Defendant ini-
tially requested a continuance in order to employ different counsel,
and then made statements to the court in which he admitted com-
plicity and asked the trial court, in light of his cooperation with the
authorities, to impose a lesser sentence than that offered by the pros-
ecutor. The trial court refused to do so and advised defendant as to
the consequences of accepting or rejecting the plea arrangement
offered by the State. Defendant was given a further opportunity to
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discuss the plea arrangement with his counsel over the evening
recess. On the following day, defendant rejected the plea arrange-
ment. Defendant subsequently waived his right to the assistance of
counsel and proceeded pro se.

Defendant moved to suppress all evidence seized as a result of a
search by law enforcement officers, pursuant to a search warrant, of
a residence at 515 Corporation Street, Wilkesboro, North Carolina.
Defendant alleged that the application for issuance of the search war-
rant was insufficient to establish probable cause for its issuance.

The evidence at the suppression hearings tended to show that in
January 2007, Detective Peyton Colvard (“Detective Colvard”) of the
Ashe County Sheriff’s Department was investigating a break-in of
New River Outfitters and larceny of items therein, which occurred in
late December 2006 or early January 2007. On 19 January 2007, while
processing the scene for latent fingerprints, Detective Colvard found
a business card and vehicle registration in the leaves outside the back
door of New River Outfitters. Both items contained defendant’s name
and the address 515 Corporation Street, Wilkesboro, North Carolina.
After discussing this evidence with other officers, Detective Colvard
recalled that defendant had been involved in prior break-ins in Ashe
County. Detective Colvard then called Captain John Summers
(“Captain Summers”) of the Wilkes County Sheriff’s Department and
asked him to ride by the address shown on the cards, which was in
Wilkes County, to see if he could identify any items that had been
stolen from New River Outfitters. When Captain Summers rode by
the house, the only item he spotted was a stainless steel grill sitting
on the porch.

When Detective Colvard heard about the grill, he recalled that a
stainless steel grill had been taken from the summer home of Randy
Miller (“Mr. Miller”) in mid-December 2006. Suspecting the grill spot-
ted on the porch of the house might be Mr. Miller’s, Detective Colvard
contacted Mr. Miller and requested that he drive by the house to see
if he could identify it. When Mr. Miller drove by the house, he was “80
percent sure” the grill on the porch was his. On 22 January 2007,
Detective Colvard took Mr. Miller back to the house. On this occa-
sion, both Detective Colvard and Mr. Miller got out of the car and
walked through the yard to the porch. At this point, Mr. Miller posi-
tively identified the grill as the one stolen from his vacation home.

Detective Colvard then applied for a search warrant for 515
Corporation Street, Wilkesboro, North Carolina. In his Probable
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Cause Affidavit, Detective Colvard provided the magistrate with the
information concerning the discovery of defendant’s business card
and vehicle registration at New River Outfitters. He also indicated
that he had “observed a coastal stainless steel grill on [defendant’s]
side porch” and that “this grill matched the description of a grill
stolen on December 23, 2006.” As additional information, Detective
Colvard indicated that the victim “identified the grill as being his”
after going by defendant’s house. According to Detective Colvard,
“[t]he victim was certain of this because of a black bungee cord that
he had applied to the grill.” Finally, Detective Colvard indicated his
familiarity with defendant’s prior convictions for breaking or enter-
ing. Based on this information, the magistrate issued a search warrant
for defendant’s home, authorizing Detective Colvard to search for the
grill and various items stolen from New River Outfitters.

Soon after obtaining the search warrant, Detective Colvard con-
tacted Detective William David Carson (“Detective Carson”) to help
execute the search warrant. Since defendant’s home was located in
Wilkesboro, Lieutenant Rhodes of the Wilkesboro Police Department
was called to assist in the search as well. When the detectives arrived,
no one was at home. They attempted to contact Dawn Matthews (“Ms.
Matthews”), the owner of the house, but could not get in touch with
her. They then called the number on the business card found at New
River Outfitters, and defendant answered. They told defendant they
had a warrant to search his house and instructed him to return to his
home. Two hours later, defendant arrived at the house, and Detective
Colvard served him with the search warrant. Defendant read over the
search warrant and indicated that “almost all” of the items on the
search warrant were in the house.

Defendant let the officers into the house. The officers searched
various rooms in the house, including the basement and the kitchen.
They found many of the items identified on the search warrant. They
also found numerous other items that were identified as items taken
during various reported break-ins in Wilkes County. In the weeks fol-
lowing the search, defendant recovered and returned various other
stolen items to the officers, including rifles and parts of a safe which
had all been stolen from Lowe Fur and Herb, Inc. Some of the items
recovered were determined to be those taken during break-ins of
William Pelon’s (“Mr. Pelon”) residence, Jeffrey Ritch’s (“Mr. Ritch”)
residence, Sherry Gambill’s (“Ms. Gambill”) residence, and the Lowe
Fur and Herb, Inc. business. A computer was found that was deter-
mined to have been stolen from Robert Mittet (“Mr. Mittet”).
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The trial court concluded that the application for the search war-
rant was sufficient to establish probable cause to search the resi-
dence for evidence relating to the Ashe County break-ins and that all
of the other items seized, relating to the Wilkes County break-ins,
were in plain view of the officers, with the exception of a television
set which the officers moved in order to ascertain a serial number
and some clothing which the officers found in closed drawers. Thus,
the motion to suppress was denied except as to the television and the
clothing, which were excluded.

In addition, defendant moved to suppress evidence of a letter
dated 9 November 2007 which he directed to an assistant district
attorney, various statements which he made to police officers during
both the search of his house and plea discussions, and the statements
which he made during the 7 January 2008 court appearance. The trial
court ruled that the letter and statements made by defendant during
plea discussions were inadmissible; however, the court ruled that
defendant’s statements made during the search were admissible
because defendant was not under arrest at the time they were made,
requiring no Miranda warning. The statements made by defendant at
the 7 January 2008 hearing were also ruled admissible but only for
impeachment purposes.

The State’s evidence at trial was substantially the same as Detec-
tive Colvard’s testimony with respect to his investigation of the New
River Outfitters break-in and the subsequent search and seizure of
stolen items from defendant’s residence. Mr. Pelon testified that he
owned a second home in Wilkes County and that he was having some
remodeling work done on the house in June 2006. In that month, the
house was broken into and personal property belonging to Mr. Pelon,
as well as some tools belonging to his contractor, were stolen. The
State offered evidence that a number of the stolen items were found
at defendant’s home, and others at the home of Jeremy Ebersole, a
co-defendant who was tried separately.

Ms. Gambill testified that her home was broken into on or about
15 August 2006 and that a Jen-Air stove, a lawnmower and other per-
sonal property was taken. The State offered evidence that the stove
was recovered from defendant’s home and that defendant himself
returned the lawn mower to the Sheriff’s department. Daniel Richter
testified that he and defendant went to Ms. Gambill’s house; Richter
went into the house through either a door or a window and took a
Jen-Air stove, riding lawnmower, a ladder and some hoses. The items



IN THE COURT OF APPEALS 157

STATE v. HAYMOND
[203 N.C. App. 151 (2010)]

were quickly loaded into defendant’s van and they went back to
defendant’s house, where defendant paid Richter $250.

Richter also testified that he broke into Mr. Mittet’s house in June
2006 and took a laptop computer, which he sold to defendant. Richter
testified that he told defendant the computer had been stolen.

Sometime during August 2006, a vacation home owned by Mr.
Ritch was broken into and various items of furniture, a stove, refrig-
erator, microwave, and dishwasher were stolen. These items were
recovered during the search of defendant’s residence.

Lowe’s Fur and Herb, Inc. was broken into on 24 November 2006
and various items were stolen, including articles of Carhartt clothing
which was part of the company’s inventory. In addition, the safe had
been broken into and blank checks, invoices, stock certificates and
other documents stolen therefrom. In addition, two guns belonging to
Arthur Lowe, the owner of the business, were stolen. The clothing
was found during the search of defendant’s residence, and, following
the search, defendant returned the firearms and other documents,
which had been taken from the safe, to the sheriff’s department.

At the close of the State’s evidence, the trial court dismissed the
charge of safecracking, but denied defendant’s motions to dismiss the
remaining charges. Defendant neither testified nor offered evidence
in his own behalf, and renewed his motions to dismiss, which were
again denied. The jury returned verdicts of guilty on each of the sub-
stantive offenses.

Defendant stipulated to having been convicted of the felony of
third degree burglary in the State of Delaware on 12 June 1992 for an
offense which occurred on 2 September 1991, of felonious breaking
or entering and felonious larceny in Watauga County, North Carolina,
on 7 September 2000 for an offense which occurred on 12 September
1999, and of felonious larceny in Wilkes County, North Carolina, on 5
June 2001 for an offense which occurred on 25 October 2000. The jury
then found defendant guilty of having attained the status of an habit-
ual felon. The trial court arrested judgment on each of the felonious
larceny convictions. The trial court then determined that defendant
had eight prior record level points and a prior record level of III, and
entered judgment sentencing defendant in the presumptive range to a
minimum term of 116 months and a maximum term of 149 months as
an habitual felon for each of the ten felonies, to be served consecu-
tively. Defendant appeals.
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L

[1] We first consider defendant’s contention that the trial court erred
in denying his motion to suppress evidence seized pursuant to the
search warrant. “[A]ppellate review of a ruling upon a motion to sup-
press is strictly limited to determining whether the trial judge’s under-
lying findings of fact are supported by competent evidence, in which
event they are conclusively binding on appeal, and whether those fac-
tual findings in turn support the judge’s ultimate conclusions of law.”
State v. Johnston, 115 N.C. App. 711, 713, 446 S.E.2d 135, 137 (1994).

Defendant’s primary contention is that Detective Colvard inten-
tionally omitted material facts from his application for the search
warrant, which facts, if they had been included, would have disclosed
that no probable cause existed. In the record before us, it does not
appear that the trial court made specific findings of fact with respect
to the alleged omission of facts from the probable cause affidavit,
other than noting that there was no fabrication on the part of
Detective Colvard. However, “[w]here there is no material conflict in
the evidence, findings and conclusions are not necessary even though
the better practice is to find facts.” State v. Edwards, 85 N.C. App.
145, 148, 354 S.E.2d 344, 347, cert. denied, 320 N.C. 172, 358 S.E.2d 58
(1987). Thus, we must only consider whether the trial court’s conclu-
sions are supported by the evidence.

It is well settled “that a search warrant be based on probable
cause.” State v. Fernandez, 346 N.C. 1, 13, 484 S.E.2d 350, 358 (1997).
“Probable cause for a search [warrant] is present where facts are
stated which establish reasonable grounds to believe a search of the
premises will reveal the items sought and that the items will aid in the
apprehension or conviction of the offender.” Id. Inherent in the show-
ing of probable cause “is that there will be a truthful showing.”
Franks v. Delaware, 438 U.S. 154, 164-65, 57 L. E. 2d 667, 678 (1978),
on remand, 398 A.2d 783 (Del. Supr. 1979). “Truthful” in this context
“does not mean . . . that every fact recited in the warrant affidavit is
necessarily correct.” Id. at 165, 57 L. E. 2d at 678. However, the fac-
tual showing offered in support of probable cause should “be ‘truth-
ful’ in the sense that the information put forth is believed or appro-
priately accepted by the affiant as true.” Id.

Though there is “a presumption of validity with respect to the
affidavit supporting the search warrant,” id. at 171, 57 L. E. 2d at 682,
a defendant “may [still] challenge the truthfulness of the testimony
showing probable cause.” State v. Steen, 352 N.C. 227, 243-44, 536
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S.E.2d 1, 11 (2000), cert. denied, 531 U.S. 1167, 148 L. Ed. 2d 997
(2001). The United States Supreme Court set forth the process and
standard for making such a challenge by stating:

[W]here the defendant makes a substantial preliminary showing
that a false statement knowingly and intentionally, or with reck-
less disregard for the truth, was included by the affiant in the
warrant affidavit, and if the allegedly false statement is necessary
to the finding of probable cause, the Fourth Amendment requires
that a hearing be held at the defendant’s request. In the event that
at that hearing the allegation of perjury or reckless disregard is
established by the defendant by a preponderance of the evidence,
and, with the affidavit’s false material set to one side, the affi-
davit’s remaining content is insufficient to establish probable
cause, the search warrant must be voided and the fruits of the
search excluded to the same extent as if probable cause was lack-
ing on the face of the affidavit.

Franks, 438 U.S. at 155-56, 57 L. Ed. 2d 672. Thus, a defendant must
“establish facts from which the finder of fact might conclude that the
affiant alleged the facts in bad faith.” Fernandez, 346 N.C. at 14, 484
S.E.2d at 358. He cannot rely on evidence that merely “contradicts
assertions contained in the affidavit, or even that shows the affidavit
contains false statements.” Id. Moreover, even if the defendant estab-
lishes that the affiant alleged the facts in bad faith, the warrant will
not be voided if the remaining unchallenged factual allegations suffi-
ciently establish probable cause for the search. See Franks, 438 U.S.
at 155-56, 57 L. Ed. 2d at 672; see also State v. Rashidi, 172 N.C. App.
628, 634-35, 617 S.E.2d 68, 73 (holding that the search warrant was
not void when the defendant failed to show that the alleged false
statements were material), aff’d per curiam, 360 N.C. 166, 622 S.E.2d
493 (2005).

Defendant’s motion to suppress evidence was based on the fact
that, on its face, the search warrant failed to establish probable cause
to search. Defendant did not allege that Detective Colvard’s state-
ments were made with “deliberate falsehood or [with] reckless disre-
gard for the truth,” and the trial court was not required to grant de-
fendant a hearing on this issue. Franks, 438 U.S. at 171, 57 L. E. 2d at
682 (stating that, in order to “mandate an evidentiary hearing, . . .
[t]here must be allegations of deliberate falsehood or of reckless dis-
regard for the truth, and those allegations must be accompanied by
an offer of proof”). Even so, our review discloses that the trial court
did, in fact, grant defendant a hearing in accordance with Franks and
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ultimately concluded that “[t]here was no fabrication or any wrong-
doing by” Detective Colvard.

The search warrant must be voided only if, after setting aside any
false material, the affidavit fails to provide sufficient probable cause
for the search. Id. at 156, 57 L. E. 2d at 672. Thus, “[w]e need not
decide whether [the] defendant [has] sufficiently established know-
ing or reckless falsehoods [when the] defendant has failed to demon-
strate that any false statements were material.” Rashidi, 172 N.C.
App. at 634, 617 S.E.2d at 73; see also United States v. Tate, 524
F.3d 449, 455 (4th Cir. 2008) (“[I]n order . . . to be entitled to a Franks
hearing on [a] challenge of [an officer’s] affidavit, [a defendant] is
required to make a substantial preliminary showing that [the officer]
omitted material facts that when included defeat a probable cause
showing . . ..”).

Defendant argues that the evidence presented at the suppression
hearing shows that Detective Colvard knowingly omitted material
facts in his affidavit which were crucial to the finding of probable
cause. Detective Colvard’s affidavit states in pertinent part:

On January 16th, 2007, the Ashe County Sheriff’s Office received
a report of a breaking and entering and larceny at the New River
Outfitter’s in the Crumpler area of Ashe County. Several items
were taken in this break-in. On Friday January 19th, 2007,
Lieutenant Detective Colvard located a registration card and
business card bearing the name of Gene Wayne Haymond with an
address of 515 Corporation St. Wilkesboro, NC 28697. . . . Lt.
Colvard visited 515 Corporation St. Wilkesboro, NC and observed
a coastal stainless steel grill on the side porch. Lt. Colvard
noticed that this grill matched the description of a grill stolen on
December 23, 2006, from another location in Ashe County. Lt.
Colvard contacted the victim who also came to 515 Corporation
St. and identified the grill as being his. The victim was certain
of this because of a black bungee cord that he had applied to
the grill.

Defendant argues Detective Colvard’s testimony at the suppres-
sion hearing materially contradicts the statements contained in his
Probable Cause Affidavit. Defendant directs us to Detective Colvard’s
testimony that the break-in at New River Outfitters occurred in late
December 2006, rather than in January 2007 as suggested in the affi-
davit and nearer the time when Detective Colvard discovered the
defendant’s registration card and business card in the course of his
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investigation. Citing State v. Joyner, 301 N.C. 18, 269 S.E.2d 125
(1980), defendant argues that omitting information showing that the
breaking or entering could have occurred more than a month prior to
the discovery of the cards materially reduces the likelihood that the
stolen goods would be found at defendant’s home. Defendant’s con-
tention is misplaced. The fact remains that the defendant’s cards
were discovered while Detective Colvard was still processing the
scene for fingerprints, giving rise to a reasonable probability of de-
fendant’s presence there and that evidence relating to the crimes
could be found at his residence. Probable cause requires a showing of
“only the probability . . . of criminal activity.” State v. May, 41 N.C.
App. 370, 374, 255 S.E.2d 303, 306 (1979).

Likewise, defendant contends Detective Colvard’s affidavit in
support of the application for a search warrant omitted the fact, dis-
closed in his testimony, that the officer and Mr. Miller, whose grill was
stolen in another December 2006 break-in, walked across defendant’s
yard, a possible violation of defendant’s Fourth Amendment rights, to
look at the grill before Mr. Miller was able to identify it. Again, we do
not believe the omission is material; the porch where the grill was
located was on the front portion of the house and was visible from
the road, as was the grill. From that distance, Mr. Miller was “80 per-
cent sure” the grill was his. Detective Colvard then accompanied Mr.
Miller to defendant’s house, where they pulled into the driveway, got
out of the car, and walked through the yard to a point closer to the
grill. From a closer vantage point, Mr. Miller was able to positively
identify the grill as his based on the presence of the black bungee
cord. When Mr. Miller and Detective Colvard walked through the
yard, they merely looked at the grill and left. In doing so, neither
Detective Colvard nor Mr. Miller violated defendant’s Fourth
Amendment rights. See State v. Prevette, 43 N.C. App. 450, 455, 259
S.E.2d 595, 599-600 (1979) (“Entrance [by a police officer] onto pri-
vate property for the purpose of a general inquiry or interview is
proper.”), appeal dismissed and disc. review denied, 299 N.C. 124,
261 S.E.2d 925, cert. dented, 447 U.S. 906, 64 L. Ed. 2d 855 (1980);
see also United States v. Knight, 451 F.2d 275, 278 (5th Cir. 1971)
(finding that, even if the officer’s entry onto private property was a
trespass, the act of looking at an item in plain view was not an il-
legal search), cert. denied by Grubbs v. United States, 405 U.S. 965,
31 L. Ed. 2d 240 (1972). Accordingly, even considering the alleged
omissions, we conclude the affidavit was sufficient to establish prob-
able cause to believe the stolen items listed would be found in de-
fendant’s home.
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[2] Defendant also argues that the trial court erred in denying his
motion to suppress some of the items obtained during the search of
his house because they were neither listed on the search warrant nor
covered under the plain view doctrine. Specifically, defendant argues
that it was not immediately apparent that these items were stolen.
After a careful review of the record, we find defendant’s argument
has no merit.

We first note that defendant argues in his brief that “certain
items” taken from defendant’s home are inadmissible under the plain
view doctrine. Yet, nowhere in his brief does defendant specifically
state which of the items he challenges. However, after a review of
defendant’s assignments of error relating to this argument and the
transcript references defendant has provided in his brief, it appears
that defendant is objecting to the admission of a Toshiba television
and Dewalt skill saw taken from Mr. Pelon’s residence; assorted
Carhartt clothing taken from Lowe Fur and Herb, Inc.; a microwave,
refrigerator, dishwasher, and vanity taken from Mr. Ritch’s residence;
and a Jen-Air stove taken from Ms. Gambill’s residence.

Under the plain view doctrine,

police may seize contraband or evidence if (1) the officer was in
a place where he had a right to be when the evidence was dis-
covered; (2) the evidence was discovered inadvertently; and (3) it
was immediately apparent to the police that the items observed
were evidence of a crime or contraband.

State v. Graves, 135 N.C. App. 216, 219, 519 S.E.2d 770, 772 (1999).
An item is “immediately apparent” under the plain view doctrine “if
the police have probable cause to believe that what they have come
upon is evidence of criminal conduct.” State v. Wilson, 112 N.C. App.
777, 782, 437 S.E.2d 387, 389-90 (1993) (internal quotation marks
omitted). Probable cause is present when “the facts and circum-
stances within their [the officers’] knowledge and of which they had
reasonable trustworthy information [are] sufficient in themselves to
warrant a man of reasonable caution in the belief that an offense has
been or is being committed.” State v. Zuniga, 312 N.C. 251, 261, 322
S.E.2d 140, 146 (1984) (alterations in original) (internal quotation
marks omitted).

With regard to the Toshiba television and Dewalt saw, defendant
appears to argue that the officers did not know these items were
stolen until they were moved and the serial numbers were checked.
In admitting the Dewalt saw, the trial court found
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that upon the officers’ entry and based on their prior investiga-
tions and knowledge they determined that other items appeared
to be stolen from other break-ins, that subsequently as a result of
the service of the search warrant on defendant . . . that the owner,
the actual owner of the premises, Dawn Matthews, appeared and
indicated to the officers . . . that she wanted any items that were
stolen to be removed from the premises. And based on that offi-
cer’s interpretation which the Courts find reasonable allowed
them to begin to further search and open up items to determine
whether or not they were stolen . . . and as a result the tools that
were recovered in the Pelon case will be admissible.

The trial court made a similar finding in admitting the Toshiba televi-
sion. After a review of the record, it appears that the detectives did
not start opening the tool boxes until after Ms. Matthews had told
them “that she wanted all the stolen property out of the house and
that if it was even questionable she wanted it out.” Moreover, there is
evidence in the record that the officers did not begin to inventory
anything until after they had talked to Ms. Matthews. These facts pro-
vide competent evidence to support the trial court’s finding that Ms.
Matthews gave the officers consent to further search the items to
determine if they were stolen. See State v. McLeod, — N.C.
App. —, —, 682 S.E.2d 396, 399 (2009) (finding consent to search a
residence may be determined from the words and actions of a co-
habitant of that residence even if the other co-habitant has not con-
sented). Since Ms. Matthews consented to the further search, the trial
court’s conclusion to admit these items was proper. See State v.
Williams, 314 N.C. 337, 344, 333 S.E.2d 708, 714 (1985) (“Evidence
seized during a warrantless search is admissible if the State proves
that the defendant . . . consented to the search.”).

We also conclude the microwave, refrigerator, dishwasher, and
vanity stolen from Mr. Ritch’s residence were properly admitted into
evidence. In State v. Weakley, 176 N.C. App. 642, 627 S.E.2d 315
(2006), this Court held it was immediately apparent that a shower
curtain found in the defendant’s home was evidence of a crime when
the officer testified the curtain matched pictures she had seen that
the “victims ha[d] provided [her] of items that were taken from their
bathroom.” Weakley, 176 N.C. App. at 649-50, 627 S.E.2d at 320.
Similarly, in the present case, Detective Jason Whitley (“Detective
Whitley”) of the Wilkes County Sheriff’s Department testified that
when he entered the kitchen, he immediately recognized the appli-
ances as being items stolen from a break-in he was investigating. He
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was certain of this because he had pictures of the items and had a
“good recollection” of what the stolen items looked like. The
microwave had additional physical characteristics that further in-
dicated to Detective Whitley that it was stolen. Accordingly, the
trial court properly concluded that these items were in plain view
and thus admissible.

The Jen-Air stove stolen from Ms. Gambill’s residence was also
properly admitted. The evidence reveals that, upon entering defend-
ant’s residence, Detective Whitley noticed that the stove was unusual
in that it did not vent into the ceiling but had a down vent. He testi-
fied that it was a unique model and stood out because the sides were
missing when it appeared there should be something there. At this
time, he only took a picture of the stove. There is no evidence that the
stove was moved in order to take the picture. Therefore, this was not
an impermissible search or seizure. Arizona v. Hicks, 480 U.S. 321,
324-25, 94 L. Ed. 2d 347, 353-54 (1987) (stating that “mere recording
of the serial numbers did not constitute a seizure” and “[m]erely
inspecting those parts of the [object] that came into view during the
[original] search would not have constituted an independent
search”). Detective Whitley later showed the picture to Ms. Gambill,
who identified it as her stove. After receiving consent from defen-
dant, Detective Whitley went back to defendant’s home and seized
the stove. In fact, defendant had the stove unhooked and ready for
Detective Whitley to take when he arrived.

Finally, the trial court granted defendant’s motion to suppress a
quantity of Carhartt clothing that was found when the officers opened
drawers, because it was not in plain view. However, the officers also
discovered a quantity of the Carhartt clothing in the basement, plainly
visible to anyone entering the area. Detective Carson testified that
when he saw it he remembered “that Carhartt clothing had been
stolen from Lowe Fur & Herb.” From the tags attached to this
Carhartt clothing, Detective David Johnson (“Detective Johnson”)
from the North Wilkesboro Police Department was able to determine
that it was the clothing taken from Lowe Fur and Herb, Inc. Detective
Johnson’s observations gave him probable cause to believe that the
clothing was stolen. The trial court did not err in determining that
this clothing was admissible.

IL.

[3] Citing State v. Autry, 321 N.C. 392, 364 S.E.2d 341 (1988), defend-
ant argues the trial court impermissibly chilled his right to testify in
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his own defense when it told him that statements made at the 7
January 2008 hearing could be used against him if he testified. In
Autry, our Supreme Court found the trial court had incorrectly
informed defendant when it said, “[The prosecutor] could, on good
faith, ask you about prior misconduct, whether it resulted in convic-
tions in court if they had some good faith reason to ask those ques-
tions, and you would be under oath to answer the questions truth-
fully.” Autry, 321 N.C. at 402, 364 S.E.2d at 347. However, the Court
held this error was harmless because the evidence overwhelmingly
proved defendant’s guilt and because the trial court repeatedly
advised the defendant to consult his attorney before deciding
whether to testify. Id. at 403-04, 364 S.E.2d at 348.

Defendant first suggests that the statements made at his hear-
ing were inadmissible against him because they were made during a
suppression hearing. It is true “that when a defendant testifies in sup-
port of a motion to suppress evidence on Fourth Amendment
grounds, his testimony may not thereafter be admitted against him at
trial on the issue of guilt unless he makes no objection.” State v.
Bracey, 303 N.C. 112, 120, 277 S.E.2d 390, 395 (1981) (quoting
Simmons v. United States, 390 U.S. 377, 394, 19 L. Ed. 2d 1247, 1259
(1968)). However, the 7 January 2008 hearing was not one on a
motion to suppress evidence, and the statements were made after
defendant, though represented by counsel, asked to address the
court. Prior to granting the request, the trial court warned the de-
fendant that his statements could be used against him. Even if the
statements had been made in the course of a motion to suppress evi-
dence, use of the statements for impeachment purposes “is permis-
sible under the holding in Simmons.” Id. at 120, 277 S.E.2d at 396.
The trial court expressly limited the use of these statements against
defendant for impeachment purposes.

Defendant next contends the statements are inadmissible
because they were made during the course of plea negotiations. Rule
410 of the North Carolina Rules of Evidence provides that “[a]ny
statement made [by a defendant] in the course of plea discussions
with an attorney for the prosecuting authority which do not result in
a plea of guilty or which result in a plea of guilty later withdrawn” is
inadmissible at trial. N.C. Gen. Stat. § 8C-1, Rule 410(4) (2009); see
also N.C. Gen. Stat. § 15A-1025 (2009) (“The fact that the defendant or
his counsel and the prosecutor engaged in plea discussions or made
a plea arrangement may not be received in evidence against or in
favor of the defendant . . . .”). “Plea bargaining implies an offer to
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plead guilty upon condition.” United States v. Porter, 821 F.2d 968,
976-77 (4th Cir. 1987) (internal quotation marks omitted), cert.
denied, 485 U.S. 934, 99 L. Ed. 2d 269, reh’g denied, 485 U.S. 1042, 99
L. Ed. 2d 919 (1988). Moreover, as the rule implies, “[p]lea negotia-
tions, in order to be inadmissible, must be made in negotiations with
a government attorney or with that attorney’s express authority.” Id.
at 977 (emphasis added). “In addition, conversations with govern-
ment agents do not constitute plea discussions unless the defendant
exhibits a subjective belief that he is negotiating a plea, and that
belief is reasonable under the circumstances.” State v. Curry, 153
N.C. App. 260, 263, 569 S.E.2d 691, 694 (2002) (internal quotation
marks omitted). Here, defendant’s statements at the 7 January 2008
hearing appear to have been made in an attempt to ask for either a
continuance or the trial court’s mercy in imposing a lesser sentence
than that offered by the prosecutor. Defendant was clearly aware that
the prosecuting attorney was unwilling to accept defendant’s plea in
exchange for the sentence which defendant requested, and defend-
ant, therefore, made his request of the court:

I'm asking for mercy from the Court. Whether or not I deserve it,
I'm not sure. When you look at my record or you look at these
charges or the amount of money that Mr. Horner claims is at
issue, I'm not sure that when you ask for mercy those things
are—if—I don’t expect any mercy from Mr. Horner. I'm asking for
it from the Court.

In response to this request, the trial court indicated that it was not
willing to impose any sentence less than what the prosecuting attor-
ney had already offered. After having time to further consider the
State’s offer, defendant then decided to go to trial. From this evi-
dence, it does not appear that defendant subjectively thought that he
was negotiating a plea with the prosecuting attorney or with the pros-
ecutor’s express authority when he made statements at the 7 January
2008 hearing. Instead, the statements were made in the course of
defendant’s various requests to the trial court. Thus, defendant’s argu-
ment that these statements were made during the course of plea
negotiations, and thus inadmissible, fails.

Finally, defendant argues that the trial court incorrectly con-
cluded that defendant’s statements at the 7 January 2008 hearing
were confessions. Thus, he contends that the trial court incorrectly
informed him that the prosecutor could use the statements against
him at trial. Under the North Carolina Rules of Evidence, an admis-
sion by a party opponent can be admitted against that party if it is “his
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own statement, in either his individual or a representative capacity.”
N.C. Gen. Stat. § 8C-1, Rule 801(d)(A) (2009). “An admission is a
statement of pertinent facts which, in light of other evidence, is
incriminating.” State v. Trexler, 316 N.C. 528, 531, 342 S.E.2d 878,
879-80 (1986). A confession is “an acknowledgment in express words
by the accused in a criminal case of his guilt of the crime charged or
of some essential part of it.” State v. Fox, 277 N.C. 1, 25, 175 S.E.2d
561, 576 (1970). “A confession, therefore, is a type of an admission.”
Trexler, 316 N.C. at 531, 342 S.E.2d at 880. Accordingly, a statement is
admissible against a party even if it is not technically a confession but
qualifies as an admission.

At the 7 January 2008 hearing, defendant made various state-
ments which implied his guilt of the charged offenses. At one point he
said, “But in one case in Yadkin County they claimed $30,000 worth of
blankets were stole, and there is no way. At the high side, it might
have been $10,000 worth of blankets that were stole, and I admitted
to that.” These statements clearly qualify as “statement[s] of perti-
nent facts which, in light of other evidence, [are] incriminating.” Id.
at 531, 342 S.E.2d at 879-80. Accordingly, the trial court did not err
when it ruled that these statements could be used against defendant
for impeachment purposes or when it instructed defendant that the
statements could be used against him at trial. Since the trial court did
not err in advising defendant regarding the prosecutor’s potential use
of his statements made at the 7 January 2008 hearing, defendant’s
right to testify was not impermissibly chilled.

I1I.

[4] Defendant next challenges the trial court’s denial of his motion to
dismiss the breaking or entering charges. Specifically, defendant con-
tends the State failed to provide sufficient evidence that he broke or
entered into any of the buildings alleged in the bills of indictment.
Upon a motion to dismiss, “the trial court must determine whether
there is substantial evidence of each essential element of the offense
charged and of the defendant being the perpetrator of the offense.”
State v. Garcia, 358 N.C. 382, 412, 597 S.E.2d 724, 746 (2004), cert.
denied, 543 U.S. 1156, 161 L. Ed. 2d 122 (2005). “ ‘Substantial evi-
dence’ is relevant evidence that a reasonable person might accept as
adequate.” Id. In determining whether there is substantial evidence, a
“reviewing court considers all evidence in the light most favorable to
the State, and the State receives the benefit of every reasonable infer-
ence supported by that evidence.” Id. at 412-13, 597 S.E.2d at 746.
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When the trial court does not instruct the jury “that it could con-
vict [the] defendant if it found that he acted in concert with others in
the commission of the elements of each of the offenses, the State
ha[s] to satisfy the jury that [the] defendant personally committed
every element of each offense.” State v. Smith, 65 N.C. App. 770, 772,
310 S.E.2d 115, 116-17, aff’d as modified, 311 N.C. 145, 316 S.E.2d 75
(1984). “To support a conviction for felonious breaking and entering
under G.S. § 14-54(a), there must exist substantial evidence of each of
the following elements: (1) the breaking or entering, (2) of any build-
ing, (3) with the intent to commit any felony or larceny therein.” State
v. Walton, 90 N.C. App. 532, 533, 369 S.E.2d 101, 103 (1988). A break-
ing has been defined as “any act of force, however slight, employed to
effect an entrance through any usual or unusual place of ingress.”
State v. Myrick, 306 N.C. 110, 114, 291 S.E.2d 577, 580 (1982) (inter-
nal quotation marks omitted). The element of an entry is satisfied if a
person inserts “any part of the body, hand, . . . foot, or . . . any instru-
ment or weapon” into a building. State v. Turnage, 362 N.C. 491, 494,
666 S.E.2d 753, 756 (2008) (internal quotation marks omitted).

In the present case, defendant was charged with the felonious
breaking or entering of Mr. Ritch’s residence, Mr. Pelon’s residence,
Ms. Gambill’s residence, and the business of Lowe Fur and Herb, Inc.
The trial court did not instruct the jury as to the doctrine of acting in
concert, thus, the State was required to prove that defendant com-
mitted the offenses himself. The State concedes there was insuffi-
cient evidence presented at trial from which the jury could find that
defendant either broke or entered into Mr. Pelon’s residence, Mr.
Ritch’s residence, or Lowe Fur and Herb, Inc. Defendant’s motions to
dismiss those charges should have been granted, and we reverse his
convictions of breaking or entering in 07 CRS 881, 07 CRS 886, and
07 CRS 50466.

With respect to the charge of breaking or entering into Ms.
Gambill’'s residence, however, we reach a different conclusion.
“Circumstantial evidence may withstand a motion to dismiss and sup-
port a conviction even when the evidence does not rule out every
hypothesis of innocence. If the evidence presented is circumstantial,
the court must consider whether a reasonable inference of defend-
ant’s guilt may be drawn from the circumstances.” State v. Barnes,
334 N.C. 67, 75, 430 S.E.2d 914, 919 (1993) (citation and internal quo-
tation marks omitted). If there is a reasonable inference, then the
question of defendant’s guilt is left to the jury. Id. The evidence sur-
rounding the breaking or entering of Ms. Gambill’s residence tended
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to show that defendant and Daniel Ritcher went to Ms. Gambill’s
house together to “take the stuff [they] wanted to take.” Ritcher
gained entry into Ms. Gambill’s house “through the window or the
back door.” It did not take long to load the items, which included a
Jen-Air stove, a riding lawnmower, and a ladder. Based on the nature
and size of the items taken, the evidence presented creates a reason-
able inference that defendant entered Ms. Gambill’'s home to assist
Ritcher in removing the property from the house quickly. Thus, the
trial court did not err in denying defendant’s motion to dismiss this
breaking or entering charge.

Iv.

[6] Finally, defendant argues that the trial court impermissibly sen-
tenced him, at least in part, because of his insistence on having his
cases tried by a jury. He thus contends that he is entitled to a new sen-
tencing hearing.

“A sentence within statutory limits is presumed to be regular.”
State v. Peterson, 1564 N.C. App. 515, 517, 571 S.E.2d 883, 885 (2002)
(internal quotation marks omitted), appeal after remand, 168 N.C.
App. 597, 608 S.E.2d 417 (2005). However,

[w]here it can reasonably be inferred from the language of the
trial judge that the sentence was imposed at least in part because
defendant did not agree to a plea offer by the state and insisted
on a trial by jury, defendant’s constitutional right to trial by jury
has been abridged, and a new sentencing hearing must result.

State v. Cannon, 326 N.C. 37, 39, 387 S.E.2d 450, 451 (1990). At a pre-
trial hearing on 7 January 2008, defendant asked the trial court to
consider a possible sentence of five years of imprisonment and five
years of probation in response to an offer by the prosecutor to rec-
ommend a sentence of ten years. In response to this request, the trial
court responded by saying, “So I'm just telling you up front that the
offer the State made is probably the best thing.” Defendant declined
the State’s offer.

At a subsequent pre-trial hearing on defendant’s motion to sup-
press evidence, the subject of a plea arrangement was again dis-
cussed, and the trial court reminded defendant of the earlier discus-
sions as well as the possible sentences which could be imposed if
defendant were convicted of the offenses as an habitual felon.
Defendant indicated that he understood the exposure, but declined
the prosecutor’s plea offer.
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After defendant was found guilty of the offenses, and after hear-
ing arguments by the State and defendant on the issue of mitigating
factors, the trial court stated, “[w]ay back when we dealt with that
plea different times and, you know, you told me you didn’t have any
drugs problems, you didn’t have anything, what you wanted to do,
and I told you that the best offer you're gonna get was that ten-year
thing, you know.” Defendant contends that, by that statement, an
inference arises that the trial court based its sentence at least in part
on defendant’s failure to accept the State’s plea offer. We agree.

In State v. Hueto, — N.C. App. —, ——, 671 S.E.2d 62 (2009), the
trial court told the defendant prior to trial:

[If you go to trial,] you are putting your faith in the hands of
twelve strangers who do not know you, who do not know your
situation, and if they find you guilty of the charges against both of
these young girls, it will compel me to give you more than a
single B-1 sentence, and I would have to give you at least two . . .
and maybe more.

—— N.C. App. at —, 671 S.E.2d at 67. After a jury trial, the defendant
was convicted of two counts of first—-degree rape and six counts of
statutory rape. Id. at —, 671 S.E.2d at 64. Before sentencing defend-
ant to eight consecutive sentences, the trial court stated

To you, Senor Hueto, I regret that you do [sic] not choose to take
the offer that had been made to you at the beginning of the trial
to plead guilty for a lesser sentence. And I had told you that I did
not know what I would . . . give in terms of a sentence but that I
would await the jury’s verdict.

Id. at ——, 671 S.E.2d at 68. This Court found that, since the trial court
had the discretion to consolidate defendant’s convictions for the pur-
pose of judgment, it could reasonably be inferred from these state-
ments that the trial court’s “decision to impose eight consecutive sen-
tences was partially based on [the] Defendant’s decision to plead not
guilty.” Id. at —, 671 S.E.2d at 69.

Defendant was convicted of having committed the offenses after
having attained the status of an habitual felon. N.C.G.S. § 14-7.6 man-
dates that when “an habitual felon . . . commits any felony under
the laws of the State of North Carolina, the felon must, upon convic-
tion . . . be sentenced as a Class C felon.” .N.C. Gen. Stat. § 14-7.6
(2009). “Sentences imposed under this Article shall run consecutively
with and shall commence at the expiration of any sentence being
served by the person sentenced under this section.” Id. “However,
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in situations where a defendant is convicted of two or more of-
fenses, the General Assembly has given the trial court discretion to
consolidate the offenses into a single judgment.” State v. Tucker, 357
N.C. 633, 636, 588 S.E.2d 853, 855 (2003); see also N.C. Gen. Stat.
§ 156A-1340.15(b) (2009) (“If an offender is convicted of more than one
offense at the same time, the court may consolidate the offenses for
judgment and impose a single judgment for the consolidated
offenses.”). Since N.C.G.S. § 14-7.6 does not expressly preclude the
trial judge from exercising its statutory discretion under N.C.G.S.
§ 15A-1340.15(b), we see no reason to so hold. See Bd. of Adjustment
of Swansboro v. Town of Swansboro, 334 N.C. 421, 427, 432 S.E.2d
310, 313 (“Statutes dealing with the same subject matter must be con-
strued in pari materia and harmonized, if possible, to give effect to
each.”), reh’g denied, 335 N.C. 182, 436 S.E.2d 369 (1993); see also
Brisson v. Kathy A. Santoriello, M.D., PA., 351 N.C. 589, 595, 528
S.E.2d 568, 571 (2000) (construing Rule 9(j) and Rule 41(a)(1) of the
North Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure as compatible where Rule
9(j) did “not expressly preclude such complainant’s right to utilize a
Rule 41(a)(1) voluntary dismissal”). Thus, the trial court in the
present case had the discretion to consolidate some or all of defend-
ant’s convictions for the purposes of judgment.

However, without consolidating any of defendant’s convictions,
the trial court sentenced defendant in the presumptive range as a
Class C felon to ten felonies and made the sentences run consecu-
tively. Thus, as in Hueto, we believe it may be reasonably inferred
from the trial court’s statements that it made this decision based at
least in part on defendant’s decision to refuse the State’s plea offer.
See State v. Pavone, 104 N.C. App. 442, 446, 410 S.E.2d 1, 3 (1991)
(finding that the trial court’s statement at sentencing that, “[y]ou tried
the case out; this is the result” created a reasonable inference that the
trial court impermissibly considered the defendant’s failure to accept
a plea in imposing its sentence). Accordingly, defendant is entitled to
a new sentencing hearing.

07 CRS 000881—Reversed.
07 CRS 000886—Reversed.
07 CRS 050460—No Error At Trial; New Sentencing Hearing.
07 CRS 050466—Reversed.
08 CRS 000108—No Error At Trial; New Sentencing Hearing.
08 CRS 001470—No Error At Trial; New Sentencing Hearing.
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08 CRS 001471—No Error At Trial; New Sentencing Hearing.
08 CRS 001472—No Error At Trial; New Sentencing Hearing.
08 CRS 001473—No Error At Trial; New Sentencing Hearing.
08 CRS 001474—No Error At Trial; New Sentencing Hearing.
08 CRS 001475—No Error At Trial; New Sentencing Hearing.

Judges HUNTER and ERVIN concur.

STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA v. CHARLES RALPH HINSON

No. COA09-748
(Filed 6 April 2010)

.Search and Seizure— motion to suppress evidence—

methamphetamine lab—precursor chemicals

The trial court did not err in a manufacturing methampheta-
mine and possession of precursor chemicals case by denying
defendant’s motion to suppress evidence found during the search
of his house. The sworn information was competent evidence to
support a finding that the equipment and materials observed by
an informant were of the type that would be present in a metham-
phetamine lab that was an ongoing operation that was long term
in nature.

.Search and Seizure— issuance of warrant—probable

cause—staleness of evidence

The trial court did not err in a manufacturing methampheta-
mine and possession of precursor chemicals case by determining
that probable cause existed to support the issuance of a search
warrant. The magistrate considered not only the three-week old
evidence given by an informant, but also observations made just
one day before the warrant application was submitted, as well as
a lieutenant’s opinion based on his experience that an ongoing
methamphetamine production operation was present.

.Search and Seizure— issuance of warrant—probable

cause—totality of circumstances

The trial court did not err in a manufacturing methampheta-
mine and possession of precursor chemicals case by denying
defendant’s motion to suppress the evidence obtained by the
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execution of a search warrant. Based on the totality of circum-
stances and giving great deference to the magistrate’s determi-
nation, there was sufficient evidence to support a conclusion of
probable cause.

4. Drugs— manufacturing methamphetamine—motion to dis-
miss—intent to distribute not necessary element of
offense

The trial court did not err by denying defendant’s motion to
dismiss the charge of manufacturing methamphetamine.
Defendant was not required to prove the additional element of
intent to distribute since he was not charged with either prepara-
tion or compounding a controlled substance.

5. Drugs— requested instruction—personal use exception
The trial court did not err by failing to give a requested
instruction on excluding preparation for one’s own use from man-
ufacturing methamphetamine. The personal use exception was
inapplicable to defendant’s charge.

6. Indictment and Information— variance—plain error
The trial court committed plain error by instructing the jury
that they could find defendant guilty of manufacturing metham-
phetamine under theories of guilt that were in variance from the
indictment. Defendant was granted a new trial on 06 CRS 1602 for
manufacture of a controlled substance.

7. Drugs— possessing precursor chemicals—instruction—
actual possession
The trial court did not err by instructing the jury that they
could find defendant guilty of possessing precursor chemicals
under the theory of actual possession. Defendant failed to show
how the instruction would have misled the jury or that any po-
tential error may have prejudiced defendant. However, the con-
viction under 06 CRS 1602 for possession of precursor chemi-
cals was remanded for resentencing since it was consolidated
for judgment with the conviction under 06 CRS 1603 that was
already remanded.

Judge STEELMAN concurring in part and dissenting in part.
Appeal by Defendant from judgment entered 17 October 2008 by

Judge James W. Morgan in Superior Court, Cleveland County. Heard
in the Court of Appeals 2 December 2009.
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Attorney General Roy Cooper, by Assistant Attorney General
John P. Scherer II, for the State.

Teddy, Meekins, & Talbert, PL.L.C., by Anne Bleyman, for
Defendant-Appellant.

McGEE, Judge.

Charles Ralph Hinson (Defendant) was indicted on 13 March 2006
in two separate indictments charging him with manufacturing
methamphetamine and possession of precursor chemicals. Defendant
was convicted by a jury as charged on 17 October 2008. The trial
court consolidated the judgments and Defendant was sentenced to a
term of 88 to 115 months in prison. Defendant appeals.

Evidence was presented at a suppression hearing and at trial. The
evidence presented tended to show that Defendant and his wife, Pam
Hinson, lived at 334 Carpenter’s Grove Church Road, Lawndale,
located in Cleveland County. Relying on information provided by an
informant to Sergeant Tim Johnson of the Lincoln County Sheriff’s
Office, agents of the State Bureau of Investigation and officers of the
Cleveland County Sheriff’s Office obtained a warrant to search
Defendant’s house on 2 March 2006. The warrant was served on 3
March 2006.

Agent Ann Hamlin, a drug chemist with the State Bureau of
Investigation, and Sergeant Chris Hutchins of the Cleveland County
Sheriff’s Office, entered Defendant’s house on 3 March 2006 and par-
ticipated in the search. Agent Hamlin found items in Defendant’s
house that she felt were consistent with the manufacture of con-
trolled substances. She found powder inside folded filter paper,
which she opined to be pseudoephedrine. Agent Hamlin found inside
another filter paper a substance that she believed to be methamphet-
amine and pseudoephedrine. Agent Hamlin also found a gallon-sized
milk jug that contained “a two layer liquid” that, after testing, Agent
Hamlin testified was methamphetamine and pseudoephedrine. Agent
Hamlin testified that testing revealed iodine and red phosphorous
in other samples of the folded filter papers. Agent Hamlin further tes-
tified that the materials discovered at Defendant’s house could be
used to manufacture methamphetamine, and it was her opinion that
there was a “clandestine methamphetamine laboratory” located at
the house.

As a result of the search of Defendant’s house, Defendant was
charged with manufacturing methamphetamine and possession of
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precursor chemicals. Defendant moved to suppress the evidence
obtained during the search of his home on the grounds that the search
warrant was obtained illegally. Following the suppression hearing,
Defendant’s motion was denied and trial proceeded. Defendant was
found guilty of manufacturing methamphetamine and possession of
precursor chemicals.

Motion to Suppress

[1] Defendant first argues that the trial court erred by denying his
motion to suppress the evidence found during the search of his
house. Defendant asserts that the warrant was not supported by prob-
able cause and was therefore defective. We disagree.

Our Court reviews a ruling on a motion to suppress to determine
“whether the trial judge’s underlying findings of fact are supported by
competent evidence, in which event they are conclusively binding on
appeal, and whether those factual findings in turn support the judge’s
ultimate conclusions of law.” State v. Cooke, 306 N.C. 132, 134, 291
S.E.2d 618, 619 (1982). “Where, however, the trial court’s findings of
fact are not challenged on appeal, they are deemed to be supported
by competent evidence and are binding on appeal.” State v. Roberson,
163 N.C. App. 129, 132, 592 S.E.2d 733, 735-36 (2004). We review a trial
court’s conclusions of law de novo. State v. Edwards, 185 N.C. App.
701, 702, 649 S.E.2d 646, 648, disc. review denied, 362 N.C. 89, 656
S.E.2d 281 (2007).

In the trial court’s order denying Defendant’s motion to suppress,
the trial court made findings of fact and conclusions of law, including
inter alia, the following:

5. That on or about February 24th, 2006, [Informant] was
arrested for forgery/counterfeiting in Lincoln County, North
Carolina, on an arrest warrant obtained by Sgt. Tim Johnson
of the Lincoln County Sheriff’s Department.

6. At the time of said arrest, Sgt. Johnson told [Informant] that
federal authorities [might] step into the investigation of his
case. He further informed [Informant] that the only way to
help himself with Johnson or with the federal authorities was
to provide substantial assistance.

7. Sgt. Johnson had known [Informant] since approximately
1981 when [Informant] was in a youth group led by Johnson.
Johnson knew of prior arrests [Informant] had for drugs,
obtaining property by false pretenses and other charges.
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Johnson also knew that [Informant] had provided informa-
tion to law enforcement in the past to try to help himself with
the charges. The information provided by [Informant] in the
past had led to arrests.

[Informant] told Johnson that he knew of methampheta-
mine dealers in Cleveland and Burke Counties. He provided
the names and address of [Defendant] and his wife in
Cleveland County.

[Informant] had provided information in at least three other
cases in Lincoln County that led to arrest[s] on charges
involving checks and drugs. The information provided by
[Informant] had turned out to be reliable and that while
[Informant] himself had been involved in fraudulent activ-
ity, information he has provided to law enforcement in ef-
forts toward substantial assistance has been reliable. Sgt.
Johnson believed [Informant] to be a reliable confidential
information [sic].

On or about March 1, 2006, [Informant] told Johnson he had
been at the home of [Defendant] on February 28th, 2006, had
gone into [D]efendant’s kitchen and had seen pills and
matches on the counter. Some of the matches had been cut
up and placed in a Ziploc bag. The door to the “cooking
room” was closed. Defendant and his wife were outside the
home but on the premises.

[Informant] told Sgt. Johnson further: that he had known
[D]efendant and his wife for several years; . . . that there was
a vent in the outside wall of the “cooling [sic] room”; that if
the vent was uncovered that methamphetamine was being
cooked; that he had been ad [sic] Defendant’s house three
weeks to a month prior and that they had been cooking
methamphetamine at that time; that Defendant had down-
loaded recipes for cooking methamphetamine into his com-
puter; that Defendant and his wife would cook anywhere
from a gram to an ounce of methamphetamine at a time; and
that in the cooking room was a burner, hot plate, exhaust fan,
chemicals, mason jars, glassware, matches, pills, acetone,
muriatic and sulfuric acids, and butane.
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... Lt. Shores [of the Cleveland County Sheriff’s Office] pre-
pared an application for a search warrant that was presented
to the undersigned at approximately 6:15 p.m. on March 2nd,
2006. Said application did not contain information regarding
the nature of [Informant’s] prior criminal activity but related
how he had provided information in the past that had led to
the arrest of three individuals and that Sgt. Johnson was of
the opinion that if [Informant] told him something, it would
be the truth.

The information provided by [Informant] in the context by
which it was provided had been reliable in the past. Such
information had led to the arrest of three individuals. That
this information was sufficient to satisfy the undersigned
that the information provided to law enforcement was reli-
able for the issuance of the search warrant. [Informant’s]
fraudulent activity in his personal life is inconsequential to
the undersigned in regards to whether to issue a warrant
and that confidential informants often do have criminal
histories and pending criminal charges at the time they pro-
vide information.

When Sgt. Johnson told [Informant] that the only way he
could help himself was to provide substantial assistance, he
did not tell or suggest to [Informant] what type of assistance
to provide. Sgt. Johnson did not provide [Informant] with
names upon whom to offer information. Sgt. Johnson did
not tell [Informant] what type of information to provide.
Sgt. Johnson did not tell [Informant] how to obtain the
information.

[Informant] was well familiar with . . . [D]efendant and his
wife. He had been to their house a number of times. He had
known them a number of years. He knew where in the house
[Dlefendant and his wife cooked methamphetamine. He
knew where [D]efendant kept his gun. [Informant] had
been in [D]efendant’s house three weeks to one month
prior to February 28th, 2006, while [D]efendant cooked
methamphetamine.

On February 28th, 2006, [Informant] went to [D]efendant’s
house. Defendant and his wife were outside of the home
working on a backhoe. [Informant] stepped through the out-
side door of the residence into the kitchen area, saw pills and
matches on the counter and left. He did not enter any other
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area of the house. No evidence was presented other than sug-
gestion that [Informant] had been told to not be on or about
[D]efendant’s property or was told not to enter [D]efendant’s
home. [Informant’s] familiarity with [D]efendant and his wife
and the regularity of his visits leads to the conclusion
[Informant’s] entry into [D]efendant’s home was not illegal.

Lt. Shores has had extensive training and experience with
narcotics investigations and clandestine laboratories. Based
upon his training and experience, the location of the pills,
matches and the preparation of the matches led Lt. Shores to
the opinion a methamphetamine lab was in operation or
about to be operated.

Coupling the items seen by [Informant] on February 28th,
2006, with the equipment and materials observed three weeks
to one month previous add credence to Lt. Shores’ opinion
concerning the operation of the methamphetamine lab.

The equipment and materials observed by [Informant] prior
to February 28th, 2006, were of the type that a methampheta-
mine lab operation was an ongoing operation, long term in
nature. This information was sufficient to establish probable
cause for the issuance of the search warrant.

The totality of the circumstances described in the application
for the search warrant created a substantial basis for more
than a fair probability that methamphetamine lab equipment
and contraband would be found at [D]efendant’s house.

Based on the foregoing findings, the [c]ourt CONCLUDES:

1.

[Informant] was not acting as an agent of the State when he
entered [D]efendant’s property.

[Informant’s] criminal record and charges were of little or no
consequence when taken in the context of providing prior
reliable information that led to arrest[s].

The information contained in the application for search war-
rant was sufficient to provide probable cause for the issuance
of the search warrant.

There was no violation of [D]efendant’s statutory or Con-
stitutional rights in the issuance of the search warrant on
March 2nd, 2006.
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Defendant challenges the trial court’s finding of fact number 25: “The
equipment and materials observed by [Informant] prior to February
28th, 2006, were of the type that a methamphetamine lab operation
was an ongoing operation, long term in nature.” Defendant first con-
tends that this finding is actually a conclusion of law, not a finding of
fact, and we should, therefore, review this “finding” de novo.

The classification of a determination as either a finding of fact or
a conclusion of law is admittedly difficult. As a general rule, how-
ever, any determination requiring the exercise of judgment or the
application of legal principles is more properly classified a con-
clusion of law. Any determination reached through “logical rea-
soning from the evidentiary facts” is more properly classified a
finding of fact.

Matter of Helms, 127 N.C. App. 505, 510, 491 S.E.2d 672, 675 (1997)
(citations omitted).

Defendant asserts specifically that the clause, “a methampheta-
mine lab operation was an ongoing operation, long term in nature[,]”
was a conclusion of law. However, Defendant does not provide any
support for the notion that a determination that an operation was an
ongoing operation and long term in nature reflected the exercise of
judgment or the application of legal principles. Reviewing finding of
fact number 25 in its entirety, we find that the phrase: “The equipment
and materials observed by [Informant] prior to February 28th, 2006,
were of the type that a methamphetamine lab operation was an ongo-
ing operation, long term in nature[,]” more accurately reflects the
application of “logical reasoning from the evidentiary facts[.]”
Therefore, we hold that the portion of finding of fact number 25 to
which Defendant directs his argument is properly labeled a finding of
fact and we review it to determine whether it was supported by com-
petent evidence.l Cooke, 306 N.C. at 134, 291 S.E.2d at 619.

In his application for a search warrant, Lieutenant Joel Shores of
the Cleveland County Sheriff’s Office included the following state-
ments under the heading, “Probable Cause”:

1. We note that finding of fact number 25 also contains the following sentence:
“This information was sufficient to establish probable cause for the issuance of the
search warrant.” This portion is a conclusion of law and not a finding of fact, but
Defendant’s argument is directed towards that portion of finding of fact number 25
which we have determined to be a finding of fact. See State v. Wilson, 155 N.C. App.
89, 93-94, 574 S.E.2d 93, 97 (2002) (“[A] trial court’s conclusions of law regarding
whether the officer had reasonable suspicion [or probable cause] to detain a defendant
is reviewable de novo.”). (Citations omitted, internal alteration in the original).
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Based on my training and experience, I am familiar with the
chemicals and Precursors associated with the manufacturing of
methamphetamine and the traits and practices of those involved
in the manufacturing of methamphetamine.

[IInformant] stated . . . [t]hat within the last three weeks, he/she
had seen [Defendant and his wife] cooking methamphetamine in
the house.

[[Informant stated that he/she had been to [Defendant’s house]
with[in] the last 72 hours of making this application and had saw
[sic] pills and matches on the counter of the kitchen. . . . [IInfor-
mant stated that some of the matches were in boxes, some w|]ere
in packs and some w|]ere cut up and in a zip lock bag.

Based on this officer[’]s training and experience, and the detailed
information supplied by . . . [I[nformant who has given credible
information in the past, This applicant believes that [Defend-
ant and his wife] are in the business of manufacturing
Methamphetamine].]

We hold that this sworn information is competent evidence to support
a finding that “[t]he equipment and materials observed by [Informant]
prior to February 28th, 2006, were of the type that a methampheta-
mine lab operation was an ongoing operation, long term in nature.”

The Trial Court’s Conclusions of Law

[2] Defendant focuses his argument on the trial court’s determina-
tion that there existed probable cause to support the issuance of a
warrant. Defendant argues that the information provided by
Lieutenant Shores in the warrant application was stale and, therefore,
insufficient to support the issuance of a warrant.

Staleness

Our Court addressed the issue of “staleness” in State v. Witherspoon
as follows:

[t]he test for “staleness” of information on which a search war-
rant is based is whether the facts indicate that probable cause
exists at the time the warrant is issued. Common sense must be
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used in determining the degree of evaporation of probable cause.
The likelihood that the evidence sought is still in place is a func-
tion not simply of watch and calendar but of variables that do not
punch a clock.

Our Supreme Court has stated that a number of variables are to
be considered in determining whether probable cause still exists
at the time a search warrant is issued, including inter alia the
items to be seized and the character of the crime.

One may properly infer that equipment acquired to accomplish
the crime and records of the criminal activity will be kept for
some period of time. When the evidence sought is of an ongoing
criminal business of a necessarily long-term nature, such as mar-
ijuana growing, rather than that of a completed act, greater lapses
of time are permitted if the evidence in the affidavit shows the
probable existence of the activity at an earlier time.

State v. Witherspoon, 110 N.C. App. 413, 419-20, 429 S.E.2d 783,
786-87 (1993) (internal citations omitted).

Defendant’s argument focuses on the statements made by
Informant to officers that Informant had been to Defendant’s house
three weeks earlier. Defendant contends that the materials observed
by Informant three weeks prior to the issuance of the warrant were
stale at the time the warrant application was submitted to the magis-
trate. By limiting his focus to one finding of fact, Defendant ignores
the evidence concerning Informant’s observations made just one day
prior to the submission of the warrant application. When the trial
court’s order is considered in its entirety, Defendant’s argument fails.

The trial court’s findings of fact reprinted above were either
unchallenged by Defendant, or have been reviewed by this Court, and
deemed supported by competent evidence. They are therefore bind-
ing on appeal. Roberson, 163 N.C. App. at 132, 592 S.E.2d at 735-36.
We find the following findings of fact particularly pertinent:

11. On or about March 1, 2006, [Informant] told Johnson he had
been at the home of . . . [D]efendant on February 28th, 2006,
had gone into [D]efendant’s kitchen and had seen pills and
matches on the counter. Some of the matches had been cut
up and placed in a Ziploc bag. The door to the “cooking
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room” was closed. Defendant and his wife were outside the
home but on the premises.

[Informant] told Sgt. Johnson further: that he had known
[D]efendant and his wife for several years; . . . that there was
a vent in the outside wall of the “cooling [sic] room”; that if
the vent was uncovered that methamphetamine was being
cooked; that he had been ad [sic] Defendant’s house three
weeks to a month prior and that they had been cooking
methamphetamine at that time; that Defendant had down-
loaded recipes for cooking methamphetamine into his com-
puter; that Defendant and his wife would cook anywhere
from a gram to an ounce of methamphetamine at a time; and
that in the cooking room was a burner, hot plate, exhaust fan,
chemicals, mason jars, glassware, matches, pills, acetone,
muriatic and sulfuric acids, and butane.

[Informant] was well familiar with [D]efendant and his
wife. He had been to their house a number of times. He
had known them a number of years. He knew where in the
house [D]efendant and his wife cooked methampheta-
mine. He knew where [D]efendant kept his gun. [Informant]
had been in [D]efendant’s house three weeks to one month
prior to February 28th, 2006, while [D]efendant cooked
methamphetamine.

On February 28th, 2006, [Informant] went to [D]efendant’s
house. Defendant and his wife were outside of the home
working on a backhoe. [Informant] stepped through the out-
side door of the residence into the kitchen area, saw pills and
matches on the counter and left. He did not enter any other
area of the house. No evidence was presented other than sug-
gestion that [Informant] had been told to not be on or about
[D]efendant’s property or was told not to enter [D]efendant’s
home. [Informant’s] familiarity with [D]efendant and his wife
and the regularity of his visits leads to the conclusion
[Informant’s] entry into [D]efendant’s home was not illegal.

Lt. Shores has had extensive training and experience with
narcotics investigations and clandestine laboratories. Based
upon his training and experience, the location of the pills,
matches and the preparation of the matches led Lt. Shores to
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the opinion a methamphetamine lab was in operation or
about to be operated.

24. Coupling the items seen by [Informant] on February 28th,
2006, with the equipment and materials observed three weeks
to one month previous add credence to Lt. Shores’ opinion
concerning the operation of the methamphetamine lab.

25. The equipment and materials observed by [Informant] prior
to February 28th, 2006, were of the type that a methampheta-
mine lab operation was an ongoing operation, long term in
nature. This information was sufficient to establish probable
cause for the issuance of the search warrant.

It is clear that the trial court determined that the magistrate con-
sidered not only the three-week old evidence, but also observations
made just one day before the warrant application was submitted, as
well as Lieutenant Shores’ opinion that, based on his experience, an
ongoing methamphetamine production operation was present. Based
on both common sense and the nature of “the items to be seized and
the character of the crime[,]” we find this evidence not to be stale.
Witherspoon, 110 N.C. App. at 419, 429 S.E.2d at 786 (internal cita-
tions omitted).

Probable Cause

[8] We now review the trial court’s findings of fact to determine
whether they support the trial court’s conclusions of law. In review-
ing an application for a warrant, a reviewing court is to pay “great def-
erence” to the magistrate’s determination of probable cause. State v.
Ledbetter, 120 N.C. App. 117, 121-22) 461 S.E.2d 341, 344 (1995) (cita-
tions omitted). A reviewing court “should not conduct a de novo
review of the evidence to determine whether probable cause existed
at the time the warrant was issued.” Id. at 122, 461 S.E.2d at 344 (cita-
tions omitted). To determine whether probable cause existed, a
reviewing court is to examine “the totality of the circumstances.”
State v. Arrington, 311 N.C. 633, 643, 319 S.E.2d 254, 261 (1984).

We have explained the requirements for a finding of probable
cause as follows:

Probable cause does not mean actual and positive cause, nor
does it import absolute certainty. The determination of the exis-
tence of probable cause is not concerned with the question of
whether the accused is guilty or innocent, but only with whether
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the affiant has reasonable grounds for his belief. If the apparent
facts set out in an affidavit for a search warrant are such that a
reasonably discreet and prudent person would be led to believe
there was a commission of the offense charged, there is probable
cause justifying the issuance of a search warrant.

State v. Byrd, 60 N.C. App. 740, 743, 300 S.E.2d 16, 18 (1983) (cita-
tion omitted).

Reviewing the findings of fact as detailed above, in the totality of
the circumstances and giving great deference to the magistrate’s
determination, we find sufficient evidence to support a conclusion of
probable cause. In particular, we find that Informant’s observations
of methamphetamine production and materials, both three weeks-old
and one day-old, combined with Lieutenant Shores’ opinion that there
was, in fact, such an operation, “are such that a reasonably discreet
and prudent person would be led to believe there was a commission
of the offense charged.” Id. We therefore hold that the trial court did
not err in denying Defendant’s motion to suppress the evidence
obtained by the execution of the search warrant.

Intent to Distribute a Controlled Substance

[4] Defendant next argues that the trial court erred by denying his
motion to dismiss the charge of manufacturing methamphetamine
because there was insufficient evidence that Defendant intended to
distribute the substance. We disagree.

When ruling on a motion to dismiss, a trial court must determine
“whether there is substantial evidence (1) of each essential element
of the offense charged, or of a lesser offense included therein, and (2)
of defendant’s being the perpetrator of such offense.” State v. Powell,
299 N.C. 95, 98, 261 S.E.2d 114, 117 (1980). The trial court “is to con-
sider the evidence in the light most favorable to the State . .. [and] the
State is entitled to every reasonable intendment and every reasonable
inference to be drawn from the evidence; contradictions and discrep-
ancies do not warrant dismissal of the case—they are for the jury to
resolve.” State v. Earnhardt, 307 N.C. 62, 67, 296 S.E.2d 649, 652-53
(1982) (internal citations omitted).

The indictment stated that Defendant “manufacture[d] metham-
phetamine, a controlled substance included in [S]chedule II of the
N.C. Controlled Substances Act. The manufacturing consisted of
chemically combining and synthesizing precursor chemicals to create
methamphetamine.” Defendant argues that “[w]hen, as in the case
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sub judice, the manufacturing activity is compounding, intent to dis-
tribute is then a necessary element of the offense of manufacturing.”
Defendant’s statement of the law is correct, but his assertion that it
applies to the case before us is not.

N.C. Gen. Stat. § 90-87(15) defines “manufacture” as:

the production, preparation, propagation, compounding, conver-
sion, or processing of a controlled substance by any means,
whether directly or indirectly, artificially or naturally, or by
extraction from substances of a natural origin, or independently
by means of chemical synthesis, or by a combination of extrac-
tion and chemical synthesis; and “manufacture” further includes
any packaging or repackaging of the substance or labeling or rela-
beling of its container except that this term does not include the
preparation or compounding of a controlled substance by an indi-
vidual for his own use]|.]

N.C. Gen. Stat. § 90-87(15) (2010). Our Supreme Court has noted that
proof of intent to distribute is required by portions of this statute but
has held that “the offense of manufacturing a controlled substance
does not require an intent to distribute unless the activity constitut-
ing manufacture is preparation or compounding.” State v. Brown, 310
N.C. 563, 568, 313 S.E.2d 585, 588 (1984). The purpose of the require-
ment of intent to distribute for preparation or compounding is to

avoid making an individual liable for the felony of manufacturing
[a] controlled substance in the situation where, being already in
possession of a controlled substance, he makes it ready for use
(i.e., rolling marijuana into cigarettes for smoking) or combines
it with other ingredients for use (i.e., making the so-called “Alice
B. Toklas” brownies containing marijuana).

Id. at 567, 313 S.E.2d at 588, quoting State v. Childers, 41 N.C. App.
729, 732, 255 S.E.2d 654, 656 (1979) (alterations in the original).

Defendant was charged with manufacturing methamphetamine
by “chemically combining and synthesizing precursor chemicals|.]”
We note that this language does not track the precise language of
N.C.G.S. § 90-87(15), but we find that it is most similar to the follow-
ing clause: “by means of chemical synthesis, or by a combination of
extraction and chemical synthesis.” N.C.G.S. § 90-87(15). Defendant
asserts that “in the case sub judice, the manufacturing activity is
compounding[.]” We disagree. The indictment is clear that Defendant
was charged with chemically synthesizing precursor chemicals to
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create methamphetamine and not with either “the preparation or
compounding of a controlled substance[.]” N.C.G.S. § 90-87(15).

The activity for which Defendant was charged was the creation of
methamphetamine from the precursor chemicals pseudoephedrine
and red phosphorous. This situation is clearly distinguishable from
that discussed in Brown, where a defendant “already in possession
of a controlled substance . . . makes it ready for use (7.e., rolling mar-
ijuana into cigarettes for smoking) or combines it with other ingredi-
ents for use (7.e., making the so-called ‘Alice B. Toklas’ brownies con-
taining marijuana).” Brown, 310 N.C. at 567, 313 S.E.2d at 588,
quoting Childers, 41 N.C. App. at 732, 255 S.E.2d at 656 (emphasis
added). Because Defendant was not charged with either “preparation
or compounding of a controlled substance[,]” the State was not
required to prove the additional element of intent to distribute. Id.

Defendant’s only argument concerning his motion to dismiss the
charge of manufacturing a controlled substance relies on the State’s
failure to prove Defendant’s intent to distribute. Because we have
determined that intent to distribute was not a necessary element of
the offense charged, we overrule this assignment of error.

Jury Instructions
Personal Use

[6] Defendant next argues that the trial court erred by failing to give
an instruction “on excluding preparation for one’s own use from man-
ufacturing methamphetamine[.]” We disagree. “The trial court must
give a requested instruction, at least in substance, if a defendant
requests it and the instruction is correct in law and supported by the
evidence.” State v. Reynolds, 160 N.C. App. 579, 581, 586 S.E.2d 798,
800 (2003). In this case, because we have determined that the per-
sonal use exception is inapplicable to Defendant’s charge, the trial
court was not required to provide this instruction. We therefore over-
rule this assignment of error.

Variance in the Indictment and Instruction

[6] Defendant next argues that the trial court committed plain error
“in instructing the jury they could find [Defendant] guilty of manu-
facturing methamphetamine under theories of guilt that were in vari-
ance from the indictment[.]” We agree.

Defendant did not object to the jury instructions and is therefore
limited to assigning plain error to them. State v. Hardy, 353 N.C. 122,
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131, 540 S.E.2d 334, 342 (2000). Plain error is an error so fundamen-
tal and so prejudicial that justice cannot have been done. State v.
Odom, 307 N.C. 655, 660, 300 S.E.2d 375, 378 (1983). Defendant relies
on State v. Tucker, 317 N.C. 532, 346 S.E.2d 417 (1986) and State v.
Turner, 98 N.C. App. 442, 391 S.E.2d 524 (1990).

In Tucker, the indictment which led to the defendant’s charges
contained the following language:

“The jurors for the State upon their oath present that on or
about the date of offense shown and in the county named above
the defendant named above unlawfully, willfully and feloni-
ously did kidnap [the victim], a person who had attained the age
of 16 years, by unlawfully removing her from one place to
another, without her consent, and for the purpose of facilitating
the commission of the felonies of First Degree Rape and First
Degree Sexual Offense. The victim . . . was sexually assaulted by
the defendant.”

Tucker, 317 N.C. at 537, 346 S.E.2d at 420 (alteration and emphasis in
the original). The jury was instructed that “they could find defendant
guilty of first degree kidnapping if they found, inter alia, ‘that the
defendant unlawfully restrained [the victim], that is, restricted [her]
freedom of movement by force and threat of force.” (Emphasis sup-
plied.)” Id. Our Supreme Court held that:

Although the state’s evidence supported [the trial court’s] instruc-
tion, the indictment does not. “It is a well-established rule in this
jurisdiction that it is error, generally prejudicial, for the trial
judge to permit a jury to convict upon some abstract theory not
supported by the bill of indictment.” The kidnapping indictment
charges that defendant committed kidnapping only by unlawfully
removing the victim “from one place to another.” [The trial court]
repeatedly instructed the jury that defendant could be convicted
if he simply unlawfully restrained the victim, “that is, restricted
[her] freedom of movement by force and threat of force.”

Id. at 537-38, 346 S.E.2d at 420-21 (citation omitted, emphasis in the
original). The Supreme Court then determined that the trial court’s
instruction was error. Id. at 540, 346 S.E.2d at 422.

The Court in Tucker, in determining whether the trial court’s
error was plain error, quoted State v. Brown, 312 N.C. 237, 321 S.E.2d
856 (1984):
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In conclusion, the judge’s instructions permitted the jury in this
case to predicate guilt on theories of the crime which were not
charged in the bill of indictment and which were, in one instance,
not supported by the evidence at trial. We therefore hold that
under the factual circumstances of this case, there was “plain
error” in the jury instructions as that concept was defined in
Odom and defendant must therefore receive a new trial on the
first-degree kidnapping charge.

Brown, 312 N.C. at 249, 321 S.E.2d at 863. The Tucker Court then held
that the trial court committed plain error:

It is true that in Brown one of the theories submitted was sup-
ported by neither the evidence nor the indictment. Nevertheless,
it would be difficult to say that permitting a jury to convict a
defendant on a theory not legally available to the state because it
is not charged in the indictment or not supported by the evidence
is not plain error even under the stringent test required to invoke
that doctrine. In light of the highly conflicting evidence in the
instant kidnapping case on the unlawful removal and restraint
issues, we think the instructional error might have, as we said in
Walker, “ ‘tilted the scales’ and caused the jury to reach its ver-
dict convicting the defendant.” Defendant must, therefore,
receive a new trial on the kidnapping charge for plain error in
the jury instructions.

Tucker, 317 N.C. at 540, 346 S.E.2d at 422 (citations omitted).

In Turner, our Court addressed a similar issue. We held that, in
spite of the fact that the evidence supported the jury instructions, the
indictment did not:

In our case, defendant was indicted for “conspir[ing] with Ernie
Lucas to commit the felony of trafficking to deliver to Ernie
Lucas 28 grams or more . . . of cocaine.” However, the trial court
instructed the jury “that . . . the defendant agreed with Ernie
Lucas to deliver 28 grams or more of cocaine to another, and that
the defendant,—and that Ernie Lucas intended at the time the
agreement was made, that the cocaine would be delivered. . . .”
Just as in Tucker, we believe that the State’s evidence does sup-
port the trial court’s instruction; however, the indictment does
not. Consequently, we must award defendant a new trial on the
conspiracy charge.

Turner, 98 N.C. App. at 447-48, 391 S.E.2d at 527 (alterations and
emphasis in the original).
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In the present case, Defendant was indicted for “manufactur[ing]
methamphetamine, a controlled substance included in [S]chedule II
of the N.C. Controlled Substances Act. The manufacturing consisted
of chemically combining and synthesizing precursor chemicals to
create methamphetamine.” The jury was instructed as follows:

[Defendant] has been charged with manufacturing methampheta-
mine, a controlled substance. For you to find [Defendant] guilty
of this—guilty of this offense, the State must prove beyond a rea-
sonable doubt that [Defendant] manufactured methampheta-
mine. Producing, preparing, propagating, compounding, convert-
ing or processing methamphetamine, either by extraction from
substances of natural origin or by chemical synthesis would be
manufacturing methamphetamine.

If you find from the evidence beyond a reasonable doubt that on
or about the alleged date, the [Defendant] produced, prepared,
propagated, compounded, converted or processed methampheta-
mine, either by extraction from substances of natural origin or
by chemical synthesis, it would be your duty to return a verdict
of guilty.

Defendant contends that this instruction was plain error because
it allowed the jury to convict him “on theories of guilt which were not
charged in the indictment.” We find this case analagous to Tucker,
wherein the defendant was indicted for kidnapping under one theory
and ultimately received an instruction on a different theory of kid-
napping; and to Brown, where “the judge’s instructions permitted the
jury in [the Brown] case to predicate guilt on theories of the crime
which were not charged in the bill of indictment[.]” Brown, 312 N.C.
at 249, 321 S.E.2d at 861; see also Tucker, 317 N.C. at 540, 346 S.E.2d
at 422.

The State counters that the instruction “tracked exactly the
Pattern Jury Instruction[.]” The State presents no support for its argu-
ment that an instruction that follows the pattern jury instruction can-
not be in error. Further, we note that the instruction given did not
“track exactly” the Pattern Jury Instruction. The Pattern Jury
Instruction states:

The defendant has been charged with manufacture of (name sub-
stance), a controlled substance.

For you to find the defendant guilty of this offense, the State must
prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant manufac-
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tured (name substance). (Describe conduct) of (name sub-
stance) would be manufacture of a controlled substance.

If you find from the evidence beyond a reasonable doubt that on
or about the alleged date, the defendant (describe conduct)
(name substance), it would be your duty to return a verdict of
guilty. If you do not so find or if you have a reasonable doubt it
would be your duty to return a verdict of not guilty.

N.C.PI, Crim. 260.19. In the present case, where the Pattern Jury
Instruction instructs the trial court to “describe conduct[,]” the trial
court listed “[p]roducing, preparing, propagating, compounding, con-
verting or processing methamphetamine, either by extraction from
substances of natural origin or by chemical synthesis[.]” The trial
court did not simply describe the sole method articulated by the
indictment, to wit, that “[t]he manufacturing consisted of chemically
combining and synthesizing precursor chemicals to create metham-
phetamine.” Instead, the trial court provided a list of every theory of
manufacturing a controlled substance set forth in N.C.G.S. § 90-87. As
our Court noted in Turner, “our Supreme Court has concluded that
such a ‘slight difference’ is prejudicial and amounts to plain error.”
Turner, 98 N.C. App. at 448, 391 S.E.2d at 527, citing Odom, 307 N.C.
655, 300 S.E.2d 375 (1983); see also State v. Dammons, 293 N.C. 263,
272, 237 S.E.2d 834, 841 (1977) (holding that a trial court erred by
reading to the jury a statute “in its entirety without pointing out to the
jury which parts of it were material to the case,” thereby “permitt[ing]
the jury to consider various theories of [the crime charged]”).

We further note our discussion above concerning the significance
of the particular method of manufacture provided by N.C.G.S. § 90-87.
As discussed above, a conviction for manufacture by activity consist-
ing of “preparation” or “compounding” requires proof of the addi-
tional element of intent to distribute, which a conviction for manu-
facture by activity consisting of production, propagation, conversion,
or processing would not. Because of this significant difference
between the elements required to sustain a conviction, a variation
between indictment and instruction such as the one at issue cannot
be said to amount to only a “slight difference.”

Because of the variance between indictment and instruction, and
in light of our case law, we find the trial court’s instruction to be plain
error. We therefore grant Defendant a new trial on charge No. 06 CRS
1602, manufacture of a controlled substance.
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Possession of Precursor Chemicals

[7] Defendant next argues that the trial court erred by “instructing
the jury they could find [Defendant] guilty of possessing precursor
chemicals under the theory of actual possession when there was
insufficient evidence to support that theory.” We disagree.

“The trial court’s jury instructions on possible theories of convic-
tion must be supported by the evidence.” State v. Jordan, 186 N.C.
App. 576, 582, 6561 S.E.2d 917, 921 (2007) (citation omitted). We
review a jury instruction

contextually and in its entirety. The charge will be held to be suf-
ficient if “it presents the law of the case in such manner as to
leave no reasonable cause to believe the jury was misled or mis-
informed. . . .” The party asserting error bears the burden of
showing that the jury was misled or that the verdict was affected
by [the] instruction. “Under such a standard of review, it is not
enough for the appealing party to show that error occurred in the
jury instructions; rather, it must be demonstrated that such error
was likely, in light of the entire charge, to mislead the jury.”

State v. Blizzard, 169 N.C. App. 285, 296-97, 610 S.E.2d 245, 253
(2005); see also State v. Allen, — N.C. App. —, ——, 684 S.E.2d 526,
534 (2009) (“Even assuming arguendo there was insufficient evidence
in the record to support a flight instruction, [the] defendant must still
demonstrate that the instructional error was prejudicial.”).

Defendant contends that the trial court erred in that “[n]Jone of
the witnesses placed [Defendant] in actual possession of any precur-
sor chemicals. [Defendant] was outside of the house when the wit-
nesses interacted with him.”

After the State requested an instruction on actual possession, the
trial court had the following discussion with Defendant’s attorney:

THE COURT: I'm going to give both sides because I think I need
to define both to make clear—I guess, to override any of the
jurors’ conceptions of possession. Their conceptions they may
have brought with them about what constitutes possession.

[Defense Counsel]: Well, would you give them an instruction that
I'm giving you these two definitions for the limited purpose of
explaining the two different types of possession and there has
been no evidence that [Defendant] possessed the precursor on
March the 2nd, in that on March the 2nd, there was no evidence
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that he had anything on his person and only instruct the jury to
follow the law insofar as constructive possession is concerned?

THE COURT: I'm not going to go that far. I'm going to say pos-
session may be either actual or constructive.

[Defense Counsel]: Okay.

THE COURT: And that the jury will have to recall the evidence
and draw their own conclusions on that.

[Defense Counsel]: We would respectfully OBJECT to the giving
of the actual possession instruction unless it’s accompanied by
the statement that on the date in question, there has been no evi-
dence submitted that he had actual possession. . . .

THE COURT: All right, I would OVERRULE that objection.
The trial court then gave the following instruction to the jury:

[D]efendant has been charged with unlawfully possessing an im-
mediate precursor chemical. For you to find . . . [D]efendant
guilty of this offense, the State must prove two things beyond a
reasonable doubt.

First, that . . . [D]efendant knowingly possessed pseudoephedrine
and red phosphorous. Pseudoephedrine and red phosporous are
immediate precursor chemicals.

Possession of a substance may be either actual or constructive. A
person has actual possession of a substance if he has it on his
person, is aware of its presence and, either by himself or together
with others, has both the power and intent to control its disposi-
tion or use.

A person has constructive possession of a substance if he does
not have it on his person but is aware of its presence and has,
either by himself or together with others, both the power and
intent to control its disposition or use.

A person’s awareness of the presence of the substance and his
power and intent to control its disposition or use may be shown
by direct evidence or may be inferred from the circumstances. If
you find beyond a reasonable doubt that a substance was found
in a certain premises and that the defendant exercised control
over those premises, whether or not he owned them, this would
be a circumstance from which you may infer that . . . [D]efendant
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was aware of the presence of the substance and had both the
power and intent to control its disposition or use.

So if you find from the evidence beyond a reasonable doubt that
on or about the alleged date, . . . [D]efendant knowingly pos-
sessed pseudoephedrine and red phosphorous and intended to
manufacture a controlled substance or knew or had reasonable
cause to believe it would be used to manufacture a controlled
substance, it would be your duty to return a verdict of guilty.

While Defendant asserts there was insufficient evidence to sup-
port the trial court’s instruction on actual possession, he fails to
argue that “such error was likely, in light of the entire charge, to mis-
lead the jury.” Blizzard, 169 N.C. App. at 297, 610 S.E.2d at 253.
Defendant has failed to show how the instruction would have misled
the jury, nor has he argued how any potential error may have preju-
diced Defendant. Reviewing the instruction contextually and in its
entirety, it is clear that the explanations of both actual and construc-
tive possession were given as a means of clarifying the instructions to
the jury. We therefore find the instruction sufficient and overrule this
assignment of error. However, because the conviction under 06 CRS
1603 for possession of precursor chemicals was consolidated for
judgment with the conviction under 06 CRS 1602, we must remand for
resentencing as to 06 CRS 1603. State v. Wortham, 318 N.C. 669, 674,
351 S.E.2d 294, 297 (1987) (“[W]e think the better procedure is to
remand for resentencing when one or more but not all of the convic-
tions consolidated for judgment has been vacated.”).

New trial in No. 06 CRS 1602; remanded for resentencing in No.
06 CRS 1603.

Judge STEPHENS concurs.

Judge STEELMAN concurs in part and dissents in part with a sep-
arate opinion.

STEELMAN, Judge, concurring in part and dissenting in part.

I fully concur with the majority opinion, with the exception of its
analysis finding plain error and a fatal variance between the indict-
ment and the trial judge’s charge to the jury. As to this portion of the
opinion, I must respectfully dissent.
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The relevant portion of the indictment reads:

Manufacture methamphetamine, a controlled substance included
in Schedule II of the N.C. Controlled Substances Act. The manu-
facturing consisted of chemically combining and synthesizing
precursor chemicals to create methamphetamine.

The relevant portion of the trial court’s instructions reads:

Producing, preparing, propagating, compounding, converting or
processing methamphetamine, either by extraction from sub-
stances of natural origin or by chemical synthesis, would be man-
ufacturing methamphetamine.

“A charge must be construed contextually, and isolated portions
of it will not be held prejudicial when the charge as a whole is cor-
rect.” State v. McWilliams, 277 N.C. 680, 684-85, 178 S.E.2d 476, 479
(1971) (citing State v. Cook, 263 N.C. 730, 140 S.E.2d 305 (1965); State
v. Goldberg, 261 N.C. 181, 134 S.E.2d 334 (1964), overruled on other
grounds, News & Observer v. State, 312 N.C. 276, 322 S.E.2d 133
(1984); State v. Taft, 256 N.C. 441, 124 S.E.2d 169 (1962)).

While the trial court’s instructions utilized slightly different
words than the indictment, the import of both the indictment and the
charge are the same. The manufacture of methamphetamine is
accomplished by the chemical combination of precursor elements
to create methamphetamine. The charge to the jury, construed con-
textually as a whole, was correct and without prejudice. I would
find no error, much less plain error, in the charge given by the learned
trial judge.

I further note that our Supreme Court, in the case of State v.
Odom, stated that “when the ‘plain error’ rule is applied, it is the rare
case in which an improper instruction will justify reversal of a crimi-
nal conviction when no objection has been made in the trial court.”
307 N.C. 655, 660-61, 300 S.E.2d 375, 378 (1983) (citation, quotation
and internal alterations omitted). In determining whether a defect in
a jury instruction amounts to plain error, we “must examine the entire
record and determine if the instructional error had a probable impact
on the jury’s finding of guilt.” Id. at 661, 300 S.E.2d at 378-79 (citing
United States v. Jackson, 569 F.2d 1003 (7th Cir.), cert. denied, 437
U.S. 907, 57 L. Ed. 2d 1137 (1978)); see also State v. Gibbs, 335 N.C. 1,
436 S.E.2d 321 (1993), cert. denied, 512 U.S. 1246, 129 L. Ed. 2d 881
(1994). In the instant case, I would hold that a review of the whole
record reveals no plain error mandating a new trial.
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FIRST GASTON BANK OF NORTH CAROLINA, PLAINTIFF v. CITY OF HICKORY, VERNA
AND ASSOCIATES, INC., VERNA ENGINEERING, P.C., AND PETER J. VERNA,
JR., DEFENDANTS

No. COA08-1017
(Filed 6 April 2010)

1. Civil Procedure— depositions—non-party witnesses—
other lawsuits—summary judgment

Defendant City of Hickory’s challenge to plaintiff’s reliance
on depositions of non-party witnesses taken in other lawsuits to
support the factual assertions at summary judgment and in its
appellate brief was overruled. Rule 56(c) of the Rules of Civil
Procedure does not limit depositions to those taken in the case in
which the motion for summary judgment is pending and deposi-
tions that meet the requirements of an affidavit may be used in
summary judgment proceedings.

2. Appeal and Error— hearsay—issue not preserved

Defendant City of Hickory’s challenge on hearsay grounds to
several documents in the record was not properly preserved for
appellate review.

3. Real Property— inverse condemnation—summary judg-
ment proper
The trial court properly granted summary judgment in fa-
vor of defendant City of Hickory on plaintiffs inverse condemna-
tion claim because plaintiff failed to show that the flooding of
plaintiff’s storm drain pipe was a direct result of a government
structure.

4. Negligence— insufficient evidence of a duty—summary
judgment
The trial court did not err in granting summary judgment in
favor of defendant City of Hickory on plaintiff’s negligence claim
because plaintiff failed to offer sufficient evidence that defendant
owed plaintiff any duty to inspect or maintain a storm drainage
pipe on plaintiff’s property.

Appeal by plaintiff from order entered 21 December 2007 by
Judge F. Donald Bridges in Catawba County Superior Court. Heard in
the Court of Appeals 12 February 2009. Opinion filed 7 April 2009.
Motion to amend record on appeal and withdraw opinion granted 24
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April 2009. The following opinion supersedes and replaces the opin-
ion filed 7 April 2009.

Smith, Cooksey & Vickstrom, PLLC, by Neil C. Cooksey and
Steven L. Smith, for plaintiff-appellant.

Cranfill Sumner & Hartzog, LLP, by Patrick H. Flanagan and
Amy E. Fitzgerald, for defendant-appellee City of Hickory.

GEER, Judge.

This appeal arises out of litigation relating to a sinkhole that
developed in 2005 when a storm drain collapsed on property owned
by plaintiff First Gaston Bank of North Carolina (“First Gaston”) in
Hickory, North Carolina. First Gaston appeals from the trial court’s
entry of summary judgment in favor of the City of Hickory on First
Gaston’s claims for negligence and inverse condemnation relating to
the storm drain collapse. We hold that the trial court properly granted
summary judgment on both claims. With respect to the negligence
cause of action, First Gaston has failed to establish that the City owed
any duty to the private property owner in connection with the drain.
Further, no claim for inverse condemnation exists because First
Gaston cannot demonstrate that the damage to its property was
the direct result of a structure built by the City. There was, therefore,
no taking.

Facts

In 2000, First Gaston financed the purchase of property in
Hickory, North Carolina by SCA Morris, Inc. (“SCA Morris”).
Diagonally crossing the property is an underground 96-inch in diame-
ter storm drain made of corrugated metal. This pipe immediately con-
nects upstream to an underground box culvert built in 1954 or 1955
by the Department of Transportation (“DOT”) underneath Highway
70. The pipe connects downstream with a pipe maintained by the City
that runs under 7th Street, a street built by Home Depot and dedi-
cated to the City in the 1990s.

In 2001, SCA Morris built a restaurant on the property. On 17
August 2002, during a heavy rainstorm, the storm drain crossing the
property failed, and a large sinkhole developed. After obtaining an
additional loan from First Gaston, SCA Morris retained Peter J. Verna,
Verna Engineering P.C., and Verna and Associates, Inc. (“the Verna
defendants”) to make the needed repairs on the property. In order to
complete the project, the Verna defendants obtained building, plumb-
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ing, electrical, and mechanical permits from the City. The repairs
were finished in April 2003, and after the City inspected the prop-
erty and certified it safe for occupancy, the restaurant reopened in
July 2003.

In May 2004, the restaurant closed, and SCA Morris defaulted on
its loans. First Gaston foreclosed on the property in September 2004.
On 7 July 2005, a second sinkhole developed on the property due to a
second failure of the storm drain. Shortly before the occurrence of
the 2005 sinkhole, First Gaston had received an offer to purchase the
property for $1,200,000.00. After the 2005 sinkhole appeared, First
Gaston sold the property for $1.00.

On 24 May 2006, First Gaston brought an action against the City
in Catawba County Superior Court, asserting a claim for negligence.
On the same date, First Gaston filed a separate lawsuit against the
Verna defendants. On 17 July 2006, First Gaston filed an amended
complaint in the action against the City, adding a claim for inverse
condemnation. The City filed an amended answer on 6 August 2007
that included cross-claims against the Verna defendants. On 10 May
2007, the trial court, with the consent of all parties, ordered the con-
solidation of the action against the City and the action against the
Verna defendants.

The City filed a motion for summary judgment on 18 October
2007. On 21 December 2007, the trial court entered an order granting
summary judgment to the City. First Gaston filed notice of appeal on
17 January 2008. The record on appeal, as filed in this Court, con-
tained no indication that the claims against the Verna defendants had
been resolved. Consequently, on 7 April 2009, this Court dismissed
the appeal as interlocutory because the trial court’s summary judg-
ment order as to the City had not been certified for interlocutory
appeal under Rule 54(b) of the Rules of Civil Procedure, and First
Gaston had made no argument as to the existence of a substantial
right that would be lost without immediate review.

On 23 April 2009, First Gaston filed a motion to amend the record
on appeal to reflect that the claims against the Verna defendants were
not pending, and the order granting summary judgment for the City
was in fact a final judgment. The amendments to the record on appeal
show that on the same day the trial court granted summary judgment
for the City, the trial court also, in a separate order, entered summary
judgment in favor of the Verna defendants. On 24 April 2009, this
Court entered an order allowing First Gaston’s motion to amend the
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record on appeal to include the trial court’s order granting summary
judgment to the Verna defendants and withdrawing the opinion dis-
missing the appeal.

“It is the duty of the appellant to ensure that the record is com-
plete.” Hicks v. Alford, 156 N.C. App. 384, 389, 576 S.E.2d 410, 414
(2003). Rule 9(a)(1)(j) of the Rules of Appellate Procedure requires
that the record on appeal in civil actions contain “copies of all other
papers filed and statements of all other proceedings had in the trial
court which are necessary to an understanding of all errors assigned
unless they appear in the verbatim transcript of proceedings . . ..”
Despite First Gaston’s violation of this rule, we decline to impose
sanctions, and we choose to review the merits of the appeal.

I

[1] As a preliminary matter, we must address the City’s challenge to
First Gaston’s use of certain evidence to support the factual asser-
tions in its appellate brief. The City first contends that First Gaston,
in opposing summary judgment, improperly relied upon the deposi-
tions of four non-party witnesses that were taken in two other law-
suits. The City contends that because the depositions were not taken
in this action, “[t]he depositions are not part of the forecast of evi-
dence in this matter, nor are there any provisions allowing them to be
used as such in the North Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure.” The City
cites no authority in support of this assertion.

Rule 56(c) of the Rules of Civil Procedure provides that summary
judgment “shall be rendered forthwith if the pleadings, depositions,
answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the
affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any ma-
terial fact and that any party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of
law.” Rule 56(e) further provides that “[t]he court may permit affi-
davits to be supplemented or opposed by depositions, answers to
interrogatories, or further affidavits.” Neither subsection of Rule 56
expressly limits “depositions” to those taken in the case in which the
motion for summary judgment is pending, so long as the deposition is
“on file” in the pending action.

Although not cited by the City, Rule 32(a) of the Rules of Civil
Procedure does limit the use of depositions to use “against any party
who was present or represented at the taking of the deposition or
who had reasonable notice thereof” and to specified circumstances.
Nevertheless, leading commentators and the better-reasoned opin-
ions addressing the essentially identical federal Rule 32(a) have con-
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cluded that this rule does not apply to hearings in which affidavits
may be submitted, such as summary judgment proceedings under
Rule 56.

In discussing Fed. R. Civ. Proc. 32(a), the leading commentator
on the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure has explained that “deposi-
tions can be used more freely on motions than the rule would seem
to indicate,” specifically pointing to Rule 56(c). 8A Charles Alan
Wright, Arthur R. Miller, & Richard L. Marcus, Fed. Prac. & Proc. Civ.
§ 2142 (2d ed. 1994). The treatise then explains: “A deposition is at
least as good as an affidavit and should be usable whenever an affi-
davit would be permissible, even though the conditions of the rule on
use of a deposition at trial are not satisfied.” Id.

The Ninth Circuit has similarly held:

Sworn deposition testimony may be used by or against a party on
summary judgment regardless of whether the testimony was
taken in a separate proceeding. Such testimony is considered to
be an affidavit pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 56(c),
and may be used against a party on summary judgment as long as
the proffered depositions were made on personal knowledge and
set forth facts that were admissible in evidence.

Gulf USA Corp. v. Federal Ins. Co., 259 F.3d 1049, 1056 (9th Cir. 2001)
(internal citations omitted). See also Tingey v. Radionics, 193 Fed.
Appx. 747, 765, 2006 WL 2258872, *15 (10th Cir. 2006) (unpublished)
(holding that trial court should not have struck under Rule 32(a)
deposition taken in separate action because depositions may be
treated as affidavits in summary judgment proceedings); Diamonds
Plus, Inc. v. Kolber, 960 F.2d 765, 767-68 (8th Cir. 1992) (noting that
“[t]he Federal Rules specifically allow depositions to be used in oppo-
sition to motions for summary judgment” and holding deposition may
be used as affidavit in summary judgment proceeding); Burbank v.
Dawis, 227 F. Supp. 2d 176, 179 (D. Me. 2002) (holding that deposi-
tions from other actions are admissible in connection with motion for
summary judgment as “sworn statements”); Tormo v. Yormark, 398
F. Supp. 1159, 1168-69 (D.N.J. 1975) (“Despite this language [in Rule
32], however, courts and commentators have rejected the notion that
the rule governs the use of deposition testimony at a hearing or a pro-
ceeding at which evidence in affidavit form is admissible. The rea-
soning behind this rejection is that deposition testimony taken under
oath, even if failing to satisfy Rule 32(a)’s requirements, is at least as
good as affidavits.” (internal citations and quotation marks omitted));
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Hastings Mut. Ins. Co. v. Halatek, 174 Ohio App. 3d 252, 257-58, 881
N.E.2d 897, 901-02 (2007) (holding that deposition from another case
is as good as affidavit and, therefore, could be considered on sum-
mary judgment).

We find the above reasoning persuasive and hold that deposi-
tions, if they meet the requirements of an affidavit, may be used in
summary judgment proceedings even if the party against whom the
deposition is used was not present or represented at the taking of the
deposition. The City objects, however, that it did not have an oppor-
tunity to cross-examine one of the witnesses.! As the Tenth Circuit
has pointed out, the same objection can frequently be made as to affi-
davits filed in connection with motions for summary judgment:

Parties may file affidavits in support of summary judgment with-
out providing notice or an opportunity to cross-examine the affi-
ant. See Fed.R.Civ.P. 56(c). The “remedy” for this non-confronted
affidavit testimony is to file an opposing affidavit, not to complain
that one was not present and permitted to cross-examine when
the affidavit was signed. . . . If [defendant] wished to controvert
[the] testimony [of the witness in another action] for summary
judgment purposes, it could either have noticed an additional
deposition of [the witness], or presented additional testimony
from its own expert to cast doubt on his conclusions. Therefore,
the district court should not have struck [the witness’] deposition
under Rule 32(a).

Tingey, 193 Fed. Appx. at 765-66, 2006 WL 2258872 at *16.

In this case, the deponents were sworn, and the City has made no
showing that the depositions fail to meet the requirements for affi-
davits set out in Rule 56(e) (“Supporting and opposing affidavits shall
be made on personal knowledge, shall set forth such facts as would
be admissible in evidence, and shall show affirmatively that the affi-
ant is competent to testify to the matters stated therein.”). We, there-
fore, hold that the depositions were properly submitted to and con-
sidered by the trial court and will also consider them.2

1. The City cites Investors Title Ins. Co. v. Herzig, 330 N.C. 681, 691, 413 S.E.2d
268, 273 (1992), but that case addressed the admissibility of a deposition at trial under
N.C.R. Evid. 804(b)(1) and not the use of depositions in connection with motions for
summary judgment.

2. We note that the City has not suggested that any of the witnesses would be
unavailable to testify at trial. Thus, just as an affidavit forecasts testimony intended to
be presented at trial, so too the depositions at issue are forecasts of testimony First
Gaston expects to elicit at trial.
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[2] The City also challenges several documents in the record as inad-
missible hearsay: (1) a letter from the Mayor of Hickory to a DOT
Board member expressing concern over the DOT’s decision to allow
First Gaston to proceed with private repairs; (2) a series of e-mails
and photographs from DOT officer Mark Leatherman; and (3) a letter
from Assistant Attorney General Donald Teeter sent to SCA Morris on
behalf of the DOT asking it to address several conditions on the prop-
erty. The record does not, however, reveal that the City specifically
objected at the trial level to consideration of these exhibits or, if
any objection was made, that the trial court ruled upon that objec-
tion. The City is, therefore, precluded from challenging these exhibits
for the first time before this Court. See N.C.R. App. P. 10(b)(1) (“In
order to preserve a question for appellate review, a party must have
presented to the trial court a timely request, objection or motion, stat-
ing the specific grounds for the ruling the party desired the court to
make if the specific grounds were not apparent from the context. It is
also necessary for the complaining party to obtain a ruling upon the
party’s request, objection or motion.”).

II

[8] Turning to the merits, we first address First Gaston’s inverse con-
demnation or “taking” claim. A taking is defined as “ ‘entering upon
private property for more than a momentary period, and under war-
rant or color of legal authority, devoting it to a public use, or other-
wise informally appropriating or injuriously affecting it in such a way
as substantially to oust the owner and deprive him of all beneficial
enjoyment thereof.” ” Long v. City of Charlotte, 306 N.C. 187, 199, 293
S.E.2d 101, 109 (1982) (quoting Penn v. Coastal Corp., 231 N.C. 481,
484, 57 S.E.2d 817, 819 (1950)).

First Gaston argues that its claim falls within Midgett v. N.C.
State Highway Comm’™n, 260 N.C. 241, 243, 132 S.E.2d 599, 603
(1963), overruled in part on other grounds by Lea Co. v. N.C. Bd. of
Transp., 308 N.C. 603, 304 S.E.2d 164 (1983). In Midgett, the plaintiff
alleged that the State Highway Commission’s construction of a high-
way that diverted ocean flood water onto his property was a taking.
The Supreme Court agreed, explaining that “if a governmental agency
maintains a nuisance, permanent in nature, causing damage to and
diminution in the value of land, the nuisance is regarded and dealt
with as an appropriation of property to the extent of the injury
inflicted.” Id. at 247-48, 132 S.E.2d at 606. The Court reasoned: “The
right to have water flow in the direction provided by nature is a prop-
erty right, and if such right of a landowner is materially interfered
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with so that his land is flooded by the manner in which a highway is
constructed, it is a nuisance and a taking of property for public use
for which compensation must be paid.” Id. at 248, 132 S.E.2d at 606.

The Court explained further, however:

In order to create an enforceable liability against the government
it is, at least, necessary that the overflow of water be such as
was reasonably to have been anticipated by the government, to be
the direct result of the structure established and maintained by
the government, and constitute an actual permanent invasion of
the land, or a right appurtenant thereto, amounting to an appro-
priation of and not merely an injury to the property. To consti-
tute a permanent invasion of property rights and an impairment
of the value thereof the obstruction or structure need not be per-
manent in fact, but it must be permanent in nature. A perma-
nent structure is one which may not be readily altered at reason-
able expense so as to remedy its harmful effect, or one of a
durable character evidently intended to last indefinitely and cost-
ing practically as much to alter or remove as to build in the first
place. A segment of an improved highway is a structure of per-
manent nature.

Id., 132 S.E.2d at 607 (emphasis added) (internal citations omitted).
The Supreme Court in Lea Co., 308 N.C. at 614, 304 S.E.2d at 172,
emphasized that this aspect of Midgett means that a plaintiff with an
inverse condemnation claim based on flooding must show that “the
increased overflow of water was such as was reasonably to have been
anticipated by the State to be the direct result of the structures it built
and maintained.”

First Gaston contends that the City’s “reckless” approval of devel-
opment upstream from the subject pipe was a taking because it con-
centrated unreasonable amounts of storm water into the First Gaston
pipe, which caused it to fail, thereby resulting in the 2005 sinkhole. In
Lea Co., 308 N.C. at 617, 304 S.E.2d at 174, however, the Supreme
Court stressed:

Injury properly may be found to be a foreseeable direct result of
government structures when it is shown that the increased flood-
ing causing the injury would have been the natural result of the
structures at the time their construction was undertaken. Injury
caused in substantial part by subsequent or contemporaneous
acts or construction by others is not a direct result of the gov-
ernment structures. A showing of injury caused by such subse-
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quent or contemporaneous acts or construction will not support
a finding that there has been a taking by the State. To require the
State to anticipate the shifting of business and population centers
and the attendant acts or construction by others contemporane-
ous with or subsequent to the State’s construction, and to hold
the State liable for a taking if it fails to do so, would place an
unreasonable and unjust burden upon public funds. No such
result is required by the Constitution of the United States or the
Constitution of North Carolina.

Thus, for a taking to occur, the government must have constructed
a permanent structure that caused the damage to the plaintiff’s
property.

In Midgett, the government-built highway was the structure that
subjected the plaintiff’s land to the nuisance. In Lea Co., the govern-
ment-built highway improvements were the structures that subjected
the plaintiff’s land to flooding. Here, there is no contention that a
project built and maintained by the government caused the pipe to
overflow. First Gaston has, therefore, failed to meet the first prereq-
uisite of Midgett and Lea Co. for establishment of the existence of a
taking: that the flooding of the First Gaston pipe was a direct result
of a government structure.

Therefore, the trial court properly granted summary judgment on
the inverse condemnation claim. See also State ex rel. City of Blue
Springs v. Nixon, 250 S.W.3d 365, 371 (Mo. 2008) (rejecting plaintiffs’
claim for inverse condemnation based on City’s approval of private
development plans that failed to adequately account for increased
storm water created by development because it was private devel-
oper’s improvements to land that caused plaintiffs’ damages);
Prillips v. King County, 136 Wash. 2d 946, 960-61, 968 P.2d 871, 878
(1998) (accord). Because of our resolution of this issue, it is unnec-
essary to discuss the parties’ arguments as to the other elements of
a taking claim.

III

[4] With respect to First Gaston’s negligence claim, it is well estab-
lished that “[i]n order to survive a defendant’s motion for summary
judgment in a negligence action, a plaintiff must set forth a prima
facie case ‘(1) that defendant failed to exercise proper care in the per-
formance of a duty owed plaintiff; (2) the negligent breach of that
duty was a proximate cause of plaintiff’s injury; and (3) a person of
ordinary prudence should have foreseen that plaintiff’s injury was
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probable under the circumstances.”” Strickland v. Doe, 156 N.C.
App. 292, 294, 577 S.E.2d 124, 128 (quoting Lavelle v. Schultz, 120
N.C. App. 857, 859-60, 463 S.E.2d 567, 569 (1995), disc. review de-
nied, 342 N.C. 656, 467 S.E.2d 715 (1996)), disc. review denied, 357
N.C. 169, 581 S.E.2d 447 (2003). “While summary judgment is
normally not appropriate in negligence actions, where the forecast
of evidence shows that a plaintiff cannot establish one of these
required elements, summary judgment is appropriate.” Id. The parties
primarily dispute the existence of a duty of care owed by the City to
First Gaston.

A. Duty to Inspect and Maintain First Gaston Pipe Based on Control
of Other Storm Water Management Pipes

First Gaston’s first theory of negligence is that the City is liable
for the damage resulting from the failure of the privately-constructed
storm drain pipe on First Gaston’s property because of the City’s
maintenance and control of the City’s storm drain system. The gen-
eral rule in this State is that “there is no municipal responsibility for
maintenance and upkeep of drains and culverts constructed by third
persons for their own convenience and the better enjoyment of their
property unless such facilities be accepted or controlled in some
legal manner by the municipality.” Johnson v. City of Winston-
Salem, 239 N.C. 697, 707, 81 S.E.2d 153, 160 (1954).

First Gaston argues that this test is met because the City controls
portions of the storm water management pipes above and below the
pipe crossing First Gaston’s private property. According to First
Gaston, the City, therefore, adopted the First Gaston pipe and can be
held liable for damage stemming from the pipe’s failure. This Court
recently rejected a similar claim in Asheville Sports Props., LLC v.
City of Asheville, 199 N.C. App. 341, 683 S.E.2d 217 (2009).

In Asheville Sports, the plaintiffs contended that the City of
Asheville adopted the storm water drainage pipes on their private
property “by using them ‘as integral components of [its] municipal
storm water runoff control and drainage system[.]’ ” Id. at 346, 683
S.E.2d at 220. Like First Gaston, the Asheville Sports plaintiffs relied
heavily on Hooper v. City of Wilmington, 42 N.C. App. 548, 553, 257
S.E.2d 142, 145, disc. review denied, 298 N.C. 568, 261 S.E.2d 122
(1979), in which this Court held that the City could be held liable for
negligent maintenance of a ditch on private property. This Court dis-
tinguished Hooper, noting that the plaintiffs’ pipes in Asheville Sports
were not immediately connected with the City’s pipes, but rather
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were connected to other private parties’ pipes. 199 N.C. App. at 351,
683 S.E.2d at 223. We held that the plaintiffs’ proffer of a map show-
ing that at some point, water from the plaintiffs’ pipe ran through
other pipes owned by the City was insufficient to create an issue of
fact as to whether the City had adopted the plaintiffs’ pipes. Id.

First Gaston has cited nothing in the record other than evidence
(1) that the City controls a portion of pipe further upstream, but not
immediately adjacent to, the pipe on its property and (2) that, after
running through the First Gaston pipe, storm water runoff flows into
a pipe owned and maintained by the City. This is not sufficient evi-
dence to create an issue of fact as to whether the City adopted the
First Gaston pipe. See also Mitchell v. City of High Point, 31 N.C.
App. 71, 75, 228 S.E.2d 634, 637 (1976) (holding that City’s control and
maintenance of two culverts upstream from plaintiffs’ property did
not mean that City had adopted entire stream).

Alternatively, First Gaston contends the City’s oversight of the
repairs on the First Gaston property following the 2002 sinkhole con-
stituted adoption of the subject pipe and gave rise to a duty to
inspect, repair, and maintain it. First Gaston points to the fact that
City officials required (1) SCA Morris to locate the building 30 feet off
the right of way, (2) to refrain from using the storm drain to dispose
of water from their own property, (3) to build a separate storm
drainage system for the property, and (4) to submit plans and specifi-
cations to and obtain approval from the City for all of the foregoing.
According to First Gaston, “[s]Juch control over the property itself jus-
tifies imposition of the Milner Hotels duty.”

In Milner Hotels, Inc. v. City of Raleigh, 268 N.C. 535, 537, 151
S.E.2d 35, 37-38 (1966), modified on reh’g, 271 N.C. 224, 155 S.E.2d
543 (1967), the Supreme Court held that the City could be held liable
when a stream used by the City of Raleigh to drain storm water
backed up due to debris in a culvert maintained by the City and
flooded the plaintiff’s property. The Supreme Court based its holding
on allegations that the City had contracted with the State to maintain,
inspect, and repair the culverts in the City and had, in fact, performed
the promised maintenance. Id. Nowhere in Milner Hotels did the
Court hold that a City’s inspection of a private party’s construction
activities on private property gives rise to a duty by the City generally
to inspect, maintain, and repair waterways and drainage systems on
that property. Milner Hotels did not hold, and First Gaston cites no
other case holding, that a City adopts a private storm drain pipe and
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consequently undertakes a duty to maintain and repair that pipe sim-
ply by examining repairs made by the private property owner.3

Finally, First Gaston argues that a duty regarding the First Gaston
pipe arose from the City’s “exercis[ing] considerable dominion and
control over development upstream from the [First Gaston] Prop-
erty.” First Gaston presented evidence that upstream development
authorized by the City “substantially increased the volume of water in
the storm drain under the Property causing the [First Gaston storm
drain] to surcharge, pressurizing the pipe.” First Gaston asserts that
“[t]he City of Hickory cannot approve major commercialization of
upstream property without considering the impact of the increased
water flow on the downstream owners affected by the storm drain.”

As its sole support for this argument, First Gaston relies on
Yowmans v. City of Hendersonville, 175 N.C. 575, 577, 96 S.E. 45, 46
(1918), in which the trial court held the City liable for grading and
paving its streets in such a way as to divert large quantities of water
onto the plaintiff’s lot, causing her drainage pipes to burst and flood
her property. On appeal, the Supreme Court began by explaining that

it is very generally held here and elsewhere that while municipal
authorities may pave and grade their streets and are not ordinar-
ily liable for an increase of surface water naturally falling on the
lands of a private owner, where the work is properly done, they
are not allowed, from this or other cause, to concentrate and
gather such waters into artificial drains and throw them on the
lands of an individual owner in such manner and volume as to
cause substantial injury to the same and without making ade-
quate provision for its proper outflow, unless compensation is
made, and for breach of duty in this respect an action will lie.

Id. at 578, 96 S.E. at 47.

The Court explained further that the question of the City’s liabil-
ity turned on “whether [the City] ha[d] wrongfully turned its surface
water on plaintiff’s property, causing damage to same as alleged.” Id.
Phrased differently, “the question of defendant’s responsibility should
be made to depend chiefly on whether, having gathered and concen-

3. We note that the City has expressly declined to assume the duty asserted by
First Gaston. Section 13.20.7 of the City’s Land Development Code states: “If the City
assists or has assisted private owners with the design, supply and/or installation of
storm water management facilities, this does not imply any maintenance responsibili-
ties by the City. The maintenance of all such facilities shall be the sole responsibility of
the property owner(s).”
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trated the surface water into artificial drains or sewers, it turned
same on plaintiff’s property in such manner and such volume that
the injuries complained of were likely to result, and did result, under
and from the conditions presented.” Id. See also Eller v. City of
Greensboro, 190 N.C. 715, 720, 130 S.E. 851, 853 (1925) (“The city
can only be liable for negligence in not exercising skill and caution
in the construction of its artificial drains and watercourses. It is
bound to exercise ordinary care and prudence. If [city streets] are
so constructed as to collect and concentrate surface water that
such an unnatural flow in manner, volume and mass is turned and
diverted onto the lower lot, so as to cause substantial injury, the city
is liable.”).

Thus, in Yowmans and Eller, the Supreme Court recognized that
a municipality has a duty to use due care when it makes improve-
ments to its streets and when it directs water into storm drains. Both
Yowmans and Eller impose liability based only on the municipality’s
own improvements causing additional runoff. Indeed, the Supreme
Court in Geo. A. Hormel & Co. v. City of Winston-Salem, 263 N.C.
666, 675, 140 S.E.2d 362, 368 (1965), expressly limited Yowmans and
Eller to allegations that the City “gather[ed] and concentrate[d] sur-
face waters into artificial drains or sewers and turn[ed] them on a
person’s property in such manner and such volume” that injury
occurred. Here, First Gaston has made no showing that the City
has itself gathered and concentrated surface waters and sent them
into the storm drain system in a volume that caused First Gaston’s
pipe to fail.

First Gaston has cited no authority that supports its contention
that a City can be held liable for damage to a privately-constructed
storm drain when its only involvement in creating the additional
storm water volume was in approving private development that,
when constructed, resulted in increased runoff. Its theory, if allowed,
would appear to substantially negate the well-established law in
North Carolina limiting municipal liability for failure of privately-con-
structed storm drains to specified circumstances. We believe that
such a departure needs to come from the Supreme Court. See Cootey
v. Sun Inv., Inc., 68 Haw. 480, 486, 718 P.2d 1086, 1091 (1986) (hold-
ing with respect to claim against county based on increased runoff
due to development: “The task of the government employees is to
review the development plans submitted by the owner or developer
to assess compliance with the law. While we do not condone negli-
gence in the performance of this task, neither do we believe that the
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government employees are required to conduct their own engineering
studies to ensure the validity and correctness of the developer’s
plans. To require the County to do so would place the County as an
insurer of the adequacy of Sun Investment’s plans, designs and instal-
lation of subdivision facilities.”).

B. Negligence Liability Based on Failure to Inspect and Maintain 7th
Street Pipe

First Gaston next contends that the City’s negligence in failing to
inspect, maintain, and repair the downstream 7th Street pipe was a
proximate cause of the First Gaston pipe’s failure. The parties do not
dispute that the City owned the 7th Street pipe and had a duty to
maintain it, but do dispute whether there is sufficient evidence in the
record to show that any breach of the City’s duty to inspect, maintain,
and repair the 7th Street pipe was the proximate cause of the First
Gaston pipe’s failure.

First Gaston’s two expert witnesses specifically stated that they
had not formed any opinion as to whether the 7th Street pipe caused
or contributed to the failure of the First Gaston pipe. As its sole evi-
dence on the issue of causation, First Gaston points to the testimony
of Peter Verna and David Frailey (an employee of Verna and
Associates, Inc.). First Gaston contends that “[b]Joth Mr. Frailey and
Mr. Verna believed that the design and maintenance of the pipe under
7th Street may have contributed to the problems upstream on the
[First Gaston] property.” (Emphasis added.) Even assuming
arguendo, that “may have” evidence would be sufficient on summary
judgment, we do not read the cited testimony as supporting a finding
of causation.

The testimony of Mr. Frailey cited by First Gaston relates only to
his opinion that (1) there was a poor connection between the pipe
crossing the First Gaston property and the 7th Street pipe, and (2)
there was debris in the 7th Street pipe. First Gaston points to no tes-
timony by Mr. Frailey regarding whether the connection and the
debris caused or contributed to the failure of the First Gaston pipe in
2005. Although Mr. Verna did address causation, he expressed only an
opinion regarding whether the 7th Street pipe caused the 2002 col-
lapse and not the 2005 collapse of the First Gaston pipe. Conse-
quently, First Gaston has presented no evidence that the maintenance
of the 7th Street pipe caused or contributed to the development of the
sinkhole in 2005. The trial court did not, therefore, err in concluding
that this evidence was insufficient to send the issue of negligence to
the jury.
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C. Liability Based on Negligence in Approval and Oversight of
Repairs

Finally, First Gaston contends the City breached several duties in
connection with its issuance of a building permit and oversight of the
repairs on the property. According to First Gaston, the City breached
its duty to enforce the Hickory Land Development Code by negli-
gently issuing a building permit to the Verna defendants without
requiring their compliance with that code.4 First Gaston then asserts
that, in addition, by issuing the building permit, the City assumed a
duty to inspect the repairs made by the Verna defendants to the storm
water pipe. According to First Gaston, once the City observed the
repairs and knew or should have known they were inadequate or
improperly done, the City had a duty to refrain from issuing a certifi-
cate of occupancy for the property and had a duty to warn First
Gaston of the problems with the pipe.

The City responds initially that the public duty doctrine applies to
shield the City from any liability in this instance. “Under the public
duty doctrine, governmental entities have no duty to protect particu-
lar individuals from harm by third parties, thus no claim may be
brought against them for negligence.” Wood v. Guilford County, 355
N.C. 161, 166, 558 S.E.2d 490, 495 (2002).

This argument, however, is foreclosed by Thompson v. Waters,
351 N.C. 462, 526 S.E.2d 650 (2000), in which our Supreme Court
declined to apply the public duty doctrine to a claim against Lee
County for negligent inspection of a house. The Court held: “This
Court has not . . . applied the public duty doctrine to a claim against
a municipality or county in a situation involving any group or individ-
ual other than law enforcement. After careful review of appellate
decisions on the public duty doctrine in this state and other jurisdic-
tions, we conclude that the public duty doctrine does not bar this
claim against Lee County for negligent inspection of plaintiffs’ private
residence.” Id. at 465, 526 S.E.2d at 652. See also Lovelace v. City of
Shelby, 351 N.C. 458, 461, 526 S.E.2d 652, 654 (2000) (“[W]e have
never expanded the public duty doctrine to any local government
agencies other than law enforcement departments when they are
exercising their general duty to protect the public. We decline to

4. We note that Article 13 of the Land Development Code, which contains all of
the sections cited by First Gaston, does not appear to apply to the repairs of the First
Gaston pipe. That Article appears to come into play only for new construction or con-
struction that will increase or alter the flow of storm water runoff. The pipe repairs in
this case did not fall into either category.
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expand the public duty doctrine in this case. Thus, the public duty
doctrine, as it applies to local government, is limited to the facts of
Braswell [v. Braswell, 330 N.C. 363, 410 S.E.2d 897 (1991),]” in which
the Court addressed only “the issue of whether the sheriff negligently
failed to protect the decedent.” (internal citations omitted)). Since
this case does not involve negligence by a local law enforcement
department, the public duty doctrine does not apply.

Turning to the merits, even assuming, without deciding, that the
duties First Gaston describes arose in this case, First Gaston still
must show that the duty was owed to First Gaston. At the time of
the repairs, SCA Morris owned the property. First Gaston was not
the owner or occupant of the property until long after the repairs
were completed.

First Gaston first cites Watts v. N.C. Dep’t of Env't & Natural
Res., 182 N.C. App. 178, 641 S.E.2d 811 (2007), aff’d in part, 362 N.C.
497, 666 S.E.2d 752 (2008), as support for its argument that the City
owed First Gaston a duty of care in its inspection and oversight of the
repairs.® In Watts, 182 N.C. App. at 180, 641 S.E.2d at 815, the plain-
tiff brought a claim for negligent inspection after he purchased land
in reliance on a certification by the County Health Department that it
was suitable for a sewage system. The Court held the Department
owed the plaintiff an individual, special duty of care because it “made
a promise” that plaintiff could build a three-bedroom home on the
property when it issued the permit. Id. at 184, 641 S.E.2d at 817. Thus,
in Watts, the Court held the County owed a duty to the owner of the
property, to whom it had certified the property as suitable. As First
Gaston was not the owner when any permit was issued and has made
no showing that any promise was made to it, Watts is inapplicable.

First Gaston also points to Oates v. JAG, Inc., 314 N.C. 276, 277,
333 S.E.2d 222, 224 (1985), as support for its argument that the City
owed the bank a duty even though First Gaston purchased the prop-
erty more than a year after (1) the repairs were made and (2) the
City allowed the restaurant on the property to reopen. In Oates, the
defendant constructed a house on an unimproved lot of land and sold
it. The person who bought it then sold the house and lot to a second
purchaser. The plaintiffs bought the house and lot from the second
purchaser. After moving into the house, they discovered numerous

5. First Gaston also cites McCoy v. Coker, 174 N.C. App. 311, 620 S.E.2d 691
(2005), Wood, and Thompson for this point. Although these cases deal with negligent
inspection claims, they address the applicability of the public duty doctrine and other
immunity issues not before us in this case.



IN THE COURT OF APPEALS 211

FIRST GASTON BANK OF N.C. v. CITY OF HICKORY
[203 N.C. App. 195 (2010)]

defects, including a failure to conform with provisions of the North
Carolina Uniform Residential Building Code. Id. The plaintiffs sued
the defendant for negligence. The trial court allowed the defendant’s
motion to dismiss, and the plaintiffs appealed. Id. at 278, 333 S.E.2d
at 224. On appeal, the Supreme Court held that “a subsequent pur-
chaser can recover in negligence against the builder of the property
if the subsequent purchaser can prove that he has been damaged as
a proximate result of the builder’s negligence.” Id. at 281, 333 S.E.2d
at 226.

First Gaston contends that under Oates, the City owed a duty to
First Gaston as “the subsequent purchaser for value” of the property.
In Oates, however, the Court held that a subsequent purchaser can
recover from the builder or owner of the property. It did not address
the question whether a subsequent purchaser could recover from
someone other than the builder or owner of the property.

In Everts v. Parkinson, 147 N.C. App. 315, 318, 555 S.E.2d 667,
670 (2001), this Court declined to extend the Oates rule as broadly as
First Gaston urges. In Fverts, the plaintiffs purchased a house from
the original owners and discovered water intrusion and wood rot
problems requiring extensive repairs. They subsequently filed suit
against the builders of the house (“ATD”) and the company that per-
formed improvement work on the house (“PSC”). Id.

With respect to ATD, the complaint alleged that the original own-
ers of the house called the president of ATD and asked him to come
to the house to look at a problem with some brick molding on a win-
dow and give them a price on replacing it. Id. at 333, 5565 S.E.2d at
679. The president went to the house and examined the particular
window, but was not asked and did not look at any other windows.
Ultimately, ATD did not perform any of the repair work. The Court
held these allegations failed to allege that the company had a duty of
care to the plaintiffs and affirmed the grant of summary judgment in
ATD'’s favor. Id.

The Court explained:

The law imposes upon the builder of a house the general duty
of reasonable care in constructing the house to anyone who may
foreseeably be endangered by the builder’s negligence, including
a subsequent owner who is not the original purchaser. See Oates
v. JAG, Inc., 314 N.C. 276, 280-81, 333 S.E.2d 222, 225-26 (1985).
Pursuant to Oates, ATD, as the builder of the house, owed a gen-
eral duty of reasonable care to plaintiffs in its construction of
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the house in 1988. However, as noted above, plaintiffs on appeal
argue only that ATD was willfully and wantonly negligent in its
inspection of the window, which occurred over three years after
the house was constructed. Thus, plaintiffs essentially request
this Court to significantly extend the rule in Oates and hold that
the builder of a house, who is called upon by the original owner
to inspect the house for damage more than three years after the
house is completed, and who performs no repair work on the
house at that time, owes a legal duty of care to a subsequent
owner in tts inspection of the house. This we decline to do.
Because plaintiffs are unable to establish the existence of a legal
duty of care owed to plaintiffs by ATD under the circumstances,
summary judgment was properly granted.

Id. at 333-34, 555 S.E.2d at 679.

The plaintiffs also alleged PSC negligently repaired the defects,
failed to report the defects caused by stucco on the house, and failed
to advise the original owners of the need for further inspection
and testing to verify the nature and extent of the water intrusion
damage to the home. Id. at 334, 555 S.E.2d at 679. This Court held
that the repair company PSC also owed no duty of care to the plain-
tiffs, explaining:

We are unable to find, and plaintiffs have not directed our
attention to, any cases holding that a party who undertakes to
repatr a house under contract with the original owner owes a
duty of care to a subsequent purchaser of the house. As with
plaintiffs’ claim against ATD, such a holding would require us to
extend the rule in Oates, in which case it was held that the law
imposes upon the builder of a house the general duty of rea-
sonable care in constructing the house to anyone who may
foreseeably be endangered by the builder’s negligence, includ-
ing a subsequent owner. See Oates, 314 N.C. 276, 333 S.E.2d
222. We decline to so extend the rule in Oates. We believe PSC
did not owe plaintiffs a duty of care recognized by law under
the circumstances.

Id., 555 S.E.2d at 679-80.

We believe Everts to be directly on point. In that case, the Court
declined to extend a duty on the part of the original construction
company or a subsequent repair company to a subsequent purchaser
of the house. Similarly, here we decline to extend any duty owed by
the City to the original owner as a result of inspections of the pipe to
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someone who purchased the property more than a year later. See also
Lynn v. Overlook Dev., 328 N.C. 689, 696, 403 S.E.2d 469, 473 (1991)
(holding that no duty to subsequent purchaser of property arose out
of City’s issuance of building permit to developer). Accordingly, since
First Gaston has failed to demonstrate that the City owed First
Gaston any duty, the trial court properly declined to allow First
Gaston to proceed on this negligence theory.

Conclusion

In sum, we conclude First Gaston has failed to present evidence
of conduct constituting a taking sufficient to support a claim for
inverse condemnation. Further, First Gaston has not demonstrated a
genuine issue of material fact as to the existence of any duty on the
part of the City to inspect, maintain, and repair the pipe or to warn
First Gaston of the condition of the pipe crossing the property ulti-
mately purchased by First Gaston. First Gaston has also failed to pre-
sent evidence that any negligence in the maintenance of the 7th Street
pipe caused First Gaston’s injury. Because of our resolution of these
issues, we do not address the issue of any contributory negligence on
the part of First Gaston. We, therefore, affirm the trial court’s grant of
summary judgment to the City.

Affirmed.

Judges STEELMAN and STEPHENS concur.

AJAMU GAINES, JR., A MINOR, BY AND THROUGH HIS GUARDIAN AD LITEM, SCOTT HANCOX; AND
AJAMU GAINES, SR., PrLaINTIFFS . CUMBERLAND COUNTY HOSPITAL SYSTEM,
INC., a/k/a CAPE FEAR VALLEY HEALTH SYSTEM anp/or CAPE FEAR VALLEY
MEDICAL CENTER; CAPE FEAR ORTHOPAEDIC CLINIC, P.A; KAREN V.
JONES, M.D.; THOMAS R. TETZLAFF, M.D.; AND JOHNNY KEGLER, A/k/A JASON
WILLIS, CAROLINA REGIONAL RADIOLOGY, P.A.; ANpD BEVERLY A. DAVIS, M.D.,
DEFENDANTS

No. COA07-1419-2
(Filed 6 April 2010)

1. Medical Malpractice— failure to detect child abuse—hos-
pital employees—issue of fact

Summary judgment was incorrectly granted for defendant

Cape Fear Valley on a claim that its employees failed to detect

signs of child abuse which proximately caused a subsequent
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injury. There was an issue of fact in that plaintiffs submitted evi-
dence from a doctor and a nurse asserting that defendant’s
employees breached the standard of care while a DSS investiga-
tor testified that no investigation would have followed a report
from defendant’s employees.

2. Medical Malpractice— failure to detect child abuse—radi-
ologist—summary judgment

Plaintiffs forecasted sufficient evidence against defendants
Dr. Davis and Regional Radiology to withstand summary judg-
ment in a medical malpractice claim arising from the failure to
detect child abuse and a subsequent injury. Dr. Davis did not
notify DSS of potential child abuse or inform any other physician
or nurse about the suspicious findings.

3. Medical Malpractice— failure to detect child abuse—not
reviewing x-ray report or personally taking history

Plaintiffs forecasted sufficient evidence against Dr. Tetzlaff
to withstand summary judgment on a medical malpractice claim
arising from the failure to detect child abuse. There was evidence
that Dr. Tetzlaff did not review an x-ray report and did not per-
sonally take a history.

4. Medical Malpractice— failure to detect child abuse—
follow-up visits
Plaintiffs forecasted sufficient evidence against Dr. Jones and
Cape Fear Orthopaedic Clinic to withstand summary judgment in
a medical malpractice action claiming that failure to detect child
abuse led to further injuries. These defendants were the medical
providers who saw the child during four follow-up visits.

5. Medical Malpractice— failure to detect child abuse—testi-
mony not speculative
The expert testimony in a medical malpractice case arising
from the failure to detect child abuse was based on facts rather
than speculation and, viewed in the light most favorable to plain-
tiffs, was sufficient to withstand summary judgment. Testimony
about what DSS would have done had a report been made earlier
came from a physician with a long-standing relationship to DSS
and expertise in its policies.

Appeal by plaintiffs from judgment entered 17 April 2007 by
Judge Ola M. Lewis in Cumberland County Superior Court. Petition
for Rehearing granted 24 April 2009.
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Faison & Gillespie, by Reginald B. Gillespie, Jr.; and Conley
Griggs, LLP, by Cale H. Conley and Richard A. Griggs, Atlanta,
Georgia, pro hac vice; and William S. Britt, for plaintiffs-
appellants.

Cranfill, Sumner & Hartzog, LLP, by Norwood P. Blanchard,
111, John D. Martin, and Katherine C. Wagner, for defendant-
appellee Thomas R. Tetzlaff, M.D.

McGuire Woods, LLP, by Mark E. Anderson and Monica E. Webb
Sfor defendant-appellee Cumberland County Hospital System,
Inc.

Manning, Fulton & Skinner, PA, by Robert S. Shields, Jr. and
Katherine M. Bulfer, for defendants-appellees Beverly A. Davis,
M.D. and Carolina Regional Radiology, P.A.

Ellis & Winters, LLP, by Alex J. Hagan and Alexander M.
Pearce, for defendants-appellees Cape Fear Orthopaedic Clinic,
PA. and Karen V. Jones, M.D.

HUNTER, Robert C., Judge.

This case was originally decided 17 February 2009. See Gaines ex
rel. Hancox v. Cumberland County Hosp. System, Inc., — N.C.
App. —, 672 S.E.2d 713 (2009). On 24 April 2009, Plaintiffs’ Petition
for Rehearing was granted. After careful review upon rehearing, we
find that, at the summary judgment stage, plaintiffs forecasted suffi-
cient evidence to create a genuine issues of material fact as to
whether defendants breached the standard of care, and whether that
breach was a proximate cause of the minor plaintiff’s subsequent
brain injury. Accordingly, defendants’ motion for summary judgment
was improperly granted.

On 1 September 2005, plaintiffs Ajamu Gaines, Sr. and Ajamu
Gaines, Jr. (“Ajamu”), through his guardian ad litem, filed a complaint
against defendants Cumberland County Hospital System, Inc., a/k/a
Cape Fear Valley Health System and/or Cape Fear Valley Medical
Center (“CFVMC”); Cape Fear Orthopaedic Clinic, PA. (“Cape Fear
Orthopaedic Clinic”); Karen Jones, M.D. (“Dr. Jones”); Thomas R.
Tetzlaff, M.D. (“Dr. Tetzlaff”); and Johnny Kegler (“Kegler”), a/k/a
Jason Willis.

On 12 April 2006, plaintiffs filed an amended complaint, adding
claims against Carolina Regional Radiology, P.A. (“Regional Radi-



216 IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

GAINES v. CUMBERLAND CNTY. HOSP. SYS., INC.
[203 N.C. App. 213 (2010)]

ology”) and Beverly A. Davis, M.D. (“Dr. Davis”). Plaintiffs alleged
that defendants were negligent in that they “failed to discover or diag-
nose . . . prior abuse and/or neglect of Ajamu Gaines, Jr., despite the
availability of existing evidence that would give rise to a suspicion of
such abuse and neglect[.]” Plaintiffs further asserted that there was a
causal link between defendants’ alleged negligence and Ajamu’s
injuries. On 30-31 January 2007, all defendants, except Kegler, filed
motions for summary judgment, which were presented as “one joint
motion from all defendants.”

An order granting the motion for summary judgment was entered
17 April 2007, concluding that “there is no genuine issue as to any
material fact . . . and that the moving defendants are entitled to judg-
ment as a matter of law.” Plaintiffs timely appealed to this Court.

1. Background

On 15 April 2003, Ajamu arrived at CFVMC with a wrist injury.
Ajamu claimed that the injury occurred when he jumped off the porch
of his house; however, there was some discrepancy in his story as to
whether he jumped or fell off the porch. After x-rays were performed,
Ajamu was diagnosed with “100% displaced right distal radius and
ulnar metaphyseal fractures.” Dr. Jones, who was employed by Cape
Fear Orthopaedic Clinic, was listed as Ajamu’s attending physician
and upon examination of Ajamu’s wrist, she recommended surgery to
repair the fractured bones.

During surgery, Ajamu vomited. Due to a possibility that Ajamu
could develop aspiration pneumonia, Dr. Jones ordered a chest x-ray.
Dr. Davis, who was employed by Regional Radiology, examined the
chest x-ray and noted in her report that there was an “old fracture
deformity left posterolateral 9th rib.” The report was verified by Dr.
Davis at 12:42 a.m. on 16 April 2003, and the report was immediately
available for other physicians to review through the hospital’s com-
puter system.

Dr. Jones then saw Ajamu at 8:00 a.m. on 16 April 2003, but she
had not yet read the chest x-ray report. Dr. Jones cleared Ajamu for
release contingent upon the results of a pediatric consultation. Dr.
Tetzlaff, a pediatrician, performed this consultation at approximately
9:20 a.m. on 16 April 2003. After a brief physical examination, Dr.
Tetzlaff ordered a second chest x-ray. Nurse Practitioner Cinthia
Fletcher obtained a history and performed an examination of Ajamu
outside the presence of Dr. Tetzlaff. She noted, “[t]his is a 6-year-old
who was playing at home, jumped off the porch, and one of his shoes
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came off and he tripped over the steps and fell on his arm.” This
account by Ajamu constituted a third variation since his arrival at the
hospital. Dr. Tetzlaff did not review or sign the consult note. Dr.
Tetzlaff did not review the chest x-ray or read the report of Dr. Davis,
but saw a note by Dr. Shaider, an anesthesiologist, that the x-ray of
the lungs was “clear[.]” The second x-ray report showed that the
lungs were clear and did not mention the old rib fracture. Plaintiffs
presented evidence that the results of the second x-ray were not
available for review until 3:00 p.m. and Dr. Tetzlaff released Ajamu
from the hospital at 2:40 p.m., which indicates that Dr. Tetzlaff did not
review the second chest x-ray report that he ordered. Upon Ajamu’s
discharge, Dr. Tetzlaff advised Ajamu’s mother to follow up with Dr.
Jones at Cape Fear Orthopaedic Clinic. Ajamu’s chart at CFVMC con-
tained a primary diagnosis, which was the wrist fracture, and a sec-
ondary diagnosis, “[f]alling from residential premise, undetermined if
accident/purposely inflicted.”

Ajamu saw Dr. Jones for four follow-up appointments between 23
April and 23 June 2003. None of Ajamu’s physicians reported any sus-
picion of child abuse to the Department of Social Services (“DSS”).
On 3 July 2003, Ajamu returned to CFVMC after suffering a traumatic
head injury. Despite the fact that a pediatric admission assessment
was filled out that day indicating potential